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PREFACE

THE history of the Niiyaks of Madura is a suhject which
has received some attention already, and there have been
a few altempts at presenting that history in a connected
form. Both Nelson's Mannal of the Madura Conntry and
Caldwell's History of Tinnevelly have become out. of date
owing to the fresh material that has been brought to bear
upon the subject, chiefly by the advance made in epigraphi-
cal researches, and, to a smaller extent, by manuscript
work. The Ilatest cffort of Mr. V. Rangachari in the
columns of the Indian Antiquary has not used the Jesuit
records which are invaluable to the history of the Madura
country. A thorough and systematic exploitation of these
invaluable records, and the presentation of a connected
account of this important family of Vijayanagar Viceroys
seemed called for. Mr. Sathyanatha Aiyar, B.A. (Hons.),
who stood the first of his year in the History Honours exam-
ination of this University wasawarded a University Research
Studentship and was set to do this work. He set himself
to acquire a knowledge of French for this purpose, and has
been able to translate the relevant records so well that both
the Rev. P. Carty, S.J. and the Professor of French in
the St. Joseph's College, Trichinopoly, found very little in
his translation to alter or amend by way of improvement.
The following pages contain his thesis followed by a series
of appendices containing the material upon which the
dissertation is based, on the plan originally adopted for
the Madras University Historical Series. The essay speaks
for itself, and needs no commendation from me. My part
of the work 1 havelpurpusely limited to that of the editor.
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Throughout the work wherever an opinion was offered
I have left it substantially as such, only modifying where
it might have had the appearance of exaggeration either
by way of over-statement or underestimate. 1 have added
a few notes, some of them long, throughout where a
modification of any importance scemed called for, In this
prefatory note, I wish to draw attention to a general
remark on the Jesuit records on page 252 which seems o
be somewhat of an over-statement. I have let it go though
somewhat modilied, but Mr., Sathyanatha Aiyar agrees with
me that there is a slight over-statement in it and the remark
may not be fully justifiable. I note the correction therefore
with great pleasure here, and I am glad to know that he is
in agreement with me on the matter.

I may record with pleasure here, that during the years
that Sathyanatha Aiyar was working with me he was not
only attentive to his own work, but was of great assistaner
to me in sume of my own. e was able to tuke a sensible
view in matters of discussion, and his criticisms always
showed the right spirit. I must acknowledge the great
interost that the Rev. P. Carty, Mr. Sathyanatha Aiyw's
Professor in the St. Joseph's College, twok in this work
and the assistance that he rendered by lending the student
one of the volumes of the Jesuit records which was not
available in Madras. My thanks are also due to him
for the kindness with which he and the Rev. J. Bourdot,
S.]., Professor of French in the College, went through
the Appendix A critically. Their approval of the trans-
lation gives it great authority. I record with pleasure my
appreciation of the valuable assistance rendered by Mr. C.
W. Stewart, now Manager of the Oxford University Press,
Calcutta, in seeing the work through the press, and by
Mr. George Kenneth, the Superintendent of the Madras
Diocesan Press, for the necat execution of the . printing
of the work,
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[ must in conclusion acknowledge my obligations to the
Syndicate of the Madras University for their enlightened
liberality in including this book in the Madras University
Historical Series, on my recommendation.

S. KRISHNASWAMI AIYANGAR.
MADRAS UNIVERSITY
At Plecennpber 1923,
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INTRODUCTION

THE history of the Niyaks of Madura comprises the history
practically of the fifteenth, sixteenth, seventeenth, and the
first third of the eighteenth centuries, and carries the
history of South India from the best days of the empire
of Vijayanagar to the eve of the British occupation of the
Carnatic. It might be described as, in essential particulars,
a continuation of the struggle for Hindu independence in
the south against the advancing tide of Muhammadan
conquest which threatened its very existence at the com-
mencement of the fourteenth century. The cause of
Hindu independence, for which the last great Hoysala,
Vira Ballila, lost his life in Trichinopoly, was finally over-
thrown by Chanda Sahib who drove, by a perfidious act
of his, the last Niayak Queen, Minikshi, to commit suicide
in or about the year 1736.

The thesis that follows is an attempt to present a
connected history of this viceroyalty of the empire of
Vijayanagar, the farthest viceroyalty from the vulnerable
frontier of the north. By turning out the Muhammadan
garrison in occupation of its capital, the officers of Vira
Balldla laid the foundations of Vijayanagar, which stood as
a bulwark for two and a half centuries in stemming the
flowing tide of Muhammadan advance into this region of -
South India. There was much besides in connection with
this viceroyalty which makes its history interesting in a
peculiar way.

The viceroyalty of Madura happened to be the scene of
European enterprise in the coast regions in founding trade-
centres which ultimately developed more or less into ruling
powers, struggling for mastery first as auxiliaries of native
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powers and later each for its own particular advancement.
The first European power that presented itself actively in
this region of India was the Portuguese. It appeared
in the double character of a commercial power, in posses-
sion of salient positions along the coast and some
strips of territory, and of an organized political power
behind the cfforts of missionaries, particularly Jesuits,
in the earlier stages of their work among the fisher-folk
of the coast country of the Pindyas. The ecarlicst
organized missionary effort was made in the territory
of the Niyaks of Madura, and their ¢apital, Madurg,
itself constituted an important missionary centre, though
it shared this honour very early with Trichinopoly, The
history of Madura, therefore, should be of niuch interest,
if worked up with sufficient fulness by the systematic
exploitation of available sources.

_For the understanding of this history, the salicnt features
of the history of Vijayanagar as far as it came into contact
with its ‘great southern viceroyalty is a’ prime necessity.
The Mubammadan invasions that began at the end of the
thirteenth century swept over the peninsula like a hurri-
cane, and when they ceased “they left garrisons behind in
salient positions, like so many nails in the coffin of Hindu
independence in the south. Two of these Muhammadan
cantonments in the Tamil country stand out clear. The
one was placed in” Madura, from which the descendants of
the ancient Pandyas retired practically once for: all, thus
paying the penalty for the sin of inviting Muhammadan
intervention in a war of succession. The other was
an outpost of this, placed in Kanpaniir, the old Hoysala
capital, about five miles north of the Coleroon, across
theisland of Srirangam. These were apparently regarded
as of sufficient importance to justify the constitution
of the province of Ma'bar as one among the :twenty-three
provinces that constituted the empire .of Muhammad
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Tughlug. It was the rebellion of Muhammad’s cousin,
Bahau-d-Din, at Sagar that made a breach in the line of
communication between the provinces of Deogir and
Ma‘bar. This was taken advantage of by Vira Ballala, who
drove a wedge, as it were, between these two provinces by
establishing himself in a strotig position at Tiruvanpamalai,
planting at the same time several important garrison-posts
in a triple linc along the northern frontier. The provincial
revolts that followed the rebellion of Bahau-d-Din so
entangled Muhammad in a perpetual struggle to bring
revolted provinces back to allegiance in the north that he
hardly found time to pay any attention worth the pame
to the south, . The Muhammadan province of Ma‘bar, if
it is worth being so called, was thus isolated and had to
struggle for mere existence for a period of about ten years,
in the course of which the struggle went through sevéral
stages. - The Hoysdala monarch began a sweeping move-
ment, sending out his armies from Trichinopoly across
Pudukotta and Ramnad as far down as Riméévaram. This
succeeded in the main and drove the Muhammadans of
Madura to make a desperate effort to save themselves.
They had their reward thatin the ‘changing fortunes of
war Vira Ballala fell a vietim to their perfidions valour.
This disaster to the Hindus only deferred the doom of the
Muhammadan settlement in Madura for a few years.. The
officers of the last two Ballalas, who were associated:
with them intimately in theic last striuggles, carried the:
war to victory by persistent effort. Among a number;
of these officers.engaged in what to them was the. holy
cause .of the Hindus, .stood out a group of five brothers,
whose efforts were ably seconded by'a son of the third
one, who is said, in the local chronicles of Madura, to have
held the position:of the ‘door-keeper’ of the last great
Hoyéala, Vira Ballala. II1. It was this prince, Kumara
Kampana, - as he was called, that was responsible for. the-
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subversion of the Muhammadan dynasty of Madura, and it is
this conquest that has provided the subject for the epic
poem, Madhura Vijayam, said to have been composed by
one of his wives, Gangddevi. Inscriptions refer to the efforts
made by him to introduce order into the territory recently
taken over from the Muhammadans, in, or before, the year
1358, and so it may be said with justification that the
acquisition of the province of Madura by the empire of the
Hoyéalas marks the foundation of the empire of Vijaya-
nagar, as much as the laying of the foundation-stone of the
great fortress thirty years before this, on the banks of
the Tungabhadra, The province of Madura, therefore,
was one of the earliest acquisitions that transformed what
was the kingdom of the Hoydalas into the empire of
Vijayanagar,

*, The kingdom of the Pandyas had been conquered by the
Cholas and incorporated in their empire early in their
career. [t was the great Chola king, Rdjéndra, the Gangai-
konda Chola, perhaps the greatest conqueror among the
members of a great dynasty, that was ultimately responsible
for the extinction of Pindya independence. For a century
and a half after his conquest the Pindyas were feudatory
to the Cholas, who exercised their authority oftentimes
by appointing viceroys over the territory, to whom the
Pindya monarchs had to be subordinate. In the latter
half of the thirteenth century the Chola power had so
far loosened its hold on the Pindyas as to cnable them
to make an effort at independence. In this effort they
were able to enlist the sympathies of the great Ceylon
ruler, Parikrama Bahu, on their side. This war between
the Pandyas and the Ceylonese, on the one side, and the
Cholas, on the other, waxed and waned till at last the
Ceylonese auxiliaries were beaten back and the Pandyas
reduced politically to still greater depths of degradation by
the last great Chola ruler, Kulottunga III. This brought
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about a natural revulsion, By other shiftings of political
combinations, the Pandyas were able early to turn the tables
upon the Cholas, and began a glorious imperial career
which lasted for very near a century. It was on the death
of one of the greatest among these Pindyas that there
broke out a war between brothers for the suc:l:.essmn',.i At
the invitation of one of them the Muhammadans entered
the Piandya country, the Chola power having by that time
become extinct.  1n the course of the struggle for Pandyan
independence referred to above, a certain number of chief-
tains from the Chola country seem to have been planted in
various localitics in the Ramnad and Madura districts to
hold the Pandya power in check; one set of these chief-
tains, who had their territories in Manimadura and the
country round it, had the title Mavali Vandadarayars. They
scem to have held on during the period of the Pindya
ascendancy by changing their allegiance, and we find them
carly in the history of Vijayanagar in the same region.
During the period of Muhammadan occupation of Madura,
lasting a little more than fifty years, we do not hear of the
Pandyas anywhere near Madura, and, after the Muham-
madan power became extinct, they hardly show themselves
under the first viceroys of Vijayanagar. So we may take
it that, with the occupation of Madura by Malik Kafur
some time in 1310, and notwithstanding the possible
temporary turning-out of the Mubhammadan garrison by
the Malabar ruler, Ravi Varman Kuolagekhara, in 1316, the
Pandyas had practically lost their hold over Madura.
With the first viceroys of Vijayanagar in Madura, who
were generally princes of the blood, appear these Mavali
Vanadarayar chieftains, holding important posts around the
city of Madura itself. The institution of the viteroyalty of
Madura therefore began almost with the foundation of
Vijayanagar, and Kumira Kampana may well be taken to.
be the first viceroy, his nephew following in the same
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exalted office under the first emperor of Vijayanagar,
Harihara II.

The next time that the viceroyalty of Madura comes
into prominence is under Dévariiya II when we hear of
two brothers, known by the names Lakkana and Miidana, in
charge of the whole of the Tamil country. The latler
seems to have had for his charge the Tanjore country ; the
former held high office at hcadquarters, probably with the
government of Madura as his province, the adminis-
tration of which he carried on by deputy. At one period
about 1440 he is found in the south, and is given the
title Viceroy of Madura and ‘ Lord of the Southern Ocean '.
This latter title, as a new addition, is a clear indication that
the authority of the empire then came into touch with the
sea, and that the overseas transactions of Madura under
the great Pandyas of the thirteenth and the carly fourteenth
centuries had devolved upon the empire. IFrom this high
commission Lakkana was called back to headquarters, after
a defeat sustained by the imperial armies at the hands of
the Muhammadan Sultan of the Dakhan, to reform the
army and to reorganize the resources with a view to final
victory. It is apparently this Dannaik (Dandaniyaka) that
is spoken of in such glowing terms by the Muhammadan
traveller, Abdur Razzak, who was in Vijayanagar in
1442-3,

With the death of Deévariya in 1449 the empire fell
into some disorder owing to the recurring hostility of the
Mubammadans, aggravated during a little more than a
decade by the.advent of a new power in alliance with them,
namely, the rising power of the Gajapatis of Kalinga
(Orissa). - The first ruler of this dynasty comes into view
some time dbout 1335 and had been actively exerting
himself to extend his frontier along the coast. He had so
far succeeded that the Nellore district had passed ufider
him, with Udayagiri as the outermost post in the possession
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.of the Kalinga ruler, and Kalinga raids were carried at
least as far as the South Arcot-district, as some of the
inscriptions in the localities indicate. This difficulty of the
empire in the north is reflected in the looseness of the
imperial hold on the southern viceroyalty. When, in the
period of the usurpation of Siluva Narasinga, we hear of
his general, Marasa, winning a victory against a certain
Pandya, by name Manabhiisha, the inference seems clear
that the Pindyas, who had retired to Tinnevelly, made
an effort cither to regain their independence orincrease their
patrimony by taking advantage of these difficulties of the
empire, The period of trouble, extending almost from 1450
to the beginning of the next century, and followed by a
general revolt of the provinces under Vira Narasimha, who
came to the throne in 1505, called for drastic action and
a reconstitution of the viceroyalties as soon as the exterral
enemies were beaten back and a reorganization of -the
empire could be taken in hand.

Such an organization could be undertaken only under
Krishpadeéva Riaya. When he came to the throne about-the
end of 1509, the aggressive activity of the Portuguese was
well under weigh, The Muhammadan activities on the
northern frontier were somewhat subdued owing to their
own difficulties and dissensions within. The aggression of
the Gajapati had attained its zenith and Oriyan raids had
been carried as far south as the Tanjore district itself. In
this posture of affairs it is conceivable that the distmﬂt
province of Madura had lapsed into a region of warring
chieftains struggling each one to appropriate as much as he
could for himself. Krishpa went about systematically sup-
pressing rebellions within and- bringing home-provinces
under complete control. He came to an understanding with
the Portuguese and gave them such terms that they wete
kﬁpt"'rﬂthm buunds of mmmercml requirements. He made
a demonstration in force to impress the Muhammadans on
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the northern frontier and strengthen the garrisons against
them. He had to make a great effort to beat the intruding
Gajapati out of the territories of the empire and come to a
definitive treaty with him. That done, he could undertake
the reorganization of the empire itself, This reorganization
was, as Krishna's inscriptions make clear, undertaken alter
the year 1520, the date of the battle of Raichiir. As soon as
he returned from the great campaign against the Gajapati,
he went on a tour to the south. From this apparently he
came back to headquarters and undertook the expedi-
tion to beat back the Adil Shah from his aggressive advance
into the Raichir Doab. Having cleared the Doab of
Bijapur forces, he started back again on his southern tour,
The period 1520-5 seems to be the period of activity in
organization, and may be regarded as the period when he
appointed Vira Narasimha as viceroy of the Chola country
and gave the commission to Nigama to organize the pro-
vince of Madura, It is probable that Krizhna had an
attack of serious illness, as we have a record of Achyuta,
of date 1525, issued from Vijayanagar itself. This, com-
bined with a few others in the name of his young son
of about the same time, indicate a government by regency
of some kind. Tt was, probably, then that the disorderly
elements in the more distant provinces began to show
themselves again. That seems the period of Nigama’'s
activity in the southern viceroyalty.

Nagama seems to have been a tried officer of the usurper,
Saluva Narasinga, like Narasa, the father of Krishna,
himself. In point of eminence Nagama does not appear
to have been very far behind Narasa himself in the
estimation of their master. He could not have been very
much his inferior in point of seniority to attain to that
particular position. By his own statement, Krishna was
not a man who would have entrusted important and trouble-
some governments to untried men. The appointment
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of Vira Narasimha to the Chola country would indicate
the appointment of a similar officer of high standing
for Madura. Nigama's administration must have been
thorough-going and probably entailed considerable hardship
on the petty chicftains who traced their descent from
the great Pandyas of the thirteenth and early fourteenth
centuries and who naturally put their claims too high
for the acceptance of the uncompromising viceroy. It
is just possible that complaints reached headquarters in
gsome number, and one complainant with more pretentious
claims even waited upon Krishna in person. The only
flaw in the story as piven in the chronicles is that we have
so far come upon no epigraphical evidence of the existence
of a Chandrasekhara Pandya in Madura or of a Viradekhara
in the Chola country, though neither case is impossible,
The royal families of the Cholas and the Pandyas were in
power till so recently that the existence of scions without
power or patrimony in some number is not an impossibi-
lity., Vira Narasimha, the viceroy of the Chola country,
rebelled in the very last years of Krishpa for some reason
which we are not able to understand clearly, and Red
for safety to the Travancore country. It is probable
that the reasons that actuated the disobedience of two of
the most powerful governors about the same time were
the same. The close control that Krishpa had always
attempted to exercise over the provincial governments
must have been galling to the powerful viceroys brought
up in the school of Saluva Narasinga and labouring to
bring the empire under a unified and systematic adminis-
tration. The Chola viceroy actually set up a rebellion and
fled the country in fear, while the Madura viceroy, at
greater distance, set the imperial authority at defiance
without going so far as setting up a rebellion and trying
to hold his own against the mandate of the emperor,
This seems how the breach came about, and the impatient
p
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emperor, like Henry LI of England, cried out in impotent
rage, was there none of his henchmen who would bring
the recalcitrant vicerey to a sense of discipline. Even the
romantic tale of young Vidvanitha's war against his own
father would not seem, in the circumstances, unlikely.

The foundation of the Nayakship of Madura has been
given different dates, and the whole discussion in regard
to the foundation of the viceroyalty is due to want of
sufficient appreciation of the position of Madura under the
empire to the end of the reign of Krishnadeva Riya. It has
already been pointed out that the foundation of the
viceroyalty of Madura goes back almost to the foundation
of the empire itself. The actual point under discussion is
not when the subordinate government of Madura was
constituted as an integral part of the empire, but when
the Niayakship as a semi-independent government under
a comparatively nominal overlordship of the empire,
actually began. In other words, what is the actual date
of the beginning of comparatively independent rule under
the Nayaks of Madura? The two issues are different
in character and certainly take very different dating.
The foundation of the viceroyalty as such is at some
date between 1345 and 1358, the period of break in
the coins of the Sultans of Madura. According to the
work of Gangiadevi above referred to, the Sultan of Madura
was killed in battle by Kumiara Kampana. Inscriptions, of
date equivalent to 1358, refer to the orderly administration
that this prince introduced in the territories disturbed
by Muhammadan occupation some (ime anterior to
the date of the inscription. The foundation of quasi.
independent rule under the Niyaks is given the date
1558-9. 1If the foundation of Nayak rule be the equivalent
of the foundation of semi-independent rule, this date
may well be accepted as a satisfactory date and that,
perhaps, is the meaning implied by those records that
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try to fix a date for the foundation of the Niyakship.
That has, however, been confounded with the appointment
of Visvanitha to the Niyakship of Madura in succession
to his father. The Nayakship of Viévanitha must have
begun some time in the last years of the reign of the great
king Krishpa of Vijayanagar, and may be ascribed to the
date 1529-30 for the reasons advanced in my intreduction
to the Sonrces of Vijayanagar History (Madras Univer-
sity Historical Serics, I). Nagama's disobedience and
Vira Narasimba's rebellion in the Chola country both were
somchow connected,  and while Krishna succeeded in
bringing Ndgama to a sense of discipline, Vira Narasimha
escaped punishment by flight into the Travancore country.
Almost the first act of Achyuta’s reign is his own march
at the head of his army against this recalcitrant viceroy.
Achyuta proceeded only as far as Seirangam, the island in
the Kaveri near Trichinopoly, and the expedition to the
Tiruvadi country marched under his brother-in-law, Salak-
riju Timmarizu or Salakkam Tirumala, who volunteered
service for this expedition. The expedition was a success ;
the government of the Tiravadi country was reduced to
subordination, and the Pandya in gratitude gave one of his
daughters in marriage to Achyuta. This means the Pandya
king obviously and not the viceroy of Madura. Vidvanitha
was apparently governor of the Pandya country at the
time, but the magnitude of the enterprise as well as the
official position of the person involved called for the
superior intervention of the emperor himself or his special
deputy. Viévanitha's position must have been, that of an
ordinary governor of Madura, as yet unsettled owinhg to the
varions discordant elements constituting the viceroyalty at
the time. There were the Pindyas on the one side, the
Mavali chieftains on the other, and other chieftains of
vatious degrees of influence and importance who had to be
brought under:a system of administration represented by
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the viceroyalty of Madura. Vidvanitha's time must have
been occupied in devising a system that would meet the
demands of his government at the time, and his resources
in the circumstances could not have been equal to this
enterprise. But these circumstances did not prevent the
viceroy of Madurn bearing his part in any special
commission under the command of an imperial general.
Evidence that this was the position of the viceroy will
appear later, Achyuta, having settled the disturbance in
the south country, made a progress through his dominions,
which terminated on the banks of the Krishna some time
in the year 1534, as a record of a grant by him, from
his camp on the banks of the river, for the merit of his
mother, shows. Thereafter Achyuta lapses into a kind
of obscurity which may be entirely due to our want of
knowledge, but seems nonc the less due to some cxtra-
ordinary difficultics which he had to contend against.
Our material for the history of the next decade is com-
paratively scanty, and all that can be gleancd from the
only accessible sources shows a state of things in the capital
which left the provincial governments to themselves.
Achyota somehow let his authority lapse, perhaps by his
own default, into the hands of two of his brothers-in-law,
and this remissness on his part set up against him a
powerful and influential party, headed by three brothers,
claiming to be sons-in-law ecither of Krishpadeva Riya
himself or of his third brother, Ranga, which seems to have
had the countenance or active support of even the queens
of Krishpa. This gradually developing rebellion was com-
plicated by one or even two Bijapur invasions, and ended
in the deposition and death of Achyuta's son, Venkata,
who succeeded for a brief space after Achyuta's death.
Sadadiva, a nephew of Achyuta and ason of his late brother
Ranga, was installed on the throne, the real authority
being exercised by the three brothers. So far as the
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southern viceroyalty was concerned, imperial intervention
was called for under peculiar stress of circumstances after
the first two or three years of the new reign.

In the settlement introduced after the Travancore war,
Achyuta seems to have made a rearrangement of the
terriforics}betwcﬂn Tanjore and Madura, appointing Chinna
Chevva (Sevvappa Nayaka), the husband of his sister-in-
law, to the viceroyalty of Tanjore, which probably did
not include the whole charge of Vira Narasimha but took in
some part of the territory from the viceroyalty of Madura.
The ceconstituted viceroyalty included probably all the
present-dav districts of Madura and Ramnad, and the
overlordship apparently of the southern portions of the
Madura district and Tinnevelly, where the descendants of
the Pandyas, legitimate and illegitimate, held sway under
the suzerainty of the viceroy himself. The territories of
these Pandya chieftains were in touch with the Travancore
country and were liable to invasions from Travancore.
The coast region was open to Portuguese enterprise and
the chief ports of the south contained Portuguese factories
and were otherwise accessible to Portuguese commercial
enterprise. This enterprise involved, in respect of the
Portuguese, a certain amount of missionary enterprise as
well. The advent of Francis Xavier in the southern region
created a new and powerful influence, the political aspects
of which have not received adequate attention among
the historians of this period. The Paravas, the fisher-
folk along the coast, were being rapidly converted to
Christianity, and such conversion was interpreted as in-
volving a change of allegiance of the inhabitants from
their Indian rulers to the king of Portugal. This
wholesale conversion of a class of industrious inbabit-
ants of the coast, including among them those engaged in
pearl-fishing, made them ipso fweto subjects of the king of
Portugal. This meant the transfer of the coast country of
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the south from allegiance to the empire of Vijayanagar to
that of the king of Portugal by the act of a successful
missionary and his companions, a position which the
empire could not look on with indifference under any
circomstances. IFollowing as it did an extension of
authority by the ruler of Travancore, who carried his arms
successfully across the whole of the peninsula and asserted
his authority even in Tuticorin, it called [or drastic action
on the part of. the empire, These two dangers, almost
simultaneous in their incidence, called again for imperial
intervention and a special imperial officer had to be
deputed on this commission. This was the invasion of
the Tiruvadi country by Rémaridja Vitthala, a cousin of
the three brothers who actually carried on the adminis-
tration in the name of Sadagiva. His commission was
to bring the Tiruvadi to a sense of his own limita-
tions and reduce the Parava coast to its normal sense
of political allegiance. Xavier's complaints about the
atrocities of the * Badages ' and his wailing against the
drastic measures these ‘ Badages' took have reference to
this. Ramardja Vitthala and his younger brother, Timma,
after him, seem to have exercised this superior commission
and remained in the Pandya country for more than ten
years. During this period the viceroy of Madura, Visva-
natha, and his son, Krishpappa, had to be subordinate to
this special officer. The viceroy bore his part loyally, and
even his young son, Krishnappa, distinguished himself in
the fighting line. Vitthala's commission extended perhaps
even to an invasion of Ceylon, in which this young prince
seems to have taken part. When at last Ramarija
Vitthala and his brother had concluded these wars and
introduced an ordered administration within and secured
the acknowledgment of the imperial authority among the
powers outside of the frontier, they left the viceroyalty
extended in its sphere both of territory and political
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influence to the viceroy Vidvanatha. Assumption of this
higher authority by Vidévanitha, after the completion of
Ramarija Vitthala’s commission in the south, marks an
epoch in the history of the viceroyalty, and has probably been
fastened upon by chroniclers as the date of the foundation of
the viceroyalty of Madura. This is not unreasonable if regard
is had to the fact that the power and prestige of the vice-
royalty, as thus reconstituted, went back to the position that
it occupied under another previous special commissioner, the
great Danndyak, Lakkana, in the reign of Davariya II.
This devolution of the viceroyalty, extended in its sphere
and exalted in its privileges, upon Visvaniatha marks the
foundation of the viceroyalty or Nayakship. That ishow the
dating 1558-9 for this event can be accounted for. 'The
province had certainly been organized to some extent under
Viévanitha before the arrival of these special commis-
sioners. The latter had apparently to destroy the external
dangers that threatened the viceroyalty and introduce well-
regulated relationship between the viceregal headquarters
and the moge important feudatories within the territory of the
viceroyalty proper and on its borderland. It is not surpris-
ing that this work occupied a period of close upon ten years.
The reformed viceroyalty, therefore, may be regarded as
something quite different from the viceroyalty as held by
Nigama, and by Viévanitha in succession to him. The
government of the viceroyalty was apparently carried on un-
eventfully till the epoch-making battle of Talikota, which
seriously damaged the prestige of the empire and made its
position in respect of the great viceroyalties behind it some-
what weaker. The transference of the headquarters from
the front line at Vijayanagar to the second at Penukonda in
itself is an expression of a certain faintness of heart in the -
councils of the empire. The empire went on unimpaired,
however, during the reign of Tirumala, notwithstanding the
fact that the imperial family, in the person of Sadadiva, was
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put aside some years after the battle either by Sadddiva’s
death in the course of nature or otherwise. Thearrangement
that Tirumala made on the eve of his death for the carrying
on of the administration of the empire marks the beginning
of a division which both nature and history perhaps justified
at the time, but was pregnant with consequences fatal to
the unity of the empire. He had three sons surviving at
the time. The cldest, Sriranga, was to succeed to the
empire as a whole. Under him were to be his two younger
brothers as some kind of superior viceroys, one having for
his territory practically all the country above the ghats
with his headquarters at Srirangapattanam, This charge
was given to Rama, the second surviving son. All the
country below the ghats, excepting the region immediately
under the headquarters at Penukonda, but including within
it the Tonda, Chola, and the Pindya Mandalams together
with the country of Travancore, was given to the youngest
brother, Venkata, who was similarly viceroy of the whole
region with his headquarters at Chandragiri. This arrange-
ment had in it certain obvious conveniences in the circum-
stances of the empire. The attention of the emperor would
be fully taken up with providing for the defence of the
northern frontier against the ever-threatening danger of
Muhammadan invasions either from Golkonda or Bijapur
or even the two together, as the attention of the northern
states of the Bahmani kingdoms was diverted by the first
beginnings of the Moghul movement in the Dakhan. Hence
this arrangement of the distribution of charges was
not in itself bad. The vital defect perhaps lay in the
imperfect grasp by the two viceroys of the essential need of
political unity. This was understood during the lifetime of
Sriranga, notwithstanding the misfortune that befell the
empire in the course of his reign in the year 1579-80.
In one of the many invasions of the territory of Penukonda
by the Muhammadan armies of Golkonda, Sriranga happened
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to fall a prisoner, and so remained for some time. He was
set free, probably as the result of a treaty, and the empire
went on for another seven or eight years during his lifetime
uninjured by this calamity. When he died about 1586
his youngest brother, Venkata, succeeded to the throne;
Rama, the second brother, had apparently predeceased his
clder brother, The premonitory symptoms of the coming
disruption seem to have already made themselves felt when
the Madura Niyak, Virappa, made an effort at independence
soon after the siege of Penukonda in which Sriranga became
prisoner, Venkata, with the aid of the Nayak of Tanjore,
was able to assert his authority over Madura, and thus tide
over the first effort at disruption. This probably is what is
referred to as the battle of Vallamprikdra in the Pudukottai
plates of Sri Vallabha and Varatunga Pandya. After
Venkata's accession to the throne in 1585 the same
Madura viceroyalty seems to have created trouble, and
Venkata had to commission his young nephew to bring the
recalcitrant viceroy to a sense of allegiance. Tirumala, the
eldest son of Rama, instead of doing this his clear duty,
appears to have made common cause with the rebel viceroy,
and, instead of returning to the imperial headquarters, where
he was for the time being as a young man, proceeded
straight to his father’s viceroyalty at Srirangapattanam,
thus marking the beginning of the disruption of the empire.
Venkata was able to reassert his authority for the time
being in Madura, but had to let his nephew alone, sulking
in Srirangapattanam. This series of events appear to have
happened in the last years of the century and the beginning
of the next. This want of good-will between the nephew-
viceroy and the uncle-emperor seems to have continued
unabated, so much so that the emperor locked on, perhaps
with satisfaction, at the extinction of the viceroyalty at
Srirangapattanam by the energetic exertions of a feudatory
chief in the person of Rija Udaiyar of Mysore, the
3
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founder of the dynasty of His Highness the Maharaja
of Mysore. The emperor had his own difficulties to con-
tend against in the constant harrying invasions of
Golkonda, and, at the time that Srirangapattanam fell, he
was actnally threatened with a siege of his capital, from
which he was saved by the timely exertions of the Tanjore
forces under the command of the heir-apparent, Raghuniitha
Niyaka, That the emperor was not dissatisfied with
what had befallen his nephew is indicated in the charter
he issued in 1612 confirming the acquisition of the
Srirangapatianam viceroyalty by Rija Udaiyir. The
younger brother of the ex-viceroy of gr‘fmngapnttﬂ.uam
still remained at court apparently, so that, from the point
of view of the emperor, the viceroyalty passed from the
hands of a recalcitrant nephew whose loyalty was doubtful
to the hands of an enterprising chieftain whose future
loyalty he had no reason to suspect. The separation of
Srirangapattanam, therefore, may be regarded as the first act
of dismemberment of the empive, though for another
quarter of a century the ruler of this province conducted
himself as a loyal feudatory.

Venkata dying childless in 1614, his young nephew
Sriranga, who had apparently been known before as
* Chikkardya ' (Yuvardja or heir-apparent), was declared, in
accordance with the wishes of Venkata, his successor in
the empire. Unfortunately for the empire there was a
young man brought up in the family as the son of one of
the queens of Venkata who came of the family of the Gobbiri
chiefs. Venkata and his councillors seem to have doubted
the maternity, and declared the nephew, Sriranga, emperor.
The Gobbiiri chief, Jagga, took up the cause of this putative
son, and awaited an opportunity to massacre the whole of
the royal family and thus gain for his nephew the title to
the empire. He found the opportunity and succeeded in
destroying Sriranga and his children, three boys and two
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girls, excepting one of the boys, the middle one, as the
story has it, who was smuggled away by a washerman of
the royal family at the instance of a loyal chieftain,
Yichama Nayaka. Prince Rima having thus escaped the
holocaust of the royal family, a war of succession became
certain and provided the inevitable test of loyalty.
Yichama, a comparatively petty chieftain, could hardly
stand against the traitor, Jagga, and his allies, and looked
about for support among the great feudatories of the
empire. He found he could count upon the support of the
Niayak of Tanjore and of nobody else. The Nayak of
Madura stands out in bold relief as the head of the disloyal
combination against the fugitive prince and his protector,
Yachama, and, as such, against Tanjore. The Nayak of
Madura, the Nayak of Gingi, the Pandyas of Tinnevelly,
the Portuguese, and perhaps even distant Travancore stood
ranged on the side of the traitor. Mysore seems to have
held aloof .in this war of succession. In the description
of the forces arrayed on either side of the now famous
battle of Toppiir, the name of Mysore does not occur in
any of the accounts. This absence of Mysore cannot be
explained altogether by the possibility of Muhammadan
invasions on the northern side. There was, perhaps, in itan
undercurrent of disloyalty, and there may bave been the
excuse of an imminent Bijapur or Golkonda invasion from
the north. Whatever was the reason, Mysore did not show
itself on either side, while Madura stood out the champion
of the traitor Jagga. We have not the means to decide
whether the knowledge, that possibly Venkata possessed, of
the real character of the youth set up against his nominee,
was common enough to be shared by the feudatories of the
empire. Some of them may have honestly believed that
the candidate supported by Jagga was the real claimant,
but. the general support that the accession of Sriranga
Chikka Raya had and the desperate step that Jagga took te
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assert the claims of his nephew seem clear enough indica-
tions of the general position in regard to the respective
claims of the two parties concerned. It would, therefore,
be reasonable to conclude that Jagga and his friends were
guilty of treason to the empire in the line of action that
they adopted in regard to this particular question. So
far as the history of the Niyaks of Madura is concerned,
this gives clear evidence of the lurking desire on the
part of the Niyaks, beginning with Virappa I, to make
themselves independent if a suitable opportunity offered
itself.

Thenceforward the position of the parties becomes
clear, and Madura must be counted among the feudatories
whose policy towards the empire was a great deal shaped
by the possibility of achieving independence. The guiding
consideration had become not loyalty to the empire but
the attitude of the other powerful feudatories in regard to
this central question. During the rcigns of Sriranga II
and his successor, Venkata 11, the empirec managed to hold
together, leaving the feudatories pretty much to their
own devices to shape their policy as they liked. Hence
we see the iperial power maintaining the position of an
interested or disinterested spectator in all the shiftings and
changes of frontiers between the greater feudatories, among
them chiefly Madura and Mysore. This was duve to the
supreme nced of the empire to make a stand against
Muhammadan advance, as Bijapur had begun her advance
in right earnest into the territory of the empire by coming
to an understanding early with Golkonda in regard to their
respective spheres of operations, Bijapur was to appropri-
ate as much of the Carnatic above the ghats as she could,
and Golkonda was to have a free hand in the portion of
the empire below the Ghats. The brunt of the Golkonda
aggression therefore fell upon the empire proper at Penu-
konda, and subsequently at Chandragiri, and lastly at
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Vellore. The brunt of the Bijapur aggression fell upon
Mysore and to a certain extent on Ikkeri as well. In with-
standing the aggressions of Bijapur and keeping them within
bounds Mysore did, to a considerable extent, render services
to the empire. These services became greater as Mysore
extended her borders by appropriating the bulk of the
territories of the Channapattana viceroyalty of Jagadeva
Riyal, which included a considerable portion of eastern
Mysore and the Baramahals of Salem. Bijapur was gradu-
ally able to absorb into her territory the Mysore districts
of Chittaldroog, Tumkur, and Kolar with almost one-half
of Bangalore. On this frontier Mysore and Bijapur stood
face to face. Through all the vicissitudes of the empire
Madura had no such duty to discharge either to herself or
to the empire. Hence Mysore could always show herself
the champion of the empire while Madura had not that
excuse. When Sriranga I1I ascended the throne some time
about 1642, it must have seemed to him that the empire
was in a very bad condition and was maintaining an
unequal struggle for existence, chiefly through the want of
loyalty of the feudatories of the south, particularly the
powerful Nayak of Madura. He made an organized effort
to bring these Niiyaks under allegiance to him. In this
move of his he could let Mysore go on, as she had so far
committed herself to no other act of disloyalty and was,
by actually occupying the Channapattana viceroyalty, put-
ting herself in the way of the aggressions of Bijapur, thus
rendering a service to the empire, though indirectly, The
empire had to bear alone and unaided the aggressions of
Golkonda. By persistent effort Golkonda was gradually
overpowering the empire. The clear duty of the southern
feudatories at the time was to have gone to the assistance
of .the empire and thus enabled itto make a stand along
the second line of defence of the earlier empire. This
combination, co-operating with Mysore in the policy that



22 INTRODUCTION

her own sclf-interest dictated, had very fair chances of
success. These were thrown away by the southern viceroys,
chiefly the Nayaks of Madura, and, not content with this,
Tirumala Niyaka committed himself to inviting the inter-
vention of Bijapur to prevent the cmperor’s marching
against himself. It is impossible to justify this act on the
part of Tirumala as the facts were too elear and too much
above the surface for him not to have taken note of them.
The best argument in his favour would be the possibilitics
of aggression from Mysore. But aggression on the part of
Mysore was not possible: asit turned out, it was not possible
till the aggressions of Bijapur were put an end to by the
active advance of the Moghuls in the Dakhan that came
later but not yet. It was this want of perception of the needs
of the empire and the failure to adopt an imperial policy
by the Nayak of Madura that was primarily responsible for
the extinction of the empire. Mysore openly threw off the
yoke in 1646, and Tirumala Niyaka's attitude against
the empire was no less open. Jor the next quacter of a
century or more the emperor could be regarded only as a
fugitive, now and then gaining the support of the loyal
feudatories and exerting himself to the utmost of his power
against odds which were too strong for him both within
and without. The fall of the empirc marked the doom
of the viceroyalties without a doubt. Mysore saved herself
by a timely exertion against Bijapur und by keeping the
Madura Nayaks, as far as might be, beyond her own
borders. .

The complicated transactions which are too indefinitely
reflected in the inscriptions embodying the details of
the conquest of frontier posts in the Kongu country
by Chikkadevarija Udaiyir of Mysore require for a
proper understanding a short retrospect of the history of
the decade or fifteen years preceding. By the absorption
of the viceroyalty of Channapaftana, Chamardja of Mysore
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had brought the Mysore frontier in touch with the northern
frontier of Madura along the line of the foothills of the
ghats. The rest of the present-day state of Mysore was
acquired on behalf of Bijapur by the successful Bijapur
invasions in the same period under Randhula Khan and his
successors, After the retirement of the great general the
government of the region, which included in it the Bellary
district, the Chittaldroog, Tumkur, and Kolar districts in
Mysore with some outlying tracts, was entrusted to Shahji,
who acted as second-in-command under Randhula XKhan,
The territory of the empire, which then was under
Venkata 11, was hemmed in between the Bijapur territories
of Shahji and the conquests of Mir Jumla on behalf of
Golkonda, which ultimately he transformed into a fief of -
.his own with but nominal control from his liege-lord of
Golkonda. By a marriage alliance between the two rulers,
the Sultans of Bijapur and Golkonda brought about peace
between themselves, and since the settlement of 1636 the
Moghul danger had ceased to be imminent, When
Sriranga I1I came to the throne in 1642, the state of things,
go far as the empire went, seemed promising enough to keep
these two powers outside the frontier, if not of Penukonda
or Chandragiri, at any rate of Vellore, In the years
immediately following a change had taken place. Shabhji
had stretched out a hand to Gingi, and was able easily
to occupy the fort in the interests of Bijapur to begin with,
but ultimately to make it a part of his own jaghir. In
this he seems to have received the co-operation of the Nayak
of Madura. It is apparently this aggression of Shahji
on behalf of Bijapur that is referred to in the Jesuit letters
as an act of treason to the empire on the part of Tirumala.
This advance of Bijapur was in all probability seconded
by the advance of the Golkonda forces on Vellore itself,
both having for their ultimate object to prevent the march
of Sriranga southwards for a successful assertion of his
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authority over his feudatories. Tirumala had successfully
circumvented the emperor by organizing a simultaneous
movement southwards of Golkonda and Bijapur. It was
probably in this connection that the emperor had to
double back upon Vellore, and succeeded in heating back
the Golkonda invasion and in raising the siege of Vellore.
In this successful enterprise of his he received cefficient
help from Sivappa Niyaka of Ikkeri, who may not at
the time have usurped the throne. Apparently Golkonda
repeated her attacks and ultimately dislodged Sriranga
some time about 1646 : this resulted in the move of Shahji
towards Gingi. It is probably this precarious position
of the emperor that accounts for the assumption by
about 1646 of what seems formal independence by the
Mysore ruler, Kanthirava Narasa. The fall of Vellore, the
occupation of Gingi, and this indication of independence
on the part of Mysore must have made Sriranga's position
desperate, and, failing to secure useful assistance anywhere
near, he made an appeal to Shah Jahan in 1653, offering
even to become a convert to Islam if the emperor made it
a condition preliminary to rendering him the assistance
that would enable him to regain his territory, The appear-
ance of Aurangzib in the Dakhan and his machinations
to take possession both of Golkonda and of Bijapur put
new heart into the emperor, who apparently made another
effort to bring the Hindu rulers of the south together in
supporting him to beat the two Musalman states back into
their normal frontiers. In this effort probably he had the
countenance of Mysore, and Tirumala Niyaka's unpatriotic
efforts against the success of this combination account in
all probability for the aggravated hostility between Mysore
and Madura. During the period 1652 to 1656 or 1657
the two Muhammadan states were fully occupied in their
efforts to keep outside the clutches of the octopus, Aurang-
zib, the Moghul viceroy of the Dakhan. The chances of
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success of a Hindu combination were therefore at the time
very good. For some reason or other the emperor got
estranged from the ruler of Mysore, and, instead of a
combination of all the Hindu states against the Muham-
madans, the Hindu states themselves divided into two
camps, and we have the spectacle of a combined attack
upon Mysore of all the other Hindu powers of the south.
Kanthirava Narasa had to struggle against this combination
and he managed to hold his own. His death and the
death of Tirumala Niyaka of Madura took place about the
same time. The Muhammadan states of the Dakban
had been greatly reduced and were saved from entire
destruction by the outbreak of the fratricidal war for the
succession to the Moghul throne. For the next decade
practically, things went on as before perhaps with much
less of Musalman intervention. It was now a question
of an understanding, if not a combination, between Gingee
and Madura against Tanjore, and of the hostility of
Mysore to Madura. The wars between the last two were
carried on with a considerable amount of bitterness and
with varying success, After a decade of this warfare
the Mysoreans were so successful that it was only by
a desperate expedient that Trichinopoly could be saved
for Madura., In the course of the struggle between
these two states Madura managed to overthrow Tanjore
and let her be overthrown by the Mahrattas in turn, so
that by the time that Mysore and Madura could, after
exhausting themselves, agree to get on peacefully to-
gether, the Mahrattas had become a power in the south
to reckon with, The invasion of the Carnatic by Sivaji is
only the culminating event of the slow advance of the
Mahrattas, where previously Bijapur invasions and occu-
pation were feared. The last decade of the century and
more, the Muhammadan states were occupied in their
death-struggle against the. Moghuls under Aurangzib which

4
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ended only in their extinction, and they ceased to be a
power in South Indian politics.

The fortunes of Sriranga in the meantime underwent
vicissitudes which are but vaguely reflected in the varying
combinations of his feudatories. It hasalready been pointed
out that the year 1646 marks in a way the formal in-
dependence of Mysore. During the next five or six years
the emperor probably tried cach one of his feudatories and,
ultimately failing, made that pitiable appeal to the Moghul
emperor. Thereafter Mysore seems to have stood out as
the aggressive growing power. Ikkeri gave the asylum,
which was denied the emperor elsewhere, for some time.
His exertions were so far successful, and perhaps the
aggressions of Mysore sufficiently provocative, as to bring
about a combination of the southern states against Mysore,
the emperor being put forward as perhaps the most avail-
able element of combination among them. During the reign
of Devardja of Mysore and in the carly years of the reign
of Chikkadeéva Rija this combination seems to have been
kept alive, perhaps by more than one war against Mysore.
Through all these Mysore came out successful. The
decisive event of this succession of wars seems to be the
battle of Erode, which must have taken place some
time about 1672 or a little before, in which Mysore
decidedly defeated the combination and was able to occupy
the salient position along the Kongu frontier. That was
probably the last appearance of Sriranga, the emperor,
We have records of him in the Bellary District of 1662-3,
and the last record in which his name occurs is one dated
1667 in the Coimbatore District. After the battle of Erode
he found asylum in Ikkéri, now under the usurper Sivappa
Niyaka ; and the advance of Sivappa upon Mysore and the
victories that Mysore claimed at Sakkarepattana and
Hassan indicate apparently the last effort on behdlf of
the emperor. It may be this war in which, -according
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to the Rdamardjavijayamu, Kodandarima, another scion
of the Vijayanagar family and a descendant of Ramarija
of Talikota fame, claims to have defeated the Mysore
general, the famous Dalavdy Kumadraiya of this period of
Mysore history. We do not hear any more about Sriranga.
His death may have had something to do with the
coronation of Sivaji; but the latter's march into the south
and his attempt at an assertion of his authority over the
Carnatic for which he tried so hard in 1677, must have had
at the back of it the idea that he took the place of the late
emperor of Vijayanagar. The issue of a coinage on the
model of Vijayanagar by Sivaji is a clear indication of
this. It is just possible that, as a counter-blast to
this, Aurangzib tried to assert his authority over this
same region by sending his slippers on elephant-back in
procession. The story of this peaceful mission is related
in connection with the rule of Muttu Virappa III. This
is ascribed to a period following closely upon the fall of
Bijapur and Golkonda, and may be regarded as a
characteristic attempt at the assertion of imperial authority
in the distant south, as much as Sivaji's effort before.
The death of Sriranga and the cessation of the empire may
be dated before 1677 and after 1675, though the names of
emperors figure in records till very near 1710; and there-
after the history of South India is a history of the struggle
between the viceroys of the empire, such of them as
survived, complicated by the presence of the Mahrattas
and the advance of the Moghul generals. These latter,
in the course of the next fifty years, were able to make
themselves masters of Trichinopoly and put an end to the
Madura viceroyalty, With that ends the history of the
Nayaks of Madura, and the only other power of importance
from out of the Vijayanagar empire is the state of
Mysore, which saved itself from any Moghul conquest
under Aurangzib by a timely embassy which apparently
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Madura did not send. Mysore was allowed to pursue her
career unhampered by the Moghuls, and the dynasty that
made itself conspicuous in this period continues to rule

to-day.
5. K. A.



History of the Nayaks of Madura

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTORY

THE history of the Niayaks of Madura, which comprises
roughly a period of about two hundred years, from the
second quarter of the sixteenth century down to nearly the
second half of the eighteenth century, was first presented
as a consecutive history by Mr. J. H. Nelson of the Madras
Civil Service in 1868, in his work The Madura Comuntry.
He has made a careful study of the various chronicles in
Tamil and Telugu, and the inscriptions of the country so
far collected and deciphered. Further than this, he has
incorporated in his work almost all the relevant information
with regard to his subject, gleaned from the administrative
reports of the Jesuit missionary settlers in Madura,
Trichinopoly, and other places in the south, though his
work in this respect leaves much to be desired in regard to
the manner in which he has utilized these records for
historical purposes.

Nelson himself admits his dtﬂicultles in the way of
access to reliable sources in some cases, and his inability
to elucidate these sources with sufficient fulness in the
midst of his multifarious public duties, some of which were
inconsistent with the requirements of historical work. He
foresees the need for revision of his work and a reconsidera-
tion of his views. Apart from the accumulation of
materials, epigraphical and literary, more especially the
former, during the fifty years since its publication, his
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work bears marks of having suffered much from hasty
compilation. His somewhat too exclusive reliance on Jesuit
testimony has to be modified by an impartial consideration
and collation of all accessible sources. All the recent work
of scholars, from 1900 onwards, on the history of the
Vijayanagar empire, he could not have had the benefit of,
and hence he could not attain to the proper perspective
for the carly history of this period. In spite of these
defects, some at least certainly unavoidable, his work
deserves praise as a creditable pioneer attempt at historical
construction.

The second attempt in this direction has been made by
Mr, V. Rangachari, M.A., L.T., of the Madras Department
of Education, in the Indian Antiguary (1914-17). THe
has drawn upon almost all the principal original sources,
with the exception of the Jesuit letters, for the information
contained in which he reliecs solely on Nelson. Some
casual references of a very important character in hooks
not easily accessible arc lost sight of, perhaps without
serious detriment to his work from this point of view. It
is only to be regretted that this work has not been noticed
critically and in detail till now.

Mr. Rangachari's introduction to his work is on the
stupendous scale of Macaulay, and begins from 1310--a
little before the Muhammadan conquest of Madura. He
deals at length with the Muhammadan and Vijayanagar
conquests, and the reigns of the Vijayanagar emperors,
Krishnadeva Raya and Achyuta Raya, which are neot,
strictly speaking, germane to the subject in hand. The
general arrangement of the matter presented is defective in
parts. Questions connected with Nayak finance are dis-
cussed immediately after the beginning of Nayak rule
under Vidvandtha. Even Nelson, who deals with this
question under Tirumala Nayaka, is not free from this
charge, as he endorses the opinions of the Jesuits about the
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oppressive land-system of the Nayaks, though such remarks
can properly be made applicable only to the period coming
after Tirumala's reign. Mr. Rangachari's reflections on the
general characteristics of Naiyak rule come quite at the
beginning, even before the work of the first Niyak ruler is
explained, General inferences find their proper place towards
the close, at least after the facts on which they are based are
stated. Though the chronology of the History of the
Carnataca Governors is obviously too early by a century
in the beginning, it is referred to at the commencement of
almost every reign. Selection of the right kind of sources
is an indispensable preliminary. The author constantly
refers to the curious views of Manucci, Wheeler (whom he
calls ‘a historian with more imagination than capacity’),
and others of the kind, only to condemn them as absurd.
Detailed consideration of facts and views, which do not
come up to a minimum standard of veracity, is wasteful,
Proper canons of historical criticism are brushed aside in
Mr. Rangachari's stigmatizing Tirumala Nayaka's negotia-
tions with the Muhammadans as * unpatriotic’, Historical
characters must be judged according to the prevailing ideas
of their times. Moreover, ethical consideration of historical
facts is not history. The telling remark’ of Ch. V. Langlois
and Ch. Seignobos is worth remembering, at least as a check
against an excess of moral disquisitions: ‘It is not an
historian's question, for instance, whether Napoleon was
right or wrong in his conduct at Jaffa, or Nelson in his
behaviour at Naples . . . all that the historian has to do
is to get what conclusion he can out of the conflict of
evidence ' with regard to facts. The chief characteristic of
Mr. Rangachari's work is the encyclopadic variety of
references given, even irrespective of their merit or rele-
vancy. Some of the important references have not been

1 Fubvoduction to the Study of Hislory, p. xii,
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made with proper care—perhaps partly due to insufficient
proof-reading—and they must be verified before they are
accepted. The monotony of verbiage is frequently followed
by unduly long quotations and unnecessary extracts in
extenso. Fulseme admiration and scathing condemnation
constitute, perhaps, the variety of chamcter-study and
estimate of achievements, There is too much of 'cock-
sureness ' in such expressions as * the (uestion will perhaps
be never solved '’ and in frequent and unqualified use of
such labels as ‘wrong’, 'absurd’', ‘ridiculous’, and others
too numerous to mention. There is much evidence of a
censorial vein and want of taste in some of his remarks.
It is hardly the work of the historian to record everything
thought and said about a matter. To accumulate facts is
far easier than to weigh them and estimate them at their
real valne. It is the function of properly using facts
rather than of accumulating them that distinguishes the
historian from the antiquarian. Hence it is that Lord
Acton has called for * solidity of criticism ' in preference to
‘ plenitude of erndition' in the study of history, Dis-
crimination in the choice of materials and constructive
thinking are essential functions which a historian can
never abdicate. In spite of the caution given by the Rev.
William Taylor, the chronicles are taken too often at their
face value, and the whole work has the appearance of a
romance, as regards both matter and style. This is only
in conformity with his own dictum® that History, and
frequently Indian History, merges into romance. *

t [ A., 1814, p. 260,

2 fbid., 1017, p. 58,

* This criticism of Mr. Rangachari’s work is allowed to pass for the
following considerations :—Mr. Rangachari's Is an elaborate work on
the subject and chnllan?s criticism by those that take up the subject
for further research, The eriticlsm above has nothing personal in it,
and applies only to the published work. Almost the same oploion of
the work was expressed by Mr. R. Sewell, the historian of Vijayanagar,
in n letter he wrote to me some time back., A review of the work at the
beginning renders it superfluous to make the constant references which
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Some essays and occasional notes of varying length on
this subject, or parts thereof, owe their existence perhaps
chiefly to an effort at popularizing Nelson's work, and
cannot, therefore, be regarded as conteibutions to historical
_research., LYY A o0

Sources.—The” principal sources for the history of the
Madura Niayakship are native chronicles and memoirs,
which are a growth of later times. Though they have not
the value of contemporary evidence, they can be taken to
reflect genuine local tradition. They were apparently com-
piled with reference to the then existing records. Thus
they are at best second-hand evidence, probably too re-
mote to interfere with proper historical estimate, though
sometimes they descend to the level of bazaar gossip.
Col. Mackenzic, whose object at frst was merely to collect
them, could not have exercised sufficient discriminative
judgment in recording the statements and notices he
received, and he was not spared to deal with them cri-
tically. Though some of them cannot stand even strict
internal criticism, their usefulness in investing history with
real flesh and Dblood cannot be overlooked ; but they must
be utilized with much cauvtion. Bishop Caldwell's sweep-
ing condemnation, that they ‘fall beneath the level even of
tradition ' and are ‘little better than pure inventions’,
has to be modified to a great extent.’ An impartial and
collated study of these native records is the only substantial
basis for the reconstruction of this history. The following
remarks of Rosebery describe our position more or less
correctly : “1f one wishes to study seriously the life of
Napoleon at St. Helena, it is necessary first to feel one's
way through the maze of legendary literature to arrive at
any chance or possibility of facts; it is necessary to discard

otherwise wonld be inevitable and, ina case like this, undesirable,

—Fd,
2 History of Tinnevelly, p. 55,
5
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copiously, until at last one may doubt if anything be left.
The more one reads and sifts, the more dubious become all
these chronicles, the more questionable becomes every
assertion in them.'® Though very difficult to ulilize, the
native records must first be cxploited for our purpose,
They are of special use, and probably ahnost the sole
source of information, for the sixteenth century.

Most of these chronicles were collected, translated, and
carefully edited by William Taylor in 1835 in his two
volumes of the Oriental Historical Manuscripts. Iis trans-
lation does not take into consideration finer shades of
meaning, and must, therefore, be frequently compared with
the original. His Catalogue Raisonne of Oriental Manu-
scripts, in three volumes published in 1857, 1860, and 1862
respectively, contains abstracts of native documents which
supply a volume of waricd information. The wvalue of
these records must be individually appraised by searching
internal and external criticism. The History of the
Carnataca Governors gives some brief, but useful and
reliable information in spite of its strange and misleading
chronology. Its genealogical list is fuller than, and is not
opposed to, that of the other chronicles. The Mrtyun-
jaya Manuscripts and the Pdanmdyan Chronicle are much
better in point of chronology; a better version of the
latter" is now available than the one made use of by
Taylor. Other native manuscripts supply us with a great
deal of more or less valuable information though their
chronological value is practically little. The Tanjdviri
Andhra Rajula Charitra,? similar, in the matn, to the
Tanjdviri Vari Charitra of Taylor, is an illuminating
record, which bears specially on the history of Tanjore

8 Napoleon, The Last Phase, pp. 7-8.

? Madurailialavaraldyu, the prose introduction to the Tiruppagimdiai,

i‘é‘;ﬂ'ﬂi‘#ﬁ;“miﬁ“iﬂﬂ, No. 27 : a translation of this is appended, Sea

S8.K.A., Sowrces, p, 319, seq.
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in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, but also throws
much light on Madura affairs, principally on the foundation
of the Niayakship. The Singhala dvipa catha has a very
strong air of reality about it, though it is unique in its con-
tents, Besides these there are numerous Polegar memoirs,
which throw a flood of light in unexpected nooks and
COTTErS, :
here are some literary works in Sanskrit, like the
Sahityaratnakaram, Rukminiparipayam, and others which,
though concerned primarily with the Tanjore Nayaks, in-
directly throw some light on Madura history. These works
have the merit of being almost contemporary, written by cul-
tured men who had free access to all necessary information, )
Numerous other works in Sanskrit and Telugu, which deal
with the Vijayanagar empire and its rulers, contain many
references to the course of events in Madura, which was
largely influenced by this empire and its traditions even
after it had ‘practically ceased to be controlled by it. For
the period anterior to Tirumala Niyaka, we can speak
of almost common sources for both, as during this period
Madura was a tributary of Vijayanagar. A sound know-
ledge of the history of this great empire is an essential
pre-requisite for any historical work bearing on the Nayaks
of Madura.

A particular branch of the literary sources—or rather
epistolary sources—is the series of annual reports to Europe
by the Jesuit missionaries of South India on the adminis-
tration of their various ecclesiastical centres. These reports
or letters, originally written in Italian, Portuguese, and
Latin, were translated into French by Father J. Bertrand
of the Society of Jesus, and embodied in his Le Mission
du Maduré? in four volumes published in Paris. in 1847,

% Some of the important letters bearing on political history have been
translated by me into English and given in Appendix A. Scattered

references are also rendered inte English and introduced in their
proper places, "
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1848, 1850, and 1854 respectively. The first volume is merely
introductory and gives general views on India and on the
Christian missions ; the other volumes contain the letters
and certain documents connccted with them. As coming
from educated men of high qualifications who lived in this
country and with the people, these writings are of great
value. They throw much light on the religions, social,
economic, and political conditions of Sounth India in the
seventeenth and a part of the eightcenth centuries.  Though
their object was mainly and professedly religious, "
passing remarks on other aspects of society could not be
avoided. Consequently, even the historian of political
events will gain considerable material for history if he
dive deep into these documents and collect these incidental
references. In a way they serve as a necessary corrective
to the Indian tradition as cmbodied in the Mackensie
Manuscripts. From 1659 to 1686 they contain a brief
sketch of the political condition of the country, apart from
casual notices of it in narrating the progress of missionary
activities. The history of the reigns of Tirumala Ndyaka
and his two immediate successors, at least from 1656 to
1682, could hardly be written with sufficient fulness but
for these records.

The following observations of J. Lockman give a fair
estimate of the value of Jesvit testimony. ‘No men are
better qualified to describe nations and countries than the
Jesuits. Their education; their extensive learning; the
pains they take to acquire the languages of the several
regions they visit; the opportunities they have, by their
gkill in the arts and sciences, as well as by their insinuating
address, to glide into courts where access is often denied
to all but themselves; their familiarity with the inhabi-
tants; their mixing with, and often very long abode

10 Bertrand, iil, p. 273, Pide Appendix A, Letter No. 6.
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among, them ; these must give our Jesuits a much more
perfect insight into the genius and character of a nation
than others who visit coasts only and that merely upon
account of traffic or from other lucrative motives. . . .
Upon the whole, therefore, the Jesuits, to speak in general,
have the best opportunity of furnishing us with valuable
accounts of many far-distant countries, Probably the
only circumstance which restrains the pens of most of them
is their profession and certain private views.'" Father
Bertrand remarks that the chief merit of these Jesuit
letters consists in their having been written * without any
thought of publication® by men who, 'by duty and
intimacy of confidential correspondence, offer, to their
superiors or fellow-members, a faithful picture of their
work and success, without any motive of exaggerating the
colour.' " But this merit seems to be of doubtful historical
value. The necessity of justifying their existence and
enhancing the importance of their labours might well have
led them, consciously or unconsciously, into exaggerations
and misstatements, Further, it does not redound much
to the veracity of an historical document that it was
* written under the impression of the moment and inspired
by the heart "' But in cases where their evidence is of
doubtful value, it is not impossible, by a careful considera-
tion of the circumstances, to disentangle truth from its
misrepresentation or distortion. Hence a critical, an-
notated English edition of La Mission du Maduré by a
scholar well acquainted with the history of South India in
the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, in all its varions
aspects, is a desideratum, the importance and urgency
of which can hardly be over-estimated.

The accounts given by foreign travellers, and the records

11 Fravels of the Jesuils, i, Preface, pp. vili-ix,
1y ii.{r‘p. v=vi.
10 fbid, p. 64.
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of their travels and observations, though necessarily super-
ficial and sometimes cven superlluous, have generally an
originality and freshness about them, The most obvious
facts about, and features of; local institutions might
naturally have been overlooked by native chroniclers,
This gap can be filled only by contemporary foreign obser-
vers. A foreign colour may be given to, and strange ideas
read into, transactions and events, which ceven the most
careless native would not make a mistake about. But, in
the absence of relinble evidence, the best use will have to
be made of the distorted version. Iiven making allowance
for all these natural, and, to some extent, irremediable
defects, a foreigner's account can smooth the angulari-
ties of native prejudice and vanity. These general merits
and defects appear, in a larger or smaller degree, according
to the ability, culture, and special circumstances of the
individual foreigner. In the present case, the accounts of
Barradas and Nuniz, the observations of John Nieuhoff
and others, the casual references of Thevenot and Manueei,
and the notices contained in Purchas' Pilgrimes shed
welcome sidelights on many facts and events. There are
stray references to seventeenth and eighteenth century
Madura in the works of Muhammadan historians and
travellers. The records of Fort St. George are worth
ransacking, as at times we come across unexpected notices
of events.

Epigraphy is an indispensable aid to history. Generally
its evidence is contemporary and precise, and contains
much less of the personal element than is contained in
other sources. But much caution has to be exercised in
dealing with the materials it affords. Allowance has to be
made for royal and governmental rodomontade, and
spurious or forged plates have to be guarded against.
Though used with the greatest discrimination, this source
can only furnish very general and meagre information as
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genealogical lists, chronological details, and disconnected
facts. Inscriptions per sc cannot claim any invariable
superiority over the literary sources ; they are a necessary
and useful supplement to them. They can only give us
dry bones of history ; it is the function of literary accounts
to make them real and living. Nelson had only & handful
of ddsanams and other epigraphical records, but our posi-
tion now is much better, though there is, as yet, no risk of
superfluity. Almost all the epigraphical information now
available for our period is collected in Sewell’s Lists of
Antiquitics, Madras, the annuval reports of the Madras
Department of LEpigraphy, the Travancore Archwological
Serics, Burgess and Natesa Sastri's Tamil and Sanskrit
Inscriptions, and other minor publications.

The archreological remains of the Niyak rule are found
chiefly in the districts of Madura, Tinnevelly, Ramnad, and
Trichinopoly. The town of Madura and its environs
especially supply us with much of antiquarian interest.
The public buildings have their own story to tell. The
numerous place-names boar the impress of Nayak associa-
tions. A good local knowledge of the southern districts
is a great help to the elucidation of old records.

Besides these original sources, very reliable second-
hand information is available in the works of Robert Orme
and F. C. Danvers, All these materials enable us to give
a connected account of the Niyak regime, though much
has still to be left to future historical research., It has not
been possible in this work to utilize historical information
that may be found in Telugu Literature beyond what is
contained in Professor S. Krishnaswami Aiyangar's Sources
of Vijayanagar History.

Date of the Foundation of the Nayakship—Tradition is
almost unanimous in ascribing the foundation of Nayak
rule in Madura to Viévanitha Nayaka, the son of Nagama
Niayaka of the Kadyapa-gotra. Inscriptions also lend their
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support to this view. The Dalaviay Agrahiram Plates of
Venkata I say that Virabhiipa (Virappa Niyaka) was born
in the family of Vidvanitha Niyaka. The Kiniyir Plates
of Venkata II, which trace the ancestry of Tirumala
Niyaka, begin with Vidvanitha. The latter’s name is
found tacked on to the names of many of the Niyaks in
their inscriptions, Chokkandtha almost invariably appears
as Vidvanidtha-Chokkandtha.

But the date of the commencement of Vidvanitha
Nayaka's viceroyalty of Madura and its duration are
differently given in the native chronicles; and there is
not, as yet, a consensus of opinion among scholars on this
important question. The theory of Nelson, borrowed by
R. Sewell and accepted by Rao Bahadur H. Krishna Sastri,"
now Epigraphist to the Government of India, places
Vidvanitha's assumption of power in 1559, This view
seems to be partly the result of reliance on later tradition
as embodied in the Pandyan Chronicle and Mriyunjaya
Manuseripts, either of which, it seems, Nelson? is dis-
posed to call ‘the most trustworthy of the manuscripts
translated by Taylor'. The latter chronicle refers only
to the date of the crowning of Vidvanitha, not to his
accession to power. It is clear from the account it gives
that he was anointed after much of his work in Madura
was done. Perhaps Nelson was also led away by the fact
that there were no inscriptions of Vidvaniitha prior to 1560,
at the time he wrote. He does not discuss the question
fully, but satisfies himself with the assurance that ‘1559
is the correct date of Vigvanitha's assumption of govern-
ment' . ... ‘the accuracy of which there can be no reason
to doubt .

Mr. Rangachari has attempted to discuss this ques-
tion, but with no better result. He stops short with the

14 Archeeological Swrvey of Tudia, Report, 1011-12, p. 194,
15 o, B7.
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dogmatic assertion that ‘inscriptions unmistakably prove
that it was 1559 He seems to rely on a misreading of
the title ‘DPandyakulasthipaniichirya® in the Krishpa-
puram Plates of Sadidiva (1567) as referring to Nigama
Miyakn, to establish the fact that the latter was one of the
principal commanders of Vijayanagar in Achyuta Riya's
Travancore campaign of 1532-3." Therefore, he argues
that Nagama could not have revolted before 1535. Nor
could he have done so, he continues, during the period
1535-57, when Vidvaniitha and Vitthala were Vijayanagar
viceroys in the south ; for the former was his son and the
latter his relative. ‘If Nagama Niik's revolt had taken
place during the administration of these viceroys, it would
certainly have been recorded in some at least of the in-
scriptions of the day." Hence Mr. Rangachari’s conclusion
that * Nigama's defection must have taken place in 1557
or 1558, and that his defeat and his son's elevation must
have been accomplished in 1559'* He himself seems to
contradict this view when he says, in another connection,
that ‘it is possible, nay probable, that he (Nagama) died
earlier (than 1558)".""  Further, his argument from silence,
viz., the absence of inscriptions of Nigama's revalt between
1535 and 1557, is fallacious, and must apply equally well
to the time he ascribes to it. His revolt is recorded in no
inscription. 'With regard to the title attributed to Nigama
to prove his loyalty in 1532-3, it does not refer to him
but to his grandson, Krishnappa Niyaka, as is evident
from the following verses from the Krishnipuram Plates of
Sadagiva.®

‘ Yagasvind Pindyakulasthdpandchdryakirting

Méantina (nyéna) dakshinamah@samudridhidvarénacha
Nagamakshmapapautrépa Nalanibhégakirtind.’

18 1 4., 1014, p. 258. 17 fbid,, p. 191,
8 fhid,, p. 260, 10 Jbid,, p. 15.
wE ], ﬂc, p. 336, 11. 115-6 ; Appendix D, No, 61,
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If Nagama had been a commander of Achyuta, it is likely
to have been recorded, if not in inscriptions, at least in the
Achyutardydbhyudayam, which deals directly with the
latter's Travancore campaign. Ilowever, Mr. Rangachari
remarks : ‘It is curious that Mr. Krishna Sastri totally
ignores Niigama's part in this campaign.' ®

Taylor himself, on a reconsideration of this question,
was for placing Nigama's revolt about twenty years earlier,
i.e. about 1538 ;" but his object was to allow some inter-
val between that event and Vidvandtha's assumption of
authority. Wilks * dates the foundation of the Nayakship
of Madura in 1532. Caldwell advanced a strong plea for
revision of Nelson's date, and suggested 1520, Thus long
ago the necessity for correcting this dating, i.e. 1559, was
strongly felt by scholars. The crux of the question of the
foundation of the Nayakship is in the revolt of Nigama
Niyaka against the orders of the Vijuyanagar emperor;
for his revolt and Visvanitha's viceroyalty aure too closely
associated in tradition to be doubted, at least in the
present state of our epigraphical and historical knowledge.

The untenability of the date 1557-8 for Nigama's defi-
ance of imperial authority is clear from a carcful study of
inscriptions and other sources of information. He is
mentioned in an inscription, dated 1484,* as the * foremost
servant ' of the Vijayanagar emperor, Saluva Narasinga I.
If at least a life of thirty or thirty-five years is allowed for
one to reach such a high position, Nigama would be nearly
110 years old at the time ascribed for his revolt. The
identity of the Nagama of this inscription with the Nagama
of the Madura chronicles, the father of Viévandtha, is
‘* not unlikely’' in Mr. Krishna Sastri’s opinion, which is
endorsed by Mr. Rangachari. Further, there is sufficient

17 A, 1014, p. 191 . ®2 (). fI. MSS., i, p. 8.

BT, p. M4 =4 History of Tinpevelly, p, 55.
$ £3 Appendix D, No, 4, W
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evidence to show that Sevvappa Niyaka was established
in Tanjore at least by 1549." This event may have been
even earlier, since Achyuta Riya must have died about
1541, and he is said to have given Tanjore as dowry to his
sister-in-law, Martimimbil, whom Sevvappa married.”
Since Nigama's revolt was posterior to, and indirectly the
result of, the aggressions of a king of Tanjore against a
Pandya king, such a course of cvents could not be
ascribed, in any case, to a period later than 1549, as already
indicated. Further, Nigama could not have revolted in
the reign of Achyuta Riya. As has been shown before,
there appears to be no support, either epigraphical or
literary, for the view that he was an officer of the latter
in the conduct of the Travancore campaign. From the
chronicles it is clear that he was a distinguished officer
{viceroy or general revenuc officer) with the control of the
whole south under him and entrusted with large responsi-
bilities before his revolt. Such an exalted office was
held, under Achyuta Raya, by Salakriiju Timmar@zu, and
afterwards by Vitthala. Hence Nigama’s revolt must be
ascribed to a period earlier than the commencement of
Achyuta Rfya's reign, i.e. to the reign of Krishnadeva
Riya.

Caldwell's dating (1520) seems to be a little too early.
After the victory of Raichur, Krishnadéva Raya was at
ease for some time. He seems to have been perfectly
free from troubles till about 1525. His last years were by
no means a period of tranquillity, as is evident from the
account of MNuniz and some epigraphical records. This
Portuguese chronicler says®™® that the king's health was a
source of anxiety to him and that he even abdicated in
favour of his son, who was about six years old. The latter

28 His inseription dated 1549 ; vide T. 8, Kuppuswami Sastri : A Short
History of ihe Tanjore Nayak Princes, p. 4. "

27 [bid., p. 3; Tawjdvari Viari Charitra—Tayler, C. &£, iii. p. 176,

e B, Sewell, A Forgolien Empire, pp. 350-60.
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soon died, and the king believed that he was poisoned by
his minister. In the same period troubles were created by
a responsible and powerful officer of the king, Vira
Narasimha, the governor of the Chola country, as is
known [rom the Achyutardyabhyudayam * and his inscrip-
tions, the last of which belongs to 1528, Perhaps
Magama's resolution to disobey the king was partly
influenced by the attitude of this governor and by the
state of affairs in the capital. Thus the last few years of
Krishpadéva Riya's reign indicate a time when Nigama's
rebellion might well have taken place.

Our whole position with regard to the date of the founda-
tion of the Niayakship of Madura is strengthened by the
clear and straightforward account given in the Tanjdoiri
Andhra Rijula Charitra The Chola aggression against
the Pandya, the latter's appeal to the Riya, Nigama’'s depu-
tation to settle the troubles, his usurpation, Visvanitha's
successful action against him, finally Nigama's pardon, and
later on Vijvandtha's appointment as viceroy of Madura
arc placed in the reign of Krishpadéva Riya. It is said
that the Raya died -some time after Visvanitha had
exercised his new authority for the improvement of the
kingdom. The facts contained in this account, which arc
capable of werification, are so singularly corrcct that the
whole narrative compels conviction as a faithful description
of the transactions.

All that we know of Vidvanitha Nayaka from inscrip-
tions, chronicles, and other sources further confirms our
contention that the Nayakship of Madura under him was
an accomplished fact before the death of Krishnadéva Riya
in 1530. There are inscriptions from which his position as
ruler of Madura becomes clear. No. 14 of Appendix A,
1906, dated 1598," and the Ve]langudi Plates of Venkata I

ko S KA., Sonreces, IPE 158 and 162, 20 fhid., p. 319 et seq.
¥ Appendix D, No. 87,
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of the same year ™ mention the defeat of the Tiruvadi, the
Pindya king, and other kings or chiefs, and the annexation
of their dominions as the achievements of Viévanitha ; and
speak of his acquiring sovereignty over Madhura-rdjya by
his own prowess.  This information is indirectly confirmed
by,the Krishpipuram Plates of Sadidiva. No. 17 of 1912,
dated Kebdhana (15035), says that he acquired the Tiruvadi-
didu as amarandyakam (military fief) from Ramarija Aiyan.
From all these it s evident that such a control over.
Travancore he could not have had without authority in
Madura. The events referred to above came out of Achyuta
Riya's Travancore campaign, which seems to have been
undertaken to remove the disturbances following in the train
of the establishment of the Nayakship of Madura, We have
no evidence to believe that Vidvanitha accompanied the
Vijayanagar army from the capital, and this leads to the
inference that he was already in Madura, His co-operation
with Achyuta’s generals in this campaign is reflected in 113
of 1908, dated 1535," which records the gift of a village by
Achyuta for the merit of Vigvanitha Nayaka, who is spoken
of as his agent,

A careful study of the chronicles reveals the fact that
Vigvanitha's elevation to the viceroyalty happened not long
after his distinguishing himself in the northern campaigns
of the sovereign of Vijayanagar, and that it was due to the
same king, whom he had served so well in the north. If
we read the accounts of Barradas and Nuniz together, it is
sufficiently clear that Vi¢vanitha took part in the Raichur
campaign of Krishnadéva Raya. The latter authority says
that ‘ the page who served the King with betel had fifteen
thousand foot and two hundred horse, but he had no
elephants’ ;% the former speaks of ‘the great Naique of
Madura—a page of the betel to the King of Bisnaga'.** This

ot pppendix D, No. 86, 2° fbid., No. 86, 2% Jbid,, No. 14,
s RF owell, A Forgotlen Empive, p. 320, 38 fbid., p. 230.
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‘ page of the betel', who is said to have taken part in the
above-mentioned campaign, must be either Nagama Niyaka
or, better, his son Vigvanitha., The former was too great
and too old to go on active service at that time; the latter,
being then young and handsome, might well have served
the king in that capacity in lien of the father. The
Mrtynnjapae  Manuscripts say  that  Vidvanitha vsed to
accompany the king in his hunt when he was sixteen years
of age. The History of the Carnataca Governors records
that he was sent by him to subdue some inferior princes in
the north. The extravagant claim made by the former
chronicle that he subdued ‘the Anga, Vanga, Calinga,
Cashmira, and Nepala countries' may be understood as
an'exaggeration of his share in the king's campaigns in Orissa
and other places. There was scope for these achicvements
only in the reign of Krishnadéva Riya. The concurrent
testimony of all the available evidence goes to prove that
Vidvanitha played a prominent part in Krishpa's cam-
paigns against the king of Orissa and the Muhammadans,
and that it was to him he owed his viceroyalty of Madura.

The question of the duration of his viceroyalty throws
some light on its commencement. According to the
Pandyan chronicle, it was about two years and four months.
This period is evidently too short for the conquest and
settlement of the country attributed to him. The History
of the Carnataca Governors says that he culed for twenty-six
years after the organization of the Pilaiyam system.
“The Supplementary Manuscript gives a total duration of
twenty-six years; the Maduraittalavaraliru, about twenty-
two years and a half in all, making him viceroy in three
different periods. From the account of Ramabhadra
Niayaka of Periyakulam™ it is clear that Vidvanitha lived for
more than twenty years after the reduction of the Kambam

37 Taylor, C.&., iii, pp. 376-8,



Introductory 47

country and the erection of seventy-two bastions to the
Madura fort. These considerations show the utter futility
of clinging to the theory of Nelson and his followers.
Almost all the chronicles speak of Vidvanitha's rule be-
tween 1535 and 1544 (nine years) as his first viceroyalty,
and again refer to his holding the same authority in 1545-6
for about onc ycar. Mr. Rangachari accepts this position,
but does not explain the interval. Was Viévanitha super-
seded or deputed clsewhere? The only probable explanation
is that he was all along ruler of Madura, from the time
of his appointment by Krishpadéva Riiya. The nature of
the times, and consequently the work he had to do, perhaps
required his absence from Madura ; and most probably the
local chroniclers have put down his deputies as viceroys.
Such an arrangement was prevalent in other parts of the
Vijayanagar empire. To casual observers, the local rulers,
for the time being, might appear to be real governors or
viceroys. Viévandtha's Viceroyalty seems to have been
continuous, though he may not have been in Madura
throughont.

Finally, there is a reference in John Nieuhoff, ™ which
confirms the chronological re-adjustment elaborated in this
investigation. With regard to the events of 1533, he says:
" After all, the Nayk of Madure, having found means to
get into the possession of this country, left the Portuguese
in the full possession of their jurisdiction over the Parvas,
and of the free exercise of their religion." This discussion
leads to the conclusion that Visvanitha Nayaka, the
founder of the Nayak dynasty of Madura, was established in
authority there not long before the death of the Vijayanagar
emperor, Krishnadeva Raya, in 1530, i.e., about 1529.

s, 295, Pide Appendix C.



CHAPTER II

VISVANATHA NAYAKA AND THIE
FOUNDATION OFF THIE NAYAKSHIP

{e. 1529-1564)

NAcamMa NAYAKA was one of the trusted officers of
Krishnadeva Riya. He is variously described in the
chronicles as his general, store-keeper (hence his title
Kotiya), treasurer (Tosekhdana Adhikdri), chief revenue
officer, and viceroy of the south. It is, however, clear that
he was responsible for the general supervision of the ad-
ministration of the southern provinces. In this capacity
he had probably control over a portion of the king's army,
besides his own forces. Such an exalted charge entrusted
to Nigama can be explained only by his antecedents.
Inscriptions speak of him as a prominent figure in the
previous reigns. He was the ‘ foremost servant ' of Sijuva
Narasinga and had agents under him.,' He scems to
have had much to do with the establishment of the Tuluva
dynasty. The services of such a person Krishnadava
Riya retained, as was usual with wise kings in the case of
their predecessors’ devoted officers.

Nigama's pilgrimage to Benares is narrated in detail by
the chronicles ; and he is said to have entrusted his office to
Ramabhadra Niyaka in his absence. Whether he really
undertook this distant and difficult journey or not, it is
evident that want of male issue to perpetuate his family
made him devote much time and labour in offering prayers

1 Appendix D, Nos. 4 and 2.
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to God Vidvanitha of Benares. The Kiiniyir Plates of
Venkata Il seem to suggest that Vidvanatha's birth was
due to the severe austerities of his father and the favour of
God Visvesvara, The date of this event is not definitely
known. Since the chronicles say that Visvanitha was
about sixteen when he was introduced to Krishpad&va Riya,
he may have been born about 1495,

As has alrcady been remarked, Vigvanitha appears to
have entered the service of the king as his * betel-bearer '.
The experienced and far-secing Nigama would have spared
no pains to perfect his son’s natural endowments. So
Vidvaniitha ecasily became one of the king's personal
attendants. His handsome appearance, careful education,
and manly courage enabled him to rise higher and higher
in the estimation of the Raya. He seems to have accom-
panied him in his expedition against the king of Orissa.
Perhaps his devoted service in this campaign gained him
the command of a battalion in the attack on, and capture
of, Raichfir in 1520. 'When he was thus at the height of
his fame and established in the king's confidence, he was
deputed to the south to perform a delicate and difficult task.

The course of events leading to Krishpadéva Riya's
interference in the affairs of his southern kingdom during
the last years of his reign is clonded by the mists of
tradition, and nothing certain can be said at present about
the precise nature of the transactions that required his
attention, It is said that a Chola king, Vira Sakhara,
invaded the Pandya country, and dispossessed its king, .
Chandra Sékhara, of his kingdom. Consequently the latter
appealed to the Raya for justice and for help in getting back
his kingdom from the usurper. Though the whole country
as far south as Cape Comorin formed part of the Vijayanagar
empire, the old rulers were not done away with, and there
were petty Pandya and Chola descendants ruling nominally
in parts of their ancestral territories. But the emperor could

7
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not tolerate aggressive war between two of his feudatories,
and he instantly organized the necessary expedition. As an
officer responsible for the peace of the south, Nigama,
who was probably at headquarters then, was sent to
remedy the injustice complained of by the Pindya, and
pat him in possession of his kingdem. In a short time, he
defeated the Chola and deprived him of his acquisitions.
The other part of his commission, viz, the restoration of
the Pindya, he hesitated to execute. The recent troubles
may have led him to a revision of the arrangements
for the government of the country, To him order and
security was everything, and he seems to have sacri-
ficed all for it. He was a masterful personality and a
thorough-going administrator ; and he would not perpetuate
an arrangement which inevitably called for interference
from the higher authorities. HHe may have realized thal
the previous arrangement of propping up petty and in-
capable rulers to satisfy their sentiments had failed, and
that a drastic reorganization was necessary for the peaceful
progress of the country, His dealings with the Pindya
are not sufficiently clear ; but disagreements arose between
them, which were brought to the notice of the emperor
by the Pindya as a charge against him. Some chronicles,
which are brief about this transaction, speak of the sudden
disobedience of Nigama, and the speedy punishment
which the Riya meted out to him. But the Tanjdviri
Andhra Rajula Charitra, which details the circumstances,
explains Nagama's position better, He set forth his views
in a strongly-worded note to the emperor. When he saw
that the Piandya was bent on going direct to the latter
to complain, perhaps fearing misrepresentation of his
attitude, he sent his faithful servant, Rimabhadra Niyaka,
to headquarters. At last, when the emperor was prepared,
at any cost, to restore the Pandya and continue the old
arrangement, subversive of peace and order, perhaps
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unmindful of or not knowing fully the real state of affairs
in the south, and unwilling to take any new step in his
anxious days, Nagama put on a bold front, and probably
thought that he could bring him round later on to his way
of looking at things. The Riya’s subsequent action may
well have upset him,
It is said that Krishpadtva Riya was much enraged at
Nigama's insubordination, and appealed to his officers as to
who among them would volunteer to punish the rebel.
Only Vidvanitha, the latter's son, responded to this call;
and, after some hesitation on the part of the Raya, he was
sent with a large army to deal with him. Negotiations
failing, a battle is said to have been fought, and Nigama
brought as a captive to the emperor, who, in consideration
of Vidvanitha's unique and extraordinarily loyal sense of
duty to him, forgave his father. The whole story has a
very romantic colouring. Most probably Nigama was
recalled from the south through the diplomatic offices of
his son. Perhaps he yielded to the wishes of his very
affectionate son with the idea of retiring from the king's
service. After this nothing is known about him; the
chronicles have nothing to say about his subsequent life or
death.
Conferring with the Pindya, and learning more about
the real facts from Nigama, the emperor realized that
only the latter's solution of the question was workable,
since the former plainly admitted his inability to restore
order in the country, and govern the intractable chiefs.
So Viévanitha was appointed Viceroy of the South with
the titles, Chief of the Pindya Country and Lord of the
Southern Throne.
. Viévanitha left Vijayanagar with a strong army to take

charge of his office. On reaching Madura, he was not
satisfied with the condition of its fort, With the co-
operation of Ariyanitha, his Dalaviy and Pradhini, and

15478
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Keédavappa Niyaka, he reconstructed the fort with bastions,
and built temples for God Sundara and Goddess Mindkshi,
His schemes for the improvement of the country were out
of all proportion toits resources, and he is said, with a
rare sense of public duty and generosity, to have lavishly
spent his father's treasures on works of publie utility.
Meanwhile, according to the chronicles, the Mindya race
became extinct, and Vidvanitha beecame the sole ruler of
the country. This extinction may have reference to
Chandra Sckhara Pandya and his family, not to the
Pandyas of Tenkadi, as the former is mentioned as the
Pandya ruler and his illegitimacy is said to have been the
cause of the Chola aggression.

Vidvanitha seems at first to have been the viceroy of
the Chola country also. Some time after he had made
preliminary arraugements for the administration of the
kingdom, Krishnaddva Riya died (1530) and was succeeded
by his younger brother, Achyuta Riya. Shortly after, the
Chola country was separated from the viceroyalty of
Madura, and entrusted to Sevvappa Niyaka, the husband
of the younger sister of Achyuta Riya's wife, Tirumalimba.
Perhaps as a result of this new arrangement, Trichinopoly
went to Madura and Vallam to Tanjore. This is spoken
of by the chronicles as the exchange of these two places
by Viévanitha and the king of Tanjore. Evidently it must
have been an imperial arrangement, not a mutual exchange
as is suggested; for the empire was yet too strong to
allow so much independence to the provinces.

Vidvanatha seems to have taken the earliest opportunity
to provide for the safety of Trichinopoly. The robber
pest was first dealt with successfully. The jungles on
bath sides.of the Kaveri were cleared, and thus the dens
of robbers completely destroyed. The necessary police
arrangements were made to safeguard the life and property
of the pilgrims. The town was fortified, and a double wall
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and a big ditch were constructed round it. He paid
particular attention to the temples of Trichinopoly and
Srirangam, and the Teppakujam seems to owe its existence
to him. It is not likely that he built the Srirangam
temple, as is said in the chronicles; probably he ordered
extensive repairs and the crection of some new structures,
The Koyilolsuhn records that he spent about three lakhs of
pons for the temple, He seems to have built many houses,
and encouraged habitation all around.

While Vigvanitha was engaged in the north, his general -
and co-adjutor, Ariyandtha, was sent to the far south, the
Tinnevelly country, to restore peace and order there. His
task was by no means easy. He was faced with the
hostility of the minor chiefs who had strongly organized
themselves in the country round ' Kayattattir', ready
to give battle, and who were prepared to acknowledge
‘no earthly superior'. These called themselves ‘ Pancha
Piandyas’ (the Five Pandyas), but, according to some
chronicles, they were the tributaries of the old Pandyas; and,
according to others, the illegitimate sons of the grandfather
of Chandra Sékhara. The inscriptions of the later Pandyas
are conspicuous by their almost total absence in the
Madura district even in the fifteenth century. Vijayanagar
expansion to the south may have driven them to a corner
farther south. There seems to have been no legitimate
Pandya king in Madura in the sixteenth century. The
withdrawal of the real Pindyas to the environs of Tenkasi
perhaps brought into existence in Madura many illegiti-
mate claimants, mutually questioning their legitimacy.
Ariyanatha had to subdue such illegitimate Pandyas,
or refractory vassals of the old rulers, who would not
acquiesce in foreign rule, which was trying to establish
a systematic and vigorous government, without a hard
struggle. His conciliatory methods failed; and he seems
to have been repulsed by them, when he requisitioned the
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help of Viévanatha, who is said to have brought them
round finally by his chivalry. Most probably a compromise
was arrived at, and the minor chiefs were conciliated by
their inclusion in his Pilaiyam System.

It is not clear whether Achyuln IRaya's Travancore
campaign was undertaken in connection with this arrange-
ment. Perhaps the old Piandyas, who had retired to Tenkisi,
instigated all this disalfection against the Madura ruler,
In any case, this campaign was mennt to put down all
trouble from the Tiruvadi, who seems to have harboured
enemies of Vijayanagar. Its successful conclusion removed
for the time being all source of trouble for Visvanatha, It
appears that the Tenkidi Pandyas became feudatory to
Madura, and, to cement. the alliance probably, a Pandya
princess is said to have been given in marriage to Achyuta
Raya.! The Tiruvadi also became a tributary, and this
is confirmed by the Suchindram inscription of Bhitalavira
Rima Varman.® Therefore imperial intervention seems to
have been required for the final settlement of Tinnevelly.
It is difficult to believe that Vidvandtha achieved alone what
was impossible for Ariyanatha and his army, as is main-
tained by the chronicles, which give a highly romantic and
unconvincing account. The whole transaction connected
with Achyuta’s southern campaign clearly shows that
Vidvanitha, though ruler of Madura, only occupied a very
subordinate position with regard to the gencrals of the
Empire. From the Krishpapuram Plates of Sadasiva it
appears that Krishpappa Nayaka, the son of Viévanitha,
played a prominent part in this affair.

Soon after the conquest of Tinnevelly, Viévanitha and
Ariyanitha concerned themselves with the improvement
of the country. The town of Tinnevelly was much
enlarged and improved ; temples were erccted, villages and

# 48 and 50 of 1800 ; AF. E.R., 1900, p. 27.
? Appendix D, No, 26.
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streets opened, and every convenience of the inhabitants
looked after. Agricultural interests were specially con-
sidered, and irrigation schemes were undertaken. Every
inducement was given for bringing the whole country under
cultivation. Everywhere foundations of peace and orderly
administration were laid, and the advantages of beneficent
rule extended.

Before Vidvanfitha could bring the country under a -
regular system of administration, he had to undertake a
military expedition against the Kambam-Gudalir country,
which ceased to pay tribute owing to its capture, it is said,
by the Chola king.! Perhaps some dispossessed and discon-
tented chief created trouble in that almost inaccessible
place, by tracing his ancestry to the Cholas, Viévanatha
summoned his military officers, and gave the command to
Ramabhadra Niayaka, his father’s faithful subordinate, who
is said to have successfully stormed the fort of Kambam,
and reduced the country to submission. For his long and
faithful services, Viévanitha gave him the Pilaiyam of
Vadakarai on the northern bank of the Vaigai.

Extent of the Kingdom.—The Mriyunjaya Manuséripts
say that, ' while (Ariyanatha was) discharging the duties of
both these responsible stations (Dalaviy and Pradhani), the’
extent of country acquired was from Utatur (Urrattar) and
Valikondapuram on the north, even to Caniye Cumari
(Cape Comorin) on the south; to Coyambutur (Coimbatore),
Irodu (Erode), Taraburam (Dbaripuram), and Mele Mali
(Méla Malai, Western Ghats) on the west; to Ramiseram
(Ramé$varam) and the sea on the east.’® This translation
by Taylor has been taken by Nelson to mean, the extent
of the country on Ariyanitha's death in 1600. But the
original Tamil passage® is to the effect that these were the
boundaries of the kingdom under Visvanitha. Taylor

* Taylor. C.R,, 11, p. 377.
s Joid,, O. H. M55, 1, p. 117, * lbid,, p. 118,
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takes the clause referring to the latter as qualifying
Ariyaniitha, and this interpretation is against the obvious
sense of the passage. [Further, this description of the ex-
tent of the kingdom appears in dealing with Visvanitha,
It can only mean that, when Ariyanitha was holding the
seals of the two offices mentioned, Visvanitha's kingdom
had these limits.

From the account of the chronicle, it appears that,
before the death of Vidvanitha, the kingdom of Madura
comprised roughly, in modern terminology, the districts
of Madura, Ramnad, Tinnevelly, Trichinopoly, Coimbatore,
and Salem, and a part of Travancore. The carcer of
Vidvandtha, so far described, makes it clear that the
Pandyan kingdom and a part of the Chola dominions
came under his authority, The real question is whether
Coimbatore and Salem were subordinate to him, We
learn from the Jesuit letters that they were under Madura
in the time of Tirumala Niyaka. Inscriptions also confirm
this. There appears to be no mention in chronicles or
inscriptions that they were conquered by any of his prede-
cessors. Sixteenth century epigraphical records of the
Vijayanagar emperors are largely found in these districts,
There is no doubt that they formed part of the Vijayanagar
empire. Under these circumstances, it is probable that
they were included in the Madura viceroyalty even at the
commencement of the Niyakship. It is likely that the
title of Vigvaniitha ' Lord of the Southern Throne’ was some-
thing more than a mere name, even though the Madura
Nayaks are not often mentioned in the inscriptions of the
sixteenth century in these districts. It isclear, however, that
the maximum extent of the Nayak dominions was reached
before Visvanatha's death. His successors had only to see
to the integrity of the kingdom, and keep it free from the
aggression of neighbours and foreigners. Mr. Rangachari
is not clear with regard to Vidvanitha's dealings with
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Coimbatore and Salem, whether he had to conquer them
or simply to accept their loyalty, He seems to include
them amongst his conquests.’

While Vidvanitha's authority was recognized in all these
tecritories, his practical control over them seems to have
varied. Coimbatore and Salem do not appear to have
received his attention as much as the other parts. The
frontiers on that side became important only later on, when
Mysore became independent and aggressive. It may be
doubted whether the same system of administration was
organized in them as in the other parts of the kingdom.
It is probable that large tracts of the country were en-
trusted to powerful chiefs, who had only to pay tribute
regularly to be left to themselves. With regard to the
coast region, not only Vidvanitha, but his successors also,
seem to have left it under the administration of the com-
mercial nations of the West, and satisfied themselves with
mere tribute.’

Such an extensive kingdom seems to have been protected
by a regular system of fortifications, not only on the
frontiers but also in the interior. The chronicles give a
long list of forts built by the Nayaks.! It is difficult to
say what Vidvaniitha's share actnally was. Mr. Rangachari
gives him the whole credit for the organization of the
defence of the kingdom. In the early days of the Nayak-
ship, there was practically no fear of aggression from any-
where, After the battle of Talikota, disorganization set
in, and the varions provinces of the Empire felt the
necessity of looking after their own defence. In the case
of Madura, foreign aggression came only in the seventeenth
century. Therefore, what little Vi$vanitha might have
done for defence would not have been sufficient in later
times ; he could not have seen so far ahead.

7 [, A, 15, p. 55, B Mienhoff, p. 205. Fide Appendix C.
o Taylor, 0. A, M8S,, Hi, p, 167,
8 ’
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Organization of the Pdlaipams.—After restoring peace
and order, Vidvanitha and Ariyaniitha organized the whole
country for ecffective administration. They had to take
into account the old local chieftains who were the vassals
of the Piandyas, the emigrants from the north who had
left their country either owing lo the Muhammadin peril
or in quest of ‘pastures new’, and their own faithful
followers; and incorporate them all into a system of
government, which would conduce to the peace and pros-
perity of the country. Agriculture was in a langnishing
condition ; the land was mostly covered with forests,
which endangered the safety and welfare of the people in
many ways; and disorganization was prevalent cvery-
where. Under these circumstances, the central govern-
ment by itself could not do much, without entrusting large
power and freedom of action to local authorities. The
adventurous spirit of the new-comers could well be diverted
into peaceful activities if their ideas of sclf-importance
were respected, Further, the defence of the country must
be effectively provided for, to make united action possible
in times of danger. Such political, economic, and military
motives probably influenced Viévanatha and Ariyanatha in
instituting what is called the Palaiyam System.

The chronicles speak of the division of the country into
seventy-two Palaiyams, and of each Pajaiyakiran or Polegar,
the chief holding one of them, being responsible for the
defence of one of the seventy-two bastions of the Madura
fort. It is not definitely known how many Pilaiyams were
originally constituted by Viévanitha, and whether others
were not created by his successors, Later on, we find the
confiscation of some of them. Perhaps these seventy-two
were the survivals, taken into account by later tradition ds
contained in the chronicles, It is likely that more were
created at first, considering the clamant demands of
Vigvanitha's multitudinons followers, and the arduous
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nature of the improvements to be effected in the country.
Moreover, Dindigul alone is said to have consisted of about
eighteen Palaiyams, and it was too small in extent to re-
present onc-fourth of the whole kingdom. Anyhow, it is
hard to believe that the number of the Pilaiyams created
in the beginning remained the same to the end of the
Nayak regime.

Vigvanitha'a arrangement in this respect was a practical
solution of the difficulties he was confronted with. He
pacified his clamorous adherents and old, discontented
chiefs by conferring on them a dignified status and definite
proprictary rights over portions of land. By making the
cession hereditary their self-love was flattered and their
sense of responsibility increased. They were given com-
plete powers of police and judicial administration. For
good or for evil, they were masters in their small sphere.
In return for this, they were to pay a tribute to the Nayak
of one-third of their income from land, and maintain, with .
another third part, the troops which their master would
require in case of war. Practically they could enjoy more
than one-third of their revenues. Further, liberal con-
cessions in the tribute were allowed for loyal and public
services, sometimes even to the extent of the whole amount.

The status and power of the various Polegars could not
have been the same; it is extremely unlikely that all of
them had equally good record of past services and equal
possessions. In course of time at least, there would have
been changes in their attitude and position. Consequently
their obligations would have been different, Vico’s letter of
1611 " says that ‘ Hermécatte' (Eramaikatti), a powerful
Polegar, very influential at court, ‘has domains enough to
be obliged to maintain for the Nayak's service three thousand
infantry, two hundred horses and fifty elephants’.

10 Bertrand, 11, p. 125, Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 10,
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Thus the country was organized on a military basis.
That the system could not, and did not, satisfy all, is
evident from the rebellion which Visvanitha's son had to
deal with at the very commencement of his reign.  Hut it
was acceptable to most of the Polegars, as their Toyalty did
not fail for a very long time. This institution salislicd the
requirements of the time 3 peace and order was established
on a lirm basis, and the country took rapid strides in agri-
cultural improvement. Forests were eleared, and much
waste land was brought under cultivation, The system
was a good safeguard against foreign invasion and espe-
cially against foreign occupation. Madura did not share the
fate of Gingi and Tanjore so long as it worked on right
lines. The ' Polygar Wars ', which preceded the estabilish-
ment of the British Collectorate, show its vitality in its
best days.  Though life might be suspended at one blow in
the centre, it could still pulsate with vigour in all the
various parts, The complete conquest and subjugation of
Madura would mean the sepavate conquest of all the
Palaiyams. I3ut the system contained within itself the
seeds of its decay. Iiverything depended on an overlord
who could constantly keep the turbulent chicfs in good
humour, and on the good sense of the latter, If it were to
degenerate, as it did later on, it could be the most potent
engine of oppression and disorder. But at the time it was
originated, no alternative was possible. It could have been
improved later on when it showed signs of weakness, but
no ruler felt called upon to keep its retrogressive tendencics
in check. At last it weakened the central power and
invited its own doom along with that of the other. A. I
Stuart " gives a qualified defence of this institution, but
his European feudal analogy cannot be pressed except in a
very general way. DBishop Caldwell™ is not in a mood to

11 Mawwal of Finwevelly, p, 42.
12 Hislory of Tinnevelly, pp, 58-0.
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appreciate its good side ; he condemns the experiment out-
right, but does not suggest any alternative possible at that
time. Nelson” is disposed to think that the scheme was as
good as any that could be devised at such a time. Though
the names of both Vidvanitha and Ariyanitha arc mentioned
in some chronicles in connection with the orpanization of
the Palaiyam System, others seem to credit its origination
and application solely to the latter. It is true that the
Polegars were specially attached to Ariyaniitha and his name.
It is likely that Visvanatha entrusted his faithful officer and
co-worker with the practical working out of the scheme,
though it is difficult to assign its conception to either of
them exclusively.

The question as to when the country was organized into
Palaiyams is difficult to solve definitely. Nelson' says that
shortly after this work, Vidvanatha died; he therefore
ascribes it to about 1563, The History of the Carnataca
Governors records that Visvandtha ruled for twenty-six
years after this settlement. This puts the Palaiyam
organization about 1538, The account of Raimabhadra
Nayaka, given by Taylor,”® referring to the Vadakarai
Palaiyam, says that he enjoyed it for twenty years and
died, and that his death was deplored by Viévahatha.
Thus the latter authority tends to confirm the statement of
the former chronicle. If this Ramabhadra Niyaka is the
Ramappa Niyaka of the inscriptions, the period of twenty
years referred to will have to be between c. 1535 and 1552;
for the latter's epigraphical records range between these
two dates. The evidence of inscriptions, by apparently
indicating a date somewhere about 1535, goes only to
corroborate the information given by the History of the
Carnataca Governors, Therefore Nelson's date has to be
rejected. It is not clear how he arrived at his conclusion.

29 ppgre 08, 14 pPagee 101, s O K., 10, pp. 377-8,
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His mistake is apparently due to his dating the foundation
of the Niyakship in 1559. Even then, it is not possible to
explain his rejection of all this evidence.

Visvandtha's Officers.—Visvaniitha was ably scrved in
all his manifold and arduous undertakings by trustworthy
officers, He retnined in his service some of his futher's
devoted servants, Pre-eminent among these was Ariyvaniitha
Mudaliyiir. Born of poor parents in the neighbourhood of
Conjeevaram, he rose to the very high and responsible
position of Dalavily and Pradhini of Visvanitha by sheer
merit. He co-operated with his master so conspicuously
in all his labours that he is spoken of as his ' second in
power’ by Taylor A copper plate inscription ol 1560
records a grant of twelve villages in the Tinnevelly country
by Vigvanitha and Ariyan@itha” Romanceatteibutes to him
feats of personal prowess and solutions of diffieult and
abstruse problems, which attrncted the notice of the Raya
and procured for him stactling clevation from post to
post until at last he became the dictator of the Vijaya-
nagar Empire.® His whole life is enveloped in tradition,
which makes extravagant and bewildering cliims to
greatness on his behalf. His equestrion statue in Pudus
mandapam and the thousand-pillared hall are substantial
relics of his importance.

Another prominent officer of Visvaniithn was Kima-
bhadra Néyaka, who did much to establish peace and order
in the country and who was deeply attached to him., Ile
is frequently referred to in the chronicles, It is highly
probable that heis the Rimappa Niayaka of the inscrip-
tions, which speak of him as the agent of Vijthala in 129
of 1905, dated 1535, and 428 of 1916, dated 1552 The
latter inscription refers to a gift of his under the orders of the

0 0, i, MSS,, i, p. 111,
17 Appendiz D, No, 49,

Lf Taylor, 0. A, M85, §, pp. 113-5,
10 Appendix 1, Nos, 13 and 39,
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king. No. 121 of 1908, dated 1538, records his gift for the
merit of Achyuta.” No. 65 of 1916, dated 1542, is a gift
for his merit.® In No. 119 of 1907, dated 1550, is another
record of Riimappa's name.®

Vigvanitha's son, Krishnappa Niyaka, figures in the
inscriptions of his father’s time in 1546, 1550, 1553, and
1555 The Krishpdpuram Plates of Sadisiva refer to his
part in the campaign against the Tiruvadi country. He
must have been of great service to Vidvanftha in his
military undertakings.

Vitvanatha's Character and Work.—That Vidvaniatha
was a warrior of high degree is eloquently testified by
inscriptions, The chronicles make him a hero of chivalrous
qualities playing his part under providential arrangement.
In an inscription he is described as ‘the best skilled in
putting down disputes’.® That he must have possessed
extraordinary tact and patience is evident from his suc-
cessful organization of the country amidst tremendous
clashing of interests and temper. In all his success, his
personality must have been an important contributory
factor.

Mr. Rangachari is never tired of singing the praise of
the ‘remarkable career of this remarkable man'® He
goes even so far as to suggest that ‘the historian will join
the chroniclers, and praise, without hesitation and without
limitation, his work as a ruler and administrator ’, and that
‘he furnishes the subject of a free panegyric'®® Such
hero-worship cannot stand close scrutiny. No doubt
Vidvanatha was a practical administrator of great talents.
The credit of restoring order in the country and organizing
it on a quasi-peace footing certainly belongs to him. The
institution of the Palaiyam System of administration was

20 Agpenﬂix D, No. 18 'L 7bid,, No.20.  *2 Ihid., No. 30.
fid., Nos. 25, 32, 42 and 43, 2+ fhid., No, 23,
e f, A, 1016, p. 74. 228 fiiedl,, 1915, p. 60,
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the most practical solution of the difficultics. But he had
not the far-seeing statesmanship to provide for its inevi-
table dangers. ‘This picee of constructive work is attributed
by the chronicles more to Aciyanitha than to Visvanitha,
The latter left the Marava country in an unsatisfactory
condition, a danger to the peace of the kimglom. Ile
was trained in the Vijayanagar imperial system, and he
made his mark in applying its principles in o systematie
manner, There is much originality in his work, but it is
difficult to say that he was not indebted to others,
Vidvanitha was great in perceiving the erying needs of the
times and providing for them effectively.

Another consideration that must modify our cstimate
of Vidvaniitha's work is that, though ruler of Madura, he
was not supreme in his dominions, He was eclipsed by
greater men whose willing subordinate he was content to
remain. In the southern campaign of Raima Riija Vitthala,
he does not appear to have ligured prominently ; and during
the former's presence in the country, he seems to have
played a very subordinate part. The country was too
disturbed to allow Vidvanitha uncontrolled authority. On
the whole, he seems to have faithfully executed the imperial
plans for the administration of the kingdom. The
Vijayanagar Empire was then strong enough to assert its
control over the provinces.

The subordinate position of Vigvanitha is clear from
inscriptions. He is referred to as the agent of Vitthala in
385, 599, and 721 of 1916, and as the agent of Achyuta in
113 of 1908, He recognizes the sovereignty of Achyuta
and Sadasiva in 113 of 1908, 622 of 1915, 599 of 1916, and
in the AnniyGr inscription of 1560." There are some
inscriptions which make the position of Vitthala supreme
in the affairs of the South. The existence of a few coins

7 Appendix 1D, Nos, 48, 33, 37 and M respectively,
e bid,, Nos, 14, 51, 33 and 50, RERRAR
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of Vigvanitha® does not go against his subordination to
the Vijayanagar Empire. It appears to have been cus-
tomary for the provincial rulers of the empire to have
an independent coinage of their own (limited probably to
smaller denominations), as is evident from the following
observation of Cuesar Frederick :—* When we came into
a new Governor's eountry, although tributary to the King,
every one of them stamped a several coin of copper, so that
the money we tnok this day would not serve the next,’
While thus Visvaniitha was a loyal representative of
Vijayanagar in the south, he exercised much power in the
internal administration of the country. His work bears
the mark of individuality. Remission of taxes by him is
referred Lo in inseriptions. The Pindyas of Tenkisi were
his loyal feudatorics, and their power gradually increased
under his fostering cave. Their inscriptions during Vigva-
nitha's administration are numerous. Vidvandtha and
AtivirarAma are mentioned in an inscription of 1558
and the latter was crowned Pindyan king in 1564. The
former's coins show Pandya emblems like the fish, No. 16
of Hnltzsch’s collection, above referred to, has on the
obverse the legend ‘ Piandiyan ' and on the reverse ' Vidva-
nidan . Viévanitha's son, Krishpappa Niyaka, must have
continued the same policy of close co-operation with the
Pindyas. Hence perhaps his title * Pandyakulasthdpani-
chérya ' in the Krishndpuram Plates of Sadadiva. Vidva-
nitha had agents under him, like Uddandar,” and there are
inscriptions which record grants for his merit,
Visvandtha's age and death.—The date of the death of
Viévanitha is not recorded in any of the chronicles. The
only definite information which throws light on this

20 Phe Rev, LE. Tracy, Paudyan Coins, p.G6; F. 4., 1882, p. 325
Mos, 15 and 16.

30 Purchas, His Prlgrimes, x, p. 599,

31 Appendix D, No. 47,

a4 fhid., No. 34.

9



66 History of the Nawiks of Madura

question is the statement in the Mplyunjuya Manuscripis
that he had his son, Krishnappa Navaka, crowned on 11th
Tai, Rudbirddgiri (about the 23th of January, 156+4).
Though Mr. Rangachari thinks that this is a ‘ more accu-
rate date * than that given by the other chronieles, he says
that Krishnappa Niayaka nsconded the throne in 1562 and
Vigvanitha died in 1563, Probably he goes wrong in the
cquation of the eyelic year and date.  Nelson puts Vidva-
nitha's death in Decomber, 13043 ; he does not seem Lo take
into account the erowning of his son before his death,
which is recorded in the Mptyunjaya Manuseripts ™ and
the History of the Carnataca Governors It is very likely
that Vigvanitha desired some rest after his arduons
labours. Therefore Krishpappa Niyaka's accession may
be placed in the beginning of 1564 and his [ather’s death
some time after.  The former’s Krishp@puram inseription,™
which is taken to have been issued in 1563, is for the merit
of his father, who may have died helore it; but the date
of this inscription has to be revised. The Saka date given
in it is supposed to be correct and cquated to the
English date, and the cyclic year Kradhana is brushed
aside as wrong, by the Madras Department of FEpigraphy-.
When these two dates do not agree, it scems recasonable
to take the Saka date to be wrong in general; for the
cyclic year was more frequently used, not only in official
documents bhut also in the every-day transactions of
life, by the Hindus. There is thercfore greater likeli-
hood of the creeping in of a wrong Saka date than of
a wrong cyclic year, unless there are special reasons to
discredit the latter. Accordingly the date of the ahove-
mentioned inscription must be 1563, and the death of
Vidvandtha may well have happened in 1564.

M Taylor, 0. A 485, i, p. 117,
M Ihid., pp. 18 and 20—Tamil passage,
2% Appeadix 13, No. 56,
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With regard to the probable age of Vidvanatha at the
time of his death, Mr. Rangachari makes the following
vbservations: ' He was born in the beginning of the
Inth century or o decade before. He could not have
been anore than 60 at the time of his death in 1563 ™
' He gave up his life in the midst of his labours at evidently
a comparatively  oarly  wge of about 35 or 60.% In
1554 Vidvaniitha is suid to have been *in the prime of
manhood '™ From these references Mr. Rangachari’s
pusition seems to be very vague, confused, and cven contra-
dictory. As we have remarked before; Visvanitha was
probably born about 1445, and consequently he may have
died when he was nearing seventy.

an gL, WG, . TS, o7 fhief., p. 75, an f, ol 1014, p, 25,
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KuMARA KRISHNAPPA, the son of Vidvandtha, was crowned,
according to the Mptyunjaye Manuscripts, on the 11th
of Tai, Rudhirodgiri, corresponding approximately to the
25th of January, 1564, Though Mr. Rangachari dates his
accession in 1562, he remarks that the fiest event of his
reign was the Dbattle of Talikota and the sack of Vijayi-
nagar in 1365. It is more probable that the disconteut
of some Polegars culminated in a formidable rebellion soon
after his accession and the death of his father. It is not
unlikely that the sending of a part of the army for the
empire’s defence precipitated this crisis, as Nelson con-
tends. But the Muhammadan attack on Vi jayanagar came
vather suddenly, and it is probable that help from Madura
arrived only a little late, i.e. in the beginning of 1565.
Even the presence of Ariyanatha in Madura, it appears,
would not have made much difference in the attitude of
Tumbichchi Nayaka, the leader of the rebellion, The
accession of a ruler would have® afforded the necessary
stimulus. The Pilaiyam settlement of Visvanitha could
not possibly have satisfied [all: parties, ‘and he may have
specially favoured some of his_northern followers in pre-
ference to others among them. Moreover, the antecedents
of Tumbichchi Nayaka were sure’to make him supremely
disgusted with his humble role under the new dispensation.
From the chronicles it is clear that he was 2 man of some



Irish nappe Ntfyrrhr ! 69

influence and power in Madura,  An inscription  at
Kilakkarai' mentions him along with Achyuta Raya, In
another record of Sobhakrit (1543), a certain Rdma Rayu
Tummisi bears such titles as * head of the Sillavirs’, * King
of Vanga', cle.” A Jesuit letter of 1608 describes a
*Toumishirfiyen " (pechaps his descendant) as the chief
afl all the Toiivars, Such an influentinl and turbulent
chieftain could not but regret his modest stutus as one
wmong numerous Polegars.  He casily collected a large
number of his followers and discontented chiefs, entrenched
himself at Paramakudi, after strengthening its fortifications,
devastated the country round, and defied the authority
of Krishpappu Nayaka. The latter is said to have acted
with great alacrity and ressurcefulness, and entrusted
the conducl of operations to Pedda Kéavappa Niyaka
(his father's officer), who is described as the Dalaviy.
Tumbichchi Niyaka seems to huve obstinately resisted his
forces, wnd he is said to have killed him. Probably foiled
in the first attempt, IKrishpappa Nayaka seat his late
gevneral's son, Chinna Kédava, along with about thirteen
Polegars, a large number of troops, and a few pieces of
ordnance, to storm the fort. This second attempt seems
to have been successful; Tumbichchi was captured and
beheaded. It is said that Krishpappa Nayaka treated
the rebel's two sons with generosity, and entrosted them
with Paramakudi, Parambiir, and some neighbouring
villages which constituted a small Palaiyam., The re-
maining portion of Tumbichchi Nayaka's territories was
confiscated, perhaps to teach a lesson to other refractory
Polegars. These proceedings clearly show that, though
Visvandtha's organization of the country gave rise to some
dissatisfaction, it had, on the whole, ensured the loyalty
and co-operation of most of the Polegars to his successors.

t Appendix D, No. 255. * fhid., No, 12,
® Berlraud, ii, p. 19,
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Invasion of Ceylon.—~The Singhale dvipa Catha * gives
a long account of Krishnappa Navaka's conquest of Ceylon.
It has such a convincing appearance of truth about it thu
it is highly probable that an expedition was undertaken.
A brief summary of the chronicle may be given here
Krishpappa Niyaka was spoken of slightingly Dy the king
of Kandi, a friend of Tumbichchi Nayuka, because of the
latter’s exccution, Outraged at this, be called for the
scrvices of fifty-two of his Polegars with their troops, and
embarked for Ceylon at Navapdshdpe and landed ul
Mannar. A conciliatory message requiring homage und
tribute was rejected by the king of Kandi, who sent 40,000
men under four mantris (ministers) and cight desandthalu
(governors) to arrest the progress of the invaders. A
sangujnary engagement took place at Puttalam, iir which
the Kandian army was defeated by Chinna Kidava Nayaka
(the general who finally put down the rebellion of
Tumbichchi Nayaka) with 20,000 troops and a few chiefs.
Two ministers, five chieftains, and others were token
prisoners, and treated with much humanity and considera-
tion by Krishpappa Nayaka. The captives urged their
king in vain to yield. The latter collected 60,000 troops
and 10,000 Kaffirs (probably Portuguese), and marched at
their head to the battle-icld. A bloody struggle vonsued in
which 8,000 Kaffirs and about as many Sinhalese lost
their ‘lives: In spite of the best efforts of Krishnappa
Nayaka: and his general, the king of Kandi was not
captured: alive. His. dead body wus taken with due
horours to the capital. The Madura ruler remained there
foi three days. The deceased- king's family wus sent to
Avramgam, - the old capital of Ceylon, and treated-in u
fitking manner. - After appointing his brothersin-law, Vijaya
Gopala Nayaka, his' viceroy in Ceylon, and arfranging

* Taylor, ORI, pp. 183-6,
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[or the regular payment of tribute, Krishpappa Nayaka
returned to Madura.

“This account represents the Madura Nayak in the best
light possible. It may have been written by one of the
adherents of the Nayaks. It gives very claborate details,
and is very precise and sober, though some of its state-
monts eannot be aceeplod without qualification.  The caunse
of the invasion seems to hiave been the withholding of the
usual tribute. This subordinate position of Ceylon with
regard to Madura is intelligible in the light of the claims
of the Vijuyanagar emperors, Krishpadéva, Achyuta, and
Sadasiva Rayas, to have conquered Ceylon. According
to the chronicle abstracted above, homage and tribute
were demanded even belore actual fighting began ; and in
the end arrangements were made for the proper remitgance
of tribute. It is unlikely, under the circumstances of his
position, that Krishpappa Nayaka would have undertaken
this expedition to wipe ont the insult said to have been
offered to him by the ruler of Kandi, There is some
partisauship in the eareful omission of all details which
might go against the Madura ruler, who is throughout
presented as a faultless man. The appointment.of o
viceroy appears doubtful, as there is no evidence to show
that there were close rvelations between Madura and Ceylon
after this expedition, which a viceroyalty would necessitate.
Perhaps an officer was appointed to receive and remit
tribute.

Epigraphical evidence for this invasion of Ceylon is
meagre. Perhaps Sadésiva's boast in Raktakshi (1564-35)
of his having ‘ looted ' Ceylon” is subsequent to this; if so,
the whole expedition would have been completed in a short
time. There is a Téramangalam inscription of 1567°
which refers to a Vira Vasanta Ridya, ‘who conquered

5 Appendix 13, No. 57. .
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Ceylon . There is no specific reference in Turnour and
Wijesimba's Malifomlida to a Madura invasion of Ceylon
about this time, bul this period of Ceylon history seems to
have been one of trouble und confusion,  However, it is very
probable from the other sources thal Krishpappa Niyaka
led an expedition to Ceylan, and that it was not for con-
quest, but for the enforeement of the payment of tribute
which was due from her, and which she had not paid
properly.

Mr. Rangachari remarks that Nelson's conelusion,” viz.
that the war was a fact, is ‘ worthy of aceeptance '.* [His
statement that it never happened, according tn Taylor,
is not sufficiently borne out. The latter only expresses
himself in very cantions terms which are probably justified
by the nature of the evidence he had to deal with: * The
narrative in this manuscript is too particular, as to names,
places, and circumstances, to be a mere invention, . . . |
have no doubt that confirmation of the general fact of such
an invasion and conquest of Ceylon is obtainable from
papers in the collection if the same really happened *."

Krishyappa Navaka's Attitude towards Vijavanagar.—
Mr. Rangachari’s npinion on this question docs not seem to
be quite decided ; in one place, he says that ' his lovalty is
clear ;™ in another, that his rvelation to the emperor is
‘ one of uncertainty ',"! meaning probably the full details of
that relationship. To establish Krishpappa's loyalty to the
empire in 1565, Mr. Rangachari relies on an inseription of
1561. The Krishndpuram Plates of Sadadiva, dated 1567,
prove this question beyond a shadow of doubt ; Krishnappa
Nayaka is referred to in them in many eologistic terms
with several high-sounding titles, and described as one
‘who knew the truth about duty ', ctc.® There are other

: . 104, . " LA, 1016, p, RE,
aylor, C.&., iii, p. 186,
e f.4,, 1016, p. B3, YU faid,, p. BT,
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references to Krishpappa Nayaka in the inscriptions of
Sadasiva, dated 1568 and 1571,% the latter of whichis a gift
for the merit of the Niyak. Whatever may he the defects
of the Mrtyunjaye Manuseripts dealing with the life of
Ariyandtha, it may he true that he was sent to Vijayanagar
to do his best to ward off the Muhammadan peril.  Nothing
definite is known about his services to the cmpire at this
eritical time,  Mr, Rangachari narrates in detail all the
wild, ineonsistent, and improbable tales about his move-
ments and behavioue in the north, The fact that he
retirned o, and permanently settled in, Madura within
less than two years after the battle of Talikota (in Akshaya,
Le. 1360-7) clearly shows that he became very much
chastened hy experience, and came back * a sadder and a
wiser man 'y if he had high ambitions. On the basis of
siich authorities, probably, Mr., Rangachari makes bewilder-
ing guesses in attempting to_explain Ariyandtha's return.!
After his veturn from the north in 1566-7, Ariyanitha
probably concerned himself much with works of a quasi-
public nature. He is said to have called his relatives from
Conjivaram, settled them in Solavandin and other villages,
built them houses and a temple, and supplied all the needs
of a place of habitation. He seems to have amused him-
self with building and improving temples and other
structures all over the kingdom of Madura. But much is
made of the statement in the Mpiyunjaya Manuscripts
that he was Dalavily and Pradhini during four successive
reigns till 1600. Mr. Rangachari speaks of Ariyanitha as
the chief friend and counsellor of Krishnappa Niyaka.
Following Nelson, he thinks that he was the guiding spirit
in the administration of the country till his death, and that
the Nayaks were merely his instruments. There is hardly
adequate evidence to support such a weighty conclusion.

1 Appendlx 1, Nos. 63 and 67, " J.A4., 1016, p. 85,
10
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Probably he was holding the two principal offices in name,
and in recognition of his past services : there is an inscrip-
tion of 1570," which refers to him as the agent of Vidva-
nitha Nayaka, Krishpappa Niyakn, and Vieappa Nayaka.

The early years of the reign of Krishpappa Niynka scem
to have been a very anxious period, He had to provide
for the peace of the country troubled by a [ew hot-headed
Polegars under the leadership of Tumbichehi Niyaka ; he
had to put the Ceylon ruler in the right attitude of u sub-
ordinate paying regular tribute ; he had, further, to see that
the imperial cause was not cndangered hy his defanld.
While discharging these dutics, he seems to have been not
unmindful of the work of peaceful administration and
progress. He is said to have built Krishpdpuram, a town
to the east of Palamcotta, and another called Kadaiyam-
Krishndpuram to the west of Tinnevelly, The former
seems to have rcceived greater attention from him. The
Krishpipuram Plates of Sadidiva record the grant of a
number of villages to the Tiruvéngadanitha temple, built
there by Krishnappa Niyaka, ‘encircled by a wall . . .
and a broad and lofty tower, with a large ranga-mandapa
raised on a collection of beautiful stone pillars and adorned
with rows of sprouts’. ‘He built a car ., . and also
broad roads round the temple . . . for God Vishpu set
up there.'™ He is said to have built a Siva temple
also, constructed a Teppakulam and several agrahdras,
and looked after the other needs of the town, The
Krishnapuram inscription of Krodhana (1565)" records
the grant of six villages and some land in Alikudi to the
same temple, Probably the town was built earlier, not
necessarily in Krishnappa Niyaka's reign, and was improved
now. Inscriptions refer to his benefactions to other
temples.

8 Appendix [, No, 6. 18 KT ix, p. 328, vv, 55-7.
'* Appendix I, No. 56,
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Krishypuppa Niayaka's Character and Work.—Krishpappa
Niiyaka seels to have distinguished himself even during
the administration of his father. The carliest inscription
referring to him™ is one for his merit, dated 1546.
Sadasiva's inseription of 1550" mentions him,  An inscrip-
tion of 1554 records his gift of land to a temple; in
another of 1555, 1kiimbara Mudaliydr, his agent, makes a
gift of land.* Records dated 1562 are those of his gifts to
temples.” The Krishpdpuram Plates of Sadigiva, dated
1567, describe him as “the lord of Nénchipura and
Aildvalipura, who, by his valour, deprived the insolent
King of the Tiruvadi-rijya of the seven {component) parts
(of his kingdom) ;¥ who wus famous as the Pandyakula-
sthapanachiryua, who was the revered lord of the Southern
Ocean'. These expressions clearly indicate his share in
the cumpaigns against the Travancore country and the
Pindyas in the reign of Achyuta Raya, and in the
campaigns al Ramardja Vitthala later. He appears as
the equal of his father in martial qualities, and as a
notable imperial general, His other characteristics of
wisdom, mercy, uprightness, and generosity are emphasized
in this cpigraphical record, which confirms, to a great
extent, the opinion of the chronicles. He seems to have
been a capable and wise ruler, bearing the welfare of his
subjects constantly in mind. His marked individuality
and reputation would have rendered any rise of Ariyanitha's
influence beyond limits impossible. He gave the country
strong and beneficent rule, which was badly needed at the
time. He vigorously checked the cvil ways of some of the
Polegars, and by his firmness and moderation taught them

respect for constituted authority.
His Death.—After a somewhat short reign of nearly nine

14 ix D, Mo. 25, 19 Fhid,, No, 32.
"o ?Jiﬁﬂ“ﬁﬁi .Dnrzr;nd 43. 2L fbéd,, Mos, 53 and 55,
92 Piruvadikshmips Saplingaharagavjosi.
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years, be died on the 19th of Kértikai, Angiraga about the
3rd of December, 1572).  This is the date given by one of
the Mrivunjayae Manuscripts that geoerally gives some
details about the dates which do not often seriously conllict
with inscriptions. Mr. Rangachari relics, it seems, on
the Pdangdyan Chronicle, which gives Masi, Aogirasa:
but there is a Dhardpuram inseription® of Vieappa Nayaka,
his suceessor, which is dated th Margali, Angirasa.
Hence the date of the latter chronicle will have o be
rejected. Krishnappa Niyaka must have died aboul the
beginning of December, 1572,

2 Appendix 1), No, G4,



CHAPTER 1V
VIRAPPA NAYAKA

(1572-1595)

Virarra NAvara succeeded his father on the throne to-
wards the end of 1572, Mr. Rangachari, following Nelson,
speaks of a dual royal authority : ‘ A remarkable feature in
the position of these rulers was the joint holding of the
royal dignity by brothers,'' Nelson ® says: ' The two sons
(of Krishnappa Nayaka) . . . were permitted by Arya
Nayaga to rule the country with co-ordinate authority.’
This view scems to be based on Taylor’s translation of the
Tamil manuscripts, where the expression ‘ second in power’
is used. But Taylor makes Ariyanatha ‘ second in power’
to Vidvanidtha. The chronicles no doubt frequently speak
of a ¢ Chinna Dorai’ associated in government ; at the same
time they almost invariably say that the one was crowned
and the other made ‘ Chinna Dorai’. But Nelson and Mr.
Rangachari do not speak of joint rule throughout; they
confine their view to the period between 1573 and 1600.
The former admits that when Virappa Nayaka-died in
1595, he was succeeded by his sons; but he presumes,
therefore, that his co-ruler must have died before. In the
case of Virappa Nayaka, a co-ruler is not mentioned in
most of the chronicles. It appears that Nelson was guided
by the Pdndyan Chronicle, which, however, speaks of
Visvanitha and Virappa as rulers, not in the reverse way
taken by him and®Mr. Rangachari. The Mrtyunjaya
Manuscripis do not refer to any joint rulers at all. Taylor

1 f.A., 1016, . 8L ®p. 105,
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-

does not go to the extent that Nelson does, but expresses
himself with much restraint and caution : ' It is to be pre-
sumed, from the first mention here occurring, that the
" subsequent custom of committing o secondury anthority Lo
u younger brother of the reigning prince, carrying with it «
right to the throne in case of the elder one leaving no
legitimate posterity, was now first begun.'?

The evidence of inscriptions goes dircctly against this
theory of Nelson. The Kaniyir Plates of Venkata 11, and
the Vellangudi Plates and the Dalavily Agrahiram Plates
of Venkata I, which give a gencalogy of the early Nayaks,
are absolutely silent about joint rulers. From other in-
scriptions there is no ground for supposing that there wus
joint rule among these Nayaks at any time. The proba-
bility in the circumstances is that sume member of the
royal family next to the ruler was associated in power in a
way similar to the time-honoured custoin of the Cholas,
or to that of some of the present-day Rijas of India in
having a Yuvariija or Elayariija.

Though Mr. Rangachari speaks of * Vidgvanitha 11" as the
colleague of Virappa Nayaka, he describes everywhere the
work of the latter, The only important event which tended
to disturb the peace of the country scems to have been the
rebellion of a Mavali Vipidariya. The chronicles speak
of a Sundaratto] Mavali Vipadariyar and others as illegiti-
mate sons of a Pandya king, who were crowned in succes-
sion kings of Madura by Lakkapna MNayaka, and whose
period of rule was in the sccond half of the fifteenth
century. ' Probably the rebel against Virappa Niyaka was

" O.H. AFSS., i, p. M4

Madrevadlialavaraldre ; Taylor, 0. &, Af55., 1, p. 37,

* Mavali VapAdardyan was the title of chiefs of the Bapa country in
the basin of the Pildr, the cxtent of whose territory changed according
to the viclssitudes of history. Tt seems likely that some of them were
transferred to this region ns a result of the war that Kulottunga 1[I hod
te carry on against the rullng Pindyas dnrinﬁ the years 1‘251-?%. When
the Pindyas gained the nscendancy, the chieftalns appointed to rule
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one of their descendants. There are a number of inscrip-
tions of these Vipddariyars in the sixteenth century, whick
are found in Tirupullini, Kilaiyarkovil, and Dévipattanam
in the Ramnad district.* Therefore it is very likely that
they had some pretensions and cherished high ambitions.
Vidvandtha, in all probability, conciliated them by giving
them a dignified place in his Pilaiyam System. It is not
clesir what occasioned their hostile activity under Virappa
Nityaka, and who it was that was actually responsible for
it. The chronicles say that the king of Mavalivanam
fortified Mandmadurai and Kalaiyarkovil and took posses-
sion of the neighbouring territory. The action of Virappa
Niayaka is described as having been prompt and decisive.
He brought the transaction to a close by the confiscation
of his Pilaiyam. It is curious that Mr. Rangachari should
think that 366 of 1901 (an error for 366 of 1909} %, which
mentions a Vapidariyar as the agent of Virappa Niyakar-
aiyan, ‘cvidently refers to his defeal and later loyalty '
This inscription is dated Paribhava (1606) and is found at
Tayaniic (Tirukkovilir taluk, South Arcot district), while
the transactions recorded in the chronicle have reference
to the present-day distvict of Ramnad, The strong measure
taken by Virappa Niyaka after his revolt seems to preclnde
the probability of ‘ later loyalty ',

Nelson and Mr. Rangachari take Virappa Niyaka for a
roi faindant under the masterful thumb of Ariyanitha, who,
according to the latter, was ‘in reality the sovereign of the
country '. As has been remarked before, Ariyanitha may
have been Dalaviy and Pradhini in name, but there is

these territories had appavently borne these titles, if they did not belon
to the family. Hence this region had been under & succession of chiefs
of thia title who held on to their strongholds even during the temporary
sccupation of Madura by a succession of Mubammadan Sultans from
1310-78. They are found mentioned in the early inseriptions of Viinﬂb
nagar under Harilara I, and Lakkapa's recognition of their position
under DEvarfiya I1 follows as a matter of course, —&d, :

& Appendix ), Nos. 5,7, 8, 8, and 11,

¢ Appendix I, No. 103, *f.AL, 1816, p, 81,
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absolutely no real evidence of his dominating influence.
There is not even an incidental reference to him in inserip-
tions throughout the long reign of Virappa Niyaka.
The latter fgures largely in them, and in n record of
1594 * he is said to have * levied tribute [rom every country ',
The chronicles, in treating of his veign, say nothing
abont Arviyaniitha's position and power. Virappa Niyaka
seems to have had perfect control over his feudatories, the
Pandyas of Tenkadi and the Tiruvadi.? The inscriptions
of Vijayanagar emperors invariably refer to him as the
ruler, Other numerous inscriptions of his make it clear
that he had a strong hold over all his wide dominions, and
was the real master of the country.

His Aftitwde towards the Vijayanagar EBEmperors.—
Inscriptions show that Virappa Nayaka continued the policy
of subordination and loyalty towards the Vijayanagar
emperors, which his father and grandfather had followed.
Epigraphical records of the Vijayanagar emperors are found
in the Niyak dominions. The Dalaviy Agrah@iram DPlates of
Venkata I, dated 1586, record a gift in accordance with the
wishes of Virappa Nyaka” Other records of this emperor
indicate that he exercised greater control over the south
than his two immediate predecessors ; these are an inscrip-
tion at Pirinmalai, dated 1588," another at Erode in the
same year,” and a grant of some villages in the Tinnevelly
district to a Vishnu temple under the management of a
certain Krishpadis of date 1590." In the Sarmadévi in-
scription of Sriranga, dated 1594," Virappa is mentioned
as a feudatory. Virappa's Krishpdpuram inscription of
1577 mentions Sriranga; in the S&rmadévi inscription
of 1578" he calls himself Siivanga's agent. Though
there were three successive emperors ruling at Penukonda

B Appendix D), No. B8, ® foid., Nos. 76 and 70.
e n, }J xii, p&. 1589-87. it Appendix D, Na, 81,
2 fhie,, No, 84, 13 fhid,, No, 85, 4 foid., No. 87,
13 fbid., No. 70, 1 Jéid., No, 72,

DI’
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during this period, only Venkata's control appears to have
been predominant. There is no doubt about Virappa's
loyalty to all of them, including Tirumala and Sriranga, but
their influence on Madura affairs seems to have depended
on their power. A gradual tightening of the imperial
control is, however, pereeptible towards the end of the reign
of Venkata LY

Virappa Nayuka's comparatively long reign scems to
have been o perind of peace and prosperity. The chronicles
speak of his improvements in the Trichinopoly fort, the
construction of a fort at Aruppukkdttai (Ramnad), the
building ol the walls of defence round the Chidambaram
temple, and the grant of many agrahdras in charity.
There is no mention in them of any benecfactions of his
to the temple of Sundariévara and Mindkshi in Madura.
The Tiruppanimdalai verses (52-4) enumerate, however,
his construction of the Velliyambalam, the northern
gopuram, the Servisvaram, the kitchen, the thousand-
pillared mandapa (pavilion with a thousand pillars), the
Mirtiyammean mandapa, the S‘:rmrf mandapa (pavilion
round the temple) in the second prdkdra (enclosing wall
and circumambulating spacel, and the Virappa mandapa
with senlptured pillars. He is said to have covered the
pillars of the mandapa of the Mindkshi temple with gold.
The Dalaviiy Agrah@irnm Plates of Venkata I (1586) seem

¥ When, after the battle of ‘Talikota, the caopital changed to Penu-
konda, the authority of the headquarters over Madura apparently
continued intact, The empire was, however, composed of three separate
charges, over each of which was placed a prince under the sovereign
authority of the roler for the time-being. This arrangement first
came into use on the death of Tiromala I, when Sriranga succeeded
to the empire with headquarters at Penukondn ; his brother, Rima,
became viceroy or ‘' vice-regent' at Srirangapattanam, d the last
brother, Venkata, became similarly viceroy of ﬁ.&dum. riranga died
without issue ; Rama predeceased him ; and Venkata became emperor
in his turn. It was at this time that there wns a rebellion, or an
attempt at one, in Madura. Venkata sent his nephew, Tirumala, son of
Rima, to put down the rebellion. Instead of doing so, he made
compmon cause with the enemy and went over to Sﬁmnﬂxpa;papm.
Venkata had subsequently to earry on the war agninst Madura and
bring ‘it back to its alleginnee, while Srimngopattanam remaingd
practically independent,— £, :

1l
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tn confirm this to some cxtent : they say that * Virabhiipati
constructed a mandapa of rare sculptures in front of the
shrine of Sondara Niyaka and presented the Goddess
Mindkshi with a gold lkavacha (mail-coat studded with
gems) "2 An inseription in the temple of Sundaréévara,™
dated 1584, rufers to the construction of the Nambattadi
mandapa * with o number of seulptured pillars representing
Puriinic scenes’.  Thus Virappn Niyaka devoted wmnch of
his wealth to religious works.

He appears to have been an impartial ruler very much
concerned with the proper administration of justice, The
Goripalaiyam inscription of Bhava, i.c. 1574, refers to a
dispute with regard to a large piece of land, said to have
been granted to the Muohammadans by a Kion Pindya.
Virappa Niyaka conducted an elaborate inquiry, according
to the inscription, and confirmed the old grant,  This also
indicates hig attitude towards the Pindyas : he appears to
have been well disposed towards them. [f the Pudukottai.
Plates of S¢7 Vallabha were issued in 1583, his relation
towards the Pandyas as over-lord is clear.

Introduction of Christianity.—About 1592, towards the
close of Virappa Niyaka's reign, the Jesnit missionaries,
working among the Paravas, established a mission in
Madura under Father G. Fernandez, to convert the people
of the country, especially the higher classes. They gol
permission from the Nayak to build a church and preshytery.
The whole-hearted and unostentations work of Fernandesz
bore no frnit ; he worked in vain for about fourteen years,
without being able to convert anybody. The principal
cause of his failure was the great contempt which the
people felt for the Portuguese™ (or the Parangis, as they

18 2L, i, pp. 159-87. " Appendix ID, No, 77.

20 J5id., No. 60,

22 There is o gmfhic description of the Portuguese contingent as it
appeared in the battle of Topp@ir, which gives an idéa of contempora
opinion, in Yaghanfriyana Dikshita’s Sabifyaralndbaram, Sce pp. 2%
and 282, Sonrces of Mifayavagar History, No. 1 of this series,— &4,

"
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were called) owing to their cating beef, drinking intoxicating
liquors, and associating themselves with the Paraiyas.
Albert Laerzio, in bis letter of Nowvember 20, 1609,
says @ * Nothing can remove this disagrecable impression,
neither the noble courage of the Portuguese, the magnitude
ol their power, the glitter of their wealth, nor the glory of
their victories and conguests.™  FPurther, Fernandes had
not @ proper appreciation of the real difficulties and had
neither brain nor courage to lind out the best mode of
approach under the circumstances.  Thus the first attempt
to convert the high-class Hindus of Madura to Christianity
was o complete failure. )
Virappa's death,—Aer o reign of about twenty-two
yeurs and nine months Virappa Nayakn died, according to
a Mrtyunjaya Manuscript, in Avapi, Manmatha (the begin-
ning of September, 1595). His last inscription is dated
Jaya; ¥ the carliest inscription of his successor is in
Manmatha;* hence Virappa must have died at least before
April, 1590, So the ‘date given by the above-mentioned
chronicle may be taken to be correct. :

¥* Bortrandd, i, p. 2. S i 2 Appendix D, No, 88,
id., Nu, 1. "



CHAPTER V
KRISHNAPPA NAYAKA 1
(1395-1601)

Virarpa NAvaka bad threc sons; Kumira Krishpappa,
Vidvappa, and Kastiri Rangappa. He was succeeded by
the eldest, known also as Vira Krishpa, in September,
1595. Nelson speaks of the joint rule of Krishnappa
and Vidvappa. Mr. Rangachari thinks that the latter was
the elder brother. Both agree in saying that the juint
rulers were in the leading-strings of old Ariyanithu.
They regard the death of the latter as the most important
event of this period. While Nelson ! welcomes it as the
deliverance of the Niayaks from his benumbing influence
and as the removal of the chief stumbling-block to all
progress, Mr. Rangachari deplores it as ‘not only a loss
but (a) disaster’; for ‘Ariyandtha . .. pave the Niik
kingdom its strength and its security, its organization and
its resources.'” * Besides guiding the kings of Madura, he
took upon himself the task of maintaining the integrity of
the Empire and saving the descendants of Krishnadéva
Raya from the shadow of neglect and danger of extinction.'”
‘ He, in short, . . . kept the union of the tottering empire
by his loyalty.'* Taylor's warning ® that ‘any conjectures
founded on these indications may for the present be spared’
has been neglected with a vengeance ; there is not an iotu
of evidence to substantiate this extravagant panegyric.

1 p. 107, ¥ AoA 06, . 02, ? fodd., p. 101,
* fbid., p. 102. | 0. A MSS, L, p. L2,
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The date of the death of Ariyanatha is 1600, according
to Nelson.  Mr, Rangachari’s estimate of the duration of
his power and his date for his death do not seem to be
fuite consistent. At first he says: ' For more than hulf
i century  after Vidvanitha's death ' (which oceurred
in 1563, according Lo him) . . . * he (Ariyaniitha) was the
pilut of the infant kingdom.'® This statement puts the
death of Ariyanitha after 16013, Later on: ‘But Arya-
nitha's labours were not destined to end as Visvanitha's
lientenant and minister, He was destined to hold that
power for the next 40 years'’ Accordingly Ariyanitha
must  have died in 1604, PFinally: ‘For more than
J8 years he had been the life of the young state, and
given it glory and success.” * In 1600 he felt the effects of
age and toil, and succumbed to death.'™ It is very hard to
understand the process by which Mr. Rangachari managed
to come to this final conclusion, on the basis of the
irreconcilable statements quoted above.

With regard to the age of Arciyanitha at the time
uf his death, Mr. Rangachari similarly changes his
position. In the beginning, he says that he was born
‘somewhere in the 2nd or Srd decade of the 16th
century ' and that he ‘must have been about 20 years
younger than Vigvanitha'."! Further on, he remarks that,
in 1595, he was ‘more than 80"." If Mr. Rangachari
is not sure whether Ariyanitha was born in the second or
the third decade of the sixteenth century, he could hardly
be more than eighty in 1595 as he asserts. If he'stands by
the latter statement, Ariyanatha’s birth could not have been
later than at least 1515, and the alternative of the third
decade has to go. According to Mr. Rangachari, Visvanitha
was ‘born in the beginning of the 16th century or a
decade before ' Taking only 1500 for Vigvandtha's birth,

o 7, A, 1915, pp. 62-3. 7 Zbid., 1016, p. 8. 8 jbid,, p. 102.
v bid., 1915, 1'-:.“ 63. 1o fpid., 1016, p. 101,V fbid., p. 75 n.
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Ariyandtha's birth would be in 1520, and in 15395 he
would be only seventy-five, and not *more than 507
Mr. Rangachari does not state his authority for all these
conjectures, and only his ussertion stunds that Arivanitha
was more than eighty in 1595, If su, he must have heen
at  least cighty-live at the time ascribed  lor  his
death.

We shall take Mr. Rangachari’s final date for Ariyanitha's
death as 1600 and examine its probability. It is appa-
rently based on Taylor's translation of w Mpfyunjayu
Manuscript™ which says that Ariyanitha died on the
7th Chittirai, S@rvari, and ‘held the united offices of
minister and gencralissimo during four reigns, or thirty-
eight years and nine months’. The original of this trunsla-
tion ™ gives the date us 7th Chittirai, Sarvadhdiri, which
s 19th April, 1588, approximately. There are only lwo
inscriptions which refer to Ariyanitha; one of 1560 " and
another of 1570, where he, along with two others, is des-
cribed as the agent of Visvanitha Niayaka, Krishpappa
Niyaka, and Virappa Nayaka'" But there is not sufficient
evidence to arrive at a definite conclusion regarding his apgu
and date of death. Therefore, the date 1600 for the event
can be accepted only provisionally, if atall. ‘There seems to
be no valid ground for supposing that he was twenty years
younger than Vidvandtha ; on the contrary, it is likely that
he ‘was a little older. The Mytyunjaya Manuscript  on
his life says that he took Vidvanatha with him to the south.
Considering the difficulties of his task, it is probable
that the latter was given an elderly adviser. If so,
Ariyandtha must have lived to a ripe old age.

-+ Krishnappa. Ndyaka appears prominently in the inscrip-
tious of the period. Heis described as ‘sitting on the
lion-throne of Vallabha Naréndra’in a record of 1596,

180, H, MSS., ii, p. 119 . 19 Jid,, p, 120,
1+ Appendix D, No, 49, 'S Ibid., No. 66, 1" fbid , No. 02,
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and as the ‘Pindya Parthiva Krishgpa Nrpatih' (King
Krishpa, the Pandya king) in 15977 It was he who was
responsible for the Vellangndi Plates of Venkata 1, dated
1598, and the Padmaneri copper plates of the same year*
In an inseription of 1600" his agent is mentioned. Thus his
epigraphical records range between 1596 and 1600, and he
isall inall throughout his reign.  Mr, Rangachari admits
that nothing is known about his elder hrother and co-ruler,
* Vigvanitha IIT",

The Vijayanagar emperor, Venkata 1, is recognized as
the paramount sovercign by Krishnappa Niyaka ™ and by
the Pandyas” A few records of the former make his
position clear; these are his copper plate grant of 1597 at the
request of Krishpappa Niyaka® and his Vellangudi Plates
of 1595, Venkata I had thus sufficient control over hoth
the Niyaks and their subordinates, the Pindyas; and the
latter were loyal to him. The inscriptions of the Pindyas
show that their power was gradually increasing under the
Nilyaks. Trurther, the prant of villages in the Tiruvadi-
rdfya®™ indicates that the conquered territory of Travancore
remained intact, and the Tiruvadi was at least not aggres-
sive, Krishpappa Niyaka's position with regard to the
Piindyas and Travancore was secure and his loyalty to the
emperor beyond question.

His death.—After a short reign of about five years and
nine months, Krishnappa Niyaka died in Vaikadi, Plava
{May-June, 1601), according to the Mrtyunjaya Manuscripts,
The Pandyan Chroniele gives the period of his reign as seven
years, from Margali, Manmatha, to Chittirai, Plava ; but this
comes to only about five years and four months. There is
consistency between the dates and the total period in the

‘: ﬁagendm Eﬁ Mo 1M, ;: ﬁ:ﬁ bi'.;;:s. g? and 97.
o .. No, &7,
2L fhfed., No. 80, 22 fiid., No. 84,

o Ve]]nnmu;l! Plates and Padmaniri m-::.riptinn of 1598,
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case of the former. However, there is not much difference
hetween the two with regard to the final date of the reign.
Further, there is no conflict with inseriptions, the last one
for Krishpappa belonging to 1600,



CHAPTER VI
MUTTU KRISHNAPPA NAYAKA
OO L1604

UN the death of Krishpappa Niyaka II, the throne is
said to have been usoeped by his voungest brother, Kastdri
Kanga, the other brother Vidvappa having predeceased
him,  Within the course of about a week the wvsurper is
said to have been murdered in the Sandyamandapa, pro-
hahly as an expression of popular protest against his action,
and Muttu Krishpappa crowned. This latter is not men-
tioned by the Pidndyrn Chronicle and by one Mriyunjaya
Manuscript;* but it is clear from the other chronicles,
inseriptions, and a few coins, that he eame to the throne
some time after the death of Keishoappa Nayaka [1.
Nelson and Mr Rangnchari, following some chronicles,
consider Muttu Krishpappa as the son of Krishpappa
Niyaka I1. But a Mrtyunjove Manuseript’ and the
Maduraittalavaraldre say that he was the son of Visvappa,
the younger brother of Krishyappa Nayaka II.  This view
is confirmed bv the Kaniyar Plates of Venkata II, which
give the gencalogy of the Niyaks up to Tirumala Nayaka.
Henee it is to be taken that Muttu Krishnappa was the son
of Vidvappa, the second son of Virappa Niyaka.
Organization of the Marava Country.—The most im-
portant event of Muttu Krishpappa's reign was the effective
organization of the Marava country under the S&tupatis,
Whether the Sétupatis were cstablished or rvestored is

' Tuylor, 0. M. MSS., val, il . 118, d i, p. B0,
12 '
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immaterial to our present purpose, but it is highly probable
that they were the vassals of the Pandyas before.  Nelson
says: ‘It scems probable that in the time of Muttu
Krishpappa, the Ramnad country . . . was under the
management of two Commissioners appointed by the
Governor of Madora,®  Mr, Rangachari thinks that this
experiment may have been made by Vidvanitha, the
founder of the Niyak dynasty, and asserts that it was
success till 1600, It was only after this year that the
Ramuoad country fell into anarchy. He attempts to shield
Viévanitha and Ariyanitha, his heroes, from uny charge of
neglect of the Marava country.! Ilut Nelson speaks of the
unqualified failure of the commission. Perhaps Muttu
Krishpappa himself, or one of his immediate predecessors,
tried that plan. In any case, the final organization of
the country was the work of Muttu Krishpappa,

The Niayaks, in general, scem o have left the const
region open to the enterprise of [oreign pations,”  In the

* p, 108, * 1 A, 1016, p, 108,

3 ri‘ha position of the Niiyaks in regard to forelgners trading along
the coast country was probably a mere continuntion of the policy
pursued by the Pindyas. There are good reasons for helleving that
with the great Cholas the oversens enterprise of the Tumils came to an
end and gradually %mm place to Arub enterprise which ultimately
guperseded all Tamil effort in this direction hoth on the const and In
the Avchipelago. Under the iast grent Pindya, Kulndikhara, the agent
of the horse-trading Jamal-ud-1¥n, Governor of Shiraz, held the
chief place In this region. He occupied, necording to the Muhammadan
historians, & high place even in the councils of the Pindya. This
position of the agent of the Muhammadan trader at Kiyal is in striking
contrast to the position that the foreipners oceuplel under the great
Chalas, as is exemplified in the case of the mere boilding of & Buddhis:
VihEra and maoking grants of lands to it Ly the rulers of Kndfram
under the great Cholas The rulers of Kadfram [Er! Bhaja ar
Palambang) had to obtain permission in both cases by smudimf onl
special missions and obtaining the reruisite license through the inter-
vention of the foreign secretary of the Cholas. That state of things
had completely vanished under the Pandyas. The conguest of 't
Papdya country by Vijaynnagar does not appear to have provided foy
this immediately, as in all probabllity this conquest did not involve the
sequisition of all the coast territory by the new empire. 1t s in
connection with the nppointment of Lakkana, the chief Dapnfyak st
headquarters, as o ' Speeial Commissioner for the South *, that the Akl
¢fibrt at bringing the coast region under the control of the provineln~
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sixteenth century this poliey of the open door remained
unaltered,  Gradually, however, the establishment of an
independent authority, at the back of their dominions, was
felt: by the Nipaks to be prejudicial oo their interests.

suvernient comes mio view, Lakkaga Dol the combined tltle of
lecrow of Madurs aml * Lond of the Sonthern Ocean . Phis * Loglship
of the Sontlwern esm * seems o mply control over the ports d, o a
certiin extent, vammanel of the pverseas trade. o the period of
msurpation an elovt wos maede o Being the Piondvas mouder contrel,
ehielly throngh the efforts of Narasa Navaka, the father of the gront
king Rrishpudive Riya, That pobably  meant @ more thorongh
contuest of the whole region and its reduction w g position of suls-
ovdination (o the empire as oomeans of extending  the imperial
uthority dewn o the const, s it wos abont that time wihen the
Portugmese  marde thelr  lirst appearanee on the west  const, The
unterprise af forigners on e const assumed o more definite shape nnd
shower] sggeressive Tentures under Voseo da Gamee and Allmguergue,
The dlissatislaetion Lf.'iin'ussu[ Ly the Jatter in regard to the reception
given o bis agent, Fri.o Luiz, immedintely after the fall of Goa is
evitlence of the enutivus Imperinl policy of Krishpudévn Riyn, His
sulmeruent transactions with the Portuguese showed o spiril Friendly
to Lhelr commercial enterprise : but he wos equally  clear In dis-
countenineing the more apgressive enterprise of the Portuguese agalost
the const powers, ns in the eose of the Zamorin of Calicul, against whom
Albuguergue sought an allinnee with the Riya. Krishina gave no reply
to this, indiceating clearly that he did not favour that kind  of enterprise,
The coming of Fruncls Xovier to the Paravi coast, combined with
voarlous others of the doings of the Portugumese on the west coast,
indieated the character of the peaceiul Itmuu:mtiuu of the Portuguese
misslonaries netively supported Ly the Portuguese elvil government.
It was the wdvent of this new influence that called for more drastic
aetlon on the purt of the emplire, the so-called invasion of the Hagages
ugninst which Portuguese writers bitterly complain, It was no more
thean a drastic eflort made to assert im!‘-ur[ul anthority, and explains the
cohstant vigllance wnd active enterprise of Rimarijo Vigthaly and his
brother Timmo in the south for o period almost of ten years., The
adoption of Christianity by the Paraves was held to imply o change of
feslty from the Indian government to the king of Portugal, and that
natnrally would have provoked drastic mensures for the assertion of
Vlja}mnn%{w muhml{y. Vigvanftha's subordinate position during this
eriod of Ramariija Vifthaln's activity in the south finds an explanation
n this, asalsothe immedintely precefling effort to extend Travancore
authority across the whole peninsula to the east const. This re-
assertion of Imperinl authority seems to have been in the main
saccessful and held good so long as the empire lasted. After the battle
uf "Talikotn, the peaceful efforts of the missionaries, chiefly Jesulls,
combined with the enlightened peolicy of toleration pursued by the
el v gradually enabled them to gain lost ground and even renew
thelr aggressive activity which involved the A change of political
alleginnee, It is this undercurrent of political activily of the mission-
arles that brought the pative powers down upon them in India, asin
the famous perseeutions of the Christinns in the Roman empire duoring
the early centuries of the Christian ern.—#d.
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The following remarks of Bishop Caldwell ® explain the
situation created by the policy of indifference towards the
coast region which the Nayaks followed in the heginning:
‘Navier . . . speaks of the Paravas as “subjects of His
Portuguese Majesty ™ . . . The entive civil and criminal
jurisdiction of the lishery coast had been seized upon by the
Portuguese, and . . . all dues and taxes, including the
valuable revenue arising from the pearl-fishery, bad been
assumed by the governors appointed by the Portuguese
Viceroy. The UVortuguese had not asked any native
potentate's consent to the formation of their settlements.
Thus political disruption and financial. spoliation scem to
have followed in the wake of commercial and religious
penetration. [t was probably to counteract thesc hostile
influences of foreigners that Muttu Krishnappa established
a strong government in the Marava country.

These political and financial motives scem to bhave buen
the chief cause of the revival of the Satupatis. A religious
purpose was not wanting. The whole Marava country was
in a chaos of disorder and insecurity, and consequently the
way to Riméévaram, to which pilgrims flocked, was rendered
unsafe. The date of this event is said in a Mackenszie
Manuscript’ to be 1605. This is likely to be correct, as
the first Sétupati inscription of this period belongs to 1607.

The actual circumstances leading to the restoration of
the Sétupatis are described by the chronicles in their own
way. As is usval with Mr. Rangachari, he does not neglect
to cram into his history all the romantic literature on the
subject ; he is very careful not to omit even stories of
‘doubtful veracity ' and ‘absurd and inaccurate ’ versions of
events, in his own terminology. Readers, eager for the
strange and the curious, may find much mental pabulum in
his elaborate narratives and lengthy extracts. “What is clear

o History of Tinnevelly, ? 71
? Taylor, @, H. M55, i, Appendix, p. 40.



Muttn Krishpappa Nayaka - 93

from the account of the chronicles is that Muttu Krishpappa
made Sadaika T@va, Udaiyan Situpati, only after testing
his capucity to deal effectively with the situation in the
Marava country. It seems that the latter was allowed
a free hand on agreeing to pay a fixed tribute. At
first he appears to have made the passage to Rimésvaram
safe by fortifying Ramnad and Pogalir, and arranging
escorts for the pilgrims.  The turbulent chiefs in the
surrounding conntry were Subdued and a strong govern-
ment  established at  Kilaiyirkovil, Pattamangalam, and
other places, most probably by Sadaika Tiva or Dalavay
Sctupati, though all this is attributed to his son, Kittan
SCtupati, by the History of the Carnataca Governors.
Dalaviy Sctupati's inscriptions at Rimégvaram record
his gifts to the temple ; these are a grant of live villages in
1607, and another grant of ecight villages in 1608, A
copper plate record of 1608 refers to a grant of lands to the
temple servants” He seems to have been a successful ruler
who did much [or peace and progress by clearing forests
and encouraging cultivation. It is likely that he ruled till
1623, as the Mackenzie Manuscript, referred to above, says,
and was sncceeded by his son, Kittan SEtupati; for the
latter's ficst inscription * is dated 21st Masi, Rudhirodgiri
{the beginning of March, 1624). '
Christianity and Robert de Nobili.—We have seen how
the Madura Mission was established towards the close of
the reign of Virappa Nayaka, and how the first attempts at
conversion failed to cope with the insuperable obstacles to
success. Still Fernandez continued his futile policy with
much perseverance till 1606, when new developments in
missionary activity overwhelmed- his work. In the reign
nf Muttu Krishpappa a most thumugh gmng scheme of

-----

execution to Robert de Nobili, was worked out. This great
® Appendix 1), No, 105, 108 and L, " fhid., No, 132,
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experiment of de Nobili and the work of his successors in
the Madura Mission are important chapters in the history
of Christianity in India. Though they have been elabo-
rately dealt with by scholars best fitted to handle them.
they are yet subjects of controversy, hecause  much
partisanship inevitably enters into questions of religion and
religious history. The works of [, Tlough (History of
Christianity in Indic) and [. W. RKaye (Christianity in
India) wre charged with mueh passion and vehemence,
exhibiting an utter want of ‘sympathy ' with the subject :
and, therefore, they are of doubtful value. The Rev. J. 5.
Chandler (The Jesuit Mission in Maduwra) handles the
subject more soberly. We areat present directly concerned
only with the political influences and results of missionary
uctivities.

De Nobili seems to have formed u general plan of his
work in India, cven before leaving Lurope.  1le is said to
have declared like St. Paul: ' I will make myself Indian
to save the Indians.' " Hercin lay the germs of his policy
of Indianizing Christianity. By birth an [talian, connected
with the ecclesiastical hierarchy of Europe, he was endowed
with a towering personality and a penetrating intelleet.
He came to Madura in December, 1606, and his uninter-
rupted * meditation ' was perhaps on the details of his plan
of campaign. He had already analysed the causes of his
predecessor's failure, and he scrupulously avoided thc im-
pression of a Parangi by a careful regulation of his dress
and diet. He openly dissociated himself from Fernandez.
proclaiming that he (de Nobili) was a ‘ Roman Brahman "
His daring and original plan consisted mainly of three
features, viz. ‘ the adaptation of the life of the missionary
to i;hnt of the pec)plc " (the Brahmans', *the appropriation
of, halrmlass medul customs and ceremonies for Christian
ur.e , and “the thorough stud}- of the vernaculars (and

1 Bertrand, i, p. 3.
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Sanskrit, the language of the sacred books of Hinduism)
with a view to Huency of speech and writing, and accurate
knowledge of the literature of the people.’™  In all these
three items, he initinted a departure from old and accepted
methods of proselytism.

Soun alter he begun his work, he made some conversions
ol high-placed people, and his fame spread throughout the
country, Il is said that vven the Niyak desired an inter-
view with him, which was, however, cleverly refused.  This
initinl suecess naturally ereated some lutterings in orthodox
cireles, bnt the inlluence of * Hermdeatti ' (Erumaikattii,
a Polegar, prevented o crisis.  On the 15th of January,
1609, de Nobili wrote : * The tempest of the Brahmans has
passed.” 1Bertrand, i, p. 26). Thus the reign of Muttu
Krishpappa saw the beginnings of Nobili's endeavours in
the eause of Christianity.

Mutin Krishpappa's attitude towards the Vijayanagar
Bmperor.~—There are only a few inseriptions of Muttu
Krishnappa's reign which indicate his attitude towards
Venkata 1, the Vijayanagar emperor. Two records of the
latter, dated 1602 and 1604, prove his wathority in the
Nayak dominions” There is only one inseription referring
to Muttu Krishpappa during his reign.”  His copper coins
appavently prove his loyalty to the emperor: on the
ohbverse, there is the legend * Tiruvérga(la)' and on the
reverst * Muodu-Krishpa 'Y There are other coins of the

g8, Chnndler, The Jesndd Mission in Madura, P s,
2 Appenidix 12, Nos, 889 and 101, 2 fhid,, Mo, 104,
is TE& abverse legend of this coin, TiravEmgna(la), may have no connee-
tion with the name of the king Venkain, It may stand for the
patron god of the family of the Madura Nayaks, as the particular form
of Vishpu to which they were devoted. [t will be remembered that
Krishpappn Niyeka installed this form of god Vishgu in the temple
he constructed in the new town Krishpipuram founded by him. 1f
that should turn vut to be so, this would be ﬁnmem{uf; like nn effort at
independence, hut it is hardly a necessary inference in the face of the
statement of Casar Frederick, who says that each provineinl VErnor
insued copper coins of his own so that the traveller had to take fresh
n-hn:fn almost every day that he travelled, — Ffd,

{.4., 1891, p. 308, No, 38,
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Nayaks,"” according to Hultzsch (JZlliot Collection No. 1773,
which mention * Verikatapa' on the reverse, and contain
the fish-emblem, and are found in large numbers in the
bazaars of Madura. But there is no clear evidener that
they belong to Muttu Krishpappa. But Mr. Rangachari
thinks it is * practically certain * that they are his coins,
hecause they are of the same typsz as the former

Throughout his reign Muttu Krishpappa was engaged
in the peaceful work of orderly administration, His
arrangements for the settlement of the Marava country
constituted a move in the right direction, though, in the long
run, the existence of a strong chieftaincy near Madura was
not an unmixed good. On occasions of vital emergency
and crisis, as we shall see, it sometimes rallied to the cause
of the kingdom. Muttu Krishpappa's dealings with the
missionaries reveal his broad-minded toleration and appre-
ciation of honest effort, provided it did not go against the
stability of the kingdom. A weak man, feeling the in-
security of his position, would not have given room for
such activities. His control over the coasts is clear from
Caldwell's references,” and from the letter of Albert
Laerzio, dated November 20, 1609, where the Paravas arc
described as the tributaries of the king of Madura and the
latter as the ally of the Portuguese.” His gift of lands
to' the Bhagavatt temple at Cape Comorin and ‘other
evidence ' clearly show that the Madura Nayak had com-
plete control over the Comorin Coast” Further, Muttu
Krishnappa's resources were devoted to objects of popular
approval, as the building of pagodas, grant of agrahdras,
and construction of tanks. He is also said to have built
a town called Krishpapuram between Madura and Skanda-
malai, and a Siva temple at Kayattr.

18 feA., 1891, p. 308, No, 37. 10 1AL, 18186, p. 104,
12 Hisloi'y of ?Eiunmﬂry,{p. 71-2. 18 H:rtmnd, 1I:: ;u;
V. Nagam Aiyn, The Travancore State Manwal, i, p, 302:

Appendix D, No, 102,
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His death.—The only real guide to the date of Muttu
Krishpappa's death seems to be an inscription of his suc-
cessor, Muttu Virappa Nayaka, dated Kiluka,"™ which places
the latest limit of this event in April, 1609, Nelson and
Me, Rangachard give the same year, though they fail to
mention on what anthority their view is based. It is
waorthy of note, however, that Lacrzio's letter of November
20, 1604, does not refer to the death of Mutto Krishnappa.

Muttu  Krishyappa left three sons, Muttu Virappa,
Tirmmali, and Kumdr Mutty, according to the History of
the Curnatuca Guvernors and some Mackensic Manuscripis.
But the Mrtyunjaya  Manuseripts and the Pdndyan
Chronicle do not mention Kumira Muttu. The Kaniyar
Plates of Venkatn 11 say that Muttu Krishna had two sons,
Muttu Vica and Tirumala. There scems to be no reference
in any other inscriptions to a younger brother of Tirumala,
hat they mention a Kumira Muattu Tirumala as the son of
Ticumala Niyaka, Therefore, that Muttu Krishnappa bad
it third son cannot be accepted without further evidence,

9 Appendix 13, No, 110,
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CHAPTER VII

MUTTU VIRAPPA NAYAKA I
(1609~ ¢.1623)

MuTTU VirRaPPA succeeded his father carly in 1609, The
most important question to examine in his rcign is his
attitude towards the Vijayanagar empire. Mr. Rangachari
takes it that his loyalty is beyond doubt. In support of
his opinion, he cites a copper-plate grant of 1609, issued
by Venkata I at the request of Muttu Vieappa Niyaka.
This proves nothing to the point, as it was at the very
commencement of his reign. Another inscription he refers
to is the damaged record of a Venkafadiva Mahirija,
making a gift for the merit of Virappa Nayaka in 1617.°
But Venkata I died in 1614. Mr. Rangachari says that
“even if he was a relation of the imperial family, the in-
scription is an evidence in favour of Virappa's vassalage '’
This assumes the point to be proved, viz., the existence of
a Venkatadéva in the imperial royal family in 1617. A
third inscription, adduced by Mr. Rangachari to prove
his contention, is a copper-plate charter of 1620 This
record from the Coimbatore district is a grant by a
Raghunatha Mahardja, the son of Sri Venkatadéva Maharija
of Uraiyfir, the agent of Vi¢vanatha-Virappa Nayaka and
feudatory of Vira Ramadéva, then ruling at Penukonda.
As it refers to unknown mahdrajas of Uraiytir, it is a very

* Appendix}D, No. 111, ® fbid., No, 119,
R 1.A., 1916, p. 133, . * Appendix D, MNa. 120,
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flimsy basis to support Muttu Virappa's loyalty to the
empire.”

Other sources of information tend to show that Muttu
Virappa Niyaka, far from being loyal to his sovereign,
almed at making himself independent of imperial control,
Vieo, in his letter of the JOth of August, 1611, remarks that
he was irregular in the payment of tribute, and would never
pay it willingly.* In the letter of Proenza, dated 1659, it is
giid that Tirumala Niyaka only continued his predecessor's
policy of separation from the Vijayanagar empire.”
Bareadas informs us that the Niyak of Madura joined
Jagga Riya, the unscrupulous traitor, in the imperial war
of succession that followed the death of Venkata I, and
that it was his help that prolonged that struggle. Mr.
Rangachari thinks that Muttu Virappa may have honestly
believed that the defeated party of Jagga Raya was in the
right ; but such a hypothesis, in the face of the plain facts,
must be proved before it can be accepted. Virappa's
inscriptions from 1610 to 1623 give a strong negative proof
of his disregard of the imperial conncction. They mention
only Muttu Virappa though some of them were issued by
him, and have nothing to say about the Vijayanagar
emperor. It is highly probable that the former took
advantage of the empire's troublous days, consequent on
the death of Venkata I.°

* The mahirfijas of Uraiyilr, mentioned in this record, may after all be
a family of petty chiefs or jaghirdars whose headquarters had been at
Urniyfit. The mention of Virn Rimndéva us ruling at Penukonda is
evidence of the donor's loyalty to the empire, as, at the date 1620, the
young prince RAma, who escaped massacre, was actually the ruler of
Vijayanagar. It will be remembered that it was in support of this
prince that huoktha NRyaka of Tanjore fou%ht the battle of Toppfir
agaiust o coalition of other governors under the leadership of the Nayak
of Madura.—£Ed., . = ;

® Batrand, i, p. 124: vide Appendix A, Letter No. 10, 7 fbid,, ill,
p. 42: wide iﬁkg, Letter Mo, 1.

& Appendix D, Nos. 112, 114, 115, 116, 118, 123, 124 and 125,

®On the queston of Muttu Vivappa's hostility to the empire there
can be no doubt., Ever since the battle of Talikota and the consequent
removal of the capital of the empire from Vijoyanagar te Penukonda,
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A Jesuit letter of 12th June, 1610 says that * Herméeatti
(Evaomaikatti) Nayaka . .. distinguished himself by his
bravery, took some fortress by assault and returned victorious
from the war. The great Nayak loaded him with honours
and new favours'.)® Another letter of 25th November, 161 1,1
refers to a war between the Niyaks of Madura and Tiunjore,
It is not known what caused it, and how it was Irought to
a close, This seems to be different from the war of 1616,

The death of the Vijayanagar emperor Veukal I in
1614 led to a tragic civil war between the Joyal adherents
of the legal claimant to the throne, headed by Yachama
Nayaka, and the supporters of the putative son of Venkata
under the leadership of Jagga Réya. Foiled in the north

the provines of Madura had showed a tendeney to break off from the
imperial conpection, at any rate, to disregard it, ns the empire was
not conveniently ploced to enforee its anthority,  Alter the firsl years
of reconstruction emperor Tirumaln was able to rebabilitate his position
to & great extent, and Krishpuppa Niyeka L, bis conlempurary, scems Lo
have maintained the form, ot any rute, of {luyutl:a. It 15 this doaliivl
allegiance of the distant provinee of Madura, and possibly 8 shinilor
attitude on the part of the vieeroys of Selrangapafiopam, that led o e
particular arrangement in regard to the government of e empliee on
the death of Tirumala. Accordiog to Tirvmaln Alyangar, the minister
of Chikkadéva Riiya of Mysore, the emplre was pul In comumission, as ¢
were, The three sons of Tirumala sueceeded to the government us o
whole ; the eldest surviving one, Srivangn, hod the genera] conbral vver
the empire and occupled the throne. The next younger brother, Rinma,
was given the viceroyalty of Srirangapagianam and mude that his heuds
quarters, Venkatapati, the last of the brothers, hid his hendoguorters in
Chondragirl and was w sort of over-governer of the provinees of
what were the Tundira, Chola and Vindya kingdoms, that s, all the
Tamil country, Rather late in the reign of Virappoe Niyako un attempt
seems to have been made to overthrow the imperinl autherity, us thls
same account says that when Srirangn died childless wnd probebly
predeceased by a, Venkatapatl succeeded to the empire and almost
the first act of his reign was the suppression of a rebellion in Madura,
for which he deputed his first pephew, Tiromala, the cldest son
of REma, whose treason to the empire has already been referred to, It
was subsequently that Venkajapati led an invasion himsell and brougin
Virappa back to a sense of loyally to the empire, In this campulgn
Tanjore seems to have stood loyully by Venkate, nnd the butile of
Vallamprikira, referred to in the Pudukottai Flates, has refersnce to
this engagement. The Nilyaks of Madura seem to have forgiven neither
the emperor for this assertion of authorhy nor the Nayaks of Tanjore
for the loyal support that made this assertion possible, This geueral
hostility to the empire accounts for much that remaing otherwise
fnexplicable in the forelgn pollcy of the Madure Niyaks, —fd,
1% Bartrand, ii, p. B8, 1 fbid,, p. 108,
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by the loyalist party, Jagga came to the south to join the
opposition of Madura and Gingi against loyalist Tanjore.
Muttu Virappa of Madura and the Niyak of Gingi had
alrendy espoused his canse, and Raghunitha, the Nayak of
Tanjore, was the mainstay of the imperinlist pacty of
Yichama Niyakn, The contest, which took place at
Trichinopoly, was not over in December, 1616, when
Barradas wrote his account.  “The Sdhityparatndlaram and
the Rughunithdbhyudayam celer to this war, and claim the
victory for Tanjore; the latter speaks of the complete
defeat of Juggan Riyan and the Madurn Niyak, and the
former says that the Niiyak of Madura destroyed the stone
din aeross the Kaveri, and that the hostilities cume to an
end by the marringe of his daughter with Raghunitha
Niyaka.§ Therefore the imperial cause seems to have
trinmphed for the time.

The Pudukottai Plates of Sri Vallablia and Varatunga
Pindya, dated 1583,% describe a battle at Vallaprikira
(Vallam) between the armies of Venkata Rija (Venkata I)
and Virn Rijan (Virappa Nayaka), in which the latter's
forces were destroyed and those of Achyuta Rija (Achyu-
tuppa Niyaka) fled away. If this is a reference to the
war of succession, fought in the south in 1616, the
date of the inscription will have to be revised, Dut there
was no Venkata at that time, and Achyutappa Niyaka had
alteady abdicated. Perhaps the expression ‘armies of
Venkata Rija and Achyuta Rija’' was loosely used for the
forces of the loyalist party and of Raghundtha Nayaka.
If the date is correct, it is diflicult to explain such a
combination of contending parties in 1583 or before. It is
said that this inscription was issued by Ativirarima's
brother, presumably after his death. But. Mr. Krishna
Sastri identifies St Vallabha with Ativirarima Pandya, and

§ 5.K.A, ..‘:urrm.s P?.}; ' ;'bfr 270, 272-4,250-00.
“ IPP-
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Dr. Burnell refers to a copper-plate grant that puts the
latter's death in 1610, LEwven then, it is hard to understand
how an inseription of Ativirarima could refer to the events
of 1616, Therefore nothing definite can be said abont the
value of ﬂ'tiﬁ'in:-'.cript{nn in relation to the war of sneees-
sion of 1616."

12 The invasion of Madura, referred to In the previsie note, by
Venkatapatl RiEyn must have laken place soon ofter I8 The war
between Tanjore and Madurn, relerrsl too o Wi Jesuit lellers of
1610 and 1611, must be one in which the empire govermment ool
taken no  part, probably becuwse it was invelved inoone of these
periodical struggles against the aggressions of the Mubammadins from
the north. [t was In the year 1610 that Rija Udaivir wos able to lay
siege to, and take possession of, Sriran apiffanam  from vieeroy
Tiromale without imperinl Intervention, This action on the part of
Rija Udniyar received imperial confirmation in 1612, This ratilication
of what might be construed ns an act of war against the empire wis
probably owlng to the diffienlties in which the empire was involved
the time, and the same difficulties would explain any resliveness on
the part of Madura about the same period.  The avtual difieulties of
the empire are fonnd clearly stated in the ."r'r!&r'!}'imr."qiu-umm il
Raghunathablyudayan, both of which relute o the history of the
Nayaks of Tanjore, particularly Raghunithe Niynka, ‘The emperor
Venkatapatl, who was not without a will to enforee his authority upon
the provinces of the empire, was then Involved in o war caused by the
invasion of the lmperial territories by the Muhammadang of Golkonda
and culminoting in o slege of Penvkonda. At this time, the emperor
obtained the nssistance of young Raghunfithn from bis father, Achyu-
tappa Nayaka of Tanjore. Raghuniitha is credited with having heaten
back the Muhammadans from the slege of Pennkondn and given the
emperor much-needed relief. Ile is said (o hove then obtained ns
a Eavour from the cmperor the relepse from prison o Krishpuppn
Nayaka of Gingi, who had been thrown into It by Venkatapati ax
punishment for an nct of treason,  The sume situation probably consti-
tuted the influencing motive for Venkatapat! Riyn, who not only looked
ot with equanimlity at the overthrow of his pephew in Srirungapajjnpam
by & feudntory of his, but actually nceorded imperinl sanctlon to the
transfer of the viceroyalty of Srirangapaftanam from the recaleitrant
nephew to a pessibly loyal [endatory. The siege of Penukonda
therefore may have taken place in 1611 aor 1512, and Raghunitha
must have returned to Tanjore in the same year or the year following.
genkﬂtapati died two Years after, in 1614, and was succecded by

rlrnu%a Chikkar@ya, the uephaw of Venkatapati and younger brother
of the late viceroy Tiramala of Srirangapatfanpam. It was this nomina-
tion by Venkata of his nephew that ha'm*l%ht about the war of suceession,
Jag{u Riya setting up a putative son of his sister, one of the queens of
Venkata. Failing in his efforts to prevent the accession of Srirangn
Chikkarfiya to the empire, Jagga Riiya wreaked his vengeance by
massacring the whole of the royal family. DBut o loyal chieftnin,
Yichama Niyaka, managed to save by a stratagem one of the yuung-

rinces, REma by name. - Yachama cut through the enemy's lines an
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Change of Cupital—The chronicles say nothing about
Muttu Virappa Niyaka's transfer of capital from Madura to
Trichinopoly, though they speak of Tirumala Niyaka as
ruling from the latter place at the commencement of his
reign. In Guerren's Relation the Niiyak is said to be holding
his court in Madura in 16044 Léon Besse,” probably
basing himself on Jesuit records, says that ‘ the Niyak of
Madura removed his court and army to Trichinopoly in
1616 with the object of making war with the king of
Tanjore’. This conclusion may be accepted.!®

eseaped with the prince to the proteetion of the loyal viceroy of Tanjore,
Jagen Rive alse moved sonthward rapidly to prevent the Fogitive
prince anel general from sucecessfully effecting thelr escape into
‘anjore,  The prinee and his protector were met at Kumbakonam by
Raghunitha and were taken in sofety to Tanjore. At the time that
Jaggo arrived near the island of Selrangam, the Niyak of Gingi, and
the Nayak of Mafurn with his accessory DPortuguese contingent
andl even troops from Trovancore, his fewdatory Piodyas, and, in
fact, all the fendutorics of the empire were ready to join him as the
resilt of o previously organized effort,  Toanjore stood loyval @ Mysore
does not appear to hoave inlerfered for the obwlows reason that the
weguisition of Seirangapattopom was too recent, and Rija Udniyiic had
reagon to be gralefil W the late emperor for the conferment of the
viceroyally upon him.  In any cose, here was no reason whatsoever for
Mysore to join in this eombination, and there was valid reason against
Rija Udniviir's doeing so. Al these transactions would have taken
time, and the Duttle al Toppdir, which was the result of the machina-
Hons of the fewlotories, coulid not hove taken ploce before 1616, A
detniled peeount of this battle s embodied in o report submitted by
one of the subordinntes of Raghuniithe, and this report is dated the
month of Ashiidha, in the cyelle year Naja @ it would be some date in
Aunpust-Beptember of 16106=17. This report is embodied v the Telugn
work Naghundihdblyndayam by his son and successor,  Vijayarfghova
of Tanjore. It is clear from this that the battle of Vallamprikira,
referrod to in the Podukottal Plates (of date 1582-3), cannot be taken
to refer to the battle of Toppfe. In the battle of Topptr Venkata or
Vieappa Niyaka of Madura or Achyuta of Tanjore, conld none of them
have taken part, The only diffienlty in regard to this date (1682-3)
is that, ot that date or bDefore it Venkain was not the emaperor, but he
was ns guod a8 that, as the superior viceroy of the three governorships
in the Tundira, Chola, and Pindya countries. He may have
{ntervened in the war as regent of the emperor, Sriranga, and in his
own name a5 a superior viceroy, This {8 mere than probable as his
elder brother Srirnpga was a prisoner in the hands of the Golkonda
general in the year 1579-80.—fd.

1¢ Caldwell, History of Tinnevelly, p. 71,

1% Lo Mission dn Madurg, p. 3. o

18 The change of capitnl from Madura to Trichinopoly seems to
have been the direct result of the combination that culminated in the



104 History of the Niyaks of Madura

Relations with the Pandyas.—1f the Pudukottai Plites
of Sri Vallabha and Varatunga Pamdva belmy to the
reign of Muttu Virappa, it is elear that the ‘:m:,l};.-u.ﬁ
co-operated with him in his war with Tanjore,  Caldwell
considers Ativirmima Piandya as the last of the later
Pandyas, and he must have died at the latest by 1610 ;
but Dr. Burnell refers to a Sundara Pandya, his sneeessor,
and a record of his in his thirteenth year, ja, 10622,
There are practically no relinble inseriptional records of
the Pandyas from the time of Muttu Virappa Nayaka, The
late Mr. T. A. Gopinatha Kao gives a list of the Pandyas,
which goes to 17531 A Jesuit letter of 1000 refers to
the extinction, long ago, of the kingdom of Tenkasi" It is

battle of Topplr. Léon Bese's stntement that this took place in 1616
geems to be founded on faet. Hy 1606 the hostility between Madora
pad Tanjere hal settlod into a habitual kind of relation  Detween
the twe Mayakships,  The awgresdons of the Mulioammeadans . moele e
difficalties of Venkatu's last years of vule so prent as toomake lim
more or less acgniesce in the achiveement of practival inlltrwnlrlmr by
Rijn Udaiviie of Mysore, This exunple must hove made a0 similar
effort on the part of the other vieeroys aof Lthe emgrire guite normal.
The massacre of the royal family and the eonsequent unegual division
of the empire into two camps of loyalists and * releds ', of the
latter of whom the Niyak of Madura was the acknowlalged leuder,
made it necessary for him to take more vigorous amd permanent sleps
to safeguard himself aguinst loyalist Tanjore. ‘Che pgreat militoey
object of the combinntion before the baltle of Toppilr wis (o prevent
the fugitive prince from getting into Toanjore.  Jiggea sevms Lo have
laced himself along the roud leading from ‘Ciruvannamalod or Gingl
nto Trichinopoly, The road through Mysore wis for obwviones rensons
not feasible for Yiicha and his ward, the fugitive prince.  They appa-
rently took the coast road : Raghuniitha's advancing to Knmbakonam to
meet them is o clear Indication of this, Trichinopoly therefure would
be the most desirable salient for the purpose of this combinution,
After the victory of Topplr the hostility of Tanjore would liave been
all the greater and perhaps even more aggressive, as she must bove
gained in prestige by being loyalist In her activitles, By (islodging the
Portuguese from Negapatam, by destroying theden of the Solagn
chieftain at DEwI:l’.'r;_bg. at the mouth of the Coleroon, and by defenting
the ﬂislﬂ%-'a] combination against the empire, Tanjore must hive gained
immensely in stige and power. Ho far, there were no signs of
hestility from Mysore and Trichlnopoly was, from the point of view of
the strategist no lesas than from rulit{ml considerations, the better
placed for the capital of the great vicerayalty of the South, — /&4,
. Y History of Tinneveily, Pp. 534,
A8, p. B0, 1 }]-;ertmnrl, il p. 234,



Mutte Virappa Nayaka I 105

not clear whether there were any real Pindya rulers after
the reign of Muttu Virappa Nayaka.

On the whole, the Pindyas scem to have heen loyal to
the Nayaks of Madnr, The boast of Muttu Wrishypa and
Muttu Vira that they conquered the * Panchar * (Iandyas)
wis pechaps only o rellection of Vidvaniitha's conguest of
them™  The early Niyaks aflter Visvaniitha do not scem Lo
have undertaken any military action aguinst them.  They
did not, probably, interfere mueh with their inlemal
administration, but they seem to have insisted only on
tribute, and military help when requived.  This quasi-
independent status was ullffwmd them, perhaps to check
possible aggression from Travancore. There is ample
cvidence to show that the Pindyas survived the establish-
ment of the Niyaks in Madura for nearly a century.

Mysore Aggression—DMr. Rangachari is surprised that
Barradas does not mention Rija Udaiyir of Mysore in
connection  with  the imperial war of succession. He
argues, * from the condition of the times’, that he could
not but have taken part in it in the cause of the empire.
[tut his amplification of this statement only goes to prove
that the Rija of Mysore was a selfish and aggressive ruler.”
There seems to be no evidence to charge Barradas with
omission of facts in this instance. DBy regular conquests
and annexations ducing his long reign, Rija Udaiyar made
his territories conterminous with the dominions of Madura.
It appears probable that he took advantage of Muttu
Virappa's engagement with Tanjore to send an army under
one, called ‘ Mukilan’ in the chronicles, to harry the
Dindigul province.® It is said that the Polegars of Vira-
pikshi and Kannivadi vigorously repulsed the invaders and
frecd the country from danger. In return for this service,
the chronicles say, the former was honoured with the title

20 4f. 8 K., 1906, p. 86, 21 f.4., 101G, pp. 134-5,
28 Taylor, O 055, i, p. 169,

14



106 History of the Nayaks of Madura

of ‘Pathai-ldval ' (Defender of the Roads), and the latter
with that of * Chinna-Mysiiran’ (Young Mysorean). Nelson®
does not give any date for this invasion; Mr. Rangachari
says that it was about 1620, in which year, according to

him,* Rija Udaiyar dicd.

Progress of Missionary Activitics.—IEncouraged by the
first fruits of his labours, De Nobili built a new church in
1610, and securcd some assistants, the chief of whom,
Antonio Vico, reached Madura on the 15th of September.
The latter's letter of 22nd November, 1610, says that * the
court of the great Nayak began to take part in persecution
and menacing words came from the palace’. Laerzio's letter
of 8th December, 1610, speaks of persccutions as rife in
that year.”™ Another letter of 25th November, 1611, refers

= 5 119,

us f 4., 1916, p. 135.

About the year 161G, the date of the hattle of Topptie, the position of
Riija Udalyfir in Mysore could not have been such as to coable him o
take any apetive part in the engogement, 1t bas slready been stated
that he actually took possession of Srirengapofiogam in 1610, e had
to wait and perhaps 0 adopt o policy of loyalty to the empire
designedly to justify this apgressive act of his, e so for succeeded thot
he obtained a confirmatory charter from Venkatn in 1612, Even after
the grant of this charter his position wos insecure. There wos (he
neighbouring viceroyalty of I.:hummpnmum as an  effective barrler
betweer him and the other purtions of the em|IJirc. This vieeroyalty
included in it the Salem Baramalinls and was under the powerful fumily
of Jagad@va Riynl. The extent of territory cecupied by him elfectively
almost at the end of his reign does not o rnﬂr L hnve comprised more
than the rrement—ﬂuy clistrict of Mysore with just the borderland beyond
the hills in Colmbatore and Salem. It seems clear that, while his terri-
tory may have been conterminous with that of the Niyaks of Madura,
he was in no such condition of security in his possession of the newly-
acquired viceroyalty, as to launch oul into distant aggressions against
the territory of the powerful Niynk of Madura. If he took any part in
the battle of Toppdr, it must have been on the side of the emperor. But
gsuch action on his part wonld have been an Invitation for the a inng
of the Miyak of Madurn, who was by far the most powerful of the
MNayaks, with the exception perhaps of Tnné]ure. This position” of Rija
Udaiviir is confirmed by what we know of the operations that had to
be actoally undertoken against SAmballi and Bomballi in the reign of
Kanthirava Narpsa, Unless the chronicles bring inte the perlod o
later effort by Mysore, it seems very unlikely that Raja Udalyir took
any part in the battle of Topplr. I REjr UdaiyRr hnd exhiblied
aggressiveness in this connection, the Niavak of Madura would have
thought twice before changing the capital to Trichinopoly. Bd.

*3 Bertrand, #, p. 92. 20 foid,, p. 64,
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to a new persecution and the consequent diminution in the
number of converts.¥ ‘ Herméoatti's' (Erumaikatti) atti-
tude towards Nobili changed a little, but soon became
favourable. The chief obstacle to the further progress of
Nobili's work eame from the representations of Fernandez
to the higher authoritics, questioning its very fundamentals
as cutting at the root of Christianity. The details of the
charges made it appear that Nobili's religion was a
* monstrous ' combination of Paganism and Christianity.
It is not clear whether Fernandez was actuated in this step
only by feclings of vengeance at the loss of his prestige and
influence that followed Nobili's success. The Archbishop
of Cranganore and the Provincial of Malabar, with whaose
consent Nobili had begun his work, consistently supported
him against the vchemence of Fernandex. Bat when a
new Provincial succeeded Laerzio, Nobili's real difficulties
commenced. Ifernandez became active once more, and this
time he was successful. De Nobili was summoned before
a Synod, and he put up an able defence of his position.
Since it enme to no unanimous decision, the question was
referred to the authoritics in Europe. In 1613 Cardinal
Bellnrming, his uncle, asked him to stop his work. From
1611 Nobili had been in suspense and could not properly
attend to his duoties; now he had to cease his activities
altogether, For about ten years he fought incessantly to
obtain a better hearing of his cause, Finally, on the 31st of
January, 1623, the Papal Bull of Gregory XV exonerated
him from almost all the charges, and approved of his
methods. Thus, as Bertrand remarks,® ‘the controversy
about the rites, more fatal than all the persecutions of
Paganism, restrained the ardent zeal of De Nobili, sus-
pended his conquests and endangered his work for more
than ten years. At last, the intrepid missionary came out
successful in this deplorable contest. '’

o7 Bertrand, i, p. 108, BN fhicl., p. 197,
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So far as Madura was concerned, this controversy re-
sulted in an irreparable loss of prestige to De Nobili.
From experience he realized that this ancient seat of
Hinduism was not the hest place for recrnils to Chris-
tianity. Vieo ndmits in his letter of 1624™ that ‘one will
never encounter anywhere obstacles so great as in Madura ',
Persccution was not the prineipal difficulty. Nobili's via
media in religion could only end in displeasing both sides.
There was much actiliciality in his whole scheme, which
could not escape careful observers, IHis experiment in
Madura was a failure, and he turned his eyes thencefor-
ward to the north.

Muttu Virappa's reign saw the beginnings of a new policy
with regard to religion and imperial politics, and the pre-
monitions of the inevitable danger from Mysore. Till now
the Nayaks had not had to decide about their attitude with
regard to an actively propagandist foreign religion; this
question took definite shape only now. Muttu Virappa
seems to have tolerated missionary activities only to a
certain extent. He did not try the feclings of his sub-
jects to the breaking-point, nor did he take up a policy
of active persecution. The death of the Vijayanagar
emperor, Venkata I, and the period of confusion which
followed it, gave Muttu Virappa an opportunity to discard
the phantom of imperial sovereignty. It is not clear how
far he succeeded in his attempt. Vico's letter of 30th
August, 1611 ¥ speaks of irregular payment of tribute, even
insolent refusal of it, and the emperor collecting it at the
point of the sword, with the result thdt ‘the poor people . . .
pay for the fault of their princes’ and that ‘all the country
is devastated and the people are plundered or massacred '.
It is difficult to judge how far this estimate of Muttn
Virappa's rule is the result of prejudice; in 1611 it was

20 Bertrand, ii, p. 226. °° Jbid., p 124, Vidg Appendix A, Letter No., 10,
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only about two years since he had ascended the throne.
It is probable that he took more from his subjects than his
predecessors had done, as he had his scheme of independ-
ence and the necessity to be prepared agninst aggression
from Mysore. DBut the alleged tyrannical exercise of power
by Muttn Virappa cannot be taken for a faithful pictore
of his rule, without adequate proof.

Deall of Muttu Vieappo—This question will be consi-
dered in connection with the accession of Tirumala Nayaka.



CHAPTER VIII

TIRUMALA NAYARA
{e. 1623-10659)

Accession.—~Tirumala Niyaka, the younger brother of
Muttu Virappa Miyaka (not his son, as the Jesuit records
say), succeeded him on the throne. With regard to the
date of his accession, the chronicles are almost unanimous.
The Mrtyunjaya Manuscripts, the Maduraittalavaraldru,
and the Pdndyan Chronicle put it on the 7th Midi,
Dundubhi (about the 19th of February, 10623); the
Supplementary Manuscript gives the year as Dundubhi,
Even the History of the Carnataca Governors, which never
agrees in its chronology with the other chronicles, comes
very near to them in this particular instance, and ascribes
the accession of Tirumala to Durmati, the year previous to
Dundubhi. This is a remarkable feature as far as the
evidence of the chronicles goes.

But epigraphy does not lend support to this dating of
the chronicles, viz. the 19th of Febrvary, 1623, There is
an inscription of Muttu Virappa Niyaka, dated S. S. 1547,
K. A. 798, Rudhirodgari, Vaikasi 15.' In the M. B. R.?
the Saka date is taken to be correct, and the other chrono-
logical details have been overlooked. The Kollam and
cyclic years agree; K. A. 798 is from August, 1622, to
Aungust, 1623; the cyclic year Rudhirddgiri runs from
April, 1623, to April, 1624 ; Vaikasi 15 would be about the
27th of May. Thus the correct date of this inscription,

1 Appendix D, No, 125, ® 1917, pp. 131 and 134,

L1
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viz. 27th May, 1623, is in nccord with both the Kollam and
eyclic years, and conllicts only with the Saka year. This
is only one among numerous instances to show the in-
advisability of pinning one’s faith to a Saka date by
preference, even in the face of clear evidence of its in-
accuracy.  As was pointed out lu.fnr:.., the cyclic date is
likely to be more correet than the Saka date, except in
cases where the former has to be rejected on valid grounds,
There is another inscription of Muttu Vieappa, dated
S. S. 1545, i.c. April, 1623, to April, 162+, A third inserip-
tion of his* is dated S. 8. 1545, K. A, 799, Rudhirodgari,
Kirtikai 16. The cyclic date is approximately the 30th of
Novembher ; the Saka and Kollam years do not conflict
with it. All these inscriptions go against the accession of
Tirumala Niayaka about the 19th of February, 1623. An
inscription of S.8. 1545 speaks of Rimaiya as the minister
of Vidvanitha Niyuka (Tirumala Niyaka); this also puts
the nceession of Tirumala not earlier than April, 1623.
But the cyelic year given in this record, viz. Srimukha,
eorresponds to i633-+  Further, there are no inscriptions
of Tirumala Niyaka prior to 1630 ; even the inscription of
1630 refers only vaguely to a Periya Niyakkaraiyan ; © the
Tadikkombu inscription of 1629 does not belong to him,
as is alleged by Mr. Rangachari” The KaniyQr Plates of
Venkata II, dated 1634, seem to be the first definite
epigraphical record of Tirumala Nayaka, Thus inscrip-
tional evidence does not go to confirm the practically
unanimous dating of the chronicles.

The Jesuit records give some indications of the date of
Tirumala's accession, Vico's letter of 1626° speaks of
Virappa Niyaka as ‘the powerful prince of this country’.
Proenza’s letter of 1659 " says that Tirumala died in that

2 Appendix ID, No. 123, * [hid., No. 124,

5 foid., No. 121, 8 fbid., No, 126

T Sowell, i, p. 280, "B:Hrrrnud ii, p 254,
° Jbid., iii, p. 50. Fide Appendix A, Letter No.
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year after a reign of thirty years; this means that he
ascended the throne about 1629, Muhwmmad Shariff Hanafi
notes in his Majdlisu-s-Saldtin, written in 10628 that
‘when on one occasion, he wvisited Madurm, the ruler of
that place died after a few days . Sewell ™ thinks that the
person referred to might be Muttu Krishpappa, who died in
1609, If the Muhammadan writer were refereing Lo sueh
a distant event, he might have been more specilie, It is
likely that his sojourn in Madura was not long before the
compilation of his work. If it were so, the death.spoken
of must have been that of Muttu Virappa, perhaps in 1627
or early in 1628,

These considerations show that the date of Tirumala
Niyaka's accession is not established beyond doubt. It is
not unlikely that Muttu Virappa died about 1627, cven
though Tirumala may have been the ruler of Madura
from 1623 or 1624. This makes the position assumed
in the Jesuit letters intelligible, viz. that they give a
rough estimate of thirty years. The chronicles might
have taken the de facto for the de jure king, Another
consideration, which tends in this direction, is that even
a modest estimate of the length of Muttu Vieappa's reign,
according to the chronicles, comes to twenty-one years,
which may be from 1609 to 1629. Under these eircum-
stances, it looks as though Tirumala Niyaka ruled in the
name of his predecessor from 1623~4, and that he became
actual ruler in his own right only in 1627-8. In any case,
the date of Nelson (p. 121), viz. January, 1623, has to be
changed to at least about the 19th of February of the
same year. Though he quotes from the letter of Proenza
of 1659, and records in French the particular statement
that Tirumala Niyaka died after a reign of thirty years,”
he is disposed to accept more or less the date of the

0 Bir H, Elliot, Hislory of India, vii, p. 139,
14, p. 201 iF p, 142,
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chronicles. He should have at least pointed out the
discrepancy. Mr. Rangachari silently assumes 1623 as the
correct date.

Change of Capital~When Tirumala Niyaka came to
the throne, Trichinopoly was the capital. That he re-
movetl it to Mo is clear both from the chronicles and
the Jesnit letrers,  The cause of this change is said Ly the
former to be the care of his disease of eataerh, which the
gods of Maduer alone were able to effect.  The story is
given in [ull by Nelson and Mr, Rangachari.  They agree
with the chronicles, and think that the transfer of capital
was ‘ purcly the result of accident ', Both of them speak
of the superior claims of Trichinopoly, as the capital of the
Niyak dominions, on the grounds of defence, climate, etc.
But they discount the influence of historical associations **
in the choice of a capital, and are too much obsessed by the
latter-day conditions of the two places. They do not try to
explain why Madura survived in the struggle till the second
half of the seventeenth century. Though Trichinopoly
was easier to delend, it was too near the zone of war., It
was not sufliciently central to control the whole kingdom.
To capture Madura would have meant the reduction of
Trichinopoly and other forts, like Dindigul, in the interior.
The experience of the last Niyak rolers proved the folly
of removing the capital to Trichinopoely, The Vijayanagar
empire’'s loss of power and prestige, after the battle of
Talikota, was to some extent due to the capture and sack
of the capital, which was on the northern borders of the
empire. The removal of the French capital from Paris
during the recent European War indicates the danger of

1% These considerations are acutely analyzed, with reference to Rome,
by Viscount Bryce (Alofy Roeman Empive, Tthed., p. 311). He refers to
the ' enthusiosm for o famous name ' as a powerful factor in tics, and
remarks that Italy's passion for Rome ns o eapital is the result of the Brm
convietion that ‘natlonal life ean never thrill with a strong and steady
pulsation till the ancient capital hos become the notion's heart ',

15
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locating the capital on the confines of a country. Madura
was the centre of civilization and the heart of the kingdom
in every respect ; it represented the best in Hindu life and
thought of those times. The disadvantages spoken of by
Nelson would not have hueen insuperable, as the recent
progress of Madura, which makes it the sceond city in the
Presidency, testifies.

It is diflicult to helieve that Tirnmala, @ monarch of great
ability, acted capriciously in such an important maller as
the location of the capital of his kingdom. Lrobably, he
was only deliberately following a wise precedent, hallowed
by the experience of ages. His own views in regard to the
imperial connection may have led him to remove his
headquarters to a place safer than Trichinopoly, becausc
more in the interior. Since he wished to rule in reality, he
may have realized the need for a more central pluce to
make his influence felt all round. This must have been an
important consideration in those times when difficultics of
travel were admittedly great. It is also likely that his 1
religious fervour directed his affections to this ancient seat of |
(Ged) SundarGdvara and the Pindyas. Tirumalu’s passion/
for religious architecture may have given room for eynical-,
minded people to attribute motives and invent stories. To
accept such fabrications is to stifle the spirit of historical’
enquiry. Itisless dangerous to err on the side of scepticism
than on that of credulity.

With regard to the date of the transfer of capital, the
Myrtyunjaya Manuscripts' ascribe it to the month Chittirai
of the year Akshaya (April-May, 1626). Mr. Rangachari,
perhaps following Taylor's translation of the same, puts it in
1623." Nelson™ says that ‘ before he (Tirumala) came to
Madura to be crowned, the Court had heen held at Trichi-
nopoly for some ten or twelve years’, i.e., Madura became

1* Taylor, O.H, mSS., i, p. 148,
18 1A, 1915, p. 71 1846, p. 149, 18 . 122,
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the capital ubout 1635, Neither of them states his authority.
A Jesuit letter of 16247 speaks of Trichinopoly as the
usmil vesidence of the Nayak ; another letter of 1640 ™ says
that the Niyak resided at Trichinopoly ; in o third letter
of 16:HL' the Niyak's residence is said to be in Madura.
From these references it appears that the change of capital
must have taken place bhetween 1640 and 1044, The
inseriptions of Tirumala Niyaka from 1634 to 1644 are
found at  Kaniyar, Aladiytr, Kapilunalai, Melambar,
Vémbangudi, Tiruppalitturai, Tiromureganpindi and
Pudir ; and therefore many of them in the Madura,
Ramnad, and Tinnevelly districts. If, from this, the
inference is permissible that the eapital may have
been changed about 1644, Nelson’s opinion would have
epigraphical support.

Early Years—The first act of Tirumala Niyaka after his
accession was according to Nelson, acareful organization of
the defences of the kingdom with a view to independence.
Lividently, Nelson accepts the following observations of
Bertrand, the editor of the Jesuit letters: * * The preat
Niyak died, and was succeeded by his son (hrother) Tirumala
Nayaka, the most illustrious of the kings of Madura. The
latter, in pursuance of the project of his father (brother),
which was to overthrow the domination of Bisnagar, wished
to put himself in a condition to resist the armies of this
monarch. With this object he constructed two fortresses on
the frontier of his dominiong, raised an army of 30,000 men
. . . These preparations excited much movement and dis-
quiet in the whole country.' Therefore, Nelson is not quite
correct in saying that this information is contained in the
Jesuit letters. Further, he remarks that ‘it was Tirumala
who for the first time shook off the Vijayanagar yoke ".* The
meaning intended is not quite clear. If Nelson means that,’

17 Bertrand, p. 226 18 fhid., p. 300, 10 fhid., p. 346.
o foid. i, p. 198, = p, 124,
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of the Madura Nayaks, Tirumala was the first to make
himself actually independent, his view may be accepted as
correct, though the attempt made by Muttn Virappa Nayaka
in this direction cannot be forgotten.  But Mr. Rangachari
goes further, and says that ‘' no provineial chief had so far
dared to turn his province into a kingdom ' This view is
contradicted by himself inthe following remarks: ' By the
year 1610 he (Rija Udaiyic of Mysore) succeeded in cap-
turing Srirangapattanun itself and thus putting an ¢nd to
the imperial viceroyalty.'™ Lwven before the accession of
Tirumala, Mr. Rangachari speaks of the ‘aggressive and
ambitious monarch ' of Mysore. Thus he himself makes it
clear that Tirumala Niyaka had been anticipated in his
move by the Mysore rulers. Moreover, the Jesuit evidence
goes to prove that Mysore became independent of Vijaya-
nagar long before Madura, The letter of 'roenza, dated
1659, says that ‘Mysore . . . had long ago withdrawn herself
from subordination to the same monarch ' {the emperor of
Vijayanagar) and that the latter was driven to the necessity
of begging help from ' the king of Mysore, once the vassal
of his crown *.*® It is explicitly stated that Mysore achieved
independence before Tirumala's attempt at it, which is
= LA, 1916, p. 105 s fbid,, pp. 134-5.

=4 Pertrand, iil, p. 42,  Pide, Appendix A, Letter No. 1.

u2 Jbid., p. 44,

Tirumala Naynka's effort at independence can Dbe regarded as
neither new nor unprecedented. The first feudatory to make himself
independent in all but name waos undonbtedly Rajn Udaiyir of Mysore,
That he should have undertaken o war against Srirangapattanam, his
direct superior in the empire, was an aggressive act, which, while it may
have received the countenance of the empire in its peculiar efreum-
stonces of difficulty, must bave been regarded with suspicion even by the
very emperor who confirmed him in possession of the territory of the
viceroyalty, perhaps ns an pet of policy. REjn Udniyir conducted
himself to all appearanceas a loynl feudatory of the empire while
Venkatapati was alive. In the revolutions that followed his death De
was too much occupied nearer iome in securing his position to malke any
decisive intervention. When his grandson, Chamarfija Udaly@ir, succeed-
ed him, his Dajaviys took advantage of the confuslon in the empire to
nggrandize the rising new stote by annexing o8 much of the Channa-
patfaga viceroyalty to its territories s thdy ibly could, This
must have been regarded both by Mysoreans und by the imperialists as
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said to have been only in continuation of the policy of
Muttu Virappa and probably in imitation of that of
Mysore.

There seems to be no cvidence to show that Tirumala
Niyaka propared for a war against the Vijayanagar
emperor at the very beginning of his reign,  Lle was care-
ful to make himself strong in defence: even later on he
was not disposed to be aggressive.  Mr, Rangachari puts
the league of Tirumala with Tanjore and Gingi at the
commencement of his reign ; this scems to be the result of
his not being able to use the Jesuit letters in the original.

an net of pure agpression. Lhuring this period Mysore had to pay
attention to o new donger in the aerressive aetivity of the Sullans of
Bijapur, and Bijapur invasions seem to hoave become o normal item
ealling for the attention of the foreign department of Mysore.  Though
most, I not all, of Chimariijo's inseriptivng preserve the form of
alleginnee to the empire, the acts of Chimarfija throughout his reipgn
ghow a :Jie'.ruglnrd [or the existenee of the empire that would warrant the
assumption that the allegianee indicated was only nominal, We have
nok come u.]imn any record of Mysore's having pabd tribute to the emplive
the npgrressions of Bijapur would be o justitication [ur not paying it, if
justiication were reguived, Chilmar@jn's suceessor, Kanthivuva Nornsa,
uum‘liiy threw off the mask at o time when he conld do so without being
elled troitor to the cmpire, bat that wos only o formal act, The
Niyuks of Madura, thu]pru..-i.lm_-um'.t-m of Tirumaln, were in no better ease,
Thu disloyulty of Madura can be sabd to hoave begun almost with the
necession of Venkatapati to the throne, and i s this disloyalty that
infected the vieeroy nephow of Venkapapotl himsell who played an
equally treachernus part against his uncle ond rotived to his own
viceroyalty of Srlrnugopattanam. It is thus clenr that the very lost
yoars of the emperor Sriranga and the carly yeurs of Venkatupati were
the years when Madurn projected o movemoent towards independence,
and the almost regular hostility to Tenjore may be a direct result of
this, It will thus be clear that it was the province of Madura that set
the example in regord to thiz disloyal movement, the viceroy of
Srirangapattagum only following the bod example. Rija Udalyir's
effort of courst comes later. This position of Madora is intelligible.
It was in several respects the premier viceroyalty and carried with it
the responsibility of keeping the const clear of forelgn enterprise of a
disintegrating character ; it had also to keep Travancore under its thumb,
It had l'u{:HF:ie_'i for coming inte communication with the Portuguese
who grrew in the early years of the seventeenth century hostile both to
Tanjuore and Ceylon, and got dislodged from the cwst of the former.
These cireumstances wonld place Madura in a position to acquire power
among the Niyaks casily., This pre-eminent position of Madurn was
the result of Rimarija Vitthala's u}gumﬂunﬂ fn the south and the
muintenance of the high Fm‘.ﬂuu by the Nayaks following. }?irnppul
cherished this ambition of independence as against the empire, which
was growing weaker ns Madura was growing stronger.—&d,
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Proenza’s letter specifically says that the league was formed
when the *new king' (Seiranga 111, who came to the
throne in 1642 after the death of Venkata [I) declared war,
spon alter his accession, against Tirnmala. ™ No delinite
motive can be ascribed to Tirumala in organizing the
defences of the kingdom at the very outset of his reign.
e may have expected aggression from Mysore or strong
measures from the Vijayanagur einperor,  In his time, o
state of preparedness for war was essential even without
any clear objective. The features of the policy of Tirumala

Niyaka towards the Vijayanagar emperor developud only

later on under the pressure of circumstances.” Ilis original

0 Bertrand, i, ]_'}{I. 42-3. Fide Appendixz A,  Letter No, 1.

27 Tirumala's attitude wards the emperor depended npon U con-
ditions of the empive for the Ume belng,  The apyressions of Bijupur
and Golkonds, which had lsted o litte more than (e half century
sinee the Dattle of Tallkota, Lol been deawing oo elose, alter o periol
of very considerable netivity, in the [nst years of e relgn of Venkan 11,
It was about that time that the Moghuls appesred in the Dakbon ad
adopled n vigorous policy of subjuzating U Dakbun kingelons, 1L
was no doubt troe that in the lirst yours the kingdom of Almadnagoar
Bl to Dewar the bront of 6, bot the two southern Soltans could sot be
altogether Indifferent or onetive, 17 they did not go forwand selively
to help their neighbour and form o combination against e common
enemy |and this would bave been thelr elearest Tine of action in thelr
owi interests), their uttention must certainly hoave been diverlad o the
direction of the north,  That perlod synchronlses with the aetive move-
ment of Tirumala towanrds independence in the south,  Soon after the
battle of Talikotn the northern of the Balononi kingdoms hoad 1o tarn
north against the Arst movements of the Moghuls tewords the Dakhan
under Akbar; the two southern kingdoms were lelt o monage hetween
them the empire of Vijayanapgor bodly erippled by the battle. They
had come to an anderstanding in regard to the division of the territories
of this Hindu empire : Bijopur was o pursue her aperessions in the
territory above the Ghats and Golkondn was allowed Torher share the
country bDelow the Ghats, The frst elforts of the emperors and thelr
loynl fendatories in the north as well us of the new-born state
of Mysore were in this direction, to meet the Mubnmmodon nvosions
whenever they should come as they did come very often. The
emperor at Penukondn ond the new mmler of Mysore being thus
wecupied, the southern viceroys had o free hand w manage their own
affairs, It was open to them to have renlized the danger which certalnly
was imminent and urgent for the northern parts, but was also A
rel :luutf:er, even In regard to the southern viceroyalties, though
comparatively remote. Sound and far-seeing poliey required that
these viceroys should hold together and glve their support
without stint, as their duty and loyalty alike demanded, to the
empire in this position of jeopardy. The policy of the Niyaks of
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idea was probably to humour the emperor with occasional
presents, without paying regular tribute. But he was not
allowed to continue this ambiguous relationship for long.
War with Mysore—In the carly years of Tirumala's
reign, an invasion of Madura by Mysore and a counter-
invasion of Mysore by Madura are recorded in o Mackensie
Manuseript.™ These events are said to have happened before
Tirumala's war with the Sétopati.  Nelson * does not give
any date ; Mr. Rangachari makes a puess, viz, 1625 The

Madura grenerally, sinve the commencement of the new century at any
rate, cannot be repacded o having token into ealewlation the actual |
political condition of te tmes.  The empive was strogeling for exist-
ence durlng the first forty yenrs of the centory and had barely suceeeded
in maintaining its existence by being driven successively ont from
one capital on to another,  Penckonda Lol to be vaeated becanse of the
eomstant horrying of the Muhommodan  invasions,  Chandreagiri  had
similarly to be abanconed, and, ealy in the reigm of Srivanga [, Vellore
wans Deing Inid siege to,  These changes did oot happen in n short
eampaign or two, but by persistent effort of no less than three deendes,
The nhsorption of the Channapatfaga vicerayally by Mysore enabled
her b make a stiol against the agpressions of Hijupur which were
now under the guidanee of o man of genins, Shabji the Mahratta, The
whole lmant of the efforts of Golkondu had to be borne by the empire
practically single-handed,  IF Tirumala had only realized the situation
and] Teel Dol Ll Toresipelt b see the polilical eonscguences of the dis-
intagrrating movement of which be bid made himsel £ (he sponsor, i not
thee nthor, e wonbd certainly have wlopled o policy of co-operation wilh
the empire.  The question of Tiromala’s loyally or disloyalty therefore
depends upon the guestion whether, in the politienl conditions of his
time, he could have foresven the direct results of his action,  The action
of his predecessors and thelr nttitude towards the empire must neces-
sarily have made it impossible for bim to take an impartial view of the
gituntion at the time. The interests of Mysore and the empire ran
together o great way. It was the governments behiod these two that
were for the time saved from the attacks of the Muhammadans., Ik
cannot but have been clear to these, chief among them Tirnmala, that
what befell the empire would befall them soon after. If Mysore saved
herself l:gr sustained effort, the joint efforts of the emperor and his preater
fendatories should have been equally suecessful, hat Tiromala and
his friends did not adopl this course of nction argues either disloyalty
or wanot of political foresight, either of the alternatives not redonnding
to the credit of the great Nayak of Madura. Sriranga’s abortive effort
exhibits o political prevision and & patriotism ander trying cireum-
stanees, which shines in lurld contrast with the selfishness of the
greater viceroys who had everything to gain by a united efort, and
who had, without E1.1II.3|I realizing the consequences, thrown away the
glorious chance in their selfish shortsightedness, — i,
28 Taylor, 0. K. M55, i, pp. 160-75, 0 pp. 125-6G,
30 f.A., 1916, p. 166, -



120 History of the Nayaks of Madura

cause of the Mysore aggression is not stated. Perhaps the
ambitious Chimarija Udaiyir did not require even a
pretext ; or, as Nelson thinks, he probably wanted to make
amends for the failure of his predecessor's invasion of
Madura in the reign of Muttu Virappa Niyaka. The Mysore
general, * Harasura (Karachiiri?) Nandi Rija’, marched as far
us Dindigul, but was beaten back by the Maduea Dajaviiy,
Ramappaiya, and Ranganga Niyaka, the Polegar ol Kanyi-
vidi. The latter are said to have pushed their suecess
further and besieged the capital of Mysore. Nelson and
Mr. Rangachari narrate the account of the chronicle in
detail, and speak of the recall of Ramappaiya and his dis-
obedience, which, after all, did not go against him in the end,
The Dalavily returned completely victorious and was greatly
honoured by Tirumala Niyaka. Perhaps the inscription
of Srimukha (1633), which records his gift of lind at
Kilakkulattdar to the local temple, and which speaks of him
as the minister of Vidvanitha Niyaka (Tirumala Niiyaka),
was issued after this successful operation against Mysore®

The Invasion of Trovancore—Ever since Rimariijo
Vitthala's campaign against the Tiruvadi and the latter's
reduction to the position of a feudatory of Vijayanagar,
reflected in the Suchindram inscription of 1547, Travancore
appears to have given up her aggressive attitude and re-
mained loyally subordinate to the Niyaks of Madura.
Under Tirumala Nayaka this amicable relationship seems
to have been disturbed. The chronicles have nothing to
say about this affair. An edict of the king of Travan-
core {Unni Kérala Varma), dated 22nd Kumbham (Masi,
K.A. 810 (the beginning of March, 1635), records the remis-
sion of some taxes on land consequent on the invasion of
Tirumala Niyaka.” The former came to the throne in

21 Appendix D, No. 121. #2 fhid,, No. 26.
32 W, Nagam Aiya, The Travancore Stale Manuad, 1, pp. 302-3.
Appendix D, 129,
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1631," and he seems to have refused payment of the
customary tribute. The actual cauvse of this invasion, and
how it was conducted are not recorded. The above-
mentioned epigraphical record runs as follows :—* Whereas
it has been represented to us at our residence at Kalkulam
by the niaftirs (ryots) between Mangalam and Manakudi

. that the country is smitten by calamities, having had
no cultivation of the Nar (Kanni) crop of 810 and that as
Pisdpam (Kumbham) cultivation was not begun owing to
the advent of Tirumal Niyakkar's forces and as the crops
raised . . . suffered by blight, the ryots have not the
wherewithal to begin fresh cultivation, we are pleased to
command on this the 22nd day of the month of Midi in
810 that the levying of . . . (taxes) be given up . . . and
that this fact . . . be duly notified to the ryots of the said
places in the southern portion of Nanjindd North.' It is
clear, therefore, that Tirumala Niyaka's invasion must
have taken place after Kanni and before Kumbham,
£.A. 810 (between October, 1634 and March, 1635). This is
conlirmed by the fact that it was undertaken in the name
of the Vijuyanagar emperor after the issue of the Kiniyar
Plates of Venkata Il (May-June, 1634)."

Tirumala Nayaka's invasion of Travancore scems to have
been successful, and his gift of land to the Aladiyir Siva
temple,” dated K.A. 811 (1635), may have been in comme-
moration of it. If itis a fact that the king of N#njinad
took part in the war against the Sétupati (which came
later), as the Ramappaiyan Ammdnai says, it confirms
Tirumala’s success in the Travancore campaign. There is
also a reference in this poem to the conquest of the Mala-
yilam country by Madura. The effect of this invasion
seems to have lasted for a long time. John Nievhoff®

84 Y, Nagnm Aiya, The Travancore Siale Afannal, i, p. 275,
98 dycheeological Swrvey of fndia, Keport, 1911-2, p, 145,
a8 Appendix D, No. 130 7 p. WS, Fide Appendix C,

16
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remarks in 1664 that the king of Travancore ‘constantly
keeps o garrison of ten thousand Negros (Niyars) here to
secure it (the capital) against the Nayk of Madure whose
power is much dreaded here .

Relations with the Setupati—Kittan Setupati became
the chicef of Ramnad about 1623,  1le seems to have culed
till 1635, and was succeeded by his son, Sadaika Tiéva I1
(Dalavay Sétupati). Alter a peaceful rule of about two
years, the latter was threatencd by the machinations of his
illegitimate brother, called the * Tambi' (younger brother),
who was able to convince the authorities'at Madura of the
legitimacy of his claims to he the Sétupati, I3ut the Dalavay
was prepaved to fight out his case, and he had o large
measure of popular support. The situation thus created
necessitated a war against him, since Tirumala supported
his opponent’s candidature. Some chronicles state that the
insubordination of the Dalavily and his withdrawal of
tribute were the causes of the war, The issues counected
with this question are not clear. Only the main events of
Tirumala's campaign emerge definitely from the mists of
romance. Mr. Rangachari gives a very detailed abstract of
the Ramappaiyan Ammdanai, which he calls 'one of the
most valuable historical documents of the period '™ He is
not disposed to remove the chaff, but revels in romantic
imagery. The chronicles are on a better footing when
compared with this ballad, though the latter contains more
information. It is not known on what authority Nelson *°
bases his account.

Ramappaiya was entrusted with the conduct of this
war, with Ranganna Niyaka as second-in-command. After
some reverses, he managed to subdue the country as far as
Ramnad, when the S&tupati took refuge in the island of
Raméévaram. A bridge was constructed over the I'imban
to facilitate the movement of the army into the island, with

38 /. A, 1916, pp. 170-1; 178-B4, "% pp. 128-30,
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the result that the SEtupati was captured and taken
prisoner to the capital. The importance of the cam-
paign is sufficiently clear from the part taken in it by
the Portuguese and the Dutch, Tirumala Nayaka enlisted
the support of the former, probably when the latter, who
were on the aggressive then, joined the Sétupati. The
reference to sea-fights in the Ramappuiyan Ammdnai
is indivectly confirmed by Portuguese records and the Jesnit
letters.  An illuminating extract from F. C. Danvers® is
worth quoting: * The Naique of Madure sent his ambassa-
dor, Ramapa, to the Viceroy, on the 13th August, 1639, to
give an assurance on his account to the King of Portugal
that, in consideration of the assistance sent him when he
wished to take Marava, he undertock to give the King of
Portugal a fortress in Pampa, called Uthear, or wherever
he might desire one, with a Portuguese captain, 50
Portuguese soldiers, 100 lascars, and 3,000 pardaos, for
the maintenance of the same; also to build at his own
expense a church at Ramanacor, and seven churches
between Bambam (Pdimban) and Tomddy (Tondi) The
Naique also gave permission to all those who might desire
it to become Christians, and promised to furnish gratui-
tously to the King of Portugal all the assistance he might
require for Ceylon, both in men and supplies. He further
undertook not to be friendly to the Dutch, nor to permit
them in his territories, whilst his vessels would also not be
permitted to visit Dutch ports'.® Mr. A, Rea ™ makes a
reference to the Dutch help which the S&tupati procured.”

% Report, pp. 43-4,

41 Sap nlsug?. C, Danvers, The Porfuguese in India, ii, p. 268,

% NMonnwmenial Remains of the ek Fast India  Company,
P“a" The position of the Portuguese had in [t elements that contribubed
to the disintegration of the Hindu states in the peninsula. This did
not become so clear until through the efforts of Francis Xuvier on
the Parava coast, o large number of these fisherfolk had been converted
to Christianity. These conversions were held to imply dpse facio a
chanee of political loyalty from the Indian ruler to the king of Portugal,
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The letter of Proenza, dated 1659," speaks of the Maravas
as a warlike people who had fought creditably apainst

Europeans.

Melson speaks of the death of Ramappaiya bhefore the
conclusion of the Marava campaign. The History of the
Carnalaca Governors, @ Mackensic Sanuscript* and the
Ramappaiyan Amandnai, none of these gives the slightes
ground for such a supposition.  There is an inseription ol
1638 (about the 27th of May) which refers to him along
with Tirumala Nayaka." The extract from Danvers quoted
above mentions him as the ambassador sent to Goa on the
13th of August, 1639, and makes it clear that he could
have died only a few years after the successful termination
of the campaign against the Sctupati. The precise date of
his death is uncertain ; an inscription of 16487 refers to

and ealled for drastic Intervention on the part of the empire of Vijaya-
nagar, RamorRjn Vitthala, with hiz Drother Timmao, was deputed on
tl1i§a1n11:::rtuut mission, amil ofter that the Porbgooese hod o face
the hostility of the empire of Vijayanagonr more or loss ;o bal the empire
was not alone in its opposition o this partiealar :mf:m.'t of missionury
effort. Later on, ag the sixteenth centary was drawing to o elose, the
activities of the Portuguese grow greater and contributed vory larpely
to the fnll of native rulers in Indin as well as in Cevlon, This
aprpressive offort made them so obnoxious that the orthodoe Tunjore

iyak, Achyuta, had to turn them out of Negapatam by main foree,
a8 he is made to declare that even by their summary dislodgment from
Megapatum they had not leamt wisdom. They translerred their politl-
el activity thereafter on the Tnnjore const to Divikogtn ol the mouth
of the Coleroon, and were declared by Givinda Dikshitn, (he minister,
to be the power behind the chieftnin who harried the country round
and assumed an attitude of defiance against his Hege lord, the Nayak
of Tanjore, When Roaghundithu Niyaka succeeded to the throne, he
had to dislodge the Portuguese [rom D@vikotfa and restore the Rija
of Jaffna who had been disposscased by them ; and he had to fight the
battle of Thppiir with a considerable Portuguese contingent in  the
Piandynn army. We find the Portuguese apain in allinnee with the
Whyak of Madura in his eampaign against his feudutory of the Marava
gountry. In this position of affairs the Indian powers hostile to the
Portuguese, finding themselves probably unegual to them on the ses,
had reeourse necessarily to the other Eurngcau power, the Dutch.
Thus we see the Madura Niyak actively in allinnee with the Portuguese,
and Tanjore and even Ramuad in alliance with the Duteh, The treaty
referred to by Danvers is in keeping with this condition of political
division in the country.—/5d.

44 Bertrand, iii, p. 48. Fide Aﬂ.‘rmmix A, Letter Mo, 1,

* Taylor, (LA, #15S., i, p. 175. 0 Appendix D, No, 132,

#* fbdd., No. 140,
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a particular arrangement ‘in the time of Ramappaiyan ',
and so he must have died some years before that
date.

The successful conclusion of this war did not settle the
Marava question. The people would not acquiesce in the
rule of the * Tambi'’. The latter met with strong opposi-
tion from Raghuniitha Téva and Niriyapa Tva, ncphews
of the Dalavity Sétupati,  The country reverted to confusion
and disorder. His inability to stem this tide ol disaffection
and restore order stood revealed; and he approached
Tirumala Niiynka for help. Though the latter may have
first ncted without considering the real state of affairs in
the Ramnad country, he was now in no mood to counte-
nance the schemes of the ‘ Tambi’. Realizing that only
the Dalavily Sétupati could properly rule over a turbulent
people, he set him free and recognized him as the Sétupati.
In a short time the country returned to peaceful ways, as
is indicated by an inscription at VEmbangudi of 1641 for
the merit of Tirumala Niyaka.* The Sétupati ruled firmly
and wisely for a few years, but was murdered by the
"Tambi’about 1645. Thereupon Tirumala Niyanka divided
the whole Marava country into three parts with the idea of
satisfying all the claimants, viz., Raghuniitha Téva, his
brother Tanakka Téva, and the * Tambi’, When the second
died, this solution of the question was threatened. Fortu-
nately for the peace of the country, the ' Tambi’ also soon
died, and Raghunitha Téva became ruler of the whole
Ramnad country. Gradually the wounds of the recent
troubles were healed, and the blessings of a strong and
beneficent rule restored. Raghunitha Sétupati becamea
loyal and staunch supporter of Tirumala Nayaka, to whom
he rendered signal service on many occasions. Nelson®
says that he repulsed a Muhammadan raid and crushed

8 Appendix D, No. 133, *0 p. 138,
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the rebellion of a few Polegars headed by the chief of
Ettiyapuram in Tinnevelly. IFor this latter service, he was
given some land near Mannfrkowvil amd some share in the
revenue from the pearl-lishery ; for the former, he was
honoured with the title of the * Defender of the Kingdom '
and allowed to celebrate the * Navardtri® festival in his
own capital on the same seale as at Madura--a nnique
distinetion.  Flis improvements in Rimesvaram niede him
the * Master of Rimdvara ', Thus his wisdom aid loyalty
increnserl his power and prestige, and redomnded to his
honour ; they also secured the safety of the whole kingdom
of Madura.

War with the Bmperor.—~Tiramala Niyaka seems to
have accepted the overlordship of the Vijayanagar emperor
for a long time after his accession, till at least 1634, the
date of the issue of the Kianiydc Plates of Venkata II1.
This subordination conld have only been nominal.  1from
the Jesuit evidence it is clear thut he aimed at practical
independence including non-payment of tribute. This
view seems to have been the direct result of the prevailing
political condition of the times. In the early days of the
MNayakship, the empire was to Madura a safeguanl against
foreign aggression, and provided security for her agninst
troubles from its other parts. ‘When the emperor could
not control the ambitions of Mysore and was powerless to
provide the advantages due from a suzerain power, the
tribute demanded from Madura would naturally bave been
felt vexatious, Tirumala had to fall back on his resources
alone to defend his kingdom. Though unwilling to pay
tribute, he was inclined to respect the sovereign and
accept his superior position. He seems to have had no
objection to the subordination that this formal relationship
involved, ns is attested by his Kannadiputtiic inscription
of 1655.%

30 Appendix 13, No, 147,
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The Kiniyar Plates of Venkata II refer to Tirumala
Niyaka in very respectful terms, but Mr. Rangachari
says that they were issued at his * humble and loyal
request **  The expression used (Stimat-Tirumaléndrasya
Vigiaptimanupilayan) rveally means, ‘in accordance with
the wishes of the prosperous and eminent ruler Tirumala ’.
Venkata II seems to have been very wise in reading
aright, and yielding to, the tendency of the times.
His death in 1642 and the policy of his successor,
Sriranga I1I, put an end to this delicate and ambiguous
relationship, and forced a war on Tirumala. The new
emperor insisted on his technical rights, and precipitated
a crisis by marching to the south at the head of a
large army. Tirumala formed an alliance with the Nayaks
of Tanjore and Gingi to oppose the onward march of
Sriranga. When the Tanjore Niyak revealed the schemes
of the confederates to the latter and betrayed his allies,
Tirumala had seriously to think about new measures to
save himself. In this predicament it was open to Tirumala
to throw himself upon the mercy of the emperor and give
up ideas of independence; or, in the alternative, to secure
his independence by all means in his power. To under-
stand Tirumala’s policy aright, it is necessary to have a
grasp of the trend of South Indian politics in those times.*

81 f.A., 1916, p. 185,

2% About the middle of Tiromala's reign, when Eﬂ'rmga, the last
emperor of Vijayanagar, made an active effort to bring the mn]rim
together for a common effort against the Muhammadans, the political
condition of South India was somewhat as follows :-—éhnh Jahan's
efforts in the Dakhan were becoming more and more successfol, and
began to oceupy, in a rising degree, the attention of Bijapur, and even,
to a cortain degree, of Golkonda., Sothe attention of the Muhammaodan
powers was being serionsly diverted at the inning of the struggle,
which ultimately cost them their existence. The emperor, who had
recently succeeded to’ the throme, apparently found this a soitable
opportunity to make one serious effort to bring the empire together
again and organize the imperial resources for a final stand along what
had been the third line of defence of the %'rem empire of Vijnynuaifnr in
the centuries preceding. The Nayak of Ikk&r was so hemmed in by
Bljapur on the one side and Mysore on the other that he found it safe
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Self-interest had become the governing motive in political
transactions. Even religion hardly entered into the caleu-
lition ; so far as South Indin was concerned, there was un
close wall of separation between the IHindus and  the
Mubammadans. Many a time the Mohammadan states of
the Dakhan did not act conjointly in their strugghe with
Vijayanugar. Some of them called in the help of the
latter against their own co-religionists, The great Vijuya-
nagar minister, Riamardju, helped the Mubammadans in
their internal struggles. According to the conceptions of
the day, it did not offend against political morals for the
Muhammadans to seck Hindu help and vice versa.

Failing in this first move of a combination of the
Niyaks against the emperor, Tirumala induced the Sultan
of Golkonda to attack the kingdom of Vellore and arrest
the progress of the emperor. His diplomacy was suceess-
ful, and the latter had to retrace his steps to defend his
own territory. At first the emperor defeated his encmy ;
but soon after he was overpowered, He realized that success
was possible only if the Niyaks of Gingi, Tanjore, und
Madura willingly co-operated with him, and consequently
to throw in his lot with the empire. Chiimariia Udaiviie of Mysore el
just managed to absorh into his territory the disintegeating viceroyulty
of Channupattana and thus prevented o preater part of it with the
Baramahals from falling foto the haods of Bijapur.  The einperor was
in Vellore with the central snlient definitely loyal. Southword of these
lay the viceroyalties of Gingi, of Tunjore, and of Madura, secnpying the
block of territory south of the Philar, OF these, Tanjore remained
traditionally loyal. It wos Giogi and Madura that woere the capse of
trouble, In the enrly years of Srlranga's reign o siege of Vellore,
where Sriranga was besieged by the Golkonda forces, wus ralsed by the
efforts of Shvappa Niyaka of Ikk& and the chieftaing of second rank in
the middle districts. It would not have appeared unlikely to Srivanga
that, if the southem viceroyalties could be brought to their wllegianes
and if the resources of all these could be put toﬁt.‘thar, an offective
stand against the Muhammadans was possible, and with the Moghul
diversion in the north it munst have seemed to him that the chances of
surcess in this combination were certainly very groat. His enterprisze
therefore could not in the circemstances of the time he regarded as
foolish. The responsibility for not co-operating in this effort must rest
with the gouthern viceroys, chiefly the Nayak of Madura, and there was

nothing in the sitoation except perhnps selfishness to justify his attitude,
not merely of aloofness, but even of active hostility.—54d,
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hastened to the south to organize opposition against
Golkonda with their help, But this attempt at rapproche-
ment did not make much progress, and he despaired of
success in his imperial efforts, He thercfore fled to the
forests lying to the north of Tanjore and, after a few
months of despondency, found asylum in Mysore, The
following remarks of Thevenot clucidate the position
further, though he gives a different account™ :  * The want
of assistance (when attacked by Aurangzib) on that King's
(the emperor of Vijayanagar's) part so exasperated the King
of Bijapur that he no sooner made peace with the Moghul
in 1650, but he made a league with the King of Gelconda
against the King of Bisnagar and entered into a war with
him; they handled him so very roughly that, at length,
they stripped him of his dominions . . . so that . . . (he)
was left without a kingdom and coustrained to fly into the
mountains, where he still lives,'

After completing the conquest of the kingdom of Vellore,
Golkonda seeins to have aimed at subduing the territories
farther south, and laid siege to Gingi. The Niyak of
Tanjore became panic-stricken, and completely surrendered
to the enemy. But Tirumala Nayaka did not lose courage;
he concluded an alliance with Bijapur, and was helped
with some 17,000 cavalry. With these and his 30,000
infantry, he marched to the relief of Gingi. This effective
help, combined with the strength of the fortifications of
Gingi, rendered a protracted siege possible. But Golkonda
came to an agreement with the Bijapur army, and, entrust-
ing it with the siege of Gingi, withdrew to the north to
consolidate her recent conquests. This wvolte face on the
part of Bijapur, and quarrels among the heterogeneous army
of the besieged, upset all calculations, and the Muhamn-
madans took possession of Gingi.

a2 Fyavels, Part i, p. 81,
17
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After the capture of Gingi the Muhammadans entered,
actording to the Jesuit account, the dominions of the Nayaks
of Tanjore and Madura, and wrought incalculable havoc.
Cansequently they were able to dictate their own terms to
them. DBut a chronicle, highly praised by Taylor for its
‘good sense ' and for its being *in conformity, to a pre-
vailing degree, with European notions of History ', after
speaking of Vijayarighava *purchasing peace’, says:
‘Tiramala Nayakar, by the assistance of the Collavies
(Kallans), routed and repelled the Muhammadans, who
roturned discomfited to Gingi'™ From other evidence
also—to be referred to later on—it is clear that Tirumala
was not the craven that he is taken to be by the Jesuit
writers. .

Soon after the return of the Muhammadans, Sriranga 111
tried to regain his kingdom with the help of Mysore.
Following perhaps a hint thrown out by the Jesuit authori-
ties as to what Tiramala Niyaka's right policy ought to
have been under the circumstances, Nelson remarks that
he should have befriended the king of Mysore, and formed
a league with him to support Sriranga in the re-establish-
ment of the kingdom of Vellore. But this was a policy
which Tirumala could not be expected to adopt, as Madura
had suffered from the repeated aggressions of Mysore®

ORI, p. 40,

55 Ahout the time when Srirangn made this effort, the ngeperessions of
Mysore on the Madura country could not have been so real as to mnke
an nllinnce between Maodura and Mysore hppossible if a common
loyalty to the empire 9til] operated, The aggressions of Mysore ngainst
Madura were yet to begin. While it is barely possible that in the reign
of Chiimarija an aggression or two of a very temporary charncter may
have taken place on the northern borders of the Madura viceroyalty, the
Mysore ruler was fully engaged in keeping Bijapur out and in oceupying
the territory of the Channapaitapa viceroyalty above the Ghats and
moving forward to take possession of such of JagadBvarfiye's territories
ag were below the Ghats, This last stnﬁa of operations could be earriec
to completion only in the reign of Knnthirava Narasa. So far, then, the
operations of Mysore could have been only to extend their frontiers
to the foothills that separated the Mysore platean from the plain
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By reading between the lines of the Jesuit account, it is
plain that Madura was threatened by the new understand-
ing between the emperor and the king of Mpysore, who
did not come to the help of Sriranga in the beginning of
his contest with the Muhammadans. Tirumala sought the
help of Bijapur again, There is a scrious contradiction
in the Jesuit evidence, and aulso in Nelson's account.
If Tirumala's dominions were overrun by the armies
of Bijapur before, and he had been treated very
insultingly and treacherously by them, it is very strange
that he, a staunch Hindu, still clung to the idea of n
Muhammadan alliance in preference to a Hindu league.
The subsidy he would have had to pay lor the Muham-
madan help is what is probably represented as blackmail.
It is likely that the Niyak of Tanjore was not spared by the
Mubammadans on account of his weak and wvacillat-
ing attitude. The Bijapur general, ' Canacan' (Khan-i-
Khanan), frustrated the ambitions of Sriranga and humbled
the pride of Mysore with the help of Madura. Thus
Tirumala Niiyaka succeeded in his policy of safeguarding
his interests, though at much cost to his kingdom and those
of his neighbours. The policy, however, may be regarded
as having been forced on him by the hasty and incautious
action of Sriranga.”

country  helow,  ‘This pnll}uhli{ Ll the countenanco oven of the
empueror Venkatn II, os the only alternative was the vecupation of
this disintegrating  vicervyulty by the Sultan of Bijapur, which
would delve o Mubammadan wedge Dbetween  the territory of
Mysore and the dominions of the emperor. That probably explains
why éﬁmngu appealed  first of all to Mysore for nassistance
nnd obtuined the asylum which he found denied him in the southern
viceroyal ties. — Ed, v

58 The allinnce between Sriranga and Mysore, if Tiramaln had nnder-
stoud the signs of the times, would not have shown jtself to be n
combination which boded ill to him. This combination just succeederd
in keeping Bijapur out on one side of the Mysore territory and keeping
Mysore in touch with the territories of the emperor 5o that between
LkkeEri, Mysore, and the emperor at Vellore there was o frunt line uf
defence without overthrowing which Bijopur could not advance against
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The result of these transactions was the extinction of
the kingdom of Vellore, the diminutive representative of
the empire of Vijayanagar, Wilks¥ says that Sriranga
Riya left * Drauveda’ in 1646,”" and fled to Bednore, and
therefore does not take into account his stay in Mysore.
Kanthirava Narasa Rija entertained him for some time,
and, seeing that he was the source of further troubles,
seems to have left him to his own fate about 1653,
According to Jesuit testimony, Sriranga led a miserable
life on the confines of his kingdom. It was probably after
this exile that the chief of Bednore gave him asylum, with
the idea of furthering, in his name, his own ambitions
against Mysore. There is nothing to indicate that it was
loyalty to the empire which induced Mysore and Bednore
to receive Sriranga. Their schemes of self-aggrandizement
appear to have been the governing motive. An inscription
of 1663 at Bellary ® mentions Srivanga’s gift of a village.
Though later inscriptions refer to other Vijayanagar
emperors, there seems to be no valid ground for supporting

him or Gingi, or, for the matter of that, Tavjore. When once Bijapur
had besn invited by Madura, and If Gingi co-operated in this invitation
actively or passively, there was no reason why Lhe Bijapur army shoulid
.ﬂmre anjore. It would be difficult to understand how Tirumala

Ayaka sofeguarded his interests by trusting them into the hands of the
Sulnns of Bijapur, who, from the point of view of Tirumala, must
sooner or lnter overthrow the emperor, as i.heif in Fact did, and his ally
of Unonjore, who was even then perhaps actively assisting Lim. The
turn of Mysore and Ikk@vi would follow next, Tlrumaln would then
be dependent entirely upon the good faith of Bijapur for his lndepend-
ence, Tirnmala must bave bad the wit to understand that such
independence would be worse than subordination to an emperor like
Srfranga and his descendants. If these consequences were averted, it
was through the advasee of the Moghul arms in the Dakhan and the
danger that threatened both Bijapur and Golkenda, While therefors
Tirumala's policy can be justified a8 a continuation of that of his
predecessors towards the emperor, neither political foresight nor even
enlightened seli-interest could be urged in support of the particular
attitude tggt he took up as agalnst Sriranga, —£d,

i, p. 36,

S0 But R, Orme [Historical Fragmenis, p. 62) remarks that the
Muhammadan invasion of the Carnatic took place about 1652,

0 Appendix LY, No. 160,
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any reality in the claim®; even in 1792 and 1793 grants

o9 I'he _Lrend of the transactions connected with the fnal disappear-
anee of Srirang IIL is wreapped up in obseurity. [t used to be taken
hitherto that 1Hd or GG wos the last date aseriboble w Srlhangn,
without any  satisfuctory authority os il would seem. After the
open betrayal of his imperial cladms by the southery Niyoks, when they
declined to co-operate with him, his position in Vellore must hove
Lecome preenrlovs; and the invosions by Golkonda of the central
regions of the empire must have become more persistont and {requent,
It is In the course of these recurring: Invasions that the fort of Vellore
must live been ovenpied by the Mubummadans, and, according Lo
the necount given in the L":fﬂh‘ufr«r.-'m‘ml.!'m'm.rt, Sivappa Miiynkn's siegoe
af Vellore and its reeovery for Srirangn must hove taken place, It s
nol necessary that F‘-i\rn[:}m shonld have Deen the ruler at the time.
‘Uhis may have tuken ploce in the reign of Dis predecessor, Virabhadra,
in whose relgn the older Sivappe, the younger Sivappn, and his brother,
Venkatun, are all three of them soid to have earried on the administrnton
o hehalf of Vieabbadra, This period corresponds to the relgn of
Kanthirova Novasn, who was the lirst to show himself aggressive on the
southern frontier, and his appressions were so Ffar successful that he
vectpled practically all the Kongu country of Salem and Colmbatore
distriets and even threatened Trichinopuly itself, It is probable that
in this enterprizse he had the countenance of the emperor in the frst
years of his reign., It is an inseription of his reign, dated 1646, that
omits mention of the imperial roler, o sure sign of wssumption of
independence. It was also Kantbirava Narsa that instituted n sys-
tematic and uniform colpage throughout his territory of both hipgher and
loower denominations,  Ile is said to have done it by abellshing the
right to eoinage that his feudatories hitherto enjuyed.  This vet in
is nnother indication of his assumption of independence, Something
therefore must have tnken place in 16406 or just o little before to have
hrought about this open disavowal of imperial authority, That event
may have been the fall of Vellore, rendering the emperor Seirangn
practically n fugitive without a capital of his own, Kanthirave Narosa's
rule extended till 108, During bis reign there is no mentlon, so far as
is lenown ab present, on the Mysore side, of any asylum that Kanhirava
Narasa offered to the wmmperor, It is probable that the emperor was
allowed to live in bis territory, but the acts of sssumption of independ-
ent power deloiled ahove wonld go agnjnst the supposition, ‘The fact
seems to be that the Mysore ruler kept Srirangn in good humour by the
appenrance of loyalty ns a cover to his aggressions in the early years,
and threw off the mosk soon after. That the emperor was a wanderer
without o home, os the Jesuit records put it, seemns to bhave been true
during the remaining perivd of the reign of Kanthirava Narasa.
It is probable that his successful aggressions in the latler part of his
reign and the hold Mysore attemp to maintain upon her conquests
progressing ropidly towards Trichinopoly brought about o change
in the situatiovn perally, and in the attitude of the southern
viceroys towards the emperor. The baltle that was fought at Erode
must have token place about the end of Dévar8ye’s reign, as the
Mysore accounts state that Chikkad&va, while yet a prince, offered, when
negotintions failed, to lead the army to victory, This batlle mny be
dated somewhere about 1670 and was undertaken ostensibly in the
interests of the emperor, It may be as o preliminary to this and in
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by a Reddi chief mention a Venkatapati Mahiriya” The
disappearance of the Vijayanagar empire was followed by
the expansion of the kingdoms of Bijapur and Golkenda
farther south. Thevenot ® remarks that ‘ the King of Gol-
conda seized those (dominions) of the coast of Coromandel,
which lay conveniently for him ; and the King of Bijapur,
having taken what lay next to him, pursued his conquest
as far as the Cape of Negapatam'. Therefore he says ™
that ‘the Kingdom of Bijapur is bounded on the south
by the country of the Naique of Madurn, whose territories
veach to the Cape Comory'. The vassalage of Tirumala
Nayaka to Bijapur is disproved hy the following observa-
tion of Thevenot® :* There are many Naiques to the south
of St. Thomas, who are sovereigns. The Naique of Madura
is one ; he of Tangiour (Tanjore) is at present o vassal to the
King of Bijapur.’ R, Orme® says that in 1652 * the Carnatic
was invaded by the armies of Viziapore and Goleondal,
acting separately ; but agreed, it is supposed, in the objects

view of the aggressive attitude of Mysore that Chokkanitha changed
his eapital from Madura to Trichinopoly in 1665, Srirmggo must hoave
gonght asylum with Sivappa Niyaka only after this. Aceording to the
Stvaladvaratudbaram, Sivappn recelved him and gave him e districts
of VElllr, Hlassan, and én}cknrﬁpn;;:u,m and muintslned him in his terri-
tery. According to the ChibkadZoardyva DedSdvalf, Sivappa caume Lo
oecupy the thwone of Jkkiéd when Chikkml@variijo Udaiydr had been
ruling some yenrs alrendy. The date of Chikkadévarijo's necession
is 1672, anel Sivappa's may be put down o couple of years luter at the
muost. ESt'U'aPpu's embassy to ChikkadGvariija Uguiyir must hove come
in that year's dasara or the year following, and therefore 1675 would be
about the date when Srirangn ceased to be o forve in South Indian
politics, though his titvlar power continoed 6l his succesor Kédund:-
riman and his forces were overwhelmed in the battle of Hassan, as Lthe
Kdmardilpamn hos It, some years later, If the coronalion of Sivaii
had any connection with the disappearance of the empire of Vijuyu-
nagar, Eﬂmug‘n'.‘s death muost have taken place earlier than the
coronation. At any rate Sivaji must have felt the empire extinet when
he undertock his southern invasion which had in it an idea of reviving
the Hindu empire of the south. A recently discovered cuoin of Sivajl in
ir_jn‘.tuﬂngdo! the Vijuyanagar pagogda seems to lend colour to such o

ew,— 8,

ot Sewell, 1, pp. 6-7, Nos, 45 and 46,

o2 Fyavels, Purt iii, p. 0L o fhid,, p. U2,

o& fhid., p. 105, 43 Histoyical fvagmenis, p, G2,
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and division of their conquests, which were accomplished
in 1656 ",

The War of the Noses.'—Kanthirava Narasa Rija, the
king of Mysore, was not prepared to leave Tirumala
unpunished for the disasters which he hrought on him by
acting in collusion with Dijapur. The latter's withdrawal
from Mysore gave him an opportunity ¢ to let slip the dogs
of war' on Madura. Abount 1656 the province of Satya-
mangalom was invaded and the most horrible outrages
perpetrated on the inhabitants.  Tiromala’s power in Salem
in 1652 is clear from an inseription at Yerumaipatti.® An
inseription ut Erede, ¥ dated 1655-6, of Kanthirava Narasa
mentions Dalaviy Hampaiya in connecction with Madura.
Probably the latter was entrusted with the conduct of this
invasion. The Mysore general was encouraged by the
facility of his progress to march closc to Madura itself
with a view to capture it.  Wherever he went he is said Lo
have exceuted the barbarous orders of his master by cutting
off the noses of all who fell into his hands, not excluding
even women and children, and sending them to Mysore. It
appears that it was this alleged barbarity which won notoriety
for the Mysore army's methods of warfare.  J. H. Grose ®
refers to the ‘singular methods of the Mysore troops’
and their * particular dexterity in cutting off noses'. In the
Fort St. George resolution of January, 1679,*° a reference
is made to this practice.

Tirumala Niyaka was on his sick-bed, and naturally he
must have been very much perplexed. He communicated
with his faithful vassal, Raghunitha S&tupati, whose timely
and effective help saved Madura from danger. The latter
instantly brought together an army of 25,000 Maravas and
defended the capital with the co-operation of 35,000 troops,

a8 pppendis 13, No. 143, o7 fhid., No. 146,
on g Foyayge fo fre Fast fadies, p 347, .
o0 T, T, Wheeler, Madras in dhe Ofden Fime, 1, p. 104,
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collected under the orders of Tirumala.® In a short time,
the Mysore army was driven back to the borders of the
Dindigul province. The attempts of the Mysore general
to delay the decision were fruitless. A pitched battle was
fought, and it is said that each side lost about 12,000 men.
The courage of the Sétupati made Madura victerious,
and the Mysore army retired baflled. Tirumaly Niyaka
honoured him with the title of Tirumalai Setupati,
showered the choicest gifts on him, and cancelled his tribute
altogether.

The History of the Carnalaca Governors gives the
whole credit for saving Madura from the Mysore invasion
to the Sétupati. The Jesuit letters confirm this view.”
Further, they speak of a counter-invasion of Mysore by the
Madura army, but the leader of this aggressive campaign
is not mentioned. Some Mackenzie Manuseripis ™ describe
an expedition to Mysore towards the close of Tirumala's
reign, under the command of Kumira Muttu, the king's
younger brother, and Ranganna Niyaka. They attribute
the repulse of the Mysore invasion also to the former. In
any case, it is clear that the Mysoreans were hotly pursued
to their capital, and much damage was done. The strange
form of cruelty practised in Madura by the Mysore army
was now repeated in Mysore; and it is said that even the
king of Mysore lost his nose.™ The Madura army seems

70 Mr, Rangachari accepts the statement of the fislery of e
Carsataca Governors that he came with 60,000 troops, but this aumber
iz the total of the Madura army, including the SEtupati's.

72 Bertrand, iii, pp. 48-50, Fide Appendix A, Letter Mo, 1.

72 Taylor, 0. A, MSS., i, pp. 175 and 182-3.

72 The "war of the noses " obviously took plaoce in the lust vears of
the reign of Kanfhirava Narasn and of Tirumala NEyaka of Madura.
The featare of the cutting off of the noses is not mentioned in eonnection
with any other Mysore war, either with the Pindyas or with other
powers. What exactly was the motive for this barbarity it is not

ossible to make out now, It would be difficult to throw doubt upon
t in face of the combined evidence of several of the foreign anthori-
ties. There seems to have been a special reason for this particular
form of barbarity, which used to be inflicted as a punishment in indivi-
dual cases, where a particularly disgraceful method of punishment was
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to have penetrated as far as Nanjanakudi (Nanjangud.
Before the completion of this raid, Tirumala Nayaka died.
As was remarked before, the existence of a younger
brother of Tirumala is not sufficiently proved. Though
the History of the Carnataca Governors mentions him
in its genealogical list, it has nothing to say about his part
in the Mysore war, The Sétupati is mentioned promi-
nently both by this chronicle and the Jesuit records,
Inscriptions refer only to a Kumira Muttu Tirumala, son of
Tirumala Niiyaka., His Tiruchchengodn prant of 1659
and his father's gift for his merit in the same year ™ lend
support to his having taken part in the Mysore campaign.
The Portuguese and the Dutch.—The attitude of Tiru-
mala Niyaka towards the Europeans of the sea-coast does
not seem to have been decided. Probably he remained
neutral in the lierce contest between the Portuguese and the
Dutch, In 1635 a Portuguese Aect arvived at Tuticorin to
' punish the Naique of Madura, and to overawe the Jesuits
there; the former having seized, at the instance of the
latter, a Portuguese agent who had been sent to purchase
saltpetre in exchange for elephants . In the war with the
Sétupati, we have seen that Tirumala Nayaka received the
help of the Portuguese and that, in grateful recognition of

ealled for, not an the feld of battle, however, The improbabillty of
the story is heightened by the statement of one of the authorities
thut the king of Mysore himself sufferedl this muotilation, This in
itwelf iz very unlikely, and, if such a thing had happened, there
would have been some mention of it on the Mysore side as well, The
truth appenrs to be that this peeuliar form of punishment was metad
out, by the Mysore army, Lo a certain number of people for some act of
treachery by the enemies of Mysore either in the Aghting line or amongr
the civil population., There may bave been o rebellion as well, bt
neither this nor the punishment can have been on the scale that the
accounts lend vs to fnfer, as we have come upon nothing peculinr in the
Mysore troops, either before or after, to justify our ascribing this
particular form of barbarity, as a habitual feature, to the Mysore army as
a whole. Ferlshtn mentions ap instance of similar barbarity when thi:
Golkonda troops laid a‘iage to Bidar —&d.

74 Appendix D, Nos. 152 and 151,

78 Danvers, Kepord, pp. 52-3 1 The Porluguese in Indic, W, p. 250,
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this service, he granted them certain concessions in his
kingdom, promising to assist them in Ceylon and treat the
Dutch as his enemies. In February, 1646, the king of
Portugal sent instructions to his Indian viceroy to persuade
the native rulers to fight against the Duteh,  Accordingly
Tirumala Niyaka turned the Duteh out of Pattapam in
1648. To avenge this insult, the latter returned with ten
vessels about the 10th of February, 1649, and commenced
hostile operations. They captured the pagoda of Trichendur
and fortified it strongly. Then they marched to Tuticorin,
and demanded payment of a penalty for the alleged intrigues
of the Paravas with the Nayak of Madura, and the consc-
quent expulsion of the Dutch factor from Pattanam. Since
no response came, the town was sacked and partly burned.
After removing whatever they could get at, and wresting
from the Paravas a written promise to pay @ fixed sum, they
left the place on the 13th of February and cacrvied even the
fishing boats along with them.™ In 1658 the Dutch captured
Tuticorin from the Portuguese. It is clear from these events
that Tiramala Niyaka left the coast region to the European
nations and was satisfied with the tribute they paid.
Missionary Activities,—In 1624 the Madura mission
entered a new stage in its progress. Robert de Nohili
learned much from his experience in Madura. Till now all
his activities had been confined to the town and the territory
of Madura. From this time an era of expansion to the
north began. The chief reason for this change was the
almost insurmountable obstacles to conversion that Madura
offered. Further, the prospect of ‘new centres of action
radiating the light of the Gospel to a larger sphere’ indi-
cated the necessity for a move to the north. Moreover, the
political atmosphere was so tense that persecution was sure
to follow, and, in times of trouble, the new residences would

293‘4Dnn'-ferﬁ. .n'i'f,ﬂm'.l', Pp. 48-50; The LPorlugwese in Judia, 11, pp,
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afford refuge for Christians. 'With these objects, de Nobili
left Madura in June, 1623, and his inveterate objection to
concern himself with people other than Brahmans gradually
wore away. As Trichinopoly was in great agitation, he
travelled to Stndamangalam. He was solemnly received
by Rimachandra Niyaka, a tribuiary of the Niyak of
Madura. With the idea of returning to this place in a
short time, he left for Salem, the capital of Silapaiti
Niiyaka, another ruler subordinate to Madura. Contrary
to all expectations, he found it ‘a eruel and inhospitable
shore’.  Some time after, the brother of the Niyak became
his disciple, and the situation improved in his favone. The -
chief himsclf was much impressed with his greatness, and
he showed him much kindness and respect. Nobili was
accused by some as o Pﬂrﬁi_:rgﬁ. driven out from Madura.
L3ut the protection of the Ndyak of Salem gave him every
facility for work. After his return from Cochin in 1625,
where he had been called by his superiors, Nobili tried to
exploit for his own purposes the political differences between
the Chief of Salem and the neighbouring rulers. But
much did not come out of these intrigues.”’ The illness of
Antonio Vico called him back to the south. Entrusting
Martinz with his labours, Nobili started for Madura in
1627 : but, when he reached Trichinopoly, he was told that
Vico was steadily improving. He took advantage of his
stay in the latter place to organize Christianity.™ Till
about this time the activities of the Madura mission were
carried on smoothly by Nobili in the north and by Vico in
the south. The latter's letter of 1626 7 speaks of the
* conquests ' in the environs of Madura,

Soon after Nobili commenced his work in Trichinopoly
in 1627, he was menaced, as he says, with expulsion and
imprisonment by the orders of the Nayak. As most of the

77 Letters of Vico, dated 1624 and 1625 ; Bertrand, ii, pp. 225-51.
78 Wobili's letter of 1627 ; fbid,, pp. 261-71. 0 fid., pp. 251-61,
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letters written during this period (1627-38) are lost, the
details of the events are not available. Vico's letter of
November, 1632% refers to violent persecutions during
several years, especially in 1630. Perhaps these events
synchronized with the first war of Tirumala Niyaka with
Mysore. The wars with Travancore and the Sclupati may
have lengthened this period of storm.  In 1638 Nobili went
to Madura. After the death of Vico in October he felt
obliged to go to Cochin to enrol new workers. Soon after
his return, the missionaries in Madura and Trichinopoly,
including himself, were arrested and imprisoned. But this
persecution did not last long. Within a year Martinz
wrote from Trichinopoly that the Divine Providence had
* chained the winds of persecution ', and that familics were
being converted wholesale, This change may have been
due to the promise of Tirumala Niyaka to the Portuguese
viceroy on the 13th of August, 1639, to allow freedom [or
intending converts to Christianity." There was persccution
again in 1640.® On the 17th of Janvary, 164+, the
governor of Trichinopoly gave orders to the same effect.”
Nobili made up his mind to interview Tirumala Nayaka
himself. He succeeded in his attempt, with the result
that he was greatly honoured by the latter, and a general
order was issued allowing the missionaries freedom of
action in their work and restoring to them all their
belongings.® This seems to have been his last active work
in the cause of Christianity. In 1648 he was removed to
Jaffnapatam for considerations of health, and later on to
Mylapore (Madras). Even during these days of retirement
his mental activity did not cease, and he never gave up his
literary pursuits till his death in 1660.

After the retirement of Nobili, persecution did not
altogether come to a close, though it is clear that Tirumala

"o Bertrand, i, pp. &71-80, B Ante, p. 123,
#2 Bertrand, if, p. 309, U3 fhid,, p. M6, o4 fhid., p. 351,
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Niyaka adhered to the principle of toleration embodied in
his order of 1644, Balthazar Da Costa says in his letter
of 1653% :—" Our enemies are so numerous and implacable
that the good-will of the Niiyak of Madura is not sufficient
to protect us from their frequent molestation. For this
reason, and to be ready with a place of shelter in times of
religious persecution or palitical warfare, we have established
a Church and Presbytery at Candelour . .. We find
more security and freedom in the administration of the
Paraiyas, far from the proud castes of the Hindus.! It is
said that in 1653 a provincial governor gave the signal for
persecution by arresting a Christian.  Provoked beyond
endurance by the resistance of the Christians, he ordered a
general persccution in all the villages of his province. On
the first news of violence, Father Alvavez went to the
governor-gencral of Trichinopoly, who administered very
severe reprimands to the subordinate governor. Da Costa,
then at Madura, visited the Niyak, wbo received his
compluints favourably and issued thundering letters
apainst the transgressors of his orders. The enemies
of Christianity were frightened, and they gave up their
campaign.® Proenza’s letter of 10659 speaks of the recru-
descence of persecation, * The public calamities afforded
them (persecutors) a new and very effective argument to
place before the governors,'™  Alvarez was imprisoned,
but was released on the orders of the Governor-General of
Trichinopoly. The missionaries were banished from the
whole province of Trichinopely. Da Costa went to Madura
to address the Niyak in person. After many difficulties
he obtained an audience with him. The Nayak gave him
a kind reception, and issued definite orders for the restora-
tion to the missionaries of all that they had been deprived
of, and for their full liberty in the churches they had built

+ 85 Rertrand. iii, pp. 4-10, ue fhid,, pp. 15-7, 87 [bid., p. 55,
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and wherever they were pleased to settle. He dismissed
him finally with many costly presents. The orders were
executed by the governor of Trichinopoly,™ These events
happened at some time between 1650 and 1659, Tirumala
Niyaka's intentions could not always be given full effect
to owing lo the strong vepresentations of his subjects Lo
their local rulers.  MHence his constant  intervention on
behall of the missionaries was necessary,  Sometimes
he could not control the fury of his people, and he had to
connive at their nctions. IHowever strong he might be,
he was not prepared to flout public opinion.

On the whole, the attitude of Tirumala Niyaka Lowards
Christianity was sympathetic, Proenza poes even further
and says® that he loved and protected the Christian religion.
In times of internal commotion and forcign war, Tirumala
seems to have put a strong check on the imprudent activi-
ties of the missionaries. IHe did not, however, favour them
at the cost of his subjects’ loyalty. Stories about his
conversion to Christianity are without any foundation.
In his dealings with the Christians Tirumala was mainly
actuated by the most enlightened principle of freedom of
conscience. ;

Tirumale Ndayaka's Character and Work.—~The out-
standing featurc of Tirumala Nayaka's character was his
courage and persistence as a soldier. When le had eapa-
ble generals in whom he had pecfeet confidence, he
generally entrusted them with the conduct of war:
Ramappaiya managed the first war with Mysore and the
campaign against the Sétupati. He did not yearn for
military glory for its own sake. After Ramappaiya’s
death we find him actively taking part in the war against
the emperor. Undaunted by the betrayal of the Nayak of
Tanjore at the critical hour, he diverted the attention of

o8 Bertrand, lid, EP., 56=00.
50 fhid., p. 50, Vide Appendix A, Leller No, 1,
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Bijapur to the south and hastened to the relief of Gingi ;
and, when he found that the latter also proved treacherous
to his cause, he fonght manfally to the last, The further
progress of the Muhammadans he is said to have checked
by defeating them and making them fall back on Gingi.
Whether he was successful or not, he never lost presence
of mind, and never gave up his plans when once they were
deliberately formed. The Kiniyic Plates of Venkata IIT
gave eredit to his soldierly qualities in the following ex-
pressions: * The strength of whose arm was hard to be
resisted . . . whose enemies ascended high mountains as
soon as he ascended (his) mighty elephant, who surpassed
the enemy of the ocean (i.e., the submarine fire) in attack-
ing a town for conquest .’ *  There may be some exaggera-
tion in this description, but it cannot be regarded as
absolutely false.

Tirumala Niyaka was a man of very strong religious
conviclions, and the root of all his arclhitectural activities
lay in them. His numerous charities and gifts to temples,
set down in his inscriptions and other records, prove his
penerosity and selflessness.  All- the resources of the
kingdom were utilized for its necds and progress. He was
a strong and active ruler with the welfare of his subjects
at heart, His tour round his territories is recorded in an
inscription. The wars that he waged were only in the
interests of his kingdom, and he could not help the suffer-
ings which his subjects had to undergo in consequence.
It is outside our province to discuss the ethics of his
‘ rebellion' against the Vijayanagar emperor. It is not
teue to say that he fought for a mere name ; he was willing
to render obeisance to the figure-head of an emperor.
One-third of the revenues of the country had to be given
as tribute in return for practically no advantages to the

wo &, £, dil, pp. 236-54, v Appendix D, No, 144,
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kingdom. In the early days of the Niyakship, subordina-
tion and tribute meant safety from foreign aggression and
small expenditure on external defence. Now the emperor
was powerless to execute his will, and Madura had hersell
to organize all her defences. Ifurther, Tirumaly himself
would have pleaded guilty, and said that, if it were a sin to
covet independence, he was the most offending soul alive,
Therefore the justilication for his wars depends on the
morality of his ideal. Granting that the real motive of his
policy was independence, it is hard to sce how he could
have avoided the wars and all their evil consequences. To
the great credit of Tirumala it must be said that he was
always on the defensive in the beginning, ILEven in the
case of the Mysorc war, during the closing years of his
reign, he ordered the invasion of Mysore only to punish
the perpetrators of horrible mutilations and other barbari-
ties. He did not desire annexation of neighbouring
territory ; he only wanted absolute control in his own
dominions, frec from external interference. If this desire
is praiseworthy, then none of the wars he had to conduet
can be said to be exclusively of his making.

Tirumala's ambition went only to the extent of
making Madura independent. Hence defence was the first
question he had to consider. Most of the frontier forts
mentioned in the chronicles zeem to have Leen built
by him. He collected an army strong enough to meet any
emergency. There was no vacillation in the execution
of his plans. If he committed any error of judgment,
he was quick at rectifying the error, as in the case of
the Ramnad question. He chose capable agents for his
work, and seems to have allowed them great freedom
of action. He was politic enough to retain their services by
constantly humouring them with status and power. The
remarkable loyalty of the S&tupati towards the close of his
reign was not a little due to his kind and cncouraging
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attitude towards him. He was quick to appreciate loyal
and devoted service. To the end of his life Tirumala
struggled hard to preserve the integrity of his dominions.
But he was not without faults. He did not calculate the
cost of his undertakings. For his persistency his subjects
had to pay dearly. His wars were exhausting enough to
weaken the resources of the kingdom. His plans required
able successors to consolidate the advantages secured.
Though he only followed precedent from South Indian
politics in calling the Muhammadans to his help, the latter
exploited the weakness of some of his successors to the
greatest detriment of the kingdom.,

The most enduring monument of Tirumala’s greatness
is his contribution to art and architecture. This subject
has been dealt with elaborately by experts like James
Fergusson (History of Indian and Eastern Architecture),
and does not strictly belong to political history. Tirumala's
attention in this direction was mostly, if not exclusively,
confined to the town of Madura and its environs.
All the surplus revenues of the kingdom were diverted
into this channel with unremitting care. His public works
were on such a large scale that there were practically
no labour problems to trouble him., Besides numerous
pagodas and gopuras, his ‘choultry’ and palace are
wonderful creations of artistic genins. These buildings
struck the Jesuit observers so much that they had to run
for a parallel to the ancient monuments of Thebes.

The greatness of Tirumala Nayaka is writ large in tradi-
tion, and, to some extent, in the architectural survivals of
the present day. In the Jesuit records of their respective
ages, Tirumala and Akbar figure almost alike; there is
grudging acknowledgment of merit, perhaps due to the_lr
lukewarm attitude towards Christianity. The former is
said to have possessed ‘great qualities’, but lost _them
towards the very close of his life. Probably this is an

19
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attack on his lust wars. But, as was remarked lefore,
Tirumala was not wholly to blame for undertaking them.
Unsullied success rarely goes with greatness, Tirumala
was great, at least in the sense that Louis XIV was
one of the greatest sovereigns of Lurope. The re-
markable identity of the dates given by most of the
chronicles with regard to his reign, while they give very
divergent dates with regard to the other rulers they deal
with, perhaps reflects the estimate which the people had
of his memorable reign. A Josuit letter of JOth January,
1709,* says that, on the death of Tirumaln, 2 temple was
erected, and he was worshipped. There is no doubt that
Tirumala Niyaka left a strong impression on the minds of
his subjects and contemporaries. As Dr. Vincent A, Smith
says of Akbar, Tirumala's defects can only be regarded as
‘ spots on the sun ",

Mr. Rangachari begins his account of Tirumala Nayaka's
reign with an almost complete condemnation of his
character and work.” He employs some violent phrases
to express his opinions on them. He thinks that
Tirumala, far from being ‘the greatest of his dynasty’,
was a traitor of the blackest dye. Hc speaks of his
‘ absolute worthlessness as a soldier, statesman or politician '
and his * suicidal treachery’ ; he says that he was * the evil
genius of his time', a ' political iconoclast ', and * the politi-
cal vandal' . . . * who knew neither honour nor patriotism,
and worshipped expediency and selfishness alonc': and
concludes that he ‘betrayed his religion and his country
besides sacrificing his conscience and his reputation ’, ™ and
.that *in the end, he did not only himself become a slave,
both in fact and in theory, but made the other Hindu
kings of the south slaves of the despised Mléchcha.'®
These remarks do not come to the level of sober

®8 Lockma, ii, p. 379, wa f.A., 1916, p. 149, ef seg. passim
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criticism, and it is useless to consider them serigtim. A
general answer is embodied in the account of Tirumala
Nayaka so far given. But Mr. Rangachari does not seem
to mean what he says, as appears from the following
passages: “The praises of chronicles, the exploits of kings
like Ranga Krishpa Muttu Virappa, the works of Tirumal
Niik and Mangamma] are even now existing proofs of a
prosperous kingdom and a resourceful people’®™ *No
sovereign of the Madura line, except Vigvanitha | and
Tirumal Niik, has gained such a lasting remembrance in
the memory of mankind (as Mangammil]).'” *Ranga
Krishna Muttu Virappa endeavoured to retricve the losses
sustained by his father, to restore and re-establish a settled
government, and to extend the name and extent of Madura
to what they were in fhe time of Tirumal Naik’ ™
Mr. Rangachari’s statement that Tirumala Nayaka was the
‘slave’ of Bijapur is inconsistent with the following observa-
tion of his: ‘The Sultan of Bijapur had been for the
previous thirty years (1660-89) the suzerain (of Madura).’ *°
Writing in 1678, André Freire refers to the ‘ kingdom (of
Madura), so powerful twenty years ago’. '™

Tirumala's Death.—Nelson'" refers to Proenza's letter of
1659, and says: ‘It seems to hint at a sudden death.'
The statement referred to is as follows: *Tirumala
Niyaka had not the time to enjoy this victory’'™ But
this does not seem to lend itself to such an inference. The
various concocted stories about the nature of Tirumala's
death are given by Nelson and elaborately discussed by
Mr. Rangachari: The latter's conclusion, pedatiti¢ally
axpressed, can be accepted : ' The theory of priestly villainy
and Christian rna.rf}rrdum is thus a pure myth, not hmtn'lj.r 4

L [ ]EJIi.: p. S ' b fhid., 1917, p. 156,
ue fhid,, p. 158. eu f&id,, p. 158,
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a creation of the imagination, not a substantial fact.’'"

*If the theory of apostacy and murder is incredible, that
of love intrigue is equally so.’ DBut Mr. Rangachari cannot
resist the conclusion that ‘ Tirumal Nidik must have died n
sudden death'. He even puesses the nature of his fatal
end as ¢ a sudden indisposition '.'™

There is no real evidence toshow that Tirumala met with a
sudden death. A Mackensic Manuscript™ puts the follow-
ing words into the mouth of Tirumala: ‘The Mysorcans,
knowing that we are sick, have availed themselves of the
opportunity to invade our royal domains,' The following
observation of Léon Besse'™ throws further light on the
matter: ‘About the same time (1635) Tirumala Nayaka
escaped the dagger of an assassin, disguised asa woman
and hiding in the palace unnoticed for three days. A little
after, his life was endangered agnin by an abscess on the
head.’ Thus there was some room for the fabrication of
stories retailing his murder or sudden death. That he was
ill. for a long time before his death is clear from the
chronicles also. Under these circumstances the statement
of Proenza can only be taken to mean that Tirumala died
before the return of his successful army from Mysore.

The date of his death is 4th Madi, Vilambi (about the
16th of February, 1659), according to the Mripunjaya
Manuscripts, the Maduraitialavaralarn, and the Pandyan
Chronicle. The History of the Carnataca Governors and
the Supplementary Manuscript take it to Plava, i.c. 1661-2.
This latter view is contradicted by Jesuit evidence and
some inscriptions. The letter of Proenza ascribes it to
1659. " From it, it is also clear that Tirumala's death took
place early in that year; for the definite date, 19th March,
1639, is assigned to the attack of the Muhammadans on

109 f 4, 1917, p. 6. 194 fbid. v, 36,
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Tanjore, after their army had appeared before Trichinopoly
and taken note of the serious preparations of Muttu
Virappa, Tirumala's successor, for war.™  The last inscrip-
tion of Tiramala is in Vilambi (1658-9) at Tirnchchengadu,™
and there is an inseription of Chokkandtha, Muttu
Virappa's successor, in 1661, Thereforc the date of
Tirumala Nayaka's death, according to the first set of
chronicles, viz., about the 16th of February, 1659, may be
accepted as correct.

The total duration of Tirumala's reign is thirty-six years,
according to the majority of chronicles; the letter of
Proenza gives only thirtyyears. This question is intimately
connected with the date of Tirumala's accession, about
which there are some difficulties, as already detailed. The
same Jesuit letter says that Tiramala died in his seventy-
fifth year. Nelson's view is vague and even contradictory.
He remarks that Tirumala was between thirty and forty
when he succeeded to the throne in 1623," and that he was
between sixty and seventy when he died in 1659 after a
reign of thirty-six years™ But he does not give his
authority for this statement.

1e7 Bertrand, i, p. 51.  Pide Appendix A, Letter No, L
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CHAPTER IX

MUTTU VIRAPPA NAYAKA I
(1659)

ACCORDING to the Mplyunjaya Manuscripts, Muttu Virappa
ruled from the Sth Maéi of the year Vilambi to Vaikasi of
Vikdri (approximately from the 17th of February to June,
1659}, i.c., for about four months, The Pandyan Chroniele
and the Madurgittalovaraldre give his rcign-period as
from Panguni, Vilambi to Vaikidi, Vikiri (March to June,
1659), i.e., about three months.  All these chronicles, there-
fore, agree with regard to the final month of his reign :
there is not much difference between them as to the initial
date. Perhaps the date of coronation is given by the last
two authorities, which leave an interval of nearly a month
between the death of Tirumala and the accession of Muttu
Virappa. The Mréyunjaye Manuseripts make the latter event
follow the former in close succession. The Jesuit letters
are not specific with regard to Muttu Virappa's dates ; they
only say that he ruled for a very short time. Inscriptions
only give the information that he was the son of Tirumala
and the father of Chokkandtha. A period of Len years
given to his reign by the History of the Carnataca Governors
and the Supplementary Manuseript is opposed to the evi-
dence of inscriptions and the Jesuit letters. There seems
to be no ground for supposing that Muttu Virappa was the
illegitimate son of Tirumala Niyaka, as Nelson takes him
to be.! He does not support his opinion. The chronicles
do not refer to his illegitimacy ; they speak of him as the

' pp. 178 und 253,
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son of Tirumala® A Jesuit letter that says that his
character changed for the worse towards the close of his
reign, uot only does not cast any doubt on the legitimacy
of his birth bhut speaks of him as the worthy son of
Tirumala Nayaka” The existence of a legitimate son to
Tirumala is proved by inscriptions.*

The interval, allowed by the Pandyan Clroniele, between
the death of Tirumala and the accession of Muttu Virappa,
may have been occupied with the dispute about the
succession alluded to in some Mackensie Manuscripts® As
mentioned before, there is some obscurity aboul Kumira
Muttu's relationship to Tirumala Niyaka® He is said to
have been very much offended at his claims to the throne
being passed over by the people and the ministers. After
his victorious return from Mysore, he camped near Madura.
Negotiations proceeded, and, according to the chronicles,
a peaceful understanding was come to through the media-
tion of Ranganpa Niyaka. Kumira Muttu was given inde-
pendent charge of Sivakisi and some other places in
Tinnevelly ; and, handing over charge of his army, he
retired to his domains, This attitude of voluntary self-
effacement on the part of a general, just returned from his
successful campaign, probably confirms the fact that
Muttu Virappa was the legitimate successor of Tirumala
Mayaka. Ambition may have been knocked out of Kumira
Muttu by saner counsels, If he was not the brother
of Tirumala, he may have been his illegitimate son.

Shortly after his accession Muttu Virappa Nayaka
strengthened the fort of Trichinopoly, the key of his
northern dominions, by equipping it with soldiers and
munitions, and entrusting it to the command of Lingama
Nayaka. He was prepared to show a bold front to the

: Taylor, O.H.MS55., i, F‘g 33 and 183,
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Muhammadans in case they invaded his kingdom. He
urged the Nayak of Tanjore in vain to join him. The latter
commenced negotiations with Bijapur, which were nat
heeded. Soon ‘Idal Khan' (the Adil Shah) sent a large
army under ‘Sagosi ' and ‘ Mula' with the object of con-
quering the dominions of the Niayaks, Terrificd by the
preparations of Muttu Virappa, the Muhammadan generals
withdrew from Trichinopoly and suddenly surprised Tanjore
by attacking it on the 19th of March, 1659. Though they
were ill-provided with artillery, and the citadel was strongly
defended, the cowardice of itz commander zecured them an
easy victory. The fall of Tanjore was followed by that
of the other important towns of Mannarkovil and Vallam,
which surrendered after some resistance. The Muham-
madans were disappointed in their booty, as mast of it had
been carried away by the Kaflans. They left o garrison
at Vallam and spread over the country.” There scems to
be no evidence that they ‘marched as far as Madura’,
as Nelson thinks® It is said that a famine resulted
from the Muhammadan invasion, and people took refuge
in Madura and Satyamangalam. The Muhammadans
themselves suffered much from it and lost many men
and horses. Since they did not bury the dead bodies,
their putrefaction caused the outbreak of a pestilence,
which increased the mortality., T®b crown all, the generals
and officers of the Muhammadan army quarrelled among
themselves. ‘ Mula', reduced to this distressing position,
tried negotiations with the Nayaks of Madura and Tanjore.
The former was confident of his strength, and the latter
had nothing more to lose. Both of them realized full well
the adverse circumstances under which the Muhammadans
were labouring. Hence ‘ Mula’s ' overtures failed to evoke
any response. Compelled to leave Tanjore by famine and

'iBsrlrgnd, iii, pp. 50-3. Fide Appendix A, Letter No, 1.
P '
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contagion, he besieged Trichinopoly with the pick of his
troops. Ie soon realized that his task was far above his
resources. Neither stratagem nor force could break through
the perfect organization of the defences of the fort. Further
he found no profit in plundering the country. Bands of
Kallans wrought considerable havoc in his camp, and he
could not successfully deal with this elusive enemy. A
Jesuit writer observes,” * In times of war, a company of these
brave men was worth anarmy. Itis certain that the Musal-
mans during their invasion feared these thieves (Kallans)
maore than the king's armies. None is so capable of a conp
de main as they.' * Mula's' misfortunes only increased
with the lapse of time; and, therefore, he gave up his
fruitless attempt, on receiving a moderate sum of money
from the Niyak of Madura.”

Thus the courage and endurance of Muttu Virappa
Niyaka at last hore fruit. He bought peace at a very cheap
price. Soon after this victory he died. His short reign
was one continuous struggle with the Muhammadans, It
is difficult to judge how far the Jesuit view of the deteriora-
tion of his character is true. It admits his superiority to
his father at the commencement of his reign, but maintains
that he afterwards became a confirmed debauchee, and that
his want of moderation ended fatally.) The chronicles say
that he was liberal in gift‘-‘- of charity, and that the ' neigh-
bouring kings were in awe of him'" They therefore
confirm his warlike attitude towards the Mubhammadans.

® Bertvand, 1ii, p. 184-5.
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CHAPTER X

CHOKKANATHA NAYAKA
(1659-1682)

Accession—According to the Mplyunjaye Manuscripis,
Chokkaniitha ruled from Ani, Vikiri (July, 1659) to Ani,
Dundubhi (July, 1682). The Pdndyan Chronicle gives
exactly the same months and years, but puts the total
reign-period as twenty-four years, whereas it comes only to
about twenty-three years. This dating, though not confirmed,
" is not opposed to the evidence of the Jesuit lettersand inscrip.
tions. In this connection Mr. Rangachari gives the same
dates, viz. 10659-82, though the authoritics he cites do
not lead to this conclusion, perhaps owing to their not being
carefully quoted or interpreted. His attempt at epigra-
phical confirmation for the initial date of Chokkaniitha is
not satisfactory. He refers to an inscription dated 27th
Ani, Paribhava, in the Jayantigvara temple at Trichinopoly,
which he takes as belonging to 1659, but does not quote
the reference. Nor does he include it in his uscriptions
of the Madras Presidency, published in 1919. It may he
that it is his own discovery. Even then, the cyelic year
Pariibhava corresponds to 1666-7.! Mr, Rangachari gives
different dates to Chokkandtha in his later publication
‘referred to above. In one place it is said that he ruled
from 1660 to 1680 (probably a printer's error for 1682);*
in another place he says that Chokkanitha ‘ reigned from
1660 to 1682'.? It is not unlikely that he revised his
opinion, though he does not say so explicitly. Nelson does

1 1A, 107, p. 40, u, “roMOFA, L p. 862,
3 fbid., ii, p. 1010,
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not give the date of Chokkandtha's accession. Sewell,
who relies on him for almost all his information about the
Madura Nayaks, however, ascribes it to 1660.*
Choltkandtha's Early Years.—Chokkanitha ascended the
throne when he was only sixteen years old. Naturally, the
principal officers assumed real power and ruled the country
in his name, The Pradhani, the Riyasam, and the Dalavay
apparently formed a cabal, and removed, by exile or impri-
sonment, all those who seemed dangerous to their interests,
To avoid public scrutiny of their usurpation and as a
blind to their real objects, they conceived the ambitious
scheme of an offensive war against the Muhammadans to
re-establish the old political order of things; and entrusted
Dalaviy Lingama Nayaka, one of the trio, with the carry-
ing out of the scheme, It is not likely that Chokkanatha -
took any part in initiating this impracticable programme.
Accordingly, the Dalavily proceeded with an army of 40,000
to drive * Sagosi' from Gingi and take possession of it.
His military reputation was so great that none could
snuspect the motive of this coalition of ministers. True to
their plan, Lingama protracted the campaign and
enriched himself with bribes from the Muhammadan gene-
ral. Thus the usurpers enjoyed absolute power, and filled
their coffers by oppressing the people. Expecting a bold
move on the part of Chokkanitha, they rigorously regulated
his freedom and confined him to his palace with due
honours. When the young king chafed at their leash,
they hatched a plot to dethrone him and put his younger
brother in his place. With the connivance of Lingama
they summarily dealt with the loyal adherents of the prince
and put them out of the way. Chokkanitha was let
into this secret by a lady of the court; and he exhibited
a courage and resourcefulness far above his age. He skilfully

*ii, pp. 200 and 202,
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negotiated with two of his trusted lieutenants, who were
then in exile, and gave them the cue to nip the conspiracy
in the bud. With startling rapidity they discharged
their duty; the Riyasam was murdered, and the Brahman
Pradhini blinded. Chokkandtha became free, and lost no
time in rallying his partisans around him. e did not fecl
strong enough to punish Lingama Nayuka opeuly for his
disloyalty ; he concealed his anger in a show of [riendship,
When at last he decided to deal with him severcly, the
wily general got scent of his plans and made a speedy
escape. Lingama joined ‘Sagosi' and persuaded him to
besiege Trichinopoly, Accordingly, with an army of 12,000
infantry and ‘7,000 cavalry and with assurances from the
Nayak of Tanjore, they endecavoured with conlidence to
meet Chokkanitha's 50,000 men. The young king did not
notice a flaw in his arrangement. The new Pradhini was of
the same pattern as his predecessor, and he did not scruple
to foil his master’s plans. FHis sympathies were entirely
with the enemy, and he worked so cleverly that most
of the leaders on the king's side lost their lives or fell into
the enemy's hands. This treachery was taken advantage
of by Lingama Niyaka to attempt to seize Chokkanitha
and depose him. At last the young king realized his folly
and made haste to repair the harm done. Ile boldly
assumed the command of his army and put forth vigorous
efforts. His character and energy strengthened his cause,
and numerous recruits flocked to his standard. Desertions
from the enemy's camp became frequent. Linpama and
“'Sagosi * lost heart and withdrew to Tanjore. Gradually
Chokkaniitha’s self-confidence increased, and with an army
of more than 70,000, he marched against Tanjore. The
two generals hurriedly retreated to Gingi, and the Nayak
of Tanjore made an abject surrender,’

* Bertraud, iil, pp. 121-3, Fide Appeodix A, Letter No, 2,
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Though Chokkaniatha, and his father before him, strug-
gled manfully to stem the tide of the Muhammadan deluge,
and though Trichinopoly, the nerve-centre of the kingdom,
was not lost, the country suffered unspeakable misery
for threc or four years. Tanjore suffered more than
Madura ; the people abandoned their homes and took refuge
in Madurn and some at 5t. Thome. The exeessive and
fatal veligious zeal of Vijuyarighava made him culpably
negligent of his subjects’ sufferings. To all the mishaps
due to the Muohammadan scourge and famine was added
the inhuman exploitation of the situation by the Dutch,
prompted by mercenary motives. A Jesuit writer patheti-
cally describes their atrocitics®: ‘ Shame, eternal shame
to the Duteh, who cruelly speculated on the misery of the
Indians! They enticed them to the coast by the bait of
abundant food ; then, when their number became pretty
large and their strength a little recouped, they piled them up
in their ships and transported them to other countries to be
sold as slaves!’ To some slight extent, relief was given by
Chokkaniitha to the starving ; he issued orders to feed them
irrespective of the locality from which they came, and he
himself moved from Madura to Trichinopoly to supervise
this work of charity.” But public calamities were too
numerous and severe to be amenable to human control.
Extraordinary events are described as having happened in
the kingdom of Madura in 1662.° Terrible havoc was
done to life and property by wild beasts freely roaming
about in towns and villages; several children were born
with teeth fully cut ; strange insects vitiated the atmosphere,
and people died in large numbers without exhibiting any
symptoms of illness. These incidents, most of them pro-
bably the results of war and epidemic, worked on the
superstitious imagination of the people, who saw in these

o Bertrand, if, pp. 124-5. 7 Zbid. , pp. 128-30.  * Jhid., pp. 155-6.
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portents the shadows of greater misfortuncs in store
for them.

The interval of nominal peace for the country was not
of long duration. About 1663 a Bijapur army under the
command of * Vanamian ’, the renowned captain of * Idal
Khan', came to Trichinopoly. There was panic everys
where. The only redeeming feature in the situation was the
confidence which the people had in Chokkanatha's courge
and wisdom. The Mubammadan general tried ab liest Lo
frighten the Niyak into submission by displaying his
resources, but was disappointed. His attempts to storm
the fort were of no avail, as the artillery of the besivged
conld not be silenced. His losses were so great that he
was compelled to raise the sicge. But be suecceded in
completely destroying the suburbs and ruining the sur-
ronnding country. The crops were destroyed, villages
burnt, and their inhabitants ill-treated and captured to he
made slaves. To avoid this dishonour, many are said to
have put an end to their own lives en masse by gathering
together in a house and setting fire to it, and in other ways.
After pillaging the country to the utmost of his ability,
‘Vanamian' persnaded the Niyak of Madura to pay him
a large sum of money as a condition of his leaving the
kingdom.®

By thus buying off the Muhammadans, Chokkanitha
gained the opportunity he yearned for to wreak vengeance
on Vijayarighava of Tanjore for betraying him and
co-operating with his enemy. He marched with a strong
army to Tanjore and captured Vallam, Soon he was
able to dictate terms to his enemy. He garrisoned Vallam
and returned to his kingdom.® Referring to the events
of 1664, Nieuhoff ™ makes the following remarks: *The
Nayk of Madure had been for a considerable time in

® Bertrand, iii, 1.1£ 1580, Fide ﬁppﬂudlxﬂ Letter Wo, 3.
10 fhid., pp. 1580-60, Pide bid. ' p. 207, Fide Appendix C.
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war with the Nayk of Tanjaor and taken many places
from him; at my time the war was renewed with more
vigour than ever; and the Nayk of Tanjaor having
gathered a great army attacked the Navk of Madure so
briskly that he took from him in a few days all the places
he had conquered from him before. The army of the
Nayle of Madure being much disheartened by the victories
of their enemies, the Madure sent to me to Koylang
his Chief Governor, desiring assistance from the Company
(Dutch) ; but, as it was not our interest to engage on
any side, I excused it as handsomely as I could.' Perhaps
Chokkanitha’s occupation of Vallam was only for a short
time. Procnza’s letter of 1665" speaks of the Nayak of
Tanjore as having heen ‘ defeated and fleeced by Sokkalinga,
whom he had notoriously betrayed '

The next campaign of Chokkaniitha was against the
SGtupati, who is said to have refused him help when the
Muhammadans invaded the kingdom. It is likely that
Tirumalai Sttupati, who was exempted from tribute and
highly honoured by Tirumala Nayaka, thought too much
of his status to be a loyal subordinate of the young king,
and to co-operate with him in his undertakings. But
Chokkanitha was bent on punishing him for his disaffec-
tion. He did not allow the ardour of his victorious army
to cool. Without waiting for a moment, he entered the
Marava country and captured the important forts of
Tiruppattir, Pudukottai, Minimadurai, and Kilaiyarkavil.
Undaunted by these losses, the Sétupati persisted in
guerilla tactics, withdrew to his impenetrable forests,
and avoided any open engagement with the enemy.
Chokkanitha soon grew disgusted with this dilatory warfare.
He had, moreover, to celebrate some religious festivals in his
capital. So he entrusted the further conduct of operations

12 Rertrand, fil, pp. 164-5.
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to some of his generals and returned to Madura. Ina
short time the scales were turned against him. Intimatc
local knowledge, combined with skill in fighting in such a
country as Ramnad, gave the advantage to the Maravas.
‘ Chokkanitha, plunged in deep grief by the news of the
shameful defeats which his captains had sustained in the
Marava country, was not recciving any visit.' ™ He had
reluctantly to give up the idea of chastizing his vassal and
satisfy himself with retaining possession of some of the
important forts in the Marava country,"

Change of Capital.—Nelson™ thinks that Chokkaniitha's
‘ first act was to move the Court from Madura to Trichino-
poly '. But this is borne out neither by the Jesuit letters
nor by any other extant source of information., Proenza's
letter of 1662 refers to Chokkanitha's leaving Madura for
Trichinopoly to organise famine relief”  ITis letter of 1665
says that he went to Madura to request an audience with
the great Niyak." TFurther on, it explicitly states that, “to-
wards the close of this year (1665), the Nayak fixed his
court at Trichinopoly ' Nieuhoff™ says that in 10604,
‘the capital city and ordinary residence of the Nayk
is Madure'. From these references it is clear that
Chokkanatha removed his capital to Trichinopoly more
than six years after the commencement of his reign.

The chief reason for this change of capital secems to he
the superiority of Trichinopoly to Madura as a defensive
stronghold. Chokkandtha must have learnt its value [rom
his experience of the past six years. He probably dis-
regarded, or was not cognizant of, the dangers attending
on his move.® Having decided to fix his court permanently
at Trichinopoly, he set about equipping it with all the
paraphernalia of a capital. Accordingly in 1666 he made

13 Bertrand, iil, p. 182.

14 Jhid,, p. 160,  Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 3. . 182,

10 Bertrand, fii, p. 128, 1T fhid., pp. 1B1-2. 1% fdid., p. IHE.
% p, 206, [Mide Appendix C, 50 Ante, pp. 13-4,
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projects for the construction of a palatial residence there.
He laid hands on the magnificent palace of Tirumala
Niyaka in Madura and ordered the removal of some of its
precious materinls,  His motive in this work of destruction
is nol clear. It may be that he was averse to fresh taxation
for lmilling purposes, since the oppression of his subjects
by his Pradhini had ereated miueh discontent, and he had to
punish that officer for his excesses.”  Whether there was
any justification for his act or not, he stands condemned by
the artistic world for this bharbarity.

The Mysore Wari—On the authority of Wilks, Mr.
Rungachari states that * Chokleandtha seems to have been
engaged in the first decade of his role in a war with
Mysore . ® The former says that in 1667 % * Chuckapa,
Naick of Madura, had meditated the entire conquest of
Mysoor; but the events of the war reversed his expecta-
tions, and left the districts of Erroor (IErode) and Darapoor
(Dhiiripuram) as fixed conquests in the possession of
Deo Raj, after he had urged his suecess to the extent of
levying large contributions on Trichinopoly and other places -
of importance.' This amounts to the loss of Coimbatore
amil Salem by Chokkandtha in 1667.

Owing to the absence of the Jesuit letters between 1667
and 1673, no decisive evidence is available for the statement.
André Freice's letter of 1666 refers to this year as almost
barren of cvents with regard to Madura. If the big disaster
alluded to by Wilks happened in the following year, there
would have been some reference in the letter to the poten-
tinlities of the sitvation at least,

It is hard to believe that, soon after a trying period of his
reign lasting about six years, Chokkanitha contemplated
the ambitious scheme of conquering the whole of Mysore.

21 Bertrand, iii, p. 202. Fide Appendix A, lettur Nu 4
22 1.4, 1917, p.-!.li. i, p. 36

21
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His inscriptions of 1067 (Plavango and 1668 (Kilaka) are
found at Kumdralingun and Tiruchchengodu.®  The
inscriptions of Dévariija Udaivitr, of about 1670, are found
at and near Satyamangalaom.”  This way perhaps imply
aggression on the pact of the king of Mysore who probably
took advantage of Chokkaniitha's dificultivs, Bt there
seems to be no evidence o confliem the presence of the
Mysore army in 1667 at * Trichinopoly and other plees ol
impartance ', Obwiously Wilks has antedated e events
he describes, LEven the Jesuit letter of 16707 speaks only
of Mysore's fortifying the citadels taken from the northern
provinces of Madura ; there is no reference at all in it Lo
the possession of Coimbatore and Salem by Mysore.  The
conquests referred to above were most probably those of
Chikkadéva in the last years of Dévariijn's reign.  More-
over, the statement of Wilks, quoted above, necd not I
tnken seriously, as his facts and dates with regard to
Madurn are not alwnys above question.  In 1053 he speaks
of a ‘ Vencatadry Naick, brother of the Raju of Maduara’,
and of * Veerapa, Naick of Madura'.™  As he does not

24 Appendiz 1, Nos, 168 aud 167, =3 M., Mus, 171, 172, il 174

=0 Rerteand, 1, p. 240, Fide Appendix A, Letter No, S,

7§ 1, 34,

Mre. Rangnehori’s treatment of Wilks in this respect 5 very conlusel.
Even though he tries to reconeile his oplnion with that of Wheeler, e
does pot say how for Do aggrees with him, He seems W aecept his date,
joe., 1667, Ffor Chokkandtha's alleged war with Mysore, bat certain other
statements of his go agninst this seeming approval.  THs reference to
the Tanjore, Mysore, and Rommnad compoigns seems to indiente Dind, in
his opinion, the second Fﬂ-.'l:ﬂﬂi‘:ﬂ the thinl. e speaks of the * next len
yvears ' of Chokkanftha's reign s o period of * profouned raoguilline *,
but does not specily the period (£ o0, 107, po d0. Later on, he
ohserves that *in 1674 the iuterval of 4":“!.‘!& endbed aned Chokkanitha
entered into o series of wars ' (fded., . 57 Accondingly, the interval
of peace refers to the period, 1664-74, and thevefore the Mysore war mist
have tnken place in 1064 or before,  ‘Chix means the refection of Wilks's
date, vie., 1667, PFurther, Mr. Rongachori dees not sy whether e
ngrees with his facts, He seems to believe that o Mysore invasion took
ploce in the early years of Chokkanfitha's reign.  He does nol atlemm
to prove it, but rests coutent with the reference toan i:murilpt{un il
1668-70, In annther connection he refers to the conguests of Dhodduléea
in 1G67 in the kingdom of Madura (LA, 1917, p. 122),
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specifly the sources, his information cannot be uccepted
unless it is confirmed by other evidence.

The reign of Chokkaniitha from 1667 to nearly 1672 is
practically  withont history, I any Jesuit letlers were
written during this time, they are all lost; at any rate,
Andrd Freire's letter of 1673, which is said o contain an
neconut of Gliokkanitha's wars, has suffered this fate. **

Wear with Tanjore, 167 3 ~=Nelson ascribies this war to
IO7:4, thongh André Preive's letter of 1070 says that an
account of it had been given in his letter of 1674, We
have o depend almost entirely on native elionicles for an
acconnt of Chokkunatha's war with Tanjore.” Though
there are discrepancies with regurd to details, they agree
in the main events,

The precise cause of this war is nol clear.  According
to the chronicles, it was the refusal of Vijayariighava to
give his daughter in marringe to Chokkandtha, It is
likely that the loss of the latter's conguest in Tanjore,
referred to by John Nieuhoff,® was the governing con-
sideration.  Prolably Chokkavitha  only  demanded the
Tanjore princess us o subterfuge for his intended war.
Nelson ™ says:  One would naturally have supposed that
the offer of marriage would bave been gladly aceepted, more
uspecially as the two kings . . . were both Niyakkans,
descended probably from common ancestors. This was
far from being the case; Sevvappa Niyaka, the ancestor
of the Tanjore Niyaks, was connected by marriage with
the Vijayanagar royal house,™ whereas the ancestor of
the Niyaks of Madura could not boast of such nobility,
and was only a humble servant of the emperor, who
gradually rose to a high position. Though this difference

*8 Bertrand, iii, p. 247 cnd #,  Vide ﬁ{: ndix A, Letter No. 5.

=0 Taylor, 0.4 .AMSS., i, pp. 185 and 101-0; C.£., i, p. 177; S.K.A.,
Nonrees, p. 324 ef seq.

an Auts‘. p. 159, 81 g, 181, 2% Anis, p. 52
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in status was overlooked by some of his predecessors,
Vijuyarighava may have thought differently of the matter.
There is no ecvidence to confirm the statement of the
chronicles that Tirumala Niayaka stabbed one of his wives,
a Tanjore princess, for speaking disparagingly of his
new palace at Madura and preferving her father's  palaee
at Tanjore. Most probably Vijayarighava attributed all
his past sufferings to the ambitions of Chokkanatha.
There can have heen no rveanl good-will between  the
twao.

It is said that Chokkandtha's agents, who cacrivd the
‘proposal for marriage, were contemptuously treated.™
Highly enraged at this insult, Chokkaniitha collected

33 Phe pelotions Detween Moduen and Tanjore bad Deen steoined
from the very Deginning, and this steain was aggravated as the two
viceroynlties wradunlly lh.'l.l'tlerli:t‘l in thedr particular allibnde wwaeds
the empire. The diference of status, due to the cliser vonnueetion ol
Tanjore with the mling fonily of Vijayanagar, could not bave Teen o
bar te the proposal of o marriege allinnee, as Raghuoiilhe &5 soid bo
have marvied n Pindya prineess and o dovghter of the Niyak of Gingi,
There s also nothing Improbable in Tliromala's hoviog morrled  the
Tanjore princess, whether she was aetunlly stobbed to death, n Uw
manner deseribed, or oo, In view, therelore, of hese prm.-jmr,s
nlliances it is extremely likely that Chokkandthe sought an allisnee Iy
marriage with Tavjore. The request for the allisgee and the vefusad

“to comply must both be considered solely from the point of view of
litical relotionship between the two families.  JE s very likely that

“hokkaniitha sought an allianee, among other reasong, to Eain te sap-

ort of Toanjore ngainst bis own troublesome fendntories and officers.

j{;uﬂar' chava's reluctance moy bave been hased similarly on the past
fullure of such allianee to Lring abont friendship between the fomil s
or o common policy belween both. [t is not oolikely that there wis
some kind of ill-trentment of o Tanjore princess, and Vijuyorfphova
was reluctant on that ground to send another princess inte the Family
of Madura, However that may be, the faet that o proposal wos made
for the hand of o princess and the proposal wos ruJL:uted wis not (e
sole cause of the woar between the two. The halitual upposition of
policy nnd the traditionnl hostility of yenrs would be quite enough to
justify the view of Tanjore that there wos nothiog to {:u gnlm,_-{lﬁ; o
marringe alllance. The provoking cause ot the time must have been
something in the internsl troubles of Chokkanfitha nnd his doubt as to
the attitude of Tanjore with regard to the eygressions of Mysore, If
Madura suspected the neutrality of Tanjore, the rejection of the marri-
age proposals would have been sufficient cause to go to war. “The
proposal of marriage must therefore have been made—as the change of
capital must have been—to prevent any understanding between ndvane-
ing Mysore and Tanjore vn the flank.—/Fd,
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a large army, and entrusted the Tanjore expedition
to his Dalaviy, Venkatakrishnappa Nayaka, and his
Piéshkir (Revenue Olficer ar Treasurer), Chinna Tambi
Mudaliyir.," Chinna Kativa Niyaka of Kannividi accom-
panied them with his troops.  They marched to Tanjore,
and first captured Vallam, after defeating o detachment of
the Tanjore army.  Vijayacighava, informed of this defeat,
soon collected « large foree to meet the Madura army, which
was rapidly proceeding o atlack his capital. A well-
contested battle took place, and victory declared in favour of
Madura, ‘The Dalavity, Venkatakrishnappa, sent o message
te Vijayarighava urging him to accept the marringe alliance
and avert disaster. The Tanjore Niyak adhered to his
first reply and rejected the offer of peace. Then a regular
siege of Tanjore began; the fort was stormed and the
Madura army entered the town. A second message of
good-will was sent, but Vijayardghava did not yield, and
was bent on lighting to: the last, in spite of numerous
desections from his side. Making arrangements for the
blowing up of the harem at his signal, he reconciled him-
self to his son, who was in prison, and came out boldly
with him to fight the enemy. He scornfully rejected the
last conciliatory message of the Madura general, and
despatched the order for the destruction of the whole royal
household.  After some mutual slanghter, the mines were
set lire to and all perished, Vijayarighava died along
with his son in the struggle that ensued. The Madura
Dalaviy garrisoned Tanjore and returned to Trichinopoly.
The whole kingdom of Vijayarighava fell into the hands
of Chokkaniitha, who appointed his foster-brother, Alagiri
Nayaka, as its viceroy. All the three commanders were
honoured with gifts and titles.

. " He is also described ns the Dajavay and Pradhfini for seven years.
'1'%1;1::1', 0.5, M5S., U, p. 120, Tamil passage

Mr. Rangachari’'s account of this war 1. 4., 1917, P 58-62) best
{llustrates his conception and treatment of history, and gives point to
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The Mahratta Congrest and Ovenpation of Tanjore.~In
167 Alagiri Niyaka became the ruler of Tanjore.  IHe
restored peace and orvder, organized the affairs of the
kingdom, and sent the surplus revenue to Chokkanitha.
In this subordinate position he did not cemain long.  His
wmbition inereasing with power, e neglected the regular
remission of the revenues to Trichinopoly, and [ailed to
despateh  the neeessary eorvespondence. Sonpetimes he
addreessed letters to Chokkanatha in the styvle of an inde-
pendent kingof Tanjore, The latter was irritated by his con-
duet and sent a note of admonition to him. Alngiri merely
justitied his letter by refercing to his status and the custom of
the Tanjore court. Chokkuanitha was beside himself with
rage, but wus advised by his ministers o refrain from under-
taking a punitive expedition, and wateh further developents,
Alagici Nayaka thus lost the support of Chokkanatha at
a time when his hold over Tanjore was not well established.

Alagiri scems to have retained in his service some al
least of the officers of the late king, At any rale,
Venkanya, the latter's Rayasam (Sccretary), continned in
power.” Hescems to have observed the attitude of Alugiri
towards Chokkandtha and the possibilities of a roplure
between the two. He may bave been discontented with
his position and influence in the new regime. Lo was told
the well-known stutetient of Polybiug that  to admit the possibility of o
miracle is to onnihilate the possibility of history *. e charneterlses
Lhe Tanjore war as o romanee and gives it o trentment nceordingly.  1le
deseribes not only  the battle botween  the two  armies, Dol also
Cthe wor of  magic ' with ouwmerous  pacadlel  references, perhaps
to prove its rewlity. He does not give an occounl of the wi
collated from the varioos chronleles, but heaps version upon version,
Sometimes he breaks the progress of his nareative by drawing  pointed
attention to amazing improbabilities, inconsistencies, nnd anachronisms.
Thongh he snys thut the nccounts given by Whesler and Manueei are
"inaccurate ', ' uanrelinble ', * positively wrong ', ete., he gives them
fully, but thinks it "unpecessary (o enter intu o criticism of these
fables ', Floally he enters into a philesophical lament on, what moay
be termed, the ' blind and inexorable law of consequences ', and com=

pletes his history of the war with o reference to ghostly manifestations.
0 B KA., Sonrces, p, 327,
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that the Nayak family of Tanjore was not totally extinct,
and that a boy had been saved from the catastrophe which
had recently befallen the royal household, and was being
secretly brought up at Negapatam by a'wealthy mevchant,”
This information was skilfully utilised by Venkanna, who
worked out a scheme (o lwing abont the downfall of
Alngivi, and the restoration of the old dynasty, with the
abject of bettering his fortunes, It is highly probable that he
dirceted all the influence he had in the kingdom to creat-
ing a complete breach between Alagivi and Chokkandtha.
Organizing the necessary measures' to facilitate his eoup
d'état, he hastened to Negapatam to get hold of the boy,
Chengamala Das™ It is said that Venkanna lived with the
boy in the merchant's house till he was ten or twelve
years of age, i.e. for about eight years. But it isclear from
the Jesnit letter of 1676™ that Alagiri's power in Tanjore
must have come to an end about 1675, Moreover, Venkanna
was too much of a politician not to realize that a moment's
delay wonld be dangerous to the success of his plans.
Taking the boy and his nurse with him, he went to
Bijapur to obtain help from the Sualtan for the estab-
lishment of Chengamala 1)is on the throne of Tanjore,
His diplomacy wis successful, and Ekoji (Venkaji), the
general of ' Idal Khan °, was ordered to drive Alagiri out of
Tanjore and re-instate the boy on the throne."

a7 fhid., pp. 325-6.  He is deseribed as o petty merchant in another
chroniele.  Taylor, 0.0 M55, 1, p. 200.

a8 He i said 1o have been the son of Vijayarighava in some chironicles,
und in others, the son of Mannfir Das, the son of Vijayaraghava, As
Vijayarfighava is deseribed as o man of exghtr at the time of his denth,
it is more probahle that he was the son of Mannfr Dis and grandson of
Vijayarighava, There is a difference of opinion about his age also,
whether hie was two or four years old when he was taken to Negapatam,

a0 Rertrand, ill, pp. 247-8. Fide Appendix A, Letter No, 5.

10 Nelson (p. 15,\?} ives a slightly different account, but does nol
state his anthority, ﬁe says that Chengamala Diis * escaped {rom the
Palace during the confusion which ensued upon its destruction, and fAed
for refuge to the court of Tdal Khan, who received him kfndl}* antl
promised to assist him',
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Alagivi Niyaka was alive to the danger which threatened
him, and he made careful preparations to meet Ekoji.
The latler's progress was arrested, and he had to employ
uther means to secure his object.  He stayed for about o year
on the borders of the kingdom, awaiting & more favourable
opportunity,  Meanwhile Venkanpa's adherents seem o
have excented their part of the scheme faithfully and with
success ; Alagici had estranged Chokkaniitha, and the peaple
of Tanjore were ready for a bold stroke of policy.  Accord-
ingly, Ekoji marched to Tanjore and laid siege to it. Alagiri
realized his distressing position and humbly appealed to
Chokkanitha for help; but the latter remained obdurate
and would not forgive his past conduct. Lknji captured
the fort on the first attack, and Alagiri is said to have
fled to Mysore." The whole kingdom of ‘Tanjore was now
in the hands of IZkojis

In accordunce with the instructions of his master, ISkoji
erowned Chengamala Dis and entrusted Venkanna with the
conduct of the ceremonials. It is said that the foster-
mother of the king showed the place where the trensures of
Vijayardghava had been buried, and that & sum amounting
to twenty-six lakhs in pagodas and-jewels was found. Muni-
ficent gifts were made to Ilkoji and others who had espoused
his cause, besides the revenues of the districts of Kumba-
konam, Mannirkovil, and Pipanidam, to cover the expenses
of Ekoji's expedition. After this, Ekoji is said to have
retired with his army to Kumbakonam,

1 Fanjiriri Andlra Riafula Charifra wnd Tawfdoded 1Fef Charvitra say
that Bkofi marched straipght off into the kingdom of Tunjore, captured
the fort of Aiyampet, and completely routed Alngird in o pitched battle.
The lotter horeledly withdrew to Tanjure, Receiving no help from
Chokkaniitha, suspecting treachery from his own men, and nding Bkoji
attack the fort of Tanjore, he Jost cowrnge and Aed with his family
and Eaithful followers by night to Mysore, by way of Arivalfir.  But this
ncconnt is not supported by the Jesuit letters,  Bertennd, i1, pp. 247-8,
Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 5.

** Another chronicle says that the revenue from the Kumbakonam
istrict was ji'iven w Ekoji for the malntenance of his army.  Tavlor,
O.H, M58, i, p. 201,
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Nelson® remarks that, after the conquest of Tanjore,
IZkaji threatened Trichinopoly, but was not hold enough to
hazard his recent success by attacking it. This is supported
by w Jesuit letter, But he goes further and says that ‘ina
very short time LEkoji had made himself master of the
greater parct of the kingdom (of Madura), und of all its
principal places, with the exception perhaps of Sattiyaman-
pgalum, . . . Nothing was left to Chokka Niatha but the
fortress of Trichinopoly,' It seems Nelson has misunder-
stood André Freire’s letter of 1676, which only says that ‘the
citndel and all the kingdom were about to be his conguest
if his bolduess had equalled his good fortune '. Continuing,
it observes : ‘ Day by duy Ekoji, on the one hand, and the
king of Mysore, on the other, will ubsorb the last débris of
this kingdom, once so flourishing. The conquest of it will
he very easy.' '*

Further, Nelson says that ‘ IZkoji omitted to carry out
[dal Khan's orders with regard to the veinstatement of
Chengamaln Nayakkan . This opinion is partly the resolt
of his unbounded faith in the Jesuit letters, and of his
rejection of all other testimony, however valuable. The
following suems to be his anthority : * This is what has just
happened at Tanjore. General Ekoji, instead of placing
the son of the late Nayak on the throne, according to the
orders of Idal Khan, has preferred to usurp the title and
anthority of an independent king.'"  This statement in the
Jesuit letter does not follow close upon the description
of Ekoji's conquest of Tanjore. Hence it is open to the
inference that his usucpation took place some time after
his conquest. Morceover, all the chronicles agree in saying
that Chengamala Dis was made king of Tanjore and that
Ekoji's usurpation happened later.

435 166, * Bertrand, iii, p. 248, Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 5.
+ g 196, 4% Bertrand, iil, E 249, [7de Appendix A, Letter No §
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The rule of Chengamala Das did not hegin under a happy
augury,  Flis first act ultimately led-to hisvoin, Persuaded
by his nurse, he appeinted the merchant of Negapation,
who had proteeted him in his exile, as his Dalavay and
Pradhiini.  Riyasam Venkappa had worked so zealonsly for
the cause of Chengamala Dis, hoping to oceupy this high
office.  He was highly displeased at the loss of his covensl
prize, and he plotted the ruin of his master. e lelt Tanjore
and went to the camp of Ekoji at Kumbakonam to induee
him to take possession of the kingdom. Though he work.
ed on his ambition skilfully, the latter's fear of his master,
the Bijapur Sultan, made him turn a deaf ear to his impor-
tunity. Soon the news of the death of ‘Idal Khan' wus
received, and Ekoji was emboldened.,  Venkanoa promised
him hearty co-operation, and assured him  that the
kingdom would he his, without a struggle. e hurried
to Tanjore and terrilied Chengamala Das by an exaggerated
account of Ekoji's plans against him, with the resolt that
the young king and his followers left Tanjore and took
refuge in Ariyaldr. Ekoji captured Tanjore without any
effort. Venkanna was given a free hand, and he restored
peace and order in the kingdom in a short time. But
Ekoji had no faith in the constancy of Venkanmu's loyalty,
as he had betrayed two of his former masters, Alagiri and
Chengamala Dis. Consequently, he thought of imprisoning
him. Venkanna, the unseropulous king-maker, managed to
learn his impending fate, and, cursing his stars, left Tanjore
stealthily. This is the account given in the chronicles, "

The Jesuit records refer only to the fact of LEkoji's
usurpation, and do not detail the circnmstances leading to it.
The letter of 1676 * describes the methods of his settle-
ment of the country. Ikoji tried to make amends for the

7 8 K. A, Sowrces, pp. 386-7: Taylor K., dii, pp. 1780
O.H. MSS., i, PP : 201-2. ' P
*® Bertrand, ii 248, Fide Appendix A, Letter No, 5,
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defect in his title by increasing the material welfare of his
subjects.  He paid particular attention to agrienlture, and
improved irrigation facilities by repairing and constructing
canals and tanks.  Lands lying fallow were cultivated, and
the havvest of 1673-0 was unusually rich, vseelling the
reconds of many preceding yeurs.”

Choklandtha and Mysore.-—Chokkanatha's authority in
Coimbatore and Salem till at least 1669 is probably con-
lirmed by his inseriptions, dated 1663, at Ticuchehengodu,®
1665 at Kannadiputtir and Kagivar," 1667 at Komiralio-
gaum, and 1668-9 at Tirnchehengada.® He recognizes Sricanga
Raya (L) ss emperor in theee of these, and also in his
Sticugam inscription of 1662 From about 1670 the
epigraphical records of the Mysore rulers are found in
this part of the Madora kingdom. Diévarijn Udaiyirc's
inscriptions are these at Sengalarai in 1669-70, and at
Viguappalli in 1671.% Chikkadéva Riya's records are
found in 1673 at Daodda Bélar, and in 1676 at Kumira.
pilaiyam and Satyamangalan.® It is therefore clear that,
during the last years of Devarijn  Udaiyiic (1659-72),
there were encroanchments on Madura territory, and that
Chikkaddva was pursuing the aggressive policy of his
|predecessor.

0 My, Rangachari speaks of 13koji's mareh to Trichinopoly and the
fntlure of his attampt to capture it, owing to the * vigilanee ' of Chok-
kanfitha, after his vsurpation and paclfieation of Tanjore. (£, A.,
7, p. 76,) He gives a reference lo  Nelson. Moreover, he says
that, for sl the information contrined +in the Jesuit letters, his
authority Is Nelson. Dot the latter puts this event "o lew days ' after
the conquest of Tunjore by Ekoji. Further he attributes his fallure not
ta the *vigllanee ' of Chokkanitha, but to Ekoji's weuat of boldoess
and unwillingness to take risk and thereby compromise his receat
success. Ekoji's wsurpation, or disregard of the Instructions of his
maoster, cume after his appearance before Trichinopoly. Nelson {g- 106)

fves the Jesuit version correctly. Mr. Roogachari, however, rightly

iffers from him in speaking of the crownlng of Chengamala Dis, and
in Plncing Ekojl's usurpation after this event.
% Appendix D, No, 158. *t fbid., Nos. 165 and 166,
52 fhid,, Nos, 168 and 167. 13 fbid,, No., 157,
3+ fhid., Nos. 172 and 174, 35 fhid., Nos. 176, 181, and 182,
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The actual events leading to this expansion of Mysore al
the expense of Madura are clouded in obscurity, Chokka-
nitha was too busy with perils neaver home till about 1660,
His internal affairs scem to have engaged his attention for
some time more. It is highly probable that Devaviga
Udaiyilr took advantage of the general wenkness of Madura
during this period. With the anceession ol Chikkadeva Riya
(1672-1704) cvents seem to have marched more vapidly.
About this time probubly, Chokkanitha of Madura, the
general of the Tunjore ruler, one Diamarly Niyapendra,
and an officer of the Bijupur Sultan ave said to have fought
at Erode against Chikkadéva of Mysore to uphold the cliims
of Seiranga 111, They were defeated, and the Vijayanagar
emperor fled to Ikkeri."

Sivappa Nayaka, after murdering his elder brother, hud
become ruler of Bednore. He approached Chikkadeva with
the proposal for an alliance between them.  Ouw the latter’s
refusal, he took up the cause of Sriranga, the refugee
emperor, and, with the help of some neighbouring chiefs,
declared war on Mysore He was defeated at Hassan
and Sakkar@patna, and these places were annexed to
Mysore.

The above-mentioned defeat of Chokkanatha and his
allies at Erode is referred to in an inscription of 1679,%
which says that Chikkadéva conquered the * Piandyu King
Chokka ' in battle. Another inscription of Chikkadéva,”
dated 1680, records that he * defeated the army of the Lord
of Madhura in the Irodu country, took Trpura (Trdirapura,
i.e, Trichinopoly) and Anantapuri, slew Dimarla Aiya-
péndra, put Anantoji to flight, and took Dby assault
Samballi, Omaliir and Dhiripuram,’ It is perhaps these
events that Wilks ascribes to 1667.%

08, K. A, Sowrces, p, 21, A7 thid,,

L 30y,
38 Appeadix D, No. 180, = fhid, ﬁu. 1tH,
U8 dufe p. 161, The series of events that ultimately led
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It is likely that disagreements arose between Chokkaniatha
and the ruler of Tanjore as a result of this defeat, which
probably precipitated the former's war against the latter
about 1673. Hence the remark ina Jesuit letter of 1676
is significant, that the Niayak of Madura was engaged in
disastrous wars ahout 167.3."

The aggressions of Mysore about 1670, referved to above,
may have led 1o Chokkaniitha's war with Chikkaddéva on
behalf of Sritangn 111, The latter's cause was taken up
again by the chiel of lkkéri without success. After this
nothing is known of Srivanga. is nephew, Kodandarima,
the last representative of the Vijavanugar emperors known
to us, is said Lo have defeated Dalaviy Kumiraiya, the
Mysore general, at Asana (Hassan).”

Nothing definite is known about the fate of Sriranga I
and Kodandarima. A silver plate grant of Sivaji records
his gift to the widow and two sons of the former, who is said
to have died a fugitive, * in the west country .*' This means
that Sriranga 111 must have died some time before 1677.

By 1676 Chikkadéva Tdya had occupied the province of
Satyamangalam, and captoved the important fortresses in
the north-west of the kingdom of Madura.  He strengthen
ed them with o view to further encroachments on Madura
territory, on the plea of safeguarding himself against the
Muhwnmadans.  Probably he thought that Chokkanitha's
intended war against Ekoji would afford him a favourable
opportunity for the carrying out of his schemes against
Madura. About 1676 the political horizon was very dark;
to the results embodied in this inscription sre delailed in the
Introduction. Early in the reign of Sriraoga, Mysore gave clear
indications of her [eeling of independence and thus became the
object of attack by the emperor, and, in his name, bythe Niyalk of
Madura and others for their own purposes. Two or three wars can be
digeerned in this offort, and this last under Chikkadévn Riya was the
culmination of the successful effort of Mysore to hold her own against
this adverse combination. — &,

91 Bertrand, 1ii, p. 247, Fide Appendiz A, Letler No. 5
02 8 KA., Sources, pp. 22 and 312, o8 fhid,, p. 312, 8
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preparations for war were being maude by Madura, Mysory,
and Tanjore, and o Bijapuar invasion o punish Fkoji L
his usurpation was expeeted,™

Sivaji's Bxpedition info the Carnatic (1076-7)--The
most important event of 1677, which largely influenced
the politics of South India, was the invasion of Sivaji"
Though it startled many by itz soddenness, it was
in course of preparation for some time, Tt chiel objective
seeins to have been to hring Tanjore under his authority,
and the other kingdoms of  the sonth. if possible.
Raghundthpant (Raghundth Narmyen Hammante! was an
able and confidential minister of Shaliji, and, in conrse of
time, he becume the administrator of Ekoji's heritage.
The latter's frequent interference in his work reduced his
power and influence.  Raghunithpant wrote to Sivaji
about his “brother's muladministeation.  Therenpon  Lkoji
received a letter of wlvice from Sivaji, but he did not pay
any heed to it. Raghun@thpant grew disgusted with
Ekoji, and worked out plans to secure his kingdom for
Sivaji. He is said to have come to a friendly understand-
ing with some of the chicfs of the Carnatic, principally the
Bijapur governor of Gingi, before leaving for Satara to
interview Sivaji and discuss with him the question of «
southern expedition. On his way he concluded an alliance
with the Sultan of Golkonda through the goud ollices of his
Hindu ministers, Akanna and Madanna, He revealed
the details of his plans to Sivaji, and convinced him of
the ease with which they could be cxecuted. Sivaji
fell in with his views and concluded a treaty with the
Moghul emperor hy lavishly bribing his general and paying

“4 Bertrand, iii, p. 29, Pide Appendix A, Letter No, 3

"2A detailed aceount is given n the Life of Shivafé, by N. 5, Takakhay
and K. A, Kelusker (pp. 421=-05) ; Shizvafi and By Times, by Jodunail
Surkar (pp. 363-90) ; the Misfory of e Marathe Poople, by C. A
Kincaid and L. B, Parasnis (i, pp. 249-60) ; and Grant Daff's History of
the Malvallas (i, pp. 219-30).

.
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him a large amount of tribute. About the close of 1676,
Sivaji eommenced his march Lo the south with an army, it
is suid, of 40,000 foot and 30,000 horse, He stayed at
Bhagnagar (Hyderabad, Dakhan) for about a month to com-
plete his preparations with the help of the Sultan of Golkonds,
to whom he is said to have promised one-half of his conquests.
This is confirmed by o letter of Bombay (English Last
India Compuny Agent's) to Suvrat, duted 27th June, 1677,
which contains the following information : * Mr. Child (the
Chief IFactor at Karwar) writes that Sivaji is in a
castle of the King of Goleconda where he intends to winter ;
and after the rains, it is thought, intends against the
Carnatic. Several of the Deccan Omrhs ate joined with
him, and it is belicved that Bullal Cawn and he have
agreed to shareall between them.' Another letter, dated 11th
July, 1677, says that ‘ Sivaji is at present a great way
off in the Carnatic country, where he wintered *. A third
letter of the 24th of August records that  Sivaji is at
present in the Upper Carnatic, where he has taken the
strong castle of Chingy (Gingi), Chingavore, Pileundah and
several others ; and shamefully routed the Moors (the army
of Bijapur), and, it is believed, he robbed Seringapatam and
carvied away great riches from thence ; and they say, he
designs, on his return back, to take Bridroor (Bednorel
and so join Canara to his conquests.’ Madras, in a letter
dated 1st September, 1677, ‘ informs the Company that the
nearness of Sivaji engages all their attention to fartify '—it
describes his force and success—and says that three
messengers were sent by him with letters.”

LEquipping himself strongly, and carefully securing the
safety of his communications to the north, Sivaji hastened
to Gingi and captured it without any great difficulty. This
casy success was chiefly due to the tact and foresight of his

a8 Orme, Hislovical Pragments, p. 233,
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able lientenant, Raghonathpant, who lad  exploited the
venality sund faithlessness of the Bijapur officers.  In July,
1677, Sivaji was in possession of Gingi,” and had organized
hi< own system of military wdministeation there,  Shortly
alter, his hrother, Santaji, who had been with Ekoji till then,
eime over o him,  After sending most of his aemy Lo the
siege of Vellore, Sivaji murched towards Tanjore in July,™
and halted at Tienvidi, on the Coleronn, o interview his
hrother 1Zkoji.

The cvents that transpired at this interview have come Lo
us in two distinet wversions.  The Life of Slivafi referred
to above, chielly based on Mahratta bakliars, contains a full
and detailed aceount,” which gives a picture of Sivaji's
motives and actions, at any rate not uncomplimentary to
him, whereas the Jesnit version™ is brief and fragmentary,
and blackens the name of Sivaji.  According to the former
authority, Sivaji invited Iikoji to send three representa-
tives to his camp to settle their differences amieably, He
received them and skilfully impressed upon them the
modest nature of his demand, viz, half of his father's
jaghirs., He told them that he had not troubled IZkoji for
about thirteen years, with regard to his share of Shahji's
inheritance, but had left him to enjoy it. They returned to
Tanjore, and Ekoji is said to have been persuaded by some
of his Muhammadan advisers, that it was derogatory to him
to submit meekly to his brother’s impositions. Moreover, the
Niyak of Madnra and the Rija of Mysore are said to have
encouraged Ekoji by promising the help of their arms in case
of necessity.” But the diplomacy of Raghunithpant soon

97 Orme, fisforical Frapments, p. G,

M8 Wilks, [, p. 523 J. Sackor, S8fmaid and fis Dimes, p. 301,

o Pakakhay and Keluskar, Lafe of Shfvagi, pp. H0-5,

7 Bortrouud, i1, pp. 26700 P Appendizx A, Letter No, G

71 The transactions of Sivadl in the Carnotic and his dealings with his
half-brather Venkaji (or Bkoji) seem eapnble of an iuterpeetation, once

it iz realized that Sivajl may have cherlshed the ambition to sk
before his great enemy, the Maghul, ax the acknowledged representative
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induced the former to withdraw [from his alliance with
likoji and pay a contribution of six lakhs of frn to Sivaji.”
Realizing the weakuess of his position, Ekoji paid o visit to
Siviji and was honourably received by him, FEkoji remained
in Sivaji's ewmp for nearly twenty days, and all the latter's
persuasions did not draw any decided reply from him.
In the end, IZkoji Fearing violence, hurried hack to Tan jore
stealthily, Theongh Sivaji was indignant at the slur thus
cast on his honour and reputation, he restrained himself,
Again he tried negotiations by moderating his demand.
Bint Ekoji was prepared to part with one-half of Shahji's
movithles only.  Sivaji was much pained at his obstinacy,
but did not think it consistent with his status and name to
make wir with his brother, S0 he marched o Vellore, and
eontentid himself with the subjugation of the surrounding
country. The refractory Polegars were reduced, and the
defences of the conquered conntry improved)  Sivaji
advanced to  Seringapatam  and  exacted tribute. Seon
news cime from the north that the Moghul emperor,
Aurangzib, alarmed at his progress in the south, was at last

of the empire of Vijayanagar revently become extinet.  The existence of
the wrant of Sivajl to the two sons of ﬁrirnngn, though the document &
oot quite nbove suspicion, amd the issue of o coinage, of which one
specimen, al any rate, on the model of Vijayanagar, has been recently
tliseovered are indications in uupFnrt of whnt some of the Mahrattn
fdoguments do record in respect of this purticular idea of Sivaji. Shahji
hod aequived, as his jaghiy in the Coroatic territory, which could favour-
ably compare with that of any wother South Indian viceroy under
Hindu rule. After the aequisiton of Tanjore Venkajl was actoally
in occupation of the territory of the Nityaks of Tanjore and of Gilngi with
u considerable portion of Mysore in addition. Madura was o dy
decrepit and must heve scemed to Sivaji capable of belng brought
under his imperial protection. IkkEri was probably inclined to support
him against Mysore. Mysore was perhaps the one state that was likely
to prove troublesome. If Sivajl cherished such an idea, it can-
not hove been regarded impractienble in 1677, and all his efforts to hri:hg
his brother to renson need not necessarily have been the result of greed,
All the details of the transaction taken together seem Lo indieate a clearly
higher motive, nnd that may well have been the ambition to stand

re Aurnngzib os the acknowledged snccessorof the emporors of
Vijoyanagar.—£d. .

7], Sarkur, Shivafi and His .n’"fm:s,dpp. 380-£0, .
73 Bertrand, iil, p, 271, Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 6,
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prepared to lead w campaign against himin person. Sivap
confirmed Santaji in the governorship of Cingi, and left o
contingent of his troops in reserve under Raghunith-
pant and Hamir Rao, the commander-in-chief (probably
Orme's Hargee Rajal, for his help.  With the rest of his
army he hastened to the north about the beginning ol
November, 1677,

André Freire's letter of 1678 says that Sivaji, under the
cover of brotherly love, drew [Ekoji to an interview, and
treacherously seized and imprisoned him, to make him-
disgorge all his ill-gotten treasures, When the latter con-
trived to escape somehow, the former annexed all his
territories north of the Coleroon. After giving Santaji
charge of all his conquests, and making a Brahman (pro-
bably Raghunfithpant is referred to) his counsellor, he fled
to the north to check the Moghul advance against him.
This isa partial and distorted account of the transactions of
Sivaji with Ekoji; the former is represented as u greedy
monster, who did not scruple to use force and employ
treachery to secure his selfish ends.

Bhoji's War with Santaji—The withdrawal of Sivaji
from the south gave LEkoji an opportunity to declare war
on Santaji, who had Hed from his protection and who was
now in charge of the kingdom of Gingi. Iikoji must have
understood that the author of all his troubles, in connection
with his brother Sivaji, was Raghunithpant, formerly
his servant but now the chief adviser of Santaji. He
thought of regaining his reputation, which had been
damaged by his transactions with Sivaji. Therefore he
crossed the Coleroon about the 25th of November, 1677,
and conducted an aggressive campaign against Santaji.™

The latter organized his resources and marched to the
south to meet Ekoji. A long and severe battle ensued.

7+ 1. Sarkar, Shivafi and fis Tiwes, p. 397, Wilks (i, p. 53) aseribes
this war to the month of December of the same year,
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The Tanjore army fought with obstinacy and courage, and
cut the enemy's army to pieces. The vanquished, how-
ever, without losing their presence of mind, skilfully en-
trapped the enemy into an ambuscade. The scene of the
straggle is said to have been Vilikondapuram. Ekoji
retreated with a part of his army, in great confusion, and
reached Tanjore. His initial success blinded him to the
ordinary precautions of warfare, and his ambitions schemes
suffered o sudden collapse,

The progress of Sivaji's march to his home-country was
arcested hy the news of Ekoji's unexpected movements
against his lieutenant at Gingi. He stopped at Torgal,
and began correspondence with Raghundthpant. When
he learnt that LEkoji's pluns had been frustrated, he was far
from being vindictive. He despatched the terms of a treaty,
consisting of nincteen clauses, for the approval of Ekoji.™
The treaty made provision for the administration of Tanjore
on improved lines. It reveals everywhere Sivaji's spirit of
humanity and his administrative experience. It was a blow
aimed at the fendal obligations of Shahji and his heirs
to the Sultans of Bijapur. Ekoji ratified the agreement and
reverted to his humble réle as ruler of Tanjore. Itis said
that Ekoji had to pay a large sum of money to get back his
kingdom, viz., threc lakhs of hun in cash.™

Settling everything according to the directions of Sivaji,
Santaji marched to Vellore to bring its sicge to a speedy
termination.™ For nearly a year the Mahratta army was
engaged in the reduction of this fort. Sivaji's disappear-
ance [rom the south protracted the siege. At last the fort
was captured by Raghundthpant about the middle of

78 Palealchay and Keluskar, Life of Skivaji, pp. 454-62.

Te I. Snckar, Shivaf? and Hic Times, p. 38 ; Bertrand, iii, p. 272,
Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 6,

77 The statement in a Jesuit letter EBurtmu:!. i, p. 271, Fide Appen-
dix A, Letter No. 6) that he joined his brother, Sivaji, who was engaged

in the siege of Vellore, is not correct, Sivajl had gone to the north by
this time. This error is retained by Nelsoo (p. 200),
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August, 1678, after an investiment of fourteen months.™ Afte
the full of Vellore, Sivaji's represeutative ruled his sonthern
kingdom in peace for some years; and, foresecing the
necessity of resisting the Great Moghul, strengthened its
fortifications with great lubour,

Though Chokkanitha had stood neutral in his foster-
brother Alagiri's struggle with IZkoji, he was by no means
prepared to befriend the latter. He cannot have been
unmindful of the possibility of his becoming a danger to
him. When Ekoji was engaged in his war with Santaji,
Chokkanidtha led his army inte Tanjore. Ekoji's hurried
retreat to his capital, after this disastrous war, offered him
the chance he was eagerly looking for. But he had
not the nerve to deliver the decisive blow.  He could have
annihilated the remnants of Ekoji's demoralized armyv or
captured the town of Tanjore, before they conld enter it
He, however, preferred ease and diplomacy to promp
action, as he had come to an agreement with Santaji, by
which he gave hima large sum of money in return for the
promised cession of the kingdom of Tanjore. The treaty
between Ekoji and Santaji put an end to all possibility of
the latter's redeeming his pledge to his ally. Thus unscru-
pulously duped, Chokkanitha returned in disgrace to
Trichinopaly.™

Chokkandtha's Deposition and Restoration—The Usurpa-
tion of Rustam f{han.-—The weak and wvucillating foreign
policy of Chokkanitha only increased the miseries of his
subjects. His projected conquest of Tanjore seriously
affected his purse and prestige.  Mysore was not slow to
exploit his folly. She captured the only two remaining
fortresses of Madura on her northern frontiers. Under
these circumstances, popular feeling reaching a climax,

8 Takakhav and Keluskar, Life of Shfvagi, pp. 430-40, #. 2, A Jesuit

* letter says that the siege of Vellore lasted for more than a  vear.

Bertrand, ili, p. 271, Mide Appendiz A, Letter No, 6.
0 Bertrand, i, pp. 270=1. [7de Appendiz A, Letter Nu, b,
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Chokkaniatha was deposed, on the plea of insanity, and
imprisoned ; and his younger brother, Muttulinga Nayaka
mlso ealled Muttn  Alakiidei), was made king in 1678.™
His administration did not improve the politieal situation.
To complete the evils of maladministration and ineptitude,
the whole esuntry became subject to an  inundation,
consequent on the unusual fall of rains on the Western
Ghats. Whole villages were washed away by the floods.
André Freire in his letter of 1678" gives a heart-rending
pieture of the ruined greatness of Madura, similar to Caesar
Frederick’s descreiption of  Vijuyanagare after the battle of
Talikotn.  Popular fury was again ronsed. The political
tension and the people’s misecies were taken advantage of
by Rustam Kban,"' o Muhammadan adventurer of great
ability, to usurp the throne. He was a cavalry officer of
great infloence.  When the new king went out of the
lortress of Trichinopoly, he closed its gates and assumed
royal authority. To cloak his wsurpation, he took Chokka-
nitha from prison and proclaimed him king, although he
awrrogated to himself all real power. It is said that he did
not respect- even the darem of the two kings.  The whole
country was so demoralized that his usurpation was
acquiesced in for about two years. Only fresh political
misfortunes precipitated his downfall. He failed to organ-
ize a strong and prudent administration, and his illegal
exercise of power added to the gravity of the situation.

About 1680 the Mysoreans laid siege to Trichinopoly.
Rustam Khan's inability to conduct the defence effectively

50 An Inscription of his in 1678-4 recovds the grant of a village by him
ot Krishpiipurnm. ﬁ%&ﬂld}? 1), No. 183, b

81 Bertrand, ili, p. 273, Fide Appendix A, Letter No. G, :

#2 He Is represented as the favourite of Chokkandfitha by the History of
the Cornafaca Govepnors (Tuylor, ). A AISS., i, p. 33}, and by &
NMachenzie Mannseript ({6id., p. 185) ; but as the confidunt of Mutinlinga
by another Mackencie Maunscrigd (fbid., p, 203) and a Jesnit writer
(Bertrand, ifi, p. 302, Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 7). It is move

robable that he was the favourile of Chokkaniitha, as otherwige this
14 venture is difficult to explain,
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led to a plot o overthrow his power.  Dalavay Gaovine
dappaiya ane the Setnpati, with the help of some Polegars,
the chief among whom was Chinna Katliri Mayaka of
Kapnividdi, cleverly managed to colleet o number of
Cholkkaniitha’s adherents in the fort of Trichinopely, and
murder Rustam Khan and his followers, Chokkandtha
was thus freed from the tyranny of Rustam Khan, ™

Chokkandtha's Last Years,—Chokkaniitha id not
enjoy the freedom which he had regained.  After losing
a large part of his kingdom, he was besieged in his chicf
stronghold of Trichinopoly’ by Kumiraiya, the Mysore
general, whose military reputation was of a high order.
In his perplexity he invited Ekoji and the Mahratta general
of Gingi, Arasumalai, to come to his help. The SGtupati
kept up a show of loyulty by sending his army to Trichi-
nopoly ; but Chokkanitha had faith in nonc of his allies,
since he understood their real object to be to make his
misfortunes a means of furthering their ambitions. More-
over, they saw in the aggressions of Mysore a serious
menace to their safety, and would not allow her permanent
possession of the territories of Madura.

Dalavay Kumdraiya was surprised -at this unexpected
and unnatural combination of forces arrayed against him.
His resources were very inadequate for an open fight
with them. Therefore, he commenced negotiations with
Chokkanitha, and proposed an alliance between them to
drive out the armies of Ekoji and Sambaji, and revive the
rule of the Niyaks of Gingi and Tanjore. He promised to
respect the territorial integrity of Madura. But this offer
did not evoke any response since Chokkanitha seems to
have doubted the good faith of Kumdiraiya. Further, he
had not the capacity to adopt this forward policy. Such
a reshuffling of the contending parties would not have

53 Taylor, &, A M55, 1, gp. 185-4, 203-4; Bertrand, iii, pp. 302-3,
Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 7.
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caused o serious shock to his conscience, wus he can-
not have been unaware of the real worth of his
allics. IMis indecision sealed the fate of Kumdraiya's
solution of his problem,  Despairing of any bold move
from Chokkaniithn, the Mysore general speedily arranped
for reinforcements from Mysore. But his despatches did
not reach their destination owing to the machinations of
his enemics. To gain time he made overtures to Arasu-
malai, the commander-in-chief of Sambaji, with the object
of bribing him and seccuring his withdrawal to Gingi, but
without snceess.  Under these circumstances, Kumiraiya
realized the scrious danger he was involved in, and tried
to make the best of an unpromising situation. A safe
retreat to Mysore was the only course open to him. He
therefore tried to divert the attention of Arasumalai and
Ekoji from his movements, and ordered his cavalry to
feign an advance against them and then withdraw with
safety, Meanwhile he meditated a retreat to Mysore with
his infantry. But he could not deceive his enemies, whose
attention was exclusively on his army. They suddenly
attacked it and cut it to pieces. Kumiraiya himself
became a captive in their hands. This defeat of Mysore
crowned the triumph of Arasumalai, who vigorously pushed
his success further and drove the Mysoreans from the
kingdom of Madura. He captured all their possessionsg
and laid siege to Trichinopoly itself, as he had no idea of
respecting his ally Chokkandtha's feelings, and was not
prepared to make good his promise of restoring the
kingdom to him. This vile treachery was too much for
Chokkandtha to bear. His cup of misery was now full
and he did not survive the shock.”

Relations with the Sttupati—We have seen the circum-
stances under which Chokkanidtha had to conduct an

n+ Hertrand, iil, pp. 303-6. Mide Appendiz A, Letter No. 7.
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pxpedition against Tirnmalal Setapati in tee early vears of
his reign, and with what result.  The former was balfled in
his attempt to coeree the lalter into the pnsitiuu il 1 ln}':tl
vissal.  Till the death of Tiramalai Sctopati, matters
drifted in an indecisive way. Nelson ™ says that his death
took place when Alngiv was ruling in Tanjore, e, about
[674. This date is probably correct, as the last inseription
tf Tirumalai Sctupati is the one ut Hanumantagudi, dated
1673~+, recording a grant of lands to 0 Muhammadan®  On
the death of Tiramalai Sctupati, he was snceceded by his
nephew, Riju Strya, who is said to have supported Chenga-
mala Dis aguinst Chokkanitha. The probability of this
intrigue and disloyalty is strengthened by the fact that,
between his pradecessor amd Chokkandtha  there was no
love lust.  Dalaviy Venkatakrishoappa, who was the com-
mander-in-chief in the war against Tanjore, captured and
threw him into prison, where he is said to have been
murdered. There being no legal heir to the late SCtupati,
an interregnum was the result; and the Maravas had to
choose a raler. After some disagreements among them,
Raghunitha TEva, the illegitimate son of the last Setupati,
was selected.  He is more familiarly known as the Kilavan
told or aged) Sétupati.
The rule of the Nilavan Sétupati in Ramnad is memora-
@ble in many ways. His first act shows his unscrupulous
Loldness when cirenmstances required stern measures,  He
ordered the execution of two of his strongest supporters
who wielded great influence, on the ground that their
excessive power might be used against him at any time.
Perceiving the attitude of his vassal, one Pallava Riyan
Tondamin, the chief of Pudukotta, who was intending to
transfer his allegiance to the king of Tanjore, the Kilavan
Seétapati dismizssed him and appointed his brother-in-law

48 pp, 205-6. "4 Appendix D, No, 175,
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{wife's brother), Raghuniitha, in his place. Raghunitha thus
became the founder of the modern state of Pudukotta.
I[(ilavan Situpati was a capable administrator who was
mainly instrumental in raising the status and power of the
Marava country, His share in the deliverance of Chokka-
nitha from the thraldom of Rustam Khan has been referred
to before. As a reward for this valuable help, the title of
Para Rdja Kesari (Lion to Foreign Kings) was conferred
on him, and the services of one Kuméra Pillai were trans-
ferred to him; the latter became his Dalavay afterwards.
Condition of Christianity.—The death of Martinz hap-
pened on the 22nd of August, 1656 ; he was aged 63 and
had served thirty-one years in the Madura Mission.® He had
endearced himself so much to the Christians that his loss
was deeply felt. As the Rev. J. S, Chandler remarks, ‘De
Nobili had planted and Mactinz watered.,’ ™ The Muham-
madan invasions in the early years of Chokkanatha's reign
increased the tribulations of the missionaries though the
king was, in general, well disposed towards them. Famine
and pestilence which followed in the wake of the Muham-
madan devastation, and the frequent raids of the Kallans
forced the Christians to flock to Trichinopoly and other
places like Satyamangalam, which is said to have been
“ most tranquil and happy and preserved from the devasta-
tions of war and tamine’™ After the departure of the
Muhammadans, André Freire organized the affairs of the
Christians of Trichinopaly, and the latter were well looked
after, All the miseries which afflicted the country were
attributed to the missionaries. But Chokkanitha's attitude
towards them was benevolent. Prwenza remarks in his
letter of 1662 that, ‘graced by the justice and good
administration of the young king, we could continue our
work in liberty and peace’* Alvarez, who was in charge of

8% Bertrand, 1, p. 109, A e Jesudt Miszion in Madura, p. 51,
8% Bertrand, ili, p. 146 be fhid., p. 135,
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the Christians of ‘ Pacour’, retired with his llock to
‘Cangoupatti’, and constructed a church and presbytery there.
He met with strong opposition from the Hindus who gained
the king's ministers to their side, and ‘lodged complaints
against the missionaries so violent, and spread calumnies so
atrocious that the king felt compelled to expel them '
Alvarez went to the king to take leave of him, and talked to
him about the truth and precepts of Christianity and of the
mode of life led by the missionaries. Chokkanitha, being
much impressed, made Alvarez argue with his Brahmans.
He is said to have congratulated him on his success, allowed
* him to remain in his church, and promised him protection.”
Preenza's letter of 1665 says that ‘ Trichinopoly has
been all the time fecund in persecutions.'™ But the favour
shown to the Christians by general Adiyappa Niyaka,
close relation of the king, who is said to have wielded great
authority in his absence, gave them much relief.*' Preenza
describes in detail the charges brought against him by u
“Valaiyan' (fisherman) which led to a judicial enquiry,
with the result that the former was honourably acquitted,
and the latter and his partoer fined sume thousands of
dous ™  But the hatred of the ‘ Valaiyan’ against Preenza
was only increased by the disgrace of his defeat; and he
conducted intrigues in the court to render the protection of
Adiyappa Nayaka nugatory. Preenza made the necessary
arrangements to foil his opponent’s plans, and left Trichi-
nopoly for Madura to request the king to intercede in his
favour. The disasters which befell the king's army in the
Marava country made it difficult for him to speak to Chokka-
natha in person. But the missionary succeeded in securing
from him a safe-conduct, similar to the one issued by Tiru-
mala Nayaka. With this royal order he returned to Trichi-
nopoly and the governor hastened to give it publicity.®

" Bertrand, Ui, pp. 141-2, % fiid,, p. 171, 99 fbid., pp. 175-6.
4 Jbid,, p. 181, ; 03 Jtid. b, 182,
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The change of the capital to Trichinopoly and the conse-
guent presence there of a great number of lords and
courticrs diminished the power and influence of Adiyappa
Niiyaka, the protector of the Christians. The Valaiyan '
again intrigned with the governor and formed a plot to
destroy Christianity. Preenza says: ‘One day all the
calumnies invented against us being parrated with warmth,
the indignant prince remarked that a man guilty of such
crimes deserved the lopping off of his ears. These words,
pronounced vaguely and without any determined intention,
were understood to be a sentence : and soon the Brahman,
accompanied by the “ Valaiyan " and an armed escort, came
hurriedly to our church to execute the supposed royal
order. Happily I left the Presbytery to take refuge in
Candelour,'™ *The famous " Valaiyan,” the most implacable
of our enemies, was struck at the very moment he began
new intrigues. The Niyak, informed of his malversations,
gave him a severe sentence which was promptly executed.
+ + . Balthazar Da Costa communicated with Lingama
Niyaka, the father-in-law of the king of Madura, and
obtained two letters, one signed by Lingama and another
by Sinnatambi Mudaliyar, the governor-general of the |,
. kingdom ; they enjoined on the commandant of Trichino-_
poly to treat the missionaries with benevolence and favour
them to the best of his ability.'”

André Freire's letter of 1666 refers to the conversion of
a well-known Marava captain.®® This was probably the
cause of the terrible persecution of 1669, which discouraged
the missionaries from going to the Marava country for
about seventeen years after.”® A letter of 1676 refers to -
persecutions during the previous eight years in Tanjore,
and the consequent shifting of the centre of the district
(ecclesiastical) to Nandivanam.'” The warsbetween Mysore '

o8 Rertrand, iii, pp. 182-3. W fhid., pp. W0-10.  °0 fhid,, p. 220,
oe Jhid., pp. 260, 388-9, 100 j5id,, p: 258,
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and. Madura, which were always waged in the latter
kingdom, led to the abandonment of ' Tottiam' and
‘ Congoupatti ' by the Christians,'™ The political condition
of the country led to the expansion of missionary activities
to places farther north, viz., Vellore and Golkonda.'™ A
letter of 1678 says that there were persecutions in Tanjore
for * the last twenty years'.!™

That there was persecution of Christianity in the reign
of Chokkanitha is abundantly clear, It is also clear that
the king held to the principle of toleration in the main.
The misfortunes which the country, as a whole, suffered
may  have stirred the feelings of the people, which
probably found expression in sporadic outbursts against
Christianity. But there was no organized policy or
campaign of persecution. Wars and pestilence contributed
more to the tribulations of the missionaries.

Chokkanatia—General Estimate,—The lirst few yeurs
of Chokkandtha's reign constitute a brilliant record of his
greatness as a soldier and general. He was a man of
energy and capacity, and he realized that a vigorous
military policy was the foremost need of the hour. He
, could not tolerate the misdeeds of his ministers done in his
name. . He defeated. the schemes of his enemies, who
attempted to depose him, and became the real master of
the kingdom by his own efforts. When he saw that his
organization to repel the Muhammadan attack was a
failure, he discovered the real canse of it and resolved to
lead his army himself. His boldness and persistency
strengthened his cause, and he succeeded in holding
the Muhammadans at bay. At last his enemies had to
withdraw with serious loss.

This initial success of Chokkanitha made his leputatmn,
and -filled his subjects with hope and joy. But it seems

121 Bertrand, ifi, pfafgﬁud Elizsé? 108 fbid., p. 268,
. p. 287,
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to have upset his mind and brought about the deterioration
of his character, The Jesnit account of his reign gives.a
flattering picture of his character and work during the first
few years. But he was too much under the influence of
his passions, His ambition made him throw all considera-
tions of policy to the winds, When the Sétupati and the
Niyak of Tanjore failed to co-operate with him in his
struggle with the Muhammadans, he flew into a rage and
hastened to punish both of them, unmindful of the ultimate
consequences. His undertakings were not in proportion to
his ability and resources. He failed to conciliate his
vassals, and alienated their sympathies. He had not the
foresight to perceive .the dangers to his kingdom which
would result from the Mahratta conquest of Tanjore; he
only gave himself up to the spirit of revenge in refusing
help to Alagiri. He had not the courage to adopt strong
measures when occasion demanded them. His belated
war with Ekoji was not prosecuted with vigour, His
growing weakness of mind made him the dupe of his
ministers and of foreign kings. His reign is mostly a
record of his follies and failures. The precocious develop-
ment of his powers came to a sudden stop, and his religious
enthusiasm made him an offender against duty. He
developed into a copy of Vijayaraghava of Tanjore.,' '

Chokkanitha's administrative capacity seems to have
been of a low order. He was greatly fascinated by the
trophies of war. The chronicles say that he was ‘illus-
trious for deeds of charity and also for those of war’1%
His ambition lay at the root of his failure in the work of
peaceful progress. His plans required large sums of money,
and he seems to have tolerated the ruthless oppression of
his subjects by his Pradhni.’® He appears to have made

104 He is described as devoting all his time'to the stady of the  sacred
Lbooks as the Rimdyapa, the Fhdpavalaon, ete, Taylor, O H. M55, 1,

p. 203. 108 fhid., p. 204, T
% Bertrand, iii, p. 202. Mide Appendix A, Letter No., 4,
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the sufferings of his people u source of profit to himsell by
fining the officer concerned. The latter was let loose on
his subjects, and he recouped his loss.

The reign of Chokkandtha was a period of trouble and
unxiety to his people, whose miseries became more and
more unendurable ‘in course of time. It marks the begin-
ning of the decay of the kingdom, and gives a forecast of
its impending fate. Chokkandtha failed to control the
forces of disintegration which were tending to its extine-
tion. Though, at the time of his death, the kingdom was
totally exhausted, with its resources wasted and its enemies
threatening its gates, its temporary and limited rchabili-
tation under his two immediate successors shows that its
vitality was not all lost. Though Chokkanitha's rule was
a dismal failure, it must be said, in justice to him, that
the political storms were too severe not to tax his slender
abilities heavily, A great statesman was required in his
place. Moreover, when compared with his contemporaries,
the rulers of Tanjore and Gingi, Chokkanitha was far
above them ; Madura suffered far less than these kingdoms,
as the Jesuit letters abundantly testify.'”

Chokkanatha's Death.—Chokkanitha's misfortunes were
so great that he is said to have died of heart-failure. The
letter of André Freire, dated 1682, refers to his death. The
Maduraittalavaraldru and the Pandyan Chronicle ascribe
it to the 4th of Ani, Dundubhi (about the 16th of June,
1682). The Mrtyunjaya Manuscripés give the same month
and year, but do not specify the day. Therefore the
above-mentioned date may be taken to be correct, as it
does not clash with inscriptions.

187 The difference noted may be due merely to the relative geographi-
cul position of these powers with reference to their common enemy.
The more apt parallel for Chokckanfthe certainly is Chikkadéva Riya
of Mysore. The advantage of the comparison is sll on the side of the
Myzore ruler of the day, —Fd,
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CHAPTER Xl

MUTTU VIRAPPA NAYAKA 11!
(1682-9

Accession.—Ranga Krishna Muttu Virappa, the son of
Chokkanatha, succeeded his father. \Whether he was the
son of Chokkanitha by Mangammal, and when the latter's
marriage took place, are points not elucidated by Nelson and
Mr. Rangachari. It is, however, said by both that Ranga
Krishna was the son of Chokkandtha and Mangamma);
the former, following the Jesuit account (likely to be more
correct in cases like this), says that he was fifteen years old
at his accession; the latter, basing himself on Wheeler,
states that he was sixteen at that time. Nelson' specifies
the time of Mangammi|'s marriage, whereas the other does
not. On the authority of the chronicles, the former
remarks that Chokkanitha, disappointed at the loss of the
Tanjore princess, married Mangammal when Alagiri was
viceroy of Tanjore, i.e. about 1674. "If Chokkanatha -
married Mangamma] about 1674, and even if the latter be-
came pregnant shortly after the marriage, Ranga Krishna's
birth could not have been earlier than about 1675. Conse-
quently, the latter could have been only seven or eight
years of age in 1682, the date of his accession. This is a
vital point overlooked by Nelson. If Ranga Krishpa was
the son of Chokkanitha by Mangammail,? the latter's
marriage has to be ascribed to a date earlier than that of

 p, 193.
2 Some doubt Iseast on this by an inscription of 1687, where one

Annamuttnmmi] is referred Lo as the mother of Ranga Krishne Mutty
Virappa Nayaka., Appendix I3, No, 106,
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Nelson. A Mackensie Manuscript says that Chokkanitha
married Mangammad], the daughter of ' Lingama Naicker,
of Chandragivi-Dapakul 2} A Jesuit letter of 1666 refers
to Dalaviy Lingama Niyakn as the father-in-law ol the
king of Madura. If this Lingama was the Lingama of
the chronicles, Chokkandtha's marriage with Mangammil
may have taken place in 1665. In that case, it is proba-
ble that Ranga Krishna was born about 1666-7, and he
would have been Bfteen years old in 1682, However, the
reference to the Chandragiri-Dapakul cannot be satisfae-
torily explained. There is another difficulty in this connec-
tion. Martin in his letter of 1713 says: ' Mangammil
could not accompany king Chokkaniitha on his pyre for
the same reasan (pregnancy); but, after her delivery, she hit
upon an expedient to escape the flames, the pretest being
that there was none but herself to bring up the voung
prince and govern the kingdom during his minority,’* 1If
this was a fact, the probability is that this infant was her
second son : he may have died soon after his birth, since
nothing is said about his life; he cannot have been
Ranga Krishna, as is evident from other ecircumstances.
The Jesuit account can be free from the charge of incon-
sistency only on this supposition. Mangammil may
* have been the daughter of Dalaviay Lingama Nayaka, and
probably she was raised to the dignity of queen only after
the Tanjore war. This clears the position of the chronicles.

There are two inscriptions of Ranga Krishna Muttu
Virappa which tend to show that he was at least twenty-
five years old at the time of his accession. An inscription
at Tirumalasamudram and Pudukkulam records a grant
of land in these villages by *‘Sri Ranga Krishpa Muttu
Virappa, son of Chokkanaitha'." The Saka date given in

2 Taylor, 0. A, .M'.b.b * Bertrand, i, p, 208 ; awle, p.18
* Bertrand, iv, 11:# A}:]Jen:'lix A, Letter Né} 12, A B
L ﬁppﬂﬂﬂix D, n 14
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the inscription, viz, 1579, and the eyclic year, Havilambi,
agree. This means that Ranga Krishpa must have been
born at least by 1657. Another inscription, dated Dur-
mukhi (1656~7) at Vannikiidam, is a sale-record for the
merit of Ranga Krishna.” Sewell suspects the genuineness
of the latter inscription on paleographical grounds.

Though there is some doubt about the age of Ranga
Krishna at his accession, the date of this event must have
been 1682. The authorities quoted in connection with the
date of Chokkandtha's death disagree only a little on this
question ; the Mriyunjoya Manuscripts ascribe Ranga
Krishna's accession to Adi, Dundubhi (July, 1682).°

State of the Kingdom (1682-6).—The failure of Chokka-
nitha to keep his dominions intact reduced the extent of
the kingdom of Madura. Consequently Ranga Krishna
inherited only a part of his ancestral territories; the
Rija of Mysore, Sambaji, the king of Tanjore, and the
Sétupati were holding portions of them.* He came to the
throne under the most discouraging circumstances. Even
the town of Madura was in the hands of his enemies ; but
they were quarrelling as to who was to hold it. This
gloomy outlook began to improve gradually, chiefly owing
to external causes., Ranga Krishna seems to have taken
advantage of the difficulties of, and mutual disagreements
among, his enemies. The troops of Sambaji ravaged the
kingdom and held up the Mysoreans in the citadel of
Madura for a long time.” Further, they desolated the
provinces of Mysore. The war between Madura and Mysore

* Appendix D, No. 190, . )

& Mr. Rangacharl attempts precision without sufficient data. He
says (4. A., 1917, p. 104 w) : ' The correct date s about 1682-1689, and
is proved by epigraphy. The epigraphical evidences in regard to this
relgn, however, are very meagre.' To substantlate the former state-
ment, he refers to an inseription of Ranga Krishya in 1686, and another
of 1657 (sic). )

® Bertrand, ill, p, 337. Vide Appendix A, Letter No, 8,

ie fhid., p. 308.
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had come to an end; but the Mahrattas nimed at the
annexation of the former and had therefore to drive out the
latter from her possessions in Madura, The king of Mysore
could not send reinforcements to his army which was shut up
in Madura. However, he is said to have stealthily despatched
some 10,000 pagodas through some sanydsis (religious
mendicants) pretending to go on a pilgrimage.™ The
Maravas helped Mysore, and therefore the siege was prolong-
ed to more than a year. The Jesuit writer speaks of the
* atrocious wars between the king of Mysore and Sambaji',
Mysore had to withdraw from her conquests in Madura
owing to the merciless campaign which Sambaji waged
against her in close co-operation with the chief of Bednore,
Moreover, she was attacked by him in her most vital parts.
Further, the wars necessitated very heavy taxation, and the
Mysoreans are said to have revolted against their sovereign?
The king of Mysore is said to have put down this disaffec-
tion with a strong hand. The Jesuit account says: *‘The
king of Mysore, incensed at their (his subjects’) insolence,
sent an army against them to carry fire and sword every-
where, and toss the rebels on the point of the sword,
without distinction of age or sex. These cruel orders were
executed. The pagodas of Vishnu and Siva were destroyed,
and their large revenues confiscated to the royal treasury.
Those idolators who escaped the carnage fled to the
mountains and forests, where they led a miserable life.’"
Thus the danger to Ranga Krishna from Mysore was
removed.

Ekoji's attention had to be directed to his own affairs,
His tyranny had roused the feelings of his subjects against
him, He was despoiled of some of his possessions by the
Maravas. Therefore he was reduced to impotence, as far

11 Berirand, Hi, pp. 360-1. 12 fhid,, p. 375,
10 Thid., pp. 3?‘? Fide Appendix A, Letter No. 4,
3# Jbid,, pp. 380-1,
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as Madura was concerned. The S&tupati also was rendered
harmless by the rebellion of his Dalaviy. Finally, Sambaji
himself was too busy occupied with his Mysore campaign
to be a menace to Ranga Krishna,

Thus all these changes in the political situation gave
Ranga Krishna facilities to put his kingdom in order, and
extend it to its former limits, 'Within three or four years
of his accession, he seems to have recovered possession of
his lost territories. In a Jesuit letter of 1686, he is said to
huve ‘ regained the town of Madura by the cxpulsion of the
Mysoreans ', and secured the loyalty of his vassals, so much
so that he was in a position to deal with them tyrannically.*
An inscription dated S.S. 1608 at Arumbavic® records
Ranga Krishna's repair of a sluice, and, therefore, confirms
the fact that by 1686 he was able to devote his attention to
internal administration. He seems to have been a ruler of
cnergy and a man of strong character. His personal
qualities must, to a large extent, have contributed to his
success in establishing his authority all over his dominions,
besides the misfortunes and engagements of his enemies.

His Dealings with the Muhammadans.—Having re:
established his affairs on a sound basis, Ranga Krishpa is
said to have successfully maintained the independence and
prestige of Madura.” The following amusing story about
his attitude towards the Moghul emperor is recorded in the
chronicles!” It was the custom for the Padishah to send,
to his vassals and independent kings, one of his slippers,
mounted on an elephant with gorgeous decorations and- all
the paraphernalia of royalty, and with an army consisting.of
infantry and cavalry. When this procession reached. the
borders-of a kingdom, its kmg was expected, on notice, to
greet the. 1mpenal mnndata bearers, render obeisance and
hnmage, uwlte them to lna capﬂ:al and show the;n dua
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hospitality, Theslipper had to be placed on his throne,
and tribute and other gifts were to be given. When Ranga
Krishna Muttu Vieappa was the king of Maduora, such a
mandate came to him.  On the plea of ill-health he did not
receive it, as was customary, before the imperial officers
entered his dominions. The latter were told that the king
would meet them at Samayavaram on the bank of the
Coleroon. Even when they approached Trichinopoly, he
was in no mood to welcome them, again on the pretext of
serious illness. The messengers were very much annoyed,
but, expecting nothing untoward, entered the citadel of the
capital. Finally, they had to carry the slipper to the Throne
Hall of the Palace. Ranga Krishna was ‘high on a throne of
royal state 'y and did not honour the emperor's representa-
tives. Glowing with anger, the latter rushed to his
presence, and offered the Moghul's slipper to him, Seriously
offended, Ranga Krishna bade them on pain of their
lives to put the slipper down. 'When this order was obeyed,
he put one of his feet into it, and vehemently questioned
the sanity of the emperor in sending him only one slipper
and forgetting that he was in need of two for his use. The
bload of the emperor’s deputies boiled, and the king ordered
their expulsion. They marched out of the fort  and
meditated hostile demonstrations. Ranga Krishpa moved
his army, fell on them, and cut them to pieces. The
survivors -escaped and narrated their experience to the
emperor. The pride of the latter was humbled, and he
learnt a lesson; he gave up his custom of sending such
mandates to foreign rulers.

- The Moghul custom referred to above may have been
prevalent, -and was probably tantamount to an imperial
message requiring subordination and tribute, similar to the
Persian-king’s demand of ‘ earth and water ' as- tokens of
submission. In the abstract, there is nothing improbable
in such ‘an imperialmandate.. But the.occurrence of an
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event like this in the reign of Ranga Krishna is extremely
unlikely. The Padishah mentioned could only have been
the Moghul emperor Aurangzib. Till almost the end of
Ranga Krishna's reign, he was engaged in the reduction of
the kingdoms of Bijapur and Golkonda, which was accom-
plished in 1686 (12th September) and 1687 (21st September)
respectively® After this Aurangzib had to mobilize his
resources effectively against his most powerful adversary,
the Mahrattas. Sambaji was captured in January, 1689,
and executed on the 11th of March, 16892 The Mahratta
war was continued, and Raigarh fell only on the 19th of
October. Aurangzib’s attention was devoted exclusively to
this affair till the very close of the year 1689." Under
these circumstances, the truth of the story narrated in. the
chronicles is highly problematical. Moreover, it is not
likely that Aurangzib cared for formalities like those
detailed above ; he looked more for the substance. Further,
the statement that the Padishah was tanght a severe lesson
by Ranga Krishpa's attitude is opposed to the character of
Aurangzib and extremely incredible. It is significant that
Manucci, who takes a special interest in recording such
stories, is silent on this episode.

Mr, Rangachari says that ‘a grasp of all the circum-
stances of the period does not make it improbable’® But he
does not specify the *circumstances’; he seems to rely mainly
on Taylor's belief. The latter remarks: ‘ The affair of the
Moghul's slipper is so singular, that we know not whether
it be simple truth or rodomontade * ;—the ‘ narrative, being
minute and very circumstantial, seems likely to be nearest
the truth'¥ Nelson™ also is disposed to believe the story on
the ground of its ‘circumstantiality and consistency’. Bt
the arguments -ndduud above make it difficult to accept the

¥ ], Sarkur, Hfistory m" Amgsf& iv, PP 324, 382.
10.fbid. , Efdﬂﬂ 0 Shid ,p 4E16 . "-I .4 .y 191?,1: 1‘33
ee g H. M58, i, p. 218 - #3.p:212,
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facts contained in it as expressing the relations of Ranga
Krishna Muttu Virappa with Aurangzib,”

The Setupati Affairs.—Though the Kilavan Sctupati had
to provide against trouble in his own territory he does
not seem to have been well disposed towards his suzerain,
Muttu Virappa IIL. His timely help in frecing Chokka-
nitha from the tyranny of Rustam Khan was gratefully
recognized, as we have secen. He was gradually drifting
into an independent status, It is said that about 1686 he
joined Venkatakrishpappa, the ex-Dalaviy of Madura, and
Chengamala Das (the last of the Tanjore Niyaks, who
had reconciled himself with Ekoji who had driven him
out of his kingdom) in organizing an attack on Madura.
In return for military help from Tanjore, she was to
enjoy free for twelve years the Marava districts between
Pimbir and Pudukotta. This projected campaign against
Ranga Krishna did not materialize, as Kumira Pillai, the
Ramnad Dalaviy (whose services were transferred to the
Sétupati by Chokkanitha), disapproved of his master’s
plans, and attempted to seize him and Venkatakrishpappa,
to hand them owver, as traitors, to Ranga Krishpa. The
Sétupati defeated the schemes of his Dalaviy and cruelly
tortured him to death, without sparing even his family.

These transactions led to an invasion of the Marava
country by Ranga Krishpa, The king of Tanjore sent his
general to the help of the Sétupati. A decisive battle was

#4 There is nothing impossible in the story, s Aurangzib had sues
ceeded in his cherished ambition of bringing both Bijapur and Golkendn
under his authority. Mysore had made a timely submission, from the

oint of view of Auvrangelb, by sending on embassy to, the great
Moghul who received it kindly, if with comparatively scant respect, and
dismissed it graciously, - It is said thal the empire spent Rs, 2,000 upon
thig glorious mission "from the Zamindar of Mysore®', It was only
Madura that remained recalcilrant, and this exhibition of his authority,
though it may have seemed insulting in Hindu eyes, must have
appedred proper to the great emperor in the full flush of his victorious
career. The Malirattas aléne had to be subdued, and Aurangzib never
cherlshed any doubt about his ultimate success, — &,
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fought, and the Madura troops were beaten back. The
boast of Shahji to have ‘conquered all the Pattukkottai
country, inhabited by Kallans, extending to the South, as far
as the Pimbandr’, recorded in an inscription of 1686,* was
probably due to the cession to him by the Sgtupati of the
territory referred to, in recognition of his services in this
campaign.

Christianity.—The progress of Christianity in the reign
of Ranga Krishpa Muttu Virappa is intimately connected
with the work of John de Britto in the Madura Mission,
Born in Lisbon in 1647 and brought up in high circles,
Britto was intended for distinguished political favours.
But he was attracted only by the life of a missionary. In
spite of the persuasions of his mother and the governing
authorities of Portugal, he became a Noviciate in 1662,
His knowledge and devotion gradually increased, and he
was bent on sacrificing his life for Christianity in India.
In 1673 he left for India and lived at Goa for about three
years, In March, 1680, he reached Madura with André
Freire. He confined his labours to the Marava country,
wherein the missionaries had not dared to preach since the
terrible persecution of 1669, He worked with great zeal,
and was made ‘Superior ' of the Madura Mission in 1683,
In 1688 he was appointed ‘Procureur de la Mission' and
had, therefore, to leave India for the time being.*

The disorganized condition of the country added to the
dificulties of the missionaries, Yet they persevered in
their labour of love. Britto's letter of 1683 contains an
account of their anxieties and trinmphs. Linga Reddi was
a vassal of the Niyak of Madura, and he had a large
Christian population under him, the residence of Vadugar-
patti being a big Christian centre. Though a staunch
Lingayat, this chief gave every facility for the spread of the

s Appendix D, No, 193,
# Berirand, lif, pp. 405-23 ; Nelson, pp. 221-2,
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Christian faith. Tn 1683 the following incident alarmed its
followers. When one day Linga Reddi visited his gurn
(religions teacher) to pay his respects to him, the latter,
who was a sworn enemy of the Christians, spoke to him in
the following strain: ‘I am astonished that Your Majesty,
renowned for the integrity and profundity of your judg-
ment, as well as for the justice of your government, should
allow the preaching, in your dominions, of the faith of the
Parangis and Paraiyas, and that the priest of this faith
should have a house and church at Vadugarpatti, where
there is an incessant concourse of immense crowds. 1 am
astonished that you do not severely punish the temerity of
this preacher, who orders his disciples to break and profane
the Zingam.! The prince, struck by these words, promised
to get exact information, and, returning to his palace,
ordered his chief minister to conduct an enquiry into the
matter. He asked what the total number of Christians in
his dominions would be. It was replied: *Their number!
who could count them? They are everywhere. There is
not a village where they are not found.! However, no
harm was done to the Christians.®”

Persecution was severe in the Marava country. While
passing with his catechists near Mangalam, Britto was
captured by the orders of Kumira Pillai, the ‘governor-
general and first minister of the Marava king’. He and
his disciples were asked to worship God Siva, but they
refused. Thereupon the Maravas became furious, chained
them hand and foot, bound them to the trunks of trees, and
thus left them to outrage and torture. They spent a full
night in this condition. They were about to be impaled on
stakes, when the Sétupati summoned Kumara Pillai to
answer a charge of treason. This event saved them from
their impending fate. After a few weeks, they were

27 Bertrand, {ii, p. 371,
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removed to Ramnad, the capital. Finally, they were
restored to freedom and warned not to preach Christianity
in the Marava country on pain of death. Regaining his
liberty, Britto went to see the Provincial, and, owing to his
persuasions, reluctantly consented to sail for Portugal in
1688.%

Mutiu Virappa's Achievements.—The salient feature in
the character of Ranga Krishpa Mutta Virappa was his
robust enthusiasm and love of adventure. He seems to
have descended to the level of his subjects, to perceive
their needs and know their opinions. His visits - incognito
and rapid movements throughout the country, to make his
influence felt everywhere, are described in the chronicles.
His adventures in Tanjore, Ariyalir, and Tinnevelly throw
into relief these special traits of his.® His amiable per-
sonality and remarkable individuality stood him jn good
stead in rehabilitating the affairs of his kingdom, if we are
to believe the chronicles. He had the exuberance of
youthful vigour, and a degree of condescension not usual
in rulers. Stories similar to that of * Alfred and the
Buornt Cakes' are narrated of him. His excessive vivacity
did not make him forgetful of his ordinary work asa ruler.
His roving tours must have introduced an element of
effective supervision into the administration. Ranga Krishna
was, however, wanting in seriousness, and was sometimes
disposed to condone the faults and extravagance of his
officers. His great achievement of putting his internal
affairs in order was due, in a large measure, to external
factors, as already explained. Circumstances favoured his
plans in a pre-eminent degree. Though he was well
disposed towards the missionaries, they give a dark picture
of his administration: ‘This cruel prince requited the
loyalty of his vassal (the Polegar of ** Moullipadi ") only by

®8 Bartrand, il pp. 389-03. * Taylor, O, H, M55, ii, pp. 208-15.
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the most iniquitous tyranny ; the latter was arrested in the
very act of paying homage, despoiled of his jewels, and
shut up in a dungeon. At the same time, his troops
pillaged the dominions of this unfortunate Polegar, scized
his wives, and tortured them to reveal the place of his
hidden treasures.'™

Ranga Krishna had in him a strong sense of justice, and
he was prompt in repairing any injustice done, irrespective
even of religious considerations. It is said that a piece of
land in Trichinopoly belonging to the Christians was taken
possession of by the Hindus, when the former left the city
owing to the disastrous wars of Chokkanitha ; and a temple
was constructed on this ground, When the missionaries
claimed it some years later, there ensued a dispute, and
Ranga Krishpa interfered on behalf of the Christians,
When his co-religionists complained that they had no place
to remove their idols to, he is said to have angrily asked
them to throw them into the river.® As was usual with his
predecessors, he built many temples and choultries, and
made grants of agrahdras in charity. He was unique
among the Nayaks in his ideas of morality. He is said to
have been a strict monogamist, and to have dispensed with
the harem, the usual concomitant of royalty in those days.

Ranga Krishna's reign was very short, and circomstances
co-operated with him in all his endeavours. Therefore
it is too much to hazard an opinion about his greatness. As
generally, Mr, Rangachari hovers between extreme views:
he now makes Ranga Krishna a hero. Indulging in historical
might-have-beens, he says: ‘If Ranga Krishpa had con-
tinued to live, he would in all probability have postponed
the subjugation of his kingdom by the Mughals.'”® How-
ever, the available evidence tends to show that Ranga

20 Bertrand, i, p. 400,
2 Jbdd,, iv, pp. 112-3; Lockman, i, p. 477 ; Nelson, p, 210,
"] A, 1917, p. 124,
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Krishna was at best a ruler of considerable ability, quite
unlike his father Chokkaniitha.

His Death—~That Ranga Krishpa died of smallpox is
vecorded in a Jesuit letter.® The year of his death is
Sukla (1689), according to the Mriyunjaya Manuscripts;
it is Pramodita (1690), according to the Pandyan
Chronicle and the Maduraittalavaraldre. A Jesuit letter
of 11th December, 1700, refers to Mangammil's grandson
as ‘a Prince about fourteen or fifteen years of age, to
whom the Kingdom belongs’.* As Ranga Krishna had
only a posthumous son, he must have died -at the latest
about 1688, if this statement is worthy of belief. But, as
no chronicle gives less than seven years for his rule, it
may be accepted that Ranga Krishna died in 1689. The
inscription of Mangamma), dated 1687, seems to be prior
to her regency.

" Lockman, {, p, 460. Fide Appendix B, Letter No. 3.

N“ E.Portrnnd iv. p. 74 ; Lockman, i, p. 461. Vide Appendix B, Latter
o
28 Appendix D, No. 105,



CHAPTER XII

THE REGENCY OF MANGAMMAL

(1689-17006)

AT the death of Ranga Krishna Muttu Virappa, his wife
Muttammal was pregnant. She was so grieved at the loss
of her husband that she was preparcd to commit sati (self-
immolation) even before her delivery. DBut persuasion was
effective in postponing the execution of her resolve.  Soon
after giving birth to a male child, she committed suicide,
in spite of the strong remonstrances of Mangammil, her
mother-in-law. Ranga Krishna’s son was named Vijaya-
ranga Chokkanitha, and crowned king when he was only
three months old ; therefore, Mangammdl, his grandmother,
became regent. When her husband Chokkaniitha died,
she did not commit sati, as she was a politically-minded
woman, to whom affairs of state mattered more than the
satisfaction of a popular sentiment,’

The regency of Mangammi] is remarkable for her careful
stewardship of the affairs of the kingdom. Though she
had to go to war on many occasions, she was fonder of
the victories of peace. Her success was principally
due to her politic submission to Moghul supremacy. Her
regency synchronized with a period when the Moghul
emperor, Aurangzib, was practical master of the Dakhan,

* No doubt popular sentiment was the ruling motive in the perform-
mnce of safi, butit wasnot obligatory on any except young childless
widows without o legitimate protector to go to. Mangammi] could
hardly be brought under this eategory in respect of any of the condi-
Hops involved. —£d.,

Teylor, 0. H. M585., §i, pp. 216-7; Bertrand, tv, pp. 206-7. Wide
Appendix A, Letter No. 12,
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and was free to direct his armies to the far south, She
rcalized her weakness and her enemy's strength, and
tactfully bowed to the Moghul power, with the result that
the kingdom of Madura obtained a further lease of life.
About 1693 Zulfikar Khan, who was occupied with the
siege of Gingi, sent an army to the south and exacted
tribute from Trichinopoly and Tanjore.® This policy of
humble submission to the Moghul was also probably forced
on Mangammil by the action of the neighbouring rulers of
Mysore and Tanjore. Even the powerful Chikkadéva Riya
(who purchased Bangalore from Ekoji in 1687 and con-
solidated his dominions) had conciliated the Moghuls, and,
under the cover of imperial protection, was extending the
boundaries of his kingdom. Shahji of Tanjore was not
disposed to resist the imperial advance, and he became a
tributary of the Great Moghul. Mangammi] could not,
therefore, have prudently followed a policy of flouting the
imperial authority. She tried to draw the best out of her
connection with the Moghul empire. When Zulfikar Khan
came to the south again in 1697, Mangamma] sent costly
presents to him, and, with his help, recovered some places
in ber kingdom captured by the Tanjore ruler. The
following extract from Manucci confirms the attitude of
Mangammi| towards the Moghul emperor: ' On April 20,
1702, Daud Khan received a letter from the Queen of
Terchenepali (Trichinopoly), tributary to the Moghul,
wherein this ruler begged him to undertake in person to
assist her in the war she was obliged to wage against the
prince of Aurpaliam (Udaiyirpalaiyam), another tributary
of the Moghul. This man had seized some of her towns.
The letter stated with much exaggeration the iniquity of
the Raja’s proceedings, and was filled with humble words
and prayers intended to influence - the- general to come.to

-o= . % Beolt's Fevishia, 11, p. 81 j-Wilks, i, p: 5. .
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her aid. With it came some very fine presents to he sent
on to Aurangazebe, some for Daud Khan and some for the
diwan. They consisted in a number of valwable trinkets
and precious stones for the King, 20,000 rupces in silver
coin for the general, and 10,000 for the diwan—i metal
with more virtues in the eyes of these gentry than the
most polished orations of the most loquacious tongues.'?
Daud Khan regretted his inability to come to her assistance
in person but sent some troops. Thus Mangammil worked
in loyal subordination to the Moghuls, and utilized the
imperial forces to some extent in dealing with her enemies.
She understood the disorderly condition of the times, and
adjusted her policy to the exigencies of the state. She
saved the kingdom from shipwreck by skilfully bowing
before the storm ; she stooped only to conquer. She con-
served her energies to maintain the power and prestige
of the kingdom as against lesser enemics. She did not
commit the folly of matching her strength with the
resources of a big empire. She seems to have realized the
plans of Aurangzib, and submitted to them in so far as
they did not cut at the root of the integrity of her
dominions. Manucci remarks: ‘It is his (Aurangzib's)
practice to denude them (the southern kingdoms) slowly of
their wealth, then of their territory, finally of their life.’ *
Mangammil seems to have prevented the fruition of this
imperial scheme, if it was as comprehensive as Manucei
says. She did not scruple to bribe and cajole the imperial
generals to the best of her resources and ability. It was
this policy of timely submission that saved the kingdom
from ruin in the time of Mangammi|. Though she con-
ciliated the Moghuls, her alliance with them did not secure
her kingdom from other enemies. Aurangzib was far from
being.an efficient source of help to Madura in her troubles.

? Storia do Mogor, iii, p.411.. w, o VA8, 1, po ddd,
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The Mahratta peril was not put an end to, and Mangamma]
was driven to the necessity of making compulsory payments
to the Mahrattas. She had to save the kingdom by resort-
ing to her treasury frequently.

Mysore Aggression.—While Mangammi] was engaged in
settling her policy towards the Moghul empire, Chikkadéva
Riaya was pursuing a vigorous campaign of ferritorial
expansion. By 1690 he was in possession of a large
part of the Baramahals and of Salem up to the Kaveri.
Between 1690 and 1694, he conquered most of the
territories of Bednore, and concluded a treaty which
confirmed him in the possession of most of his con-
quests. Soon after, he directed his arms against Madura.
Aurangzib’s fear of the Mahrattas made his attitude
friendly towards Mysore for the time being, though he was
not really inclined to spare her, Chikkadeva invaded the
territories of Salem and Coimbatore, and made the local
chiefs subordinate to him. An inscription at Avandéi of
1695-6 records a grant by his prime minister, * Dalavay
Kumiraiya was sent to lay siege to Trichinopoly. He is
said to have vowed not to return to Mysore without
capturing the city. But an attack of the Mahrattas on
Mysore led to his recall. Mangammal's burden was thus
lightened, and she seems to have successfully repelled the
Mysore army. *

Relations with Travancore—We saw before how Tirumala
Nayaka’s invasion of Travancore left a lasting impression
on the king of that country, and how even about 1664 he,
in constant dread of the Niyak power, was maintaining a
strong garrison in his capital for the defence of the
kingdom. The political entanglements and weakness of
Madura during the reign of Chokkandtha seem to have
changed his attitude towards his overlord of Madura. It is

s pAppendiz D, No, 202, ® Wilks, i, pp. 58-60,
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said that the Malaydlam ruler (the king of Travancore) came
to Tinnevelly” with many rich presents to render homage
to Ranga Krishpa Muttu Vieappa Nayaka. " It is also
remarked in the chronicles that, while Mungammi] was
carrying on the administration of the country, the
Malayila people did not pay the usual tribute ; ® and, there-
fore, the former had to declare war against them. This
war of Mangammil with Travancore is conlirmed by Jesuit
accounts, which give the cause of hostilities in more
detail.™ An inscription at Vadaséri, dated 1697, records
remission of taxes to the pcople of Ninjinid for thirteen
years on account of the Nayak invasion. ™

The king of Travancore, Ravi Varma, scems to have
taken advantage of the troubles of Madura in the carly
days of Mangammil's regency and refrained from paying
tribute. Consecquently, every year an army was sent to
Travancore to collect the dues by force. The weakness
of the king of Travancore and the rebellious attitude of his
ministers, who had usurped all royal autherity, made
united action impossible. Hence the Niyak army pillaged
the country and returned home with the spoils. It would
have been easy to stop such annual visitations if the pass
near * Cotate’ (viz., the Aramboly Pass) had been strongly
guarded. But internal factions led to passive acquiescence
on the part of Travancore, and the country suffered much
from the incursions of the Madura army. About 1696
Ravi Varma is said to have conceived a daring plan
to free himself at one stroke from the two perils which
were preying upon him, viz. the overbearing ministers and
the Madura invasions. The ‘ Badagas' (the Madura army)

? Thiz may be Umayvamma Ripi, the Queen Regent (1677-84).

& Taylor, 0. . ME5., i, p. 215,

& Thiy mEmtu%&n‘rtltuda may have commenced with the necession
of Ravl Varma (1684-1718),

1 Bertrand, iv, pp. 18-20; Leckman, i, pp. 367-70. Mide Appen-

dix B, Letter No. 2.
11 Appendix D, No, 204,
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invaded Travancore as usual to exact the customary tribute.
They marched unopposed very near to ‘ Korkulam ', the
capital and chief fort of the kingdom. Ravi Varma
ndopted n very dangerous policy., He came to an under-
standing with the ‘ Badagas' by promising them a part
of his dominions and the fortress of * Korkulam ' in return
for their assistance against his cight ministers (BEtfuoiftil
Pillamdar) who hnd deprived him of all power in his
kingdom. He gave up the citadel to them and, with their
help, murdered some of the ministers, the rest of them
escaping or ransoming their lives. When the ministerial
clique was thus destroyed, he became alive to the dangers
attending on his hazardous course of entrusting his capital
to his most powerful enemy. Without losing courage,
he suddenly turned against them and laid siege to the fort.
The * Badagas' fled in confusion, but most of them were
pursued and massacred. The Madura army was completely
lost, and only n few survived to carry the tale of these
tragic incidents home. .

It appears probable that Mangammil's expedition to
Travancore about 1697 was occasioned by the circum-
stances detailed nbove. The events of this punitive cam-
paign are briefly noticed by a chronicle.' A large army
was sent to Travancore under Dalaviy Narasappaiya.
After a hard struggle, he came out victorious and dictated
his own terms. All the arrears of tribute were collected,
and valuable presents of jewellery received. The most
remarkable of the trophies which were highly prized by the
Dalaviiy were some pieces of ordnance. They are said to
have been carefully numbered and preserved in the bastions
¢ 12 Nelson (p. 225) identifies thie place with Quilon. But from the
Jesuit letters itis clear that it was not far fromy the borders of the
kingdom of Travancore. Nieahoff (p. 265. Fide AppendixC) speaks
of Kalkolang as the capital city upon the confines of the kingdom

of Madura, and it may be the same ns Korkslam. The proper form

was probably Kilkulam,
18 Taylor, (7. . M58, 1, p. 224,

27
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of the Madura and Trichinopoly forts; but Nelson did not
succeed in his attempt to trace them.

The Tanjore War.—We have seen that Mangammii] had
troubles with king Shahji of Tanjore from the commence-
ment of her regency, and that she sought the help of the
Moghuls to check the aggressions of this Mahratta ruler
by peaceful means. But she gradually realized that, in
relying on the Moghul empire for the safety of her
dominions, she was leaning on a broken reed. Shahji
continued his aggressive policy and captured some of the
towns of Madura. His raids into the kingdom were deeply
resented by Mangammil, who was constrained to declare
war against him about 1700. Dalaviy Narasappaiya was
given charge of this campaign against Tanjore, He
entrenched himself strongly on the northern side of the
Coleroon to prevent the devastation of the country by
the army of Tanjore. But he could not owercome the
excellent cavalry tactics of his enemy. He realized that an
offensive operation alone would constitute the best defence.
Therefore he crossed the river stealthily and safely, and
harried the kingdom of Tanjore. The Tanjore army was
dismayed. Neglecting the defences of the capital, it tried
to cross the river to counteract this move of the Madura
Dalavay., Buta wrong place was chosen for the crossing
at a time when the river was in full flood, with the result
that several men and horses were washed away by the-
carrent. Confusion set in, and the Tanjore army became
panic-stricken. At this juncture the Madura Dalaviy fell
on the Tanjore forces and completely routed them. The
kingdom was devastated, and the news of this triumph
spread far and wide. Shahji was very much disheartened,
and his fury was kindled, as he suspected foul play on the!
part of his chief minister, Baloji or Vagoji Pundit. The
latter became the target of popular indignation also.
Undaunted by the machinations of his enemies, who wanted
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to discredit and ruin him, he approached his master and
assured him that he could conclude an honourable peace
with the enemy within o week, pledging his life in case of
failure. This respite was granted, and Baloji sent his
secretaries to the prominent merchants of the locality and
its neighbourhood, and succeeded in getting a large loan.
He tapped all possible sources of money, not sparing even
the public treasury. In three or four days he collected, it is
said, about 5,00,000 crowns and lavishly bribed most of
the Madura ministers, and principally the greedy father
of the Dalavay. By skilful diplomacy, he negotiated a
peace between Madura and Tanjore, and returned to his
master in great exultation. His startling success strength-
ened his position in Tanjore and disarmed his internal
enemies.

In a short time an exhibition was made of this newly
cemented alliance. The king of Mysore constructed a big -
dam across the Kaveri with the idea of diverting all the
waters of the river to his kingdom. He thought too
exclusively of the advantages which would accrue to himself
from this scheme to consider its disastrous consequences
for the kingdoms of Madura and Tanjore. Even though
the winds, the forerunners of rain, had blown in that year
much earlier than usual, the Kaveri was dry, and the rulers
of Madura and Tanjore came to know of the cause of this
‘unexpected occurrence. Their wrath was roused at the
prospect of an imminent drought and famine, and they
planned a joint invasion of Mysore to punish the mischief
done to their interests by Chikkadéva Riya. Before they
could complete their preparations, they were surprised -to
see floods in the river. The dam constructed by the king
of Mysore was strong enough only for moderate rainfall;
but when heavy rains swelled the waters of the river, the

4 Barlrand, iv, pp. 120-2; Lockman, i, pp. 285-7. Fids Appen-
dix B, Letter No. 4. 2
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anicut gave way, and his plans were totally ririned, "
Though a failure, Chikkadéva Raya's scheme of irvigation
proved a brilliant anticipation of onc of the mos pigantic
engineering feats of modern times. is fertile bridn
planned far above the resources of his age.  [is attempl
led to the strengthening of the new-born fricndship between

Madura and Tanjore.
The Marava Affairs—The power of Raghunatha Sétupati,

the Kilavan, was gradually growing, as Rangan Krishna
Muttu Virappa Niyaka did not succeed in curhing his
overbearing attitude.  He pursued an independent policy in
his administration. We shall see how his vigorous campaign
of persecution against Christianity culminated in the
martyrdom of John de Britto, and how he cared little about
wounding the susceptibilitics of Mangammil] in this respect.
The latter’s difficultics gave him an opportunity to frec
himself from the control of Madura. Martin’s letter of 1700 '
refers to the practical independence of the Maravas and
their paying what tribute they liked to Madura. About
1698, it is said, they laid siege to Madura, captured it, and

18 Bertrand, iv, gp. 182-3 ; Lockman,:ii, pp. 300-301. Piee Appen-
dix B, Letter No. 4.

Chlkkad@variija Udaiyir of Mysore was essentinlly o great constroc-
tive administrater, This magnificent effort at irrigativn was concentra-
tedl upon the irrigation canal, which even now poes hy the name
ChikkadBvarfija Sigarn and isan exceedingly fruitfnl undertaking ns
it is the source of the fertility of a considerable portlon of the districl
of Mysore. The canal takes off from the Kuverl where the level of the
river is high : itis then carrled over the side of a hill, where It rises to
some height, and, nfter proceeding a certnin distance, s led into the
Kaverl again ot o peint, where the river runs o great deal below the level
of the ground, It is acknowledged generally that the iden of control-
ling the foods of n river ot the head of the deltn and mnking usue
of the water for purposes of irrigation was gmhan}r originated by the
Hindus, and the Kaver] anicut is one of the earliest known (nstances,
ChikkadBvardju's canal was only a further development of the idea and
need not be considered Impossible even for eightesnth-century India.
It was no doubt an anticipation of the ‘?ﬂmt projeet ot h'.u%::mmbidi
now ; there is nothing original in the idea of the Konnumbddi dam.
Its magnitude no doubt is great and the benefit derived therefrom moy
be far greater, but the underlying principle is the same, —2d,

18 Lockman, i, p. 453. Fide Appendix B, Letter No. 3,
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retained possession of it for some time.  Soon Narasappaiya
drove them out of this stronghold.

In 1702 Mangammi] had to undertake an expedition
against the Sctupati, probably owing to his co-operation
with Tanjore in her war against Shahji in 1700,  Dalavay
Narasappaiya now secured the help of Tanjore and marched
into the Marava country with a strong army. But the
SCtupati was more than o match for him, and he (the
Dalaviy) lost his life in the campaign. The Madura army
was defeated, most probably because it had been exhausted
by several years’ campaigning. Morecover, the Marava army
possessed greater cohesion and energy. It was recruited
almost entirely from one stock of people, who were for long
trained to predatory warfare. The Marava country was so
organized that the SGtupati could collect even 30,000 or
40,000 men in the course of a week., This numerical and
intrinsic superiority of the Maravas was an important factor
in sccuring their independence of Madura at a time when
the latter had frittered away her strength in many military
undertakings, and when her army was only a medley of
divergent interests. Thus, about 1702, the Kilavan
Sctupati severed his connection with Madura and became
an independent ruler.  Soon he strengthened the fortifica-
tions of Ramnad. In 1709, he defeated the Tanjore army
which invaded his kingdom, when it was desolated by
famine and cyclonic floods, and the latter had to sue for
peace.” He also captured the strong fortress of Arantingi
from Tanjore* Mangammadl failed to subdue her turbulent
vagsal. Before her death, Ramnad became a separate
kingdom.

Christianity.—Christianity underwent strange vicissitudes
during this period. The most noteworthy event is the
continuation of the work of Britto and its tragic end. De

17 Bartrand, iv, pp. 186 and 200, W Jbid,, pp. 200-201,
+ PPN Boid,, p. 228, '
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Britto returned to the scene of his past labours (the Marava
country) in 1691 in spite of the threat offered to his life
* by Raghunitha Setupati. He was not scared away by the
dangers which were sure to follow his persistent efforts to
preach Christianity in the very teeth of persecution. Not a
moment passed without his encountering perils from his
enemies, robbers, and wild beasts. He did not trouble to
protect his life from epidemics and dangerous storms,
from floods and ferocious animals. IHe would not recede
from his mission of sacrificing his life for the, altar, He
succeeded in converting a number of people, the chief
among whom was a Marava prince named Tadiya Téva, the
supposed heir to the Ramnad throne, whose claims were
overlooked as against those of the Kilavan Sétupati. Tadiya
Téva's youngest wife was the niece of the Kilavan and she
was rejected by her husband after his conversion. She could
not brool the loss of her status and forgive Britto, the chicf
cause of her misfortune. Shehurried to the court of her uncle,
and mourned the sad fate that had overtaken her through
no fault of hers. All the enemies of Christianity joined
together and prepared the mind of the Kilavan for meting
out condign punishment to Britto. They pointed out that
the kingdom was being ruined by the activities of the
Christians, and indicated the probability that his own posi-
tion would be jeopardised by the people embracing Chris-
tianity in large numbers and supporting the claims of a
Christian like Tadiya Téva to the Ramnad throne. The
Kilavan tried to persuade the latter to give up his Christian
proclivities ; but he was obstinate and gloried in his con-
version. He was not, however, bold enough to punish him
severely; because the defect of his own title to the throne and
the high status and influence of his rival, discouraged him
“ from hastening any untoward development. He, therefore,
resolved to heap all his revenge on Britto. He gave orders
for the destruction of all churches in his kingdom, and the
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arrest of Britto and his company. On the 8th of January,
1693, the latter were arrested, brought to Ramnad on the
11th, and imprisoned. At this time, Tadiya Téva was in
the Marava capital, and his influence delayed the punish-
ment intended for Britto, and made the attitude of the
SCtupati indecisive. A large Christian population was
another factor to be taken into account in deciding the fate of
Britto, Hence the SGtupati nominally banished him to the
territory of his brother, but sent secret orders to murder
him. DBritto was taken to Oraiytr, °‘situated on the
confines of the Marava country on the river Pimbir ', and
he reached the place on the 31st of January. His letter
from prison, dated 3rd February, 1693, describes the events
which preceded his execution: * On the 28th of January I
was judged and condemned to be executed in the presence
of Ranganiidadévan. . . . I was separated from the
Christians and conducted to his brother Oraiydrdevan, to
whom he sent sccret order to kill me without delay. I
arrived here on the 31st of January. . .. I am expecting
death with impatience; it has always been the object of my
desire ; it is now the most precious recompense to my work
and sacrifice. . . . All the crime I am charged with is the
teaching of the law of true God and the weaning of the
worshippers from their idols. The soldiers watch me. I
cannot write more . . . '*™ There were some obstacles in
the way of the carrying out of the order of execution, as the
wife of OraiyGirdévan was a Christian woman, but Muru-
gappa Pillai, the chiel minister, was an inveterate enemy of
Christianity. He gave the signal for execution on the 4th
of February, 1693, in the following words: ‘Considering
that this gurs (religious teacher) prevents the worship of
our gods, and that the sect he propagates makes progress
daily and spreads over the whole country, in the name of

e Pertrand, i, p. 47,
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the king, I order you to cut off his head. Britto was
murdered, and his dead body is said to have been horribly
mutilated and exposed to vuoltures,”

Nelson truly remarks that the ‘murder of John Deo
Britto, so far from injuring the cause of Christianity,
appears to have advanced it very considerably '.  Anyhow,
it is difficult to question the sincerity of the Kilavan
SEtupati in taking such a drastic step to uproot Christianity.
He seems to have believed that the safety of his crown and
the interests of his kingdom demanded such a stern policy,
He could not repress the surging wave of Hindu feeling,
which emanated from the damaging attacks of Britto on
idol-worship and Hinduism in general. However, the
Setapati's calculation was a failure, and Christianity
flourished in the Marava country after the martyrdom of
Britto. He himsclf relented later on and extended his
sympathy to this persecuted faith in his last days.

Martin’s letter of 1st June, 1700, vefers to the persecution
of Christians which was sometimes attended with personal
violence. Father Bernard Saa was severcly handled and
he even lost some of his teeth ; his disciples were merci-
lessly scourged. It is said that the feelings of the people
in general were excited against Christianity. Till about
1700, i.e., for seven or eight years after the murder of Britto,
the SEtupati did not turn back from his policy of extirpating
the Christian religion from his dominions. Gradually the
situation improved. The supposed miracles performed
by the mangled remains of Britto, and the death of
Oraiytirdévan and his minister, shortly after his murder,
worked on the .imagination of the people and created a
sympathetic atmosphere for the Christians. While these

=2 Jhid,, p. 448,
*2 For a complete life of Britto, sce Jfdid.,, pp. 405-55; Nolson,
pp. 217-25,

®2 Bertrand, iv, pp. 64-5,; Lockmnan, i, pp, 387-6. Fide Appendix B
Letter No. 2. o Pt ppendix K,
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ciccumstances stayed the hands of the persecutors, the
cause of Christinnity was reinforced by the friendly atti-
tude towards it of Vaduganitha TGva, ‘ the cldest son of °
the Setupati’. The missionaries were emboldened to
enter the Mavava country ; and, in the first decade of the
cighteenth  century, recruits to Christianity gradually
increased.

While Christianity was having a chequered career in the
Ramnad country, it enjoyed a large measure of freedom
in Madura. Mangammil showed great tolerance towards
Christian preachers and her Christian subjects. As early
as 1691 she is said to have ovdercd the liberation of Father
Mello, who was languishing in the Marava prizon awaiting
death, DEven in Madura the missionaries had theic own
share of minor troubles., IFather Bouchet had to dismiss
three catechists for moral delingquency. The latter rallied
the enemics of Christianity to their side, and attempted
to discredit the missionaries. The following charges were
brought against them: (1) That they were Parangis,
(2) that they were a burden to the kingdom, because they
paid no revenue, though their income was large, and (3)
that they murdered a Friav. Pather Bouchet felt very
anxions and resolved to interview Dalavidy Narasappaiya,
though the latter was well-known for his great aversion
to Europeans, as became evident from his dismissing some
able and experienced gonners from the army at a time when
he was engaged in a war, because he learned that they were
Europeans. Bouchet carried with him some curious
presents, and he was received with great consideration by
the Dalaviy, who is eulogised as the greatest minister that
ever governed Madura, The Father had a minute know-
ledge of the court ceremonials, and he scrupulously avoided
giving room for any suspicions about him. He skilfully
ingratiated himself into the favour of the Dalavay by
making, pointed reference to his heroic actions and
victories. He laid special emphasis on the Christian law,
which enjoined on subjects implicit obedience to their
sovereign. The Dalavity in his turn complimented Bouchet,

28
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and then conveyed his presents to Mangammal, who asked
her minister to thank the Father in her name and grant
him all his requests, The Dalaviy openly proclaimed in
court the wishes of the Queen. Bouchet expressed his
indebtedness to the Dalaviy and took leave of him,
reiterating his request for royal protection of Christianity.
The interview came to an end, and the Father was taken
in procession with great pomp throughout the city, by the
orders of the Dalaviiy, and conducted to his residence,
which was about four leagues off. This successful diplo-
matic mission of Bouchet gave him strength to deal with
the apostates who were working against him. He pub-
lished an order of excommunication against them. Soon
two of them ve-entered the Christian fold, while the third
apostate persisted in his inimical attitude towards the
Father. Thus the impending storm against Christianity
was averted by the timely manceuvres of Bouchet, ™
Martin's account of this interview of Bouchet with
Dalaviy WNarasappaiya gives o glowing picture of the
success of Christianity and the respect it commanded in
the kingdom. But, as Taylor remarks, ‘it is an ex parte
statement ; yet probably does not depart much from the
truth, though there are some other portions of the letter
in question which apparently require to be received with
some qualification.’ ™ Anyhow, the benevalent attitude of
Mangammal towards Christianity is clear. This is con-
firmed by the following extract from Manucci: * This
King of Tanjore, not satisfied with what he had done in his
own territories against the Christians, wished still farther
to have them persecuted and brought to destruction within
the kingdoms of the princes, his neighbours. With this
object he wrote, while still impelled by his rage, while the
tire of his wrath was still burning, to the Queen of Madura
and the King of Aurpaliam (Udaiyarpilaiyam), representing
to them the danger they incurred for their temples and

4 Bertrand, lv, pp. 72-81 ; Lockman, i, pp. 459-69. 4
R o pp , bp GY, Mide Appendix B,
® 0, H OMSS, i, p. 227,
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even for their thrones if they did not expel the Christians—
at any rate, if they did not hinder the free exercise of
that religion and forbid the baptism of any of their
subjects. . . . The first of these potentates answered that,
just as some were allowed to eat rice and others meat, so
also was it lawful for cach man to practise or adopt what-
ever religion scemed to him the best. As for the King
of Aurpaliam, he did not prescrve so favourable an attitude
towards the Christians as did the Queen of Madura. It is
also true that he did not treat them with the rigour and
severity that had been exercised in Tanjore. He was con-
tent to give orders to arvest four Jesuit missionaries, then
within his territory, but their reverences were warned, and
' preserved themselves for their country .  (They bolted).
The King, having missed arresting their persons, made sure
of their property and of all that was to be found in their
house. But the Christians were not touched.’ **

This extract exhibits in bold relief the enlightened
religious policy of Mangammil as against the rude campaign
of persecution followed by the neighbouring rulers and
the S&tupati. Thus Mangammi] shone far above her
contemporaries in her attitnde towards religion.

Mangammal’s Character and Work—Mangammil was a
femme politique. Her vigour and diplomacy gave the
Nayak kingdom a longer tenure of life than it would other-
wise have had. She found the kingdom weak and decrepit,
threatened by dangers all around. By accepting the
Moghul supremacy she conserved her energy and resources
to. direct them against the less powerful enemies of ‘the
kingdom. With uperring judgment she knew what she
could achieve. Though it must be admitted that she was
no match for the Sétupati, she conducted many wars with
ability and success;.but the remarkable powers of  her
Dalaviy, Narasappaiya, constituted a.valuable asset and
het chief mainstay. Her prudent administration in an age
of storm and stress tharks her out as a ruler of hxgh repute

e Si!'arﬂ: do Hﬂgﬂh iu, PP 33‘3-3
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Mangammil's attitude towards Christianity has' heen
adverted to. She was equully considerate towards other
religions.  She did not alienate her Mubhammadan subjects.
A copper plate inscription of 1692 * records u grant for the
maintenance of a mosque in the name of her grandson.
In 1701 she made a gift of some villages near Trichinopoely
for a. Muhammadan deraga.®™ Her grants to Hindos are
numerous. Though a devout woman, she respected the
religious feelings of others.

Mangammal's name has become proverbial for liberality.
Inscriptions record her donations to temples and for public
charity. She is famous as a roadmaker, though she built
some artistic public cdifices like the choultry, which is
called after her name, and, according to some, the Tamagam
(summer house). She provided for the comfort of pedes-
trians by planting trees on the roads she constructed and
repaired, and placing inns and supplies of water on the
way. An inscription of 1701 * records a grant of land for
a feeding institute. She made many grants of ugrahdras.
She seems to have devoted much of her attention to irrigu-
tion, as is indicated by her inscriptions on the bank of the
Uyyakkondan Channel in 1687 and 1704.™ Her greatness
is reflected in popular tradition, which draws a strikingly
contrasted picture of Mangammi] and Chikkad@va Riya,
the niggardly king of Mysore.® Idle stories are current
about. Mangammal’s object in organizing charity on such
an elaborate scale, but they are too puerile to deserve
serious consideration, ¥

Mangammal's Death.—Nelson says that Mangammai)
died under tragic circumstances., It is said that the queen
became unpopular during the last two or three years of
her life, because of her scandalous relationship with her
minister Achchaiya. This unpopularity increased when
she showed. unwillingness .to. hand over .the. reins of
government. to. her grandson when he attained. majority.

27 Appendix D, No, 198, =8 fhiel,, No. 210. o foid., Mo, 204,
90 foid,, Mos, 105 and 211, 22 Taylor, 0. A, MES., i, pp. 284-6.
av fMd., p. 224 ; "Nelson, p. 216.
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Consequently she was arrested, imprisoned, and starved,
Tantalus-like, until at last she died. Thisis oral tradition.™
Nelson thinks that ‘there is nothing prima facie im-
probable in it as it stands, and there exists some evidence
tending to corroborate it*.™ The conlirmatory cvidence
alluded to here is a supposed statue of Achchaiya, and a
portrait of Mangammi] with her alleged paramour, in
which the latter is dressed in unorthodox fashion and
gaudily decked with jewellery. But the statue and the
portrait do not constitute decisive evidence, as they give
very meagre and doubtful information about this affair.
The most obvious improbability in the story is that, at the
time ascribed for this love intrigue, Mangammal would be
abont fifty-five years old.® The Jesuit anthorities who
refer to Mangamma] have nothing to say about her unnatural
death, 1f it was a [act, they would have made much
capital out of it; for she was their friend, and they would
have seized on such an cffective weapon against their
enemies. All that can be said on the evidence available
is that there is no wvalid ground for believing that
Mangammi] met with a tragic death, A
Mangammail's regency lasted for cighteen years, accord-
ing to the History of the Carnataca Governors, Supple-
mentary Manuscript, and a Machensic Manuscript,® The
Mptyunjaya Manuscript gives nineteen years. The Pandyan
Chronicle gives only twelve years. This means that the
regency must have come to an end about 1700, and this
view is opposed to the evidence of inscriptions and the
Jesuit letters. It is, however, clear that her death
happened after that of Chikkadéva Raya of Mysore: ¥
Wilks * ascribes the Jntter event to the 12th of December,
1704. There is an inscription of ‘Mangammal-in 1706-7.%

93 Taylor, 0. H. M55., 1, p. 226 o po23

45 In 1682 Ranga Krishna Muttu Virappe wes, according to the Jesuit
letters, fifteen years old, and therefore Mangammal must have been
ut least past thirty then, and hence in 1705 she would be about fifty-four

or fifty-five. .
a0 Taylor, & A MES., §i, p. 220, T fhid., pp. 225-6.
ue §, p. 131, 20 Appendix D, Mo. 212,
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The eacliest inscription of her successor, Vijayaranga
Chokkandtha, as ruler, belongs to 1708 or 1710, according
as the Saka or the cyclic year is to be taken as correct. "
His caclier inseriptions of 1692, 1695, and 1700 belong to a
period when Mangammi]l was the ruler beyond doubt.
Therefore 1706 may be taken as the date of Mangammil's
death, as it is epigraphically supported. In that case, her
regency would have lasted for about eighteen years. ¢

b f{.ppandix D, No. 214, ‘

1 My, Rnu;irmhml'n nccount of J!-inugnmmﬁl] is not without errors
vommon to his history. With regard o her ndministration, he makes
the following stntements : ‘' Mangammil carried on the nffairs of state
with a remarkable capaclty for f1fleen years after his [I{m:ign Krishnn
Muttu Virappa's) denth ' in 1689, . . * She conld hardly Il his place,
The 18th century was not an age for the rule of women in Indin, , . .
{fo:? the mild sceptre of a feoman. Mangnmmil was one among o
million women. . . ., She failed to secure the independence of her
state from Mughal demioation'. (L., 1017, po 1248, Later on
Mr, Rangacharl remarks that ° endowed with many seasendine virtues,
she proved o politician of wo smean falenls, Vor o spoace of sevenleen
years (1689-1705) she condueted the affnive of stafe in sueh excellent
spirit that her regency became, if not n model of good government, ot
least strong enough to secure order within the state and oiefory adroad,
She had a certain vigour and independence of character which ensured
the securlty of her reign and the discomfiture of her cnemies , . . .
The real work of consolidation . . . develved on Mangammi], Amnd
ghe proved not unequal to the task. Her remarkable vigour made her
mgmg, when compared with that (sfe) of her predecessors, one of
tranguillity and progress. During the period of 15 wears during
which she swayed the destinies of Madura . . . " (J&id., pp. 157-8.)
Thus Mr. Rangacharl's estimote of Mangnmmi|'s achievements, and
the period he ascribes to her rule have varying connotation and denotn-
tlon. Turther, he places the commencement of Vijayaranga Chokka-
nitha's rule in 1706. (Féid., p, 186.) Therefore Mangammal Is said to
have ruled for fifteen years and seventeen years, and died in 1705 and
1706, Another characteristic of Mr. Rangachari's work is his
attempt to express final judgments on historleal questions, ns is attested
by his statement that ‘ the true cause and excuse of Mangammil's death,
therefore, is, and is ever likely to be, o mystery'. (/bid., p. 185.)
Moreover, he does not avold exhibiting the views, in his own language,
of ‘a historlan whose views are of n most unrelinble nature'. [férd.,
p.184) Mr, Rangacharl seems to be an jnveterate lover of romance
and does not try to extricate history from its clutches,



CHAPTER XIII

VIJAYARANGA CHOKKANATHA
(1706-32)

VIJAYARANGA CHOKKANATHA assumed the reins of govern-
ment in 1706. His reign is only a record of the sufferings
of the conntry, and its downward march to disruption and
ruin. The fatal indifference of the king to the affairs of
state, and his absorption in other work, gave a free hand
to his ministers, whose maladministration hastened the
break-up of the kingdom. The weakness of the central
government gave a strong stimulus to the play of centri-
fugal tendencies. The higher officials were greedy and
lacking in grit. Oppression of the people seems to have
been the chief work of the ministers. In an inscription
of 8th March, 1712, Kastiri Rangaiya is mentioned as the
Dalavily, and Venkatakrishnaiya as the Pradhini)! Un-
anthorized and tyrannical collection of taxes seems to have
led to hostile demonstrations against the administration.
An inscription of 1710 refers to a temple servant throwing
himself down from the temple tower as a protest against
undue taxation of some tax-free villages, and the consequent
yielding of the state officials—an effective course of * passive
resistance .’ Soearly in the reign matters reached a climax,
The king's attention was mainly devoted to religious
practices and gifts. He issaid to have taken the adminis-
teation of the Divasthanan: (temple management) into his
own hands, and rivalled Tiramala Niyaka in his arrange-
ments with regard to temple affairs.’ He made grants to

: Appendix D, No. 218, * fbid., No. 216.
2 Madwraittalovaraliyn, Fide Appendix B,
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institutions (maphas) in distant places like Tirnkkalukunram
in 1717 and Sosile in 1708, e went on long pilgrimages
to important shrines at very shortintervals, To official mis-
management were added the miseries of the people due to
famine between 1710 and 1720. The inscriptions® of the
Mysore rulers in Salem and Coimbatore show that this
part of the Madura kingdom was irretrievably lost. To-
wards the end of his reign, Vijayaranga Chokkanitha
seems to have enjoyed a quiet time. In 1726 the king of
Travancore applied to him for help against his internal
enemies.*

The Marava [(ingdom.—The NKilavan SGtupati died in
1710, according to the Jesuit authorities ;7 and the earliest
inscription of his successor is in 1730.* Mr. Rangachari
does not seem to be quite sure of the period of this
Setupati's rule. Not only does he not give the authority
for his dates, but makes mutually discordant statements.
At first he gives the dates 1673 to 1708, i.c., a period of
thirty-five years ;" but, later on, he places the Kilgvan's
death in 1709 after a rule of twenty-five years” Many
instances like this have been pointed out already. Probably
Mr, Rangachari wrote his articles in the Indian Antiquary
in parts, and did not carefully refer to the remarks he had
made before. In this particular case, his contradiction, with
regard to both the dates and reign-period, is apparently
due to his following Nelson blindly. The latter says that
the Setupati ‘ commenced a reign destined to extend over
a period of no less than thirty-six years’; . . . and that

+ Appendiz D, Nos, 225 and 215,

% Acsale deed of Dodda Krishna Udalyiir in 1714 at Etappfe (f64d.,
Mo, 281), An inscription of 1722 reealls the achievements of Chiktlen-
déva Rayn, who is said Lo have * emulated the sports of Krishna in con-
guering the lovd of Madura ' (fid., Neo. 220). There are numerons
other inseriptions of Krishna Raja Udaiyair,

o Caldwell, History of Tinnevelly, pp. 253-5,

7 Bertrand, Iv, p. 203. Fide Appendix A, Letter No, 12,

& Appendix D, No. 220, t 1A, 1917, p. 45

10 fhdid,, p. 200,
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' the veteran died aged upwards of eighty, and after a reign
of a quarter of & century,”"

The rule of the Kilavan lasted from about 1674 to 1710,
i.e., for about thirty-six years. He wasa man of remark-
able ability who conducted the administration of the country
with great vigour and wisdom. Though his title to the
throne was weak, he succeceded in securing the independ-
ence of his dominions and winning the good opinion of his
subjects. A rich and powerful Marava asked a Christian
catechist : * How can this religion (Christianity) be good
and holy when our king, so full of sagacity, has put its
preacher to ignominious death and severely prohibited this
doctrine in his dominions?'" The Setupati’s violent
action against Christianity seems to have been a popular
move. He identified himself completely with the interests
of his people and his kingdom. During his last years
he had to witness the intense sufferings which his people
had to undergo owing to the operation of natural causes.
Famine and pestilence came in the wake of war and made
terrible havoe. A virnlent cyclone added to the miseries.
This condition of affairs lasted for nearly ten years after
his death.

Before his death the Kilavan nominated Bhavini
Sankara Téva, his illegitimate son, as his successor ; but, on
representations from his subjects, he approved of their
candidate, Vijayaraghunitha, who was crowned S&tupati
after him. But in Martin’s letter of 1713 Vijayaraghunitha
is represented as the second son of the Kilavan Setupati :
¢ Vaduganitha Téva is master of a good part of Marava.
All the kingdom belonged to him by right, for he is the
elder: but he gave sovereignty over it to his younger
brother, who, he thought, had more talent for government
than het' This compliment to the self-abnegation of

1 Nelson, pp. 206 nudi?ﬁ;;rtmnﬂ. v, p. 223.1! BN
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Vaduganitha Teva is probably gratuitous and due to his
love of Christianity. If these two brothers were the sons
of the Setupati, it is inexplicable how the iuttqr‘s first
nomination fell on his illegitimate son, Bhaviini Sankara.
That Vijayaraghunitha and Vaduganitha were brothers is
probable. The Jesuit writers sometimes make the mistake
of taking the successors of a ruler for his sons! It
appears that popular choice triumphed in the succession of
Vijayaraghunitha Tava. .

. Though Vijayaraghunitha had the support of the people,
he was constantly troubled by his rival, Bhavini Sankara.
Disputed succession became the bane of orderly adminis-
tration. He resided ordinarily in the fortress of Arantingi,
and kept his forces in readiness for any military under-
taking. He was a deeply religious man, who paid frequent
visits to Riméévarain and made large donations to the
temple there. He also built a number of temples.

His attitude towards Christianity was very favourable
in the beginning. Soon after his accession, he received
the missionaries who went to see him, and gave them per-
mission to erect churches in the heart of his dominions.
He even granted them a plot of ground and the materials
necessary for their construction. Accordingly, a big church
was erected in 1711, which is said to have been more
beautiful than any of those of Madura.* But soon the
Sgtupati seems to have changed his policy, as the Jesuits
complain of bad treatment from him. To counteract this
hostility, the Christians had the support of the king's clder
brother, Vaduganitha Téva, of whom Martin records that
‘this prince received me with distinction and amity, and
apologized to me for the bad treatment I had received from
his brother.” Consequently, as is remarked, Christianity

*# Tirumala Nayaka is sald to be the son of Muttu Virappa Niyaka 1.
Ante, pp. 110 and 115,
1® Bertrand, iv, p. 208, Lo fhid., p. 228,
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was in a flourishing condition in the Marava country in
1714-5, and it made progress every day. When the king
went to Rimédvaram once, he entrusted the government of
his dominions to one * Tiruvaluvanithan ', his brother-in-
law, who is described as o model of piety and virtue among
the ncophytes.,™ Soon after the king's departure, the
latter visited the church and participated in the ceremonies.
When information about this reached the Sétupati, he flew
into a paroxysm of rage and hurried back to his capital
with the resolve to exterminate Christianity from his domi-
nions. He gave orders to his soldiers to enter the houses of
Christians and destroy all traces of their faith.'

About 1720 the famine, which had desolated the muntry
for several years, ceased. Abundant rains revived the peo-
ple’s hope, and the harvest gladdened those who survived the
calamity.” But unfortunately for the Marava country,
Bhaviini Sankara’s intrigues brought about a war. He
secured the help of the Rija of Pudukotta and the king of
Tanjore, and the confederate army attacked Arantingi.
While the defence of the place was going on, a terrible
epidemic made Vijayaraghuniitha its victim, and he was
taken to Ramnad, where he died soon after in 1720. This
was a serious loss to the Maravas, as he was a popular ruler
of some ability and his death was the signal for a dispute
about the succession, which ended in the final collapse of
the kingdom. A ]esuit writer gloats over this misfortung,
and refers to it as ‘ the favour of Divine Providence'.*

Before the death of the Setupati, he had nominated orie
Tinda TEva, a great-grandson of the Kilavan's father, as
his successor. But Bhavini Sankara, basing his claims to
the .throne on his -nomination by. the Kilavan, trled
diplomacy to defeat his rival. Through thé. support ‘of
his * mother-in-law’, the late S&étupati’s principal concubine

17 Bertrand, iv, p. 233, 8 Jiid,, p. 235.
.9 bid,, p. 282, - . %0 [bid., p. 262
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(he had married her niecel, he secured popular supporl
and became Sétupati. Buot Tinda Téva was not pre-
pared to surrender his right without a struggle. He
succeeded in getting the help of the king of Madura and
the Raja of Pudukotta to enforce his claims by the promisc
of territorial cession to the latter. In a short time, he laid
siege to Arantiingi ; and Bhavéni Sankara, dismayed at the
sight of the large army he had to give battle to, hurriedly
escaped to Tanjore. The latter concluded an agreement
with the king of Tanjore by which he consented to give
up all his territories north of the Pambir in return for help
against his rival. In the course of two or throe months
Bhaviani Sankara and the Tanjore general invaded Ramnad.
Tinda Téva called upon his allies for support; Madura
sent a few soldiers, and the army of Pudukotta encamperd
near the allied forces. The Tanjore general easily dispers-
ed the latter, and attacked the former. He was able to
take two of the sons of the Rija of Pudukotta prisoners,
and the latter came to terms quickly. After this engage-
ment, Ramnad was laid siege to and the fort was mined
and captured. Tanda Téva and some of his followers werc
put to death. Thus after a hard steuggle Bhaviini Sankara
became SEtupati for the second time,

The administration of this new S@tupati only prepared
the way for his fall. He could not retain the affection and
loyalty of his vassals. He quarrelled with a powerful and
influential chief and confiscated his territories. The latter
took refuge in Tanjore, and, by his heroic feats, won the
favour of the king. He co-operated with another refugee like
himself, Kittaya Téva, the maternal uncle of Tinda Téva,
who left Ramnad after its successful siege by Bhavini ™
Sankara, and succeeded in inducing the king of Tanjore to
help him, on condition of ceding him the territories north
of the Pambir, as Bhavani Sankara had not fulfilled his
promise to:the. same effect. Accordingly, the Ramnad
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country was invaded, and in the battle of Uraiyr, Bhavini
Sankara was defeated and taken prisoner to Tanjore, His
rule came to an end in 17297

The successful campaign of Tanjore against Bhavini
Sankara led to the pactition of the Marava country, All
the territories north of the Pimbir were taken by Tanjore,
in accordance with the terms of the understanding which
preceded her recent IRamnad campaign. The remainder
of the country was parcelled out into five portions ; three
of them were given to Kittaya Téva who ascended the
throne with the title of Kumira Muttu Vijayaraghunatha
Sétupati, and the other two parts went to the share of the
Polegar refupgee, the co-adjutor of Kittaya Téva, who later
on became the Rija of Sivaganga. Thus the original
Ramnad country was pactitioned among three persons,
with the result that the Sttupati ceased to be an influenc-
ing factor in politics, and his power was eclipsed by the
new ruler of Sivaganga, who, however, could not revive the
glories of the united and independent Marava country.™

Vijayaranga Chokkandtha's Charaeter and Rule.—
Vijayaranga's excessive religious fervour made him unmind-
ful of his duties'as king, Besides criminally neglecting his
proper functions, he wasted the resources of the kingdom
in lavish donations and frequent royal tours to principal
shrines. His inscriptions of 1708, 1715, 1716, 1717, 1721,
1724, 1727, and 1728 record grants of lands and villages

=1 Mr. Rangachari bas not carefully examined the dates he gives,
According to him, Vijayaraghunitha ruled from 1709 to 1723, ([.A.,
1917, p. 208.) The inaceuracy of this initla] date has been {:aintad out
already. The final date iz np?uud to the Jesuit records, which give the
year as 1720. Mr. Rangachar! does net note that his dates differ from
relisble authorities ; nor does he indicate how he has arrived at them.
Whatever may be his opinion, whether backed by satisfactory evideénee
or not, he should at least have taken care thst his dates wera not
mutuall conflictin He allows o period of nime years for Bhavini

uu]m:'a s rule ; nn§ therefore it must have-been between 1723 and 1732 ;
but he puts the close of it in 1720, (/&id., pp, 212-3.)

2 Nelson, Ipp 247-50.

0 Appendix [D, Nos. 214, 222, 224, 225, 228, 230, 331, nm.l‘zﬂ'ﬂ
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to temples and charities. Once in two years he is said to
have moved with a large following to Srirangam, Jambu-
kédvaram, Madura, Tinnevelly, ;'tl‘.l'ﬁ.r-Tlrundgurl, and Sri
Vaikuntham, and made liberal gilts to the gods”™ When
he was told that the presents of jewellery and other gifts he
had made on a previous occasion were all missing, he
would not do so much as institute an enquiry into the
malversation, but would repeat his donations. In thus
draining the public treasury he showed little sense of
responsibility.  His ministers, Naravappaiya and Venkata-
righaviacharya, took advantage of his weakness and
pilfered the public revenues unscrupulously.™ At a time
when the country was hastening to ruin, Vijayaranga
Chokkandtha was the last man to be at the head of the
realm. Like Vijayaraghava, the last Nayuk of Tanjore,
his essentially religious temperament dug the grave of his
reputation as a ruler, and accelerated the collapse of his
kingdom. He was too weak to control the destructive
elements which had been eating into the vitals of the State
for some time past. He sealed the fate of the kingdom
irretrievably, Like the Tanjore ruler above-mentioned, he
was extremely conservative in social matters, as is illustrat-
ed by his treatment of the Ceylon embassy, carrying .a
proposal for marriage into his family. He was horrified at
what he considered to be the audacity of the king of
Ceylon, because of his inferior caste; and he dimissed the
Cﬂylﬂnase with scant courtesy.” Vijayaranga Chakkanatha.
was a crude and orthodox man, and the work of aruler was
antlraly alien to his taste.

st Death.—Vijayaranga Chokkanitha died on the 3rd
Maéi, Virgdhikrit- (aboutthe 15th of February, 1732),
acmrdmg to the Mrtyunjaya. Manuscripts; on the Slvaritrl

:: }Eglor gm M. S8, I, pp. 229 and 37,
*0 fbid., 230-1,
o Ts.y!ur, Q. &. 455, I, Appeadix, pp. 46=7." s :
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day in Masgi, Virodhikrit, according to the Maduraittala-
varal@ru; and in Masi, Virodhikreit, according to the
Pandyan Chronicle.  The History of the Carnataca
Governors and the Supplementary Manuscript give the same
eyclic year. Therefore the chronicles agree in placing the
death of Vijayaranga early in 1732, Inscriptions do not
conflict with this dating. A copper plate inscription, dated
S. 8. 1653, K.A, 907, Virodhikrit,® is the last one ‘in the
reign of Vijayaranga Chokkandtha '. Consequently, he can-
not have died ecarlier than Aupust-September, 1731, The
earliest record of his successor, Min@kshi, is dated 1733-4.
Nelson only says that * the King seems to have died in the
year 1731'» He does not state the grounds for this
probability. Mr. Rangachari's date for this event is 1731,
but his references indicate the succeeding year, i.e., 17322
As usual he does not support his dating; he fails to
justify bis choice in the midst of conflicting evidence. The
most probable date for the death of Vijayaranga Chokka-
nitha is February, 1732, Wilks™ seems to be correct in
ascribing this event to the same year.

28 Appendix D, No, 234, . 0 fbid,, Mo, 235, 30 p, 251,
%1 r.A4., 1017, p. 213, 2§, p. 154,



CHAPTER XIV

MINAKSHI (1732-6)

MinAKSHI'S short reign of about five years is a record of
internal strife followed by foreign occupation and extinction
of the Niyak kingdom. Succession disputes now assumed
a serious shape and invited Muhammadan intervention.
Though Mindkshi was an ambitious woman, she was too
weak to cope with the complex and dangerous situation.
When gven heroic remedies could not have saved the
kingdom, the rule of a woman of very average abilities
could not but end in disaster.

As Vijayaranga Chokkanitha died without male issue,
his wife Minfkshi assumed the reins of government, and
adopted Vijayakumira, the son of Bangirn Tirumala, who
is said to have been a member of another branch of the
royal family issuing from Kumira Mutta, the * younger
brother ' of Tirumala Niyaka, She was supported by her
brother, Venkata Perumi] Nayaka. She acted quickly
to secure popular recognition for her rule. Soon
Bangiru Tirumala, the father of her adopted son, and
Dalaviy Venkatichirya formed an alliance to bring about
the deposition of Mindkshi. It is said that their frst
attempt to oust her, by entering the fort of Trichi-
nopoly, was a failure. While the struggle between these
parties was distracting the kingdom, the Nawab of Arcot
sent his son, Safdar Ali, and his son-in-law, Chanda Sahib,
about 1734 with a large army to reduce the kingdoms of
Madura and Tanjore if they failed to pay tribute. The
presence of the foreign army was utilized by Bangiru
Tirumala against Mindkshi; he bribed Safdar Ali to his
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side, The latter would not hazard an attack on the strong
fortress of Trichinopoly under the vigilance of Mindkshi.
Therefore he posed as the arbitrator between the two'
parties and summoned an imposing conference to keep up
the appearance of adjudicating their respective claims on
sulficient data, Mindkshi did not pay any heed to this
suspicious attempt at settlement. Saldar Ali decided in
favour of Bangidrw, and, committing the execution of his
award to Chanda Sahib, quitted the scene. Mindkshi
negotiated with the latter with a view to nullifying the
arrangements agreed upon, in return for, it is said, one
crore of rupees. Chanda Sahib consented to her terms,
and is said to have sworn by the Koran to safeguard her
intercsts at any cost. After this he was received by her in
her palace.! The accounts given by the chronicles are
confusing and contradictory. It is said that Mingkshi had,
by this time, reconciled herself with Bangaru, and that
she sent him and her adopted son to Madura to save
them from Chanda Sahib.

Chanda Sahib understood that the two rivals had come to
terms, and thercfore he had no opportunity to pit one
against the other. Further, he learnt that the conquest of
the Madura kingdom would be an easy affair. Disappoint-
ed at the attitude of Mindkshi, he returned to Arcot.
Soon he came again to Trichinopoly, in 1736, with the
definite plan of usurping the position of the Queen.
He came into the fort and prepared the necessary measures
for bringing the whole kingdom under hiscontrol. He seems
to *have persuaded Mindkshi that her best course lay in
entrusting him with the reduction of her enemies. With
strange infatuation or impotence, she remained an idle
spectator of Chanda Sahib’s movements, After gaining
control of the administration of the territories in her

* Wilks, 1, p. 155; Taylor, O, H. MSS., i, p, 233.
30
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possession, he strengthened his position in Trichinopoly.
Under the command of Govindaiya and Ravanaiya, two of
the Queen's adherents, he sent a large army, consisting of
80,000 cavalry and some infantry, to the south to take
possession of Dindigul, which was in the hands of Bangarn
Tirumala, and conquer the whole country, Dindigul was
stormed in a short time, and the army of Chanda Sahib
marched to Madura. Bangiru Tirumala desperately col-
lected a few troops to oppose the invaders. In the battle of
AmmaiyasNayakkanir,® his army, which was strengthened
by some Polegars, made a bold stand, and fought a well-
contested battle, but was overpowered, Bangiru took
refuge in Sivaganga, whose Raja allowed him the use of the
fort of Vellikarichchi. The Muohammadan army became
masters of the kingdom of Madura. Soon Chanda Sahib's
character and ulterior motives stood revealed. He did not
scruple to break his solemn vow, and imprison Mindkshi in
her palace® The latter's miseries overwhelmed her, and
she put an end to her own life by taking poison.!
The death of Mindkshi® brought about the practical
extinction of the rule of the Nayaks of Madura. Bangiru
Tirumala was not the man to take advantage of this turn in
the course of events and lead a vigorous campaign for the
expulsion of the Muhammadans ; he was too weak for such
an undertaking. By calling in the Mahrattas to his aid, he
gave up all chance of restoring Nayak rule. After his
murder by Anwaruddin, his son Vijayakumiara Hed to
Sivaganga, and his descendants lived in obscurity, These
later events are treated fully by Nelson,” and Mr. Ranga-
chari.’
= Taylor, 0.4, MES., 11, p. 234,
:%hﬂ.;{ill. Yusuf Khan, p. 12, * Tayler, 0.4, A5, i, p. 235,
e date of this event is rightly ascribed to 1736 by S. C. Hill
(Yusuf Khan, p. 26) on a careful examination of contemporary and

other reliable records. Mr., Rangachari, however,
(1.4., 1017, p. 213.) OIS FRNERSH AR 1 Lo

O p. 261 ef seq. ? Lo, 1017, pp. 2417 nud 272-5,



CHAPTER XV

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS ON NAYAK RULE
1. ADMINISTRRATION

- Central Government: King and his Ministers.— We
have seen how the Pilaiyam System was organized-to
meet the needs of local government and provide for the
military necessities of the kingdom. From the beginning
over-centralisation of authority was avoided. The central
government was systematised on traditional lines, but
certain modifications were introduced to suit the conditions
of the times. In theory the King governed -with the
assistance of a Council of Ministers.

 The Dalaviy was the principal officer of the kingdom,
and he combined in himself the control of all civil and
military administration. The old Hindu arrangement of
having a Mantri (chief minister) and a SEndpati (com-
mander-in-chief) was not followed, and we see the fusion
of the functions of these two officers in the hands of the
Dalaviy. This proved a wise arrangement, as the Niyaks
had always to aim at military efficiency even in civil
administration. For a long time after order had been
evolved out of chaos, a strong hand was necessary to Keep
the turbulent chiefs and people in check. Racial conflicts
among a heterogeneous population necessitated a combinas
tion of civil and military rule, as has been the case with the
" Non-Regulation ’ "provinces of India under the British
administration. Problems of state had so frequently a
conspicuous military aspect that the separation of civil and
military policy would have been prejudicial to orderly
administration. The Dalavily was practically the master of
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the kingdom ; but, since his powers had no constitutional
sanction, strong kings could curtail his authority. Normally
he was the supreme power in the state.  Under weak rulers,
his influence on the udministration was great and undisturb-
ed. It scems that the Dalaviy is referred to by the Jesuit
writers and John Nicuhoff as the Governor-General of the
kingdom.

The Dalavily's functions seem to have been of a general
nature ; he was the officer responsible for the peuce of the
country, and was mainly concerned with internal order and
foreign policy, though he may have had some control over
the various departments of state. Nelson scems to under-
estimate the importance of this official when he says?® that
his functions were merely advisory ; but Nieuhoff remarks
that he was a real power in the affairs of the country,
and the Jesuit letters, by many references, indicate his
great power, even under Tirumala Niyaka. The latter
authority says that the Dalaviy who governed the kingdom
under the Queen (Mangammal) was ‘absolute master and
bent all to his will’, and refers to him as the DPrince-
Regent.” Itappears certain that the Dalaviy was a power
to be counted in the administration of the country.

The first great Dalaviy of the Niayaks was Ariyanitbu,
who was also the Pradh@ini. The combination of these two
offices in his hands did not create a precedent, as, later on,
they were kept distinct and held by different persons,
An illustrious and worthy successor of Ariyanitha was
Rﬁmappai}r’a in the reign of Tirumala Nayaka. The
Dalavdys, Linganna Nayaka, Venkatakrishnappa, and
L hp. 145 g
" ® Hertrand, iv, p. 74 ; Lockman, i, p. 461, Fide Appendix 13, Lettes
I_‘JE‘I'}['.I Rangachari remarks that the two offices of I".-Inntri"nml Da vy
twerd amalgamated in the time of VigvanBtha and held by Ariyanfthn.
[n_dﬁu’ling with the NE}:uk_ sdministrative system, he does not say
apything about the latter's holding the office of Pradhfinl alse (f.A.,

1915, p. 113), whereas in another connection he rightly refers to him ns
the Dajavy and Peadhiini,  (&dd,, p. G4.) - ot
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Govindappaiya were mediocrities. The famous Narasap-
paiya, the Dalaviy of Mangammil, extorted the unstint-
ed admiration of the Jesuits, though he was an inveterate
enemy of the Luropcans.' Achchaiya was a uonentity,
Kastiri Rangaiyn, Naravappaiya, and Venkatardghava-
chirya, the Dalaviys of Vijayaranga Chokkandtha, were
unscrupulous intriguers, who lowered the prestige of
their office. Most of the Dalaviys of the Niyaks were
Bralimans, and, from the time of Chokkanitha, the office
was held by a succession of Brahmans,

The next important officer of the King was the Pradhani,
the finance minister, Though principally engaged in
directing the collection of revenue and its expenditure
he seems to have had great influence on internal adminis-
tration as a whole, and held a rank higher than that of an
ordinary minister. Proenza's letter of 1665 records that
‘the Pradhani, . . . under the title of the first minister of
the king, is the governor or rather the despot of the whole
kingdom '® This may be explained by the importance of
his charge and the necessary absence of the Dalavay from
headquarters in connection with war and allied questions of
foreign policy. The Pradhiini could, therefore, exercise
greater power in troublous times, and this occasional
stretch of his power may have reacted on his status and
influence in ordinary times.

The Riayasam (Secretary) was next in importance among
the ministers. He appears to have figured prominently in
the administration. He seems to have been the chief
administrative officer, but with less independence than the
Dalaviy .and the Pradhdni. As he was in closer touch
with the actual administrative machinery on the one hand,
and came .in cohstant contact with the ruler on the

" 4 Bertrand, iv, p. 74 ; Lockman, i, p.461. Vide Appendix B, Lettet
No. 3.
: ® Bertand, i, p. 174.
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other, he must have exercised .much authority. These
three officers formed the trio of the King's Council. The
other chief officials were the Kanakkan (Accountant) and the
Sthandpati (Foreign Secretary). The former was in charge
of the Audit department, and the latter was the accredited
representative of the King in his dealings with foreign
rulers.

Character of the Government,~~Though ministerial depart-
‘ments were organized by the Nayaks, the government
was a despotism in name. The King had the power to
shape the policy of the kingdom. Though conventions
were not without their influence on administration, they
had not the binding force of constitutional law. There
was nothing to prevent a well-intentioned king from
depriving a minister of his charge if he meant to
improve its working. Tirumala Niyaka and Vijayarangu
Chokkandtha transferred the Devasthdnam department
to themselves. Though there was not much respect
for constitutional forms, the requirements of good
government were appreciated ; and even the most arbitrary
exercise of royal authority was tolerated, provided it was
for the good of the people. Practically,the King's power
was limited by his Council of Ministers, the traditional
moral code, and public opinion. Even the powerful
Tirumala Niyaka had to submit to the voice of his people.
The Western type of constitutionalism may be said to be
foreign to Hindu polity; the spirit of distrust and the
hankering after material ‘results, which necessitate an
elaborate system of political checks and counterchecks—the
chief characteristic of Western political development—were
not present in India to the extent they were foand in .the
‘West in past ages. Religion pervaded the lives of the
people and the state; and the moral law was better
respected than man-made law. The atmosphere of Hindu
states did not encourage the exuberant growth of political
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organisms of a highly differentiated nature, and could not
therefore produce peoples addicted to politics like the
Western nations. Good government was then realized
with much less of elaborate political machinery than in
modern days. Therefore it is wrong to examine Hindu
polity from the point of view of modern political conditions,
and praise or condemn it, according as it conforms or not
to our administrative arrangements. We have only to
find out whether the aims of government were realized,
Hindu governments ministered to the material and spiritual
needs of the people, while the professed object of modern
states is to look after their material interests only. In
general, the Ndyaks hardly transcended the limits of the
traditional moral and political code; and they had great
respect for the general opinion of the people, though they
exercised almost absolute powers, As Nelson remarks,
*There were ... many things which they durst not
attempt to do, and there existed a well-defined public
opinion which it was never quite safe for them to insult.”®
The fatal defect of the Nayak polity, as of Hindu govern-
ments in general, was that the welfare of the people
depended, to a large extent, on the character of the King,
and as an uninterrupted succession of good and able rulers
could not be obtained, periods of good government were
sometimes followed by intervals of grave misrule. The
tendency of Western writers to talk glibly of ‘ Oriental
despotism ' and condemn it summarily as synonymous
with oppressive rule, is a serious hindrance to the impartial
study of old Indian governments. The note of waming
sounded by Professor Bury has not been much heeded.
Modern writers steeped in Western statecraft do not
sufficiently realize that the work of the historian is only ‘to
see how far good government was prevalent in past ages,

%p. 144,
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and what machinery was then available for this purpose.
The spirit of the administration and its results are better
eriteria of good government than a highly differentiated
mechanism of administration ; the form and machinery are
only a means to an end.

Provincial Government.—The link between the central
government and the local administrations, i, the
Pilaiyams, seems to have been the governors of provinees,
These officers were entrusted with much executive authority,
Their power scems to have varied considerably with their
distance from the capital ; o distant provincial ruler had
greater freedom from control. It appears that the kingdom
was divided into a few large provinces ; the governors of
Trichinopoly, Tinnevelly, and Satyamangalam are referred
to by the authorities. A letter of 1644 says that the
* governor of Trichinopoly was much more powerful than
the Nayak who then resided at Madura'.7 The chronicles
refer to the high status of, and large powers exercised by,
the governor of Tinnevelly. The governors appear to
have been under the control of the governor-general or the
Dalavily. A Jesuit letter of 1653 records that ‘the
governor-general of Trichinopoly addressed wvery severe
reprimands to the subordinate governor'.® John Mieuhoff
remarks that the Niyak of Madura was in possession of
' several considerable countries, each of which are (is)
governed by a peculiar governor’, besides the governor-
general, who * has the chief management of the whole king-
dom'!® Below the governers, it appears, therc were power-
ful Polegars, who had some sort of control over the smaller
chiefs, and probably it is these who are referred to by the
Jesuit writers as the kings of Manamadura, Séndamangalam,
Maramangalam, and Salem, and as the seigniors of Dharg-
puram and other places. The Polegar of Kannividi is

7 Bertrand, ii, p. 346. s Taylor, O, &, MES., 1l 213-5,
® Bertrand, i, p. 17. 105,507, Vide Appendix G
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spoken of in the chronicles as the chief of the eighteen
Polepars of Dindigul, _.
Local Government.—The unit of administration was the
village ; several villages were grouped under alarger division
called the mdkdype, which was o part of the ndgdu. The
latter unit seems to have been a component part of the
province, which was differently called the rdjya, desan,
mangdalam, or rdshfra,  Inscriptions show that provinces
were divided into nddu, Smai or mdkdna, and village
{(variously called grdmam, mangalam, samudram, kudi, ir,
purant, kujam, lwrichehi, papti, ete)™ Thoungh the ad-
ministrative divisions hada variety of names, it is clear
that a province consisted of many nddus, and the latter was
composed of many smaller divisions, the smallest unit being
the village. Turther, the term nddu was commonly used
in all parts of the country. The villages appear to have
enjoyed a large measure of local autonomy. John Nieuhoff
says that ‘each village has two judges, who are much
respected by the inhabitants.' " .
Organigation of the Central Governmeni.—The chief
officials of the central government seem to have maintained
a subordinate staff to carry on the work of their depart-
ments, It appears that they were given a free hand in
the appointment and dismissal of their assistants and
clerical staff. Thus a spirit of departmental responsibility
seems to have prevailed in administration. Nelson says that
‘ there can be no doubt . . . that the heads themselves
received nothing in the shape of salary, but were from time
to time rewarded with grants of land and presents of money,
‘when the King thought proper to mark his sense of their
services.'* The rewards given by the King to the officials
on special occasions Nelson takes to be remuneration

11 pppendix ), Nos. 16, 31, 38, 65, 78, 96, 128, 138, 145, 151, 172, 182,
191, 203, 208, 213, 250, and 252.
ik, 997, Vide Appendix C, 13, 158,
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for their regular services. This seems to be a gratuitons
assumption. If such a system of irregular payment had
prevailed, it could scarcely have escaped the notice of the
Jesuit writers, as it would certainly have added foree to
their condemnation of the Nayak administrative system,
Justicee~The central government did not maintain an
elaborate judicial establishment, Justice was mostly ad-
ministered locally by the village officers.  Arbitrution was
largely in vogue. liven questions like seniority among
brothers, which entailed such consequences as succession
to property, etc., were scttled by arbitrators.™ Questions
of a general nature, involving social and religious rights,
were heard by the King and his officials. The Jesuit letters
are full of the complaints which the missionaries carried to
the King, who decided them. The Pradhini seems to have
bad control over the judicial department. The trial of
Proenza recorded by him sheds some light on judicial pro-
cedure. His letter of 1665 contains the following observa-
tions: ‘The Pradhiini did not consider the rival plaints.
. . + The examination was public . . . He sent for the
governor, judges, and all the great personages to come to
the palace immediately, He came in great pomp. ...
The governor intimidates the witnesses, and compels them
to depose according to his wishes, . . . All the procedure
was sent to Madura, from where the judgment came soon.
It proclaimed my innocence and fined the ambalakdran
- several thousands of dews. . . " These remarks are
sufficient evidence of an organized system of public trials.
Government of the Coasts.—The administration of the
coastal regions was in the hands of the Portuguese and the
Dutch. The Nayaks cared only for revenue from their sea-
ports. John Nieuhoff!® says that about 1664 the seven
seaports of Madura were administered by native judges

** Appendix 3, No. 12, 15 Bertrand, i, pp. 178-41,
1®p, 205, Pide Appendix C,
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holding office for onc year. Each village proposed four
persons, of whom two were selected by the Chief Director
of the Dutch Iast India Company; and they swore
allegiance to him, Civil suits were heard in these village
courts, but criminal cases were decided at Tuticorin by the
Council of Nine with the Dutch Director as President.
While the Portuguese were masters of the coast, they had
organized their own system of administration. 7

2, FiNANCE

Revenue Adminisiration—The administrative system
was organized with a view to the collection of revenue
with ease and promptitude. The village revenue officer
was called the mapiyakdran or ambalakdran. The collec-
tions from the villages were transmitted to their immediate
superior, the head of the makdpam, and from him in
progression to the King's treasury under the control of the
Pradhéni. The amount of land tax collected was half of
the produce of the land, according to the Jesuit writers. '®
Nelson takes this as half of the gross produce, but it is
more reasonable to think that the net produce is meant,
as taxation in general was on the nef product. The pay-
ment of revenue appears to have been in cash, as the
Jesuit authoritics seem to imply.'* A letter of 1683 says
that Ekoji was receiving money payments as revenue.
This shows that there was sufficient currency in the
country for the sale of paddy. If this was the case in
Tanjore, the same system would' have been prevalent in
Madura. Moreover, as early as the fifteenth century, pay-
ment of revenue in cash was adopted by the Vijayanagar
emperors. Sufficient details are not available to explain
in full the working of the revenue system of the Nayaks.

17 fbid.,

. 296,
am Bgrtrnr:d, i, p. 124. Vide Appendixz A, Letter No, 10,
10 fhid., 1, p. 338, Pide Jéid., Letter No, 8,
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Sonrces of Revenue~The land tax was the mainstay of
the public revenues, as was the casc in more ancient times,
All the lands were not given to the Polegars.  The crown
lands, though smaller in extent than all the Palaiyams put
together, were more productive, as Nelson thinks.  An
unfailing source of income seems to have boen provided
for by the first Nayak ruler by reserving the best
lands [or the upkeep of the government, Distant and
nnproductive lands principally would have been given to
the Polegars. Further, the crown lands would have been
far better looked after than other portions of the country,
as the resources of u government would be far greater, for
improvements in land, than those of individuals with limited
means. The second chiel source of state income consisted
of tribute from the Polegars, which amounted to onesthird
of the produce that they received from their farmers.  This
income varied with the circumstances of the times.  In the
early days of the Nayakship, the Pilaiyams were not very
productive., There were numerous obstacles to cultivation,
which the Polegars ounly slowly succeeded in overcoming.
In many instances, total remissions of tribute were sanc-
tioned as rewards for public services, as in the cases of Lhe
Sétupati, the Polegar of Kannivadi, and others. Regular
payment of tribute by the Polegars dupnndcd- on their
temper and the condition of the times, In periods of
commotion, it would have been difficult to make them pry ;
a weak king cannot have reccived tribute from them in
full and with case. Therefore this was an uncertain
source of revenue.  The pearl and chank (Xanxus) fisherics
brought some revenue ; but they could not be relied on, as
their proceeds varied arbitrarily, and in the course of time
became very disappointing. [Further, only a portion of the
coasts could bring revenue to the king of Madura, since the
Marava king claimed the procecds from fishing in his roads.
The lion's share of the profits went to the Dutch, who
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bought the pearls and chank at a nominal price. The main
sources of income were the three above-mentioned, viz. the
land tax, the tribute from Polegars, and the fisheries.
There were numerous miscellancous taxes which do not
scem to have been productive,  Inscriptions contain refer-
cnces Lo thuse, but the details of their character and incidence
are nol known. The inscriptions mention wlavie and pan-
diraviadai,” jodi and wvirdda,” taxes on looms® and
weavers,™ and those on imports and exports.™  There were
also petty taxes on land and water communications, and
octroi dutics. This * multiple system ' of taxation is not
economical from the modern standpeint, but it is difficult
to appreciate how it reacted on the kingdom at large. Itis
not enough if particular taxes are selected and their
characteristics examined, even if we have sufficient data for
such a study. It is morc important to appraise the
burdens which the lax system, as a whole, imposed on the
people, according to their ability to pay. We have no
materials for such an investigation. Nelson and Mr.
Rangachari, especially the latter, think that all the taxes
levied by the Vijayanagar emperors and the Mysore rulers
would have been imposed by the Niyaks on their sabjects;
and thercfore they enumerate a long list of them. There
is no direct evidence to justify their applicability to
Madura. Some of these miscellaneous taxes were frequent-
ly made over to temples and public charities. Inscriptions
record numerous cases of remission of this kind of taxation.
Portions of the crown lands were alienated in favour of
private individuals as rewards for meritorious service, and
also in favour of temples. State officers and charitable
institutions were often granted villages in sarvamdnyam

(free of tax).
w0 Appendix D, No, 37. 21 fhid,, Mos. 75 and 70,

*% fbid,, No. 51, #a fbid,, Nos, 4 and 100,
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Amount of Total Revenne—\Working on the suggestion
of Taylor, Nelson® gives an estimate of Tirumala Niyaka's
revenues. A Machensic Manuscript says that‘ [rom the public
revenues he (Tirumala) gave one thonsand puss out of every *
fae (or hundred thousand) for the customary and exten-
ordinary services and festivals of the god: for the regular
fulfilment of this gift, he endowed the temple with lands to
the annual value of forty-four thousand puns.' IHence
Taylor's remark—" whence it is to be presumed that his
whole revenune amounted to forty-four lacs of gold pruns.’ *
The Maduraittalovaralire records that Tirumala gave
' forty-four thousand pons-producing lands to Gods Sunda-
rédvara and MinAkshi'. This statement of the chro-
nicles can hardly be taken as a precise record of facts.
However, it affords the working basis for a rough estimate.

There are indications abonl the total amount of the
Niyak revenue in the writings ol the Jesuit Vieo and
Barradas. The former says in a letter of 30th August,
1611 : * The great Nayak of Madura and those of Tanjore
and Gingi arc themselves tributaries of Bisnagar, to whom
they pay, or have to pay, each an annual tribute of six to
. ten million francs.'®  As the tribute was vsually onc-third
of the revenue, the total income of the Niyaks was between
eighteen and thirty million frencs, according to Vico.
Barradas records in 1616: ‘The Great Naique of Madura
..... pays a revenue every year of, 'some say, six hun-
dred thousand pagodas.’* This puts the Nayak revenune
at eighteen lakhs of pagodas. A Jesuvit writer equates
fourteen pagodas to nearly eighty francs;® and a franc is
equal to 9'6 pence. Therefore, eighteen lakhs of pagodas
are equal to £411,428%; eighteen million francs to

T8

p. 152-6. 8 Taylor, O.H. MSS., il, pp. 147-0,
27 Bertrand, §i, p. 124,  Pide Appendix A, Letter No, 10 e
8 R, Sewell, A Forpolien Fmpive, p. 230, 0 Bertrand, iii, p. 366.
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£720,000 ; thirty million francs to £1,200,000. Wilks
equates the pagoda differently ; according to him, five
thousand pagodas are equal to £1,5840," and therefore,
vightean lakhs of pagodas come to £662,400, If the
value ascribed to the pagoda by Wilks be correct, then the
amount given by Barradas approaches Vico's lower estimate
of eighteen million francs. Forty-four lakhs of pons are
equal to £880,000, according to Nelson, and to £825,000,
according to Mr. Rangachari. The latter takes the value
of the pon to be half a pagoda. In that case, the estimate
of the chronicles comes to twenty-two lakhs of pagodas,
and therefore four lakhs higher than that of Barradas.
Nelson is disposed to take the higher estimate of Vico,
i.e. thirty million francs, and equate them to £1,200,000.
He tries to reconcile the statement of the chronicles with
this. It appears that, since forty-four lakhs of pons come
only to £880,000, he thinks that the chronicles give, not
the total revenue, but the land revenue alone. Therefore,
he adds to this the amounts of the tribute and miscellane-
ous income; he puts them at £189,000 and £131,000
respectively. The total of these figures comes to £1,200,000,
Nelson's method of arriving at this precise result is
arbitrary and artificial. He appears to have been obsessed
by the statement of the Jesuit writer, and to have manipu-
lated the amounts of the varions sources of revenue, so that
they might agree with Vico's higher estimate. Nelson does
not seem to have had sufficient justification for choosing
the higher amount given by Vico; he remarks that ‘ assum-
ing, as we may well assume, that he of Madura paid the
largest sum. . . '* Though Madura was more extensive
than Tanjore and Gingi, she does not appear to have been
more wealthy; the land was unproductive and covered
with forests. A large part of Madura was brought under

a0 | p. 23, 1 p, 155,
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cultivation in the course of the Nayak regime. Wild beasts
and robbers offered great impediments to agricultural pro-
gress, Therefore Nelson's assumption remains to e proved,
The statement of Barradas was not available for him.  The
‘greatest error in his estimate is his supposition that the
forty-four lakhs of pons, given by the chronicles, represunt
the land revenue, not the total revenue, Their statement
has already been quoted ; it refers only to the total revenu,
But Nelson says that ‘the lands granted must hygve heen
crown lands, under the King's own management and
altogether at his disposal, or they could not have lieen
granted ; and if, therefore, the revenue yielded hy them
amounted, as stated, to one per cent on the tofal revennes
derived from the King's lands, the inference is that the
lands intended were the crown lands, and that they yiclded
no less than +L00,000 pons or LSBO000 ber anmim ',
Tirumala set apart crown lands producing an aonual
revenue of forty-four thousand pons, but this only means
that he calculated approximately what one per cent ol his
total revenues would amount to, and gave the lands neces-
sary to yield that amount. Because he gave a portion
of the crown lands, it cannot be contended that the total
revenues of those lands are referred to. The explicit state-
ment of the chronicles that Tirumala made the gift from
“the public revenues’ is sufficient ground for rejecting the
inference drawn by Nelson.

Tirumala's revenues cannot have been so large as
£1,200,000, as Nelson estimates them. A more correct
estimate would be to put them at about seven lakhs of
pounds ; this will be in conformity with the evidence of
Barradas, Vieo, and the chronicles, This amount wouold
have been the revenue budgeted, not the income realized,
as remission of taxation and alienation of crown lands were
frequent ; and these could not have well been provided for.
Moreover, there were many uncertain sources of income.
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Nelson proceeds further in his investigation, and says
that * Tirumala's gross revenue of £1,200,000 was equiva-
lent to a revenue of nearly fifty millions of pounds drawn
at the present time (in 1868)'; because, ‘the value of
money has risen more than fortyfold'.™ He compares
the price of rice in 1713 with that during 1863~0, and says
that it increased fortyfold in the course of that century
und o half. The following remarks from Martin’s letter of
1713 have been utilized by Nelson for arriving at the
conelusion just referved to: ' One fanom (payom) will pro-
cure up to eight maraikkals, or large measures, of very fine
husked rice, which is sufficient to feed a man for more
than fifteen days. But, when there is lack of rains, it
becomes so dear that I have seen the price of one of
these measures of rice mount up to four fanoms.' ™ Nelson
says that eight maraikkdls would weigh about ninety-six
pounds, and they could be had for a fanom or 2% pence.
*Now in 1866 and the two or three years preced-
ing it, the average price of good rice was about twenty
pounds for a Rupee. Consequently, whereas a penny
bought some forty odd pounds of good rice at the com-
mencement of the eighteenth century, it has been an
equivalent for only five-sixths of a pound during the last
few years.™ Thus Nelson arrives at the astounding con-
clusion that the price of commodities has risen more than
forty times. But his data are open to question. The
Jesuit writer quoted above speaks of the condition of things
in the. Marava country. He says that there were great
oscillations in the price of rice, sometimes to the extent
of a rise of thirty-two times. Nelson takes the lowest
rate he gives. Moreover, Martin says that ‘nowhere are
such precautions taken as in Marava not to let out a drop

3% 1 156,
32 Bertrand, lv, g . 194-5, Fide Appendix A, Letter No, 12
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of water, and gather all that of the streams and torrents,
which the tains bring'. He greatly admires the wonder-
ful irrigation facilities of the Marava country.™ These
modifying conditions have been overlooked by Nelson,
who takes only the minimum price of rice, and applies
it to Madura, Moreover, he is not right in cquating the
fanom to 2% pence. Léon Besse ™ remarks that the fanom
is a gold coin worth 120 reis (Or. Cony), i about
fifty centimes. Therefore, a fanom is to be taken as equal
to 4'8 pence, i.e. more than twice the value attached to it
by Nelson. Dewan Bahadur Srinivasa Raghavaiyangar®
says, with reference to the letter of Martin quoted above,
that only forty-five pounds of rice are required for a man
for fifteen days, and that therefore, taking Nelson's equation
of a fanom to 2} pence, the price in 1713 would be only
one-twelfth of what it was in 1893, that is, the increase
in price would be only twelvefold. When the fanom is
correctly equated to +'8 pence, the rise would be not more
than six times, not forty times, as Nelson contends, This
is confirmed by Pr. Vincent A, Smith's remark™ that
Akbar's revenue of forty million pounds would amount to
two hundred million pounds at the present time; the rise
in, price is, therefore, estimated as fivefold.
Expenditure.—~The ordinary expenditure of the Niayaks
was not in proportion to their income. Regular payments
from the treasury were few, and they did not amount to
-much, Some officials seem to have been paid. The army
cannot have required large sums for its upkeep, since the
Polegars were bound to supply the number of troops fixed
by the original agreement with them. Occasionally pro-
fessional soldiers and mercenaries were employed and paid.
.The administration was not highly organized, and it was

28 Bertrand, iv, p. 195, 8 La Mission du Madurg, M.
37 Memorandumion the Pmm.u ﬂ.f the Madrasy Pw:l‘dm:y. B I; H,
W Akbar the Greal Mognl, p. 1
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conducted - mostly on traditional lines. The ordinary
expenses of government, as the salaries of officials, the
army, the police and judicial departments,did not constitute
a serious drain on the public revenues.

The chief items of expenditure seem to have been Pubhc
Works and Charities, besides those mentioned abaove.
Large expenditure on temples, for their construction and
maintenance, was cssential, as the state had to look after
the spiritual interests of its subjects. This could not be
avoided by u Hindu king if he wanted to gain popular
support, Similarly the maintenance of public charity was
deemed an essential function of the state, which was
expected to set an example of the ideal of individual action,
according to the dictates of the Sacred Books. Irrigation
works consumed a large part of the government balances.
Thus, though there was not much regular expenditure,
non-recurring expenses of a heavy character were a marked
featnre of the Niyak finances. Every year there was a
huge surplus, which went on accumulating, and from these
hoarded balances expenditure on a large scale was met.
These surpluses were evidently intended to make provisidn
for war and bad times, and for elaborate works to promoté
the material and spiritnal welfare of the people. - The
chief characteristic of a modern budget could not be safely
aimed at in the past ages. The mark of a financier in our
time is to work out a budget which leaves neither a surplus
nor a deficit; if he budgets surpluses or deficits, he is
condemned as lacking in foresight and of poor abilities.
Nowadays the financial world is so developed that it is

- possible to meet extraordinary and unexpected expenditure,
without leaving a margin for it in the budget. " But,
in olden times, hoarding of the precious metals was the
chief means of making provision for unforeseen expenses.
Therefore, the Nayaks are not to blame for regularly
accumulating surpluses. Funds in excess of the ordinary
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needs were invariably spent in the country and for its
welfare.

The Jesuit estimate of the Nayak financial system
amonnts to an unqualified condemnation. The extracts
translated in Appendix A represent the Niyaks in the worst
light possible. Oppression, which veduced the people to
indigence, is said to have been customary,  From a perusal
of the acconnts referved to, and even on the assumption
they are trustworthy, it is hard to believe that a kingdom,
based on the worst form of tyranny and injustice, was able
to-hold its own against its enemies even for a short time,
and that it was able to make any contribution to the
progress of the country. The exaggerated pictures of the
Jesuits fail to convince us, and they plainly betray
intentional misreading and manipulation ol facts. The
services rendered to the country by the Nayaks—to be
explained below—constitute a direct refutation of their
charges. Hindu opinion is strongly sensitive to bad rule ;
and the Niyaks are generully praised in chronicles written
long after their extinction, However, it has to be admitted
that there were periods of oppressive rule and grave
maladministration, which weakened the resources of the
kingdom and led to its collapse. But, even according to
the Jesuit writers, the Nayaks of Madura were [ar better
rulers than those of Tanjore and Gingi, and their Mahratta
and Muhammadan successors. They were, therefore, far
ahead of their contemporaries. The Muhammadan rule
which immediately followed the Mayak regime in Madura
was far worse. Bishop Caldwell™ quotes contemporary
records to show that intolerable oppression was normal in’
the times of the ‘ Renter’. A. ]. Stuart® says that the
Niyak land assessment was light in comparison with that
of the Nawabs of the Carnatic., As rulers, therefore, the

0 History of Tinnevelly, pp. 107-8,
*0 Manual of Tivnevelly, p, 70,
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Niayaks occupy a distinctly high position among their South

Indian contemporaries, and were far superior to their

immediate successors. It is unfair to them to compare -
their systems of administration and finance with those of

Madura at the present day ; chiefly because modern ideas

are the product of world-wide changes of a peculiar nature,

and cannot be the eriterion of the achievements of the past.

Moreover, the features of the Hritish system, which

nltimately supplanted that of the Nfiyaks, are too near to

us to lend themselves to impartial historical treatment.

3. Socian LIFR

Peace and Order.—Though much was done by the
Nayaks to establish a strong government and curb the
disorderly forces in the kingdom, the misdeeds of the
runde Polegars and predatory hordes were only mitigated.
During the latter days of the Nayak rule and in troublous
times, people suffered from the caprices of their local rulers.
Besides these human agencies, famine, pestilence, and
inundations introduced an element of insecurity in social
life. These devastating forces were not fully harnessed,
and occasionally they were too strong to be controlled by
human agencies. Though most of the forests were cleared—
and large tracts of the country made habitable, and improved
so as to contribute to the resources of agriculture—those
that remained constituted, to some extent, a peril to life
and property ; for they harboured wild beasts and robbers.
These pests were not completely destroyed. An inscription
of Tirumala Niyaka * records a grant as reward for slaying
tigers. A Jesuit letter of 1662* refers to the roaming
about of wolves, bears, and tigers in the immediate neigh-
bourhood of Madura. Subsequent Jetters also contain
references to the fear which people had of them. Herice

U Appendix D, No, 145, b, p. 157, ’
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travelling and rapid communication were not quite safe
and easy-

Commerce and [ndustrivs. —The Nayaks did not give
sufficient encouragement Lo commerce; their naval deficiency
was a hindrance to forcign trade; and it even shaped their
attitude towards, and lowered them in the estimation of,
the Portuguese and the Duteh.  The people had only a few
waunts, which were mostly supplied by the country.  There
was some active internal trade in and around the capital
carried on by the Hindus; but foreign trade was chiefly in
other hands. Father Martin remarks in his letter of
30th January, 1699, that *the Madurans spend their lives
with the utmost sobriety and frugality, they not concerning
themselves with traffic, but are contented with the food und
raiment which their native country supplies them with,' "
What little was required from foreign countries was bought
from the Portuguese and the Dutch. Japan leather and
spices from the Moluccas were exchanged for Madura
linens.* The principal trade in pearl and chank was carried
on exclusively by the Europeans. Itis said that a Portu-
guese agent came to Tuticorin to purchase saltpetre in ex-
change for elephants,® The existence of export and import
duties noticed above, as recorded in inscriptions, shows
that there was foreign trade ; but, from the other authori-
ties, it is clear that it was limited, and was not conducted by
the people of the land, who were mainly concerned with
internal trade. ‘The exports referred to indicate that there
was some manufacturing activity in Madura, chiefly
connected with cloth.*® The Niyaks fostered this industr}:.
which has survived with redoubled vigour to our time.

41 Bertrand, iv, p. 13; Lockman, i p. 5
N“ﬂlﬁm-lmnd iv, p. 44 ; Lockman, i, p. 381, [ide Appendix B, Letter
0. &
:: D]auvars, RKepord, p. 53.
Nieuhof mentions cnl:r.'u painting and refers to t
that It had reached (p. 295, Fide .ﬁp!éand ix E:I"s ¢ hﬂ WA BRI
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The want of a navy greatly restricted the foreign trade and
industries of Madura, Most of the articles needed for con-
sumption in the country were locally produced, and only a
few luxuries were imported.

Religious Life.—The Niiyaks only continued the traditions
of Hindu rule in following a policy of religious toleration.
They even actively supported religions other than their
own, though not to the same extent. Their attitude
towards Christianity has already been discussed. For-
getting the excesses committed by the Mubammadans
during their rule in Madura before the Vijayanagar con-
quest of the south, they made grants to mosques and
private Muhammadan individuals. That a usurpation
like that of Rustam Khan was possible is proof positive of
the favour shown to the Muhammadans by the Nayaks. [t
is not likely that there was a large Muhammadan population
in Madura, though the statement of a Muhammadan writer,
that about 1628 there was ‘not a single Musalman' in the
country, can hardly be accepted.” With regard to the
different sects of Hinduism, the Niyaks were equally
tolerant. Minor distinctions in creed do not seem to have
affected them in dealing with their subjects. An inserip-
tion of 1731 ¥ records a grant to a servant of the Tinnevelly
Siva temple for the maintenance of worship, but the deed is
ornamented with Vaishpava figures. Though there were
petty disputes among the various' sects, they were not
serious enough to disturb their harmonious social relations
and co-operation for common ends. Religion was actively
fostered by the Nayaks, who strongly believed that it was
the duty of the state to safeguard and further the spiritual
and moral welfare of the people.

.- Social Institutions.—The traditional structure of society
was not disturbed by the Nayaks. The Brahman enjoyed

W7 Sir H. Elliot, &Hislory of fndia, vii, p. 139,
*8 Appendix [, No: 23,
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specinl privileges, and was highly vencrated. His services
were utilized for the welfare of the state : his counsel was
eagerly sought for and acted upon. His time-honoured
prestige did not suffer in the least. Generally the Niyaks
were very conservative in social policy. The caste system
was considered sacrosanct, and there were ovccasions of
royal interference to check breaches of its rules,  Inscrip-
tions of 1623 * record the king's orders prohibiting * the live
sub-divisions of the Kammdlar tartisan caste) from com-
munal fellowship’, i.e. that they should ant intermingle
with cach other, Mangammil is said to have granted a
cadjan &tsanam in 1705 authorizing the Patfuntilkirans
of Madura to follow the rites prescribed for the Brahmans
in regard to Updkarma (the ceremony of the renewal of the
Sacred Threadl. She convened n conference of her
Pundits, and followed their advice™ Social legislation
was undertaken by the Niyaks when necessary, and they
did not diverge much from the old order of things, though
Mangamma]'s decision above referred to savours a little of
modern ‘ Social Reform’'. Vijayaranga Chokkanitha felt
insulted at the Ceylon embassy which carried u proposal
for marriage, because of caste considerations. The social
institutions that eall for passing notice here are the harem
and the sati. These seem to have been confined mostly to
kings and nobles. John Nieuhoff* remarks that concubin-
age was prevalent among the people, chiefly the officials and
the rich. The institution of the royal harem appears to
have been largely due to Muhammadan influence, though it
was not absent in ancient times. The Jesuit writers say
that Tiramala Nayaka had 200 wives in his harem, and the
Kilavan Sétupati about forty-seven, All of them are said
to have committed sati on the death of these respective rulers,

** Appendix D, Nos, 124 and 125,
20 Cansns of India, 1001, xv, Madras, Part i, p: 173,

81 pp, 205 and 297, }ide Appendix C,
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A Muhammadan traveller refers in 1628 to the 700 wives of
the ruler of Madura, who followed him on his funeral-pyre.*
Foreign observers unfailingly make remarks on this insti-
tution of self-immolation, Itis clear from their writings
that this custom was in vogue in South India.
Bducation.—Robert de Nobili's letter of 220d November,
1610, throws some light on the educational organization of
the Niyaks: ‘In Madura there are more than 10,000
students, distributed in different classes of two to three
hundred . . . ; these students are all Brahmans, for only
they have the right to apply themselves to the study of the
higher sciences, . . . In order that the students may not be
distracted by the necessity of providing for their main-
tenance, Bisnagar and the great Nayak have made splendid
foundations, whose revenues are sofficient for the remunera-
tion of the masters and the subsistence of all the students.”®
In their educational policy, therefore, the Nayaks followed
the ancient Hindu system of combining religious and
scientific studies, and restricting them to the Brahmans,
There appears to be very little of originality in their
scheme. The chief characteristic of the Hindu educational
system was that much was left to home influences and local
organizations ; only the higher studies were organized and -
provided for by the state. Besides Sanskrit, Tamil and
Telugu were encouraged by the Niyaks. Inscriptions
show that they did not neglect any of these languages.
Mr, H. Krishna Sastri says that ‘of the Madura Nayaks,
Tirumala, Muddalagidri and Vijayaranga Chokkanatha
were patrons of Telugu Literature.'® The Niyaks made
liberal grants to maghas (religious houses or monasteries) and
temples where education was imparted free. Their buildings,
irrigation works, and epigraphical records show that the
people had a high level of intelligence and education.

22 Gir H, Elliot, Aistory of India, i, p. 139, 23 Bertrand, ii, p. 90,
54 drcheolopical Swrvey of India, ﬁe#{mﬂ' 1011-2, p. 185.
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¢4, CONCLUSION

The destinies of a large part of South India were in the
hands of the Nayaks for about two centuries. The integr-
ity of their kingdom was preserved down to the time of
Tirumala Niyaka. The weakness of his successor reduced
the extent of the Niyak dominions. Mangammal could not
completely restrain the disintegrating forces already set in
motion. For a long time Madura was well governed,—far
above the standards of the age; Tanjore and Gingi cnvied
her position. The present condition of the southuern districts
was largely shaped by the Niyaks. By the denudation of
forests and encouragement of agriculture, they increased
the resources of the kingdom. They spared no paing in
improving the irrigation facilities. By granting agrahdras
in charity and building temples, they gave a strong stimulus
to habitation, and the population increased appreciably.
Beautiful towns and numerous villages sprang up in places
previously occupied by wild beasts and haunted by robbers.
Inaccessible regions were explored by the Polegars, and the
country was reclaimed to civilized ways. Especially the
present town of Madura is mostly what the Niayaks made it
to be. By diverting the surplus revenues of the kingdom
frequently to the fruitful channels above indicated, and to
the construction of magnificent pagodas and other huild-
ings, they revived some of the essential features of Hindu
culture. The kingdom became a suitable abode for the
Hindus, principally through their exertions. The opinion
that these public works were undertaken with forced labour
is too hollow to be seriously maintained. That a line of
Hindu kings, with deep veneration for the traditions of
their past and the ideals of their ancestors, and with
plenty of resources, committed the most unpardonable
crime of defrauding highly-skilled workmen of the fruits
of their labour in the construction of works, which are
essentially an expression of the heart, is beyond belief.
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Ruskin's philosophical deduction from an elaborate and
critical study of ancient and medieval afchitecture cannot
be lost sight of. Oppression and tyranny can hardly be a
source of inspiration to artistic magnificence and perma-
nency. A tyrannical age, screaming with the pangs of
unjust and unnecessary sufferings, can scarcely give birth
to wonderful productions of artistic genius.

The services rendered by the Niiyaks to Hindu religion
and culture in weathering the storm of Christian missionary
propaganda, without resorting to an organized policy of
persecution, are not sufficiently appreciated. But for
their unremitting care for, and love of, Hinduism and
for the bold fight they put up in defence of their national
ideals, the cause of the age-long civilization might have
been jeopardised. They saved the country from the deluge
of a foreign religious conquest, and from the dangers,
social and political, attending on it. As has been remarked
before, they accuitted themselves far better than their
contemporary rulers and their immediate successors in this
respect also.

The Niyaks and their administrative system were not
without grave drawbacks. Kings and statesmen of superior
ability among them can be easily named. With the except-
ion of Vigvanidtha, the founder of the dynasty, Tirumala
Nayaka, and Mangammal, and among ministers, of
Ariyandtha, Ramappaiya, and Narasappaiya, most of the
Niyaks and their advisers were mediocrities and imbeciles.
Some of them gloried in their love of pomp and extravagance.
The resources of the kingdom were at times drained to afford
pleasure to their fancies. The Niyaks, in general, lacked
original ideas of administration. They were wanting in
intelligence of a high order and adaptability. Singularly
defective in initiative, they moved the ship of state in the
old channel, unmindful of the gathering storms and the
appearance of new and dangerous shoals. The central
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government was too weak to be effective in times of danger.
The Polegar System survived its use, and accelerated the
centrifugal tendencies. Along with its degencracy the
military equipment of the country, which it provided,
became effete. The armies of the Polegars were without
unity, and they frequently quarrelled among themselves.
Their disloyalty increased, and their co-operation for the
common cause¢ became difficult. The employment of
mercenaries was not a source of strength to the military
organization. Such an army could not be a match for the
troops of the Sttupati, as was explained before. It was
even less a match for foreign enemies.

The Nayaks, like most Hindu rulers, paid little attention
to the navy. Hence the resources of the kingdom could
not develop through trade and commerce. The naval
strength of the Portuguese and the Dutch made them
powers to reckon with. They enriched themselves at the
expense of the Niyaks, who had to remain idle spectators
of their rivalry and progress, and sometimes tolerate their
misdeeds,.

To these defects were added the exhausting struggles
due to disagreement about succession to the throne. The
following remarks of Wilks® are to the point: ‘The
Hindoo system of policy, jurisprudence and religion, affects
still more strongly than any European Code the rights of
hereditary succession ; but the sons are all co-heirs; and
the faint distinction in favour of the eldest son is limited
by the express condition, that he shall be worthy of the
charge ; but unhappily there is nothing so difficult to deter-
mine as the relative worth of opposing claimants; and in
the pretensions to royalty, the double question of divine
favour and superior merit must, in spite of reason, be
decided by the sword. IKastiri Rangaiya's usurpation

51, p. 17,
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culminated in his murder. On the death of Tirumala
Nayaka, the situation was pregnant with danger; but,
fortunately, it was set right. The last occasion when this
defective law of succession exhibited all its potency for
evil was on the death of Vijayaranga Chokkanitha. The
struggle which ensued after this event weakened the king-
dom and gave room for foreign interference. Though
succession disputes did not endanger the Niyak state
frequently, they had their sharc in leading it to its final
fate. The extinction of the Niyak kingdom was due to
all this internal weakness, which was rapidly accomulating
at a time when the Muhammadans were atiempting to
penetrate into it, and when Mysore was well organized and
strong, and thercfore naturally disposed to take advantage -
of the impotence of her neighbour.

Nelson says that the extinction of the Niayak dynasty
was ‘undoubtedly a great blessing for Madura'; because,
it was ‘opposed to all improvement ... and rendered
true happiness an impossibility to all classes, rich and
poor, noble and degraded.'® Though this remark can,
to some extent, be applied to the Nayak rule in its last
days, it shows an inadequate appreciation of the services
of the Nayaks in general. It is true in the sense that the
old order changeth, yielding place to new'. Bishop
Caldwell’s trenchant remarks exhibit utter lack of sym-
pathy ; his opinion is that the Niyak rule was only ‘misrule
hidden by shows".* The impartial verdict of A. J. Stuart
is worth recording as a fitting epilogue to the history of the
Nayaks of Madura: ‘A government whose wealth and
whose tastes are manifested by the temples and statues of
Tinnevelly, and whose readiness to employ all its resources
for the benefit of its people, as proved by the number and
nature of the irrigation works which it completed, implies

8 n, 176, 8% Hislory of Tiwncvelly, pp. 62-3,
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a contented and prosperous people; while a high state of
the arts and of knowledge is abundantly testified by the
exquisite design and workmanship discoverable in many
of the temples and statues, as well as by the grasp and
mastery of the principles of irrigation, a complicated and
difficult branch of the engineering art displayed in their
irrigation system,” ™

5 Wannal of Linnevelly, p. 69,



APPENDIX A ' .

LA MISSION DU MADURE 1II
By

Faruer J. BRRTRAND or THR SoCieTv oF JESUS,
Missionary oy Mabpura

(1) Letier of Proenza fo Nikel, Trichinopoly, 1659,

(P. 41) Having to narrate to you the adversities which have
afllicted our mission during these three years, I feel bound to
bring to your notice at first the political revolutions which
have caused them,

Political Evenis.—From time immemorial this was the
political condition of India. From Cape Comorin, all the part
[of the country) to the east of the ridge of the Ghats was under
the three Niiyaks, of Madura, Tanjore, and Gingi, tributaries
(P, 42) of Narasinga * (Narasimha) or.Bisnagar (Vijayanagar).
Mysore, sitnated to the west of Gingi, had long ago withdrawn
herself from subordination to the same monarch. To the
north of these states and of Bisnagar were the kingdom of
Golkonda to the east, and that of the Dakhan to the west,
which (the latter) was also called the kingdom of Bijapur or
Visapur, from the name of its capital, These two kingdoms,
once so powerful, are now no more than sudaks of the Great
Moghul, whose capital is Delhi. Bisnagar itself, driven to the
south by this powerful enemy, has been obliged to fix its seat
at Vellore until the Muhammadan domination covers up the
whole of India. The ancient kings of the country seem to

* My translation of the letters in this Appendix was revised by the
Rev, J. Bourdot, S.J., Professor of French, St. Jeseph's College,
Trichinopoly, through the kindness of the Rev. P, Carty, S.J., of the
same college, A literal translation has been attempted as far as

ible.

% The kingdom of Vijayanagar was so called by the Portuguese and
other forelgners, perhaps after the name of the great emperor BAjuva
Warasimha or Narasiogn., .



264 Hisfory of the Nayaks of Madura

invite this conquest by their jealousies and follies, as we are
going to see.

The Nayaks of Madura had been punctual, for a long time,
in paying the anuual tribute; but, their arrogance growing
with their strength, they began to feel this subordination
irksome. ‘'Tirumalan Niyaka, who rules now, walking in the
footsteps of his father, resolved to free himself.  Ton
weak to resist his sovercign openly, he resorled to arlifice,
During several years he gave only rich presents, ns marks of
deference and friendship, without paying his tribute,  The old
Narasinga dissembled, to avoid the embarrassments of a war,
But, after his death, the new king, far superior to his fother in
talents and courage, hastened to vindicate his rights ; without
losing time in futile negotiations, he collected a formidable
army (P. 43) and declared war. The Niayak of Madura
enlisted in his defection those of Tanjore and Gingi, by
concluding with them a league against their common soves
reign. The latter, informed of everything through the Nayak
of Tanjore, who had the meanness to betray his allies, marched
at the head of his army and advanced <on the territory of
Gingi. Swayed only by fury and desire for wvengeance,
Tirumala Nayaka secretly addressed the swdak of Golkonda,
and requested it to invade the kingdom of Vellore. The
Muhammadan did not require more ; at once he entered this
opulent kingdom and delivered it to devastation. Narasinga,
obliged to suspend his march, turned round and attacked hig
enemy, who was repulsed with loss.

The king of Golkonda, resolved to vindicate his honour,
raised an army more numercus than before, resumed the
field, regained his vantage-ground, and actively atlacked
Narasinga. The latter, finding no chance of sucecess but in
an alliance with the three Nayaks, invited them to join him
against the common enemy and offered them favourable
conditions, which were accepted, Pleased with their good
disposition, he joined them to better concert together the
means of defence and attack. But here the Indian character
was revealed : Narasinga spent more than a year with the
three Nayaks in the mid-t of festivities, feasts, and pleasures,
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during which the-Muhammadans quietly achieved the conquest
of his dominions. Soon vain joys gave place to jealousies
and divisions. Rejected again by the Niyaks, Narasinga
established his court in the Forests of Thieves (Kallans), lying
to the north of Tanjore, where he spent four months, a prey
to all discomforts ; his courtiers soon abandoned him, and this
wrand monarch (P. 44), one of the richest in India, was forced
to beg for help from the king of Mysore, once the vassal of
his erown., He received from him invitation to choose, for his
stay, a province more agreeable to him, and assurance of a
brilliant treatment worthy of his rank; he eagerly accepted
the offer, so obliging, and found a hospitality, which even
surpassed the promises made to his ambassadors.

« .. A detachment of the Mopghul cavalry sent to pursue
Narasinga came to the environs of Tanjore. It created a
panie in the citadel. . , .

(P. 45) . . . The Golkonda army, resolved to add to the
conguest of Narasinga's dominions that of the kingdoms of his
tributaries, advanced on the territory of Gingi. The Nayak
of Tanjore knew that he could not give pitched battle to an
enemy, whose mere number had created so much terror ; but,
he could no longer count on his ally of Madura, whom he had
scandalously betrayed. Obliged to take sides, he did what
one would always do, under the influence of terror ; he decided
on the most senseless and disastrous step: he delivered
himself up to the king of Golkonda and concluded with him a
treaty by which he surrendered at discretion,

Tirumala Nayaka, seeking safety in his unsound (P, 46)
policy, committed a second folly, which brought about the ruin
of all these kingdoms. His ambassadors went, in his name, to
treat with Idal Khan (the Adil Shah) or the king of the Dakban,
who sent him seventeen thousand horse. With this imposing
cavalry and thirty thousand infantry of his own, he marched to
Gingi. But the Muhammadans of the two armies easily came
to an understanding among themselves. The swbak of
Golkonda eoncluded a treaty with the general of Idal Khan, and
retired to the kingdom of Bisnagar to consolidate its conquest;
while the seventeen thousand cavalry of Idal I{han, along with

34
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some regiments of infantry, continued the siege of Gingi,
which they were called for to defend. The thirty thousand
Madura infantry entered into the place and joined the troops of
the king of Gingi. The fortress, protected by its advantage-
ous position, was, besides, defended by good [ortilications,
furnished with a strong artillery and by a numerous army,
provisioned for a considerable time; it could, accordingly,
defy all the efforts of the besiepers.  DBut soon disagreements
and divisions sprang up among these men (the besieged) so
diversified in nationality and manners. A revolt broke out
in the midst of the general confusion, the gates of the citadel
were thrown open to the enemy, who rushed into it and
delivered the town, the richest in all these countries, to pillage.
The booty was immense, consisting of silver, gold, pearls, and
precious stones of inestimable value,

Masters of Gingi, the Muhammadans marched against the
Niayaks of Tanjore and Madura. The former hid himsell in
inaccessible forests ; the latter shut himself up in his fortress
of Madura, whose distance appeared to screen him from the
enemy. DBut when they saw him overrunning their domin-
iong and carryving devastation everywhere, they opened
negotiations and submitted to the law of the (P. 47) conqueror,
Thus, after conguering a vast country, subduing two powerful
kings, and gathering incalcnlable treasures, without being put
to the necessity of giving a single battle, and almost without
losing a single soldier, the Dakhan army returned to Bijapur,
where it made a trivmphal entry.

Delivered from this-formidable adversary, the two Niiyaks
should have felt bound, it would appear, to heal the wounds
of this disastrous war, and strengthen themselves against
fresh attacks, which they ought to expect, more especially as
they had not the intention to fulfil the treaties. But this was
the least of their cares. They only thought of oppressing
their own subjects, whom their (Ndyaks') imprudence and
cowardice had already delivered to the horrors of an invasion
by the enemy. Their arropance seemed to conceal the
degradation and meanness which had dishonoured them,
in rivetting the yoke of their despotism on their people.




La Mission Du Maduré 111 267

Extortions and spoliations recommenced with a cruelty which
made them universally regret the domination of the Moghuls.
Narasinga had more wisdom ; encouraged by the good
reception and help of the king of Mysore, he tvok advantage of
the absence of Kanakan (Khan-i-Khanan), Idal Ihan's general,
to recover his kingdom. Accordingly, with an army of
Mysoreans, he entered the field, reconguered a part of his
provinees, and repulsed the ormy of Golkonda, which advanced
to attack him. It appears certain that, if then the three
Nilyaks had joined him with all the troops they could gather,
they would easily have succeeded in chasing the common
enemy, and depriving him of the advantage he had taken of
their disunion and reciprocal betrayal. But Providence, which
wanted to punish them, left them to this spirit of folly, which
precipitated the ruin of princes and (their) dominions.

(P, 48) Tirumala Nayaka, instead of co-operaling in
the re-establishment of the affairs of Narasinga, who alone
could save the country, recommenced negotiations with the
Muhammadans, opened to them again the passage through
the Ghats, and urged them to declare war against the king of
Mysore, whom he should have sought for help. (The king of)
Bisnagar, betrayed a second time by his wassal, succumbed
to the contest, and was obliged to seek refuge, on the confines
of his kingdom, in the forests where he led a miserable life
... prince (made) unhappy by the folly of his vassals, whom
his personal qualities rendered worthy of a better fate.
Kanakan did not wish to leave the country without levying
rangom on Tanjore and Madura ; he raised large contributions
and returned to Bijapur full of riches.

His departure was the occasion for a new war, more furious
than the previous ones. The king of Mysore took Tirnmala
Niyaka to task for his disloyal conduct. To wreak just
vengeance and compensate himself for the cost of the war,
he . despatched an army to seize _the province uf Satya-
mangalam which borders on his kmgdam The general
entrusted with this expedition did not experience any resist-
ance, and made himself master of the capital, where he found
considerable booty. Encouraged by the facility of the
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conguest, he exceeded the orders of his king und advanced to
the walls of Madara without coming across the enemy.  His
unexpected arrival threw the Nayak into such a consternation
thal, neglecting the means of defence in his hands, he was
inclined to run away, without any following, wand hide himself
in the woods., It would have been all over with Madura 1
for the unexpected help of the Maravas, This warlike people,
well known for the wars that they had condocted more than
ence with advantage apainst the Europeans ol the sea-const,
gave their name to (the country) Marava, sitwated between
Madura and the (P, 49) sea. The king ol the Muaruvas, in-
formed of the danger that threatened the Naynk whose vassal
he is, collected twenty-five thousand men in one day, marched
at their head, nnd placed himsell between the walls of the
town and the wrmy of hesiepers. A help so upportune
emboldened the Niyak, who, on his part, raised an army
of thirty-five thousand men, and thus fomud himself superior
in number to his enemy.

The Mysore general, too weak to hazard o general action
and informed of the approsching arrival of reinfurcements,
which his king had sent him, temporised and, by his presents,
won the Brahman commander of the Madura torces. The
traitor sought to repress the ardour of his soldiers and pul
off, from day to day, the time of attack., But the Maravas,
impatient at this delay, conceived suspicions, cried troason,
threw the Brahman into & dungeon, pounced on the enemies,
and cut them to pieces. The remains of the defeated army
took refuge in a neighbouring fortress, where, after some
days, the expected reinforcements of twenty thousand men
joined them. The combat again began with such fury that
each army left nearly twelve thousand dead on the battlefield.

The advantage remained with the Nayak, who utilized his
superiority to return to the Mysoreans the evils which they
had inflicted on his kingdom, and transport the theatre of
this bloody war to their provinces. .A special eircumstance
characterised its ferocity. The king of Mysore had ordered
to cut off the nose of all the prisoners;. hiy soldiers, tu
distinguish themselves, executed this barbarous order on all
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those who fell into their hands, men, women, and children,
and sent to Mysore sacks [ull of noses, as so many glorious
trophies. The Niyak, resenting this provedure, which, in the
opinion of the Indians, added the most humilinting outrage
tu cruelty, ordered (P, 50) reprisals; and his troops burst out
into the provinves of Mysore, sceking nol enemies to fight,
but noses to cut. [t is this which has given to this inhuman
war the name of *hunt for noses'. The king of Mysore,
the first contriver of this barbarity, himself lost his own nose,
and thus suffered the penalty which he deserved.

Tirumala Niyaka had not the time to enjoy this victory ;
he was ealled to answer before God for the evils which his
treacherous policy had brought on his people and neighbour-
ing kingdoms. e died at the uge of seventy-five after a
reign of thirty years., One cannot refuse him preat qualities ;
but he tarnished their glory towards the end of his life by
vices and follies, which nothing can justify. His reign was
rendercd illustrions by works of magnificence, truly royal ;
among these are the pagode of Madura, some public buildings
andd, nbuve all, the king's palace, whose colossal proportions
and wonderful Doldness recall the ancient monuments of
Thehes, He loved and protected the Christian religion, whose
exvellence he recognized ; but he never had the courage to
accept the consequences of his conviction, The greatest
obstacle to his conversion came from his two hundred wives,
the most distinguished of whom were burnt on his funeral-
pile, according to the barbarous custom of these people.

Muttu Virappa Nayaka, his successor, appeared to rectify
the mistakes of his father and throw .off the yoke of the
Muhammadans. Resolved to refuse the annual tribute which
they had imposed, he began to make preparations for a
vigorous resistance, and furnished with soldiers and muni-
tions .the fortress of Trichinopoly,- which was the .-key to his
dominions on thenosthern-side. - The king of Tanjore, instead
of imitating his example. and co-operating with him, sent his
ambassadors to Idal Khan. While he wasted time in negotia-
tlons (P, 51), the cnemy's army crossed the mountains
and appegred before Trichinopoly with a .preparation which
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revenled its scheme to conguer all the country.  Observing the
warlike preparations of the Nayak, it moved towards the east,
pretending to devastate the surrounding country ; then, at a
time when one least expected it, it fell on Tanjore on
the 19th of March, 1659, This tuwn, situated in the midst
of a fertile plain, was not inferior to the strong citadels of
Burope. Defended by u strong artillery and numerous troops,
provisioned [or several years, it could defy the besiegers, who
had not a single cannon at their service.  The commander
of the fort, son-in-law of the Niyak, boldly ascended the
ramparts, nnd was struck by an acvow, which inflicted a light
wound vn him : at vnce his bravery vanished, and he gave up
the place shamelessly. The rdfas alone protested against
this cowardice, Thess are warriors of a very noble caste,
and renowned for their courage. They use only the sword
and the lance ; they scorn the bow and the gun, and leave, as
they themselves say, these arms to cowards who dare not
face danger closely. Their maxim is never to retreat befure
the enemy; to conguer or die is to them a saeréd law.
Faithful to this law, they threw themselves desperately amidst
the conquerors, and met with a glorious death, which they
preferred to a dishonourable life.

From Tanjore the Muhammadans marched to Manniarkivil,
so called from the idol of Mannir, whose son the Nayak calls
himself. This town, situated seven leagues east of the
former, underwent the same fate. The third town in the
kingdom was VallamkSttai (Vallam), three leagues south-east
of Tanjore, on u steep rock within which rampuarts are erected
with incredible labour and expense. By its natoral position,
and fortifications which art had added to it (P, 52), this fortress
was considered impregnable ; hence the Niyak had confined
in it his treasures and women and seemed resolute to defend
it with all his energy. When the hour of peril was rung, he
had no more faith in his courage than in the fidelity of his
subjects ; he sacrificed his dearest and fled to the forests of
Talavariyan, his vassal. The army of Idal Khan was not
even put to the trouble of attacking this third citadel. Those
who defended it, Frightened by the capture of the twg principal
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towns, despaired to resist an enemy so formidable. Besides,
actuated only by the feeling of scli-preservation, without any
kind of devotion for a king who deserved so little of them,
they believed that they would be safer in their impenetrable
forests than behind their ramparts, As soon as night came
to cover them, they escaped, one after another, without noise
nnd with such perfect agreement, that, at daybreak, the com-
mander found himself in a deserted town with only a few
faithful officers. They themselves made up their mind to
follow the fugitives ; but, when going off, they wished to take
their share of the treasures which they abandoned to the
enemy ; they opened the coffers of the Nivak, took what
they could carry of the most precions in gold, pearls, and
precious stones, and fled to the most inaccessible forests.
Their strength was not in proportion to their greed; they
were obliged to abandon a part of their riches onthe way,
and soon they found themselves entirely relieved by the
Thieves who robbed them. The latter, informed of the condi-
tion of the fortress, hurried to it in crowds, placed one of
them as guard at the pateway, and possessed themselves of
these fabulous treasures which till then were not counted,
but in measuring them by the bushel. Every one took in his
cloth as many pieces of gold and precious stones as he could
carry ; those who came late followed (P, 53) the footsteps
of those proceeding before to gather what fell from them in
going hurriedly.

This is without doubt the happiest episode of this war.
These treagsures, the froits of the avarice of kings and of the
labour of the poor, were thus saved from the rapacity of the
Muhammadans, and divided among a crowd of indigent famil-
ies, to whom they procured an honest life. The Thieves
used them with more generosity than could be expected.
Seeing the Nayak in misery, they restored to him apart of his
riches, protesting that they had taken them only to preserve
them safe. In the confusion of this pillage, the prisons were
thrown open and a multitude of state prisoners were set free,
the sole crime of most of whom being their fortune or social
position. Among the latter were two brothers of the Nayalk,
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whom he had shut up in these prisons, after pulling oot their
eves to remove all desire on their side of suceceding him (the
Niyak). At last, the Mubammadans arrived at Vallamkotiai
and found only the walls there; they puta small gurrison in
it and burst out on the eountry.  They have alrewdy been, for
gseveral months, in possession of this beawtiful and foertile
eountry ; no one knows now what their wlterior designs are,
whether they will estublish themselves there, or will content
themselves with eollecting the viches they ean find there, ond
return to their country ofterwards,
Such are the political events of the lust three years.

(2) Letler of Proenza fo Pawd Olfva, Lrichivopoly, 1662,

(P. 119) The continuous wars of the Duteh against the
Portuguese have deprived us of news from Burope. . . .

The Muhammadans under the direction of Sagosi and
Moula, the generals of Idal Khan, nceupied the kingdoms of
Gingi and Tanjore since two years, and scemed determined to
fix their domination there. The people were not very uneisy
thereby ; they sufficiently accommodated themselves (o the
yoke of the conqueror, in whom they found less of cruelly and
more of justice than in their own sovereigns,  As for us, the
hatred which these fanatics are showing to the Christinns
inspired in us grave misgivings., This is how the Diving
Providence remaoved (delivered us from) them.

The commotions and devastations of the war would neees-
sarily lead to famine; it was severe in all this ¢ountry ; the
inhabitants vetired to the provinces of Madura and Satyaman-
galam, where (P, 120) the ravages were less terrible. “T'he
Mubhammadans were the cause of this scourge ; they were the
first victims of it; the famine removed their men and horses
in such large numbers that, not having the time to bury or
burn them, they piled up the dead bodies in the fields, This
folly gave rise to maladies and increased the mortality. At
last, disunion (ereeping in) among the generals and officers of
the army completed the disaster.

Monla, frightened by the sad plight of his troops, proposed
to the Niiyaks to leave the country in case they paid him the
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tribute of three years. He was concerned with men too well
informed of his distress to respond to his proposal. The
Nayak of Tanjore, having nothing to lose orto give, held
himself peacefully in his woods; that of Madura confined
himself to the fortifications of Trichinopoly, defended by
Lingamua Niyaka at the head of a strong garrison. The
famine and the contagion foreed Moula to abandon Tanjore ;
he came to besiege Trichinopoly with the &4 of his soldiers.
But, on the one hand, the view of this citade], protected by
nature, surrounded by high walls and a very deep ditch ; on
the other, the courage of the besieged and the vigilance of the
sentinels soon deprived him of all hope of sorprising it by a
ruge or taking it by force. He began to devastate the country,
but this was to ravage a desert with much labour and without
any profit; besides, it was harassed by the Thieves who,
coming out of thelr woods in the night, fell on the detach-
ments of the army, penetrated as far as the camp, and fled
away with booty before they could be pursued. After con-
siderable losses, he was obliged to accept a moderate sum
offered by the Wayak and retire beyond the mountains.

(P. 121) Muttu Virappa Nayaka did not enjoy long a peace
obtained so cheaply. This prince who, at the commence-
ment of his reign, had been more valiant than his father,
Tirumala Nayaka, delivered himself up to pleasures and
voluptuousness with such fury, that, at first, he lost all energy
of character, and, soon after, his health and life. He died of
a malady contracted in his debauchery, and left his throne
to his son, Sokkalinga (Chokkanatha) Niyaka, ‘This prince,
aged sixteen, removed his court from Madura to Trichinopoly,
His first minister was a Brahman, distinguished for his ability
and experience ; his secretary was an old confidant of the
deceased king. These two persons, taking advantage of
the wvouth of their master, arrogated to themselves all
authority, and, to strengthen their power, removed, one
after another, the lords and captains who could overshadow
them, by exile and imprisonment. The young king, helped
by his Brahman, conceived a daring project, whose execution
did not transcend the resources of his talents. He attempted
to drive the Moghuls from all the countries they had invaded,

35
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ta re-establish the ancient king of Bisnagar in his country, to
give Gingi to its Niyak, and thus to remove the evils that
had resulted from the mistaken policy of Tirumala Nayaka.

With this object, he sent Lingama Nayaka at the head of
forty thousand men to nttack General Sagosi and take posses-
sion of Gingi. The captain was renownetl for his bravery
and military talents ; he could assure the success of the ex-
pedition, and realize the plan of the Braliman and his prince
but, won over by the presents of the enemy's geoneral, he
exhausted the royal treasure in a long and fruitless campaign,
However, the two ministers reign alone at Trichinopoly, and
pxcite the indignation of the inhabitants by their cruelty. The
Nayak, (P,122) indignant at the disorders committed in his
name, is powerless to remedy them ; his palace has beeome
a prison where the ministers shut him up, without allowing
him any means of communication with his subjects. He
geeks to deliver himself from such a slavery, and shows that
he doeos not intend to be satisfied with the »d/e which is
imposed on him ; but then the two traitors wish to depose
him, and substitute his brother, still younger, in whose name
they hope to govern more despotically,. They associate
Lingama Niyaka in their plot, and, to facilitate its cxecution,
dismiss or imprison all the lords remaining faithful (to
the king). The prince, informed of this plot by o lady of
the court, secretly sends an order to two captaing exiled for
their devotion. Immediately the latter gather a compuny of
soldiers, come, all on o sudden, to attack the two ministers,
cut the secretary to pieces, and pull out the eyes of the
Brahman, whose rank screened him from a more rigorous
punishment.

The Nayak, freed by his happy conp e main, hastens to
call back around him the courtiers whose exile and imprison-
ment have proved their fidelity. Too weak to punish
Lingama Niyaka, he resolves to dissemble, and receives him
with demonstrations of friendship; some months later, he
wishes to seize his person; but the traitor, whose conscience
renders him suspicious, cannot be deceived; he escapes and
joins Sagosi, Soon he comes back with him, at the head of
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twelve thousand infantry and seven thousand cavalry, to
besiege Trichinopoly. The army of the Nayak numbers more
than filty thousaned ; but the treachery of the new Brahman,
the successor and accomplice of the previous minister, creates
u split, and brings about dissensions among the soldiers. By
mutual agreement with the enemy, he ensnares (P. 123) the
captains of the army, the bravest and the most devoted, who
ure massaered or made prisoners.  Encouraged by this initial
steeess, the traitor throws off the mask, turns against the
town with o pact of his troops, and wishes to seize the king
and depose him.  The Niyalk, betrayed a second time, swears
never more to trust the Brahmans, and seeks his safety in the
rest of the army, whose command he himself assumes. This
hold step clectrifies the soldiers ; the forsaken rebels take to
their heels ; Lingama Niyaka and Sagosi take refuge at
Tanjore, whose Wayak has favoured the project.

The presence of Sokkalinga Niyaka re-establishes con-
fidenee in the army, and from all sides the soldiers hasten to
range themselves under his banner. From the beginning of
his career, he shows the talent and valonr of an old captain ;
his justice and the wisdom of his orders make him loved by
all ; at the same time, his boldness and inflexible severity
inspire salutary respect and fear. His reputation attracts to
him the soldiers of the enemy's army, always ready to give
their services to himn who offers them chances of victory.
At the head of more than seventy thousand well-disciplined
warriors, he marches against Tanjore ; the two generals flee
towards Gingi, and the Niyak submits to the conditions of
the congueror. Such is, in broad outlines, the picture of
political events whose details to narrate to you in full would
be useless.

(3) Letter of Proenza to Paul Oliva, Cangonpatli, 1665.

- (P, 158) . . . Our fear of the arrival of the Muhammadans
was soon redlized ; the story of the disorders created and
cruelties committed by them, and the desoclation which they
spread everywhere on their way, struck consternation in every
heart.  ‘The warlike spirit and prudent administration of

P—
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Sokkalinga Niyaka, however, held out a ray of hope. At last
the army of Idal Khan arrived, commanded by Vanamian, the
most valiant of his captains, and stopped close to Trichinopuly
which i3, as it were, the key of the dominions of Madura
The general of the enemy tried at first to frighten the king
by his threats and show of power; sccing that he guined
nothing by these methods, he successively delivered several
attacks, and was constantly repulsed with luss by the artillery
of the fort. But, by his attacks, he destroyed all the suburbs,
and our church, which was in one of them, was completely
ruined. T myself ran a great danger : puesued by four horse-
men, I fled towards the town with several disciples, and we
were to fall into their hands, when some shells sent hy the
besieged burst near us, (P, 159) and made the enemy retire.
After making fruoitless attempts against the citadel, the
besiegers broke out on the country, devastated the harvest,
burnt the wvillages, and captured the inhabitants to be made
slaves.

It is impossible to describe the scenes of horror which then
enveloped this unhappy country. The Indian nobility, think-
ing it infamy to fall into the hands of these despicable beings,
did not fear to seek refuge in death, less frightful, in their
eyes, than such a dishonour, A large number, after slaying
their women and children, plunged the sword into their own
bodies and fell on their corpses. Entire populations were
seen resorting to this tragic death. In other villages the
inhabitants gathered together in several houses, to which they
set fire and perished in the Aames. A Christian woman,
thus dragged into a big building to share the common fate,
was recovered alive under a heap of four bundred corpses.
These traits will enable you to understand how fur the
stubbornness of Indians goes in defending the prerogatives
and honour of their castes. The Muhammadans, gathering all
they could expect from pillage, and henceforth, seeing nothing
more than expenses to make, without any profit, thought of
retiring. They entered into negotiations with the Nayak, who
was very glad to getrid of them at the cost of alarge sum
of money which he paid them in the name of contribution,
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Freed from this enemy, Sokkalinga Niyaka thinks of
wreaking vengeance on the king of Tanjore who has betrayed
him again, in this circumstance, by joining the Moghuls
against the fidelity of treaties. Accordingly, he marches at
the head of a strong army, appears before the town of
T'anjore, and, after many fghts of minor importance, eaptures
Vallam (P, 160), & most important fort by its position and
by the rich lands which depend on it. He then makes peace
with his defeated enemy on conditions which he is pleased
to dictate to him, and returns home after leaving a good
grarrison in the fortress, of which he has just made the
coneguest,

He takes advantage of the spirit of his vietorious troops
to punish his vassal, the king of Marava, who, during the
invasion of the Muhammadans, refused him the help of
his arms. He captures Tiruppattir, Podukottai, Minimadurai,
and some other places less considerable ; then he penetrates
into the heart of the woods and captures the fort of Kilaivar-
kiovil. The Marava king, the loss of whose strong places did
not deprive him at all of his boldness, retires full of con-
fidence tw the heart of his forests. The Niyak, tired of a
war with robbers, further pressed to return to Madura to cele-
brate several ceremonies there, leaves the work of terminating
this expedition to some captains, But his departure soon
chanpes the aspect of affairs, The Marava knows how to
profit by the advantages, which a knowledge of the places
and the habit of fighting in these positions give him, all being
new to his adversaries, and gains several victories over them.
The Nivak renounces the project of humbling the pride of
his vassal, and contents himself with keeping the principal
fortresses of Marava.

(4) Letter of André Freive to Pawl Oliva, Candelour, 1666.

(P, 201) . . . The three kingdoms in which this Mission
is included continue to be governed : Madura by Sokkalinga
Nayaka, Tanjore by Vissar@ya (Vijayarighava) Niyaka, and
Gingi by three captains of Idal Khan. All the political events
of this year consist in some changes of ministers. The
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Pradhani of Tanjore, to fill the royal treasury and make his
own fortune, gave to a Brahman the authorization to despoil
all the vassals without any formality, Whoever by dint of
labour and industry had gathered some amount of meney
was, by this alone, guilty, doomed to be proceeded against
by the minister. In conveying this order, he had only the
largest fortunes in view ; but the Hrabman, who ld alse
purse to fill, extended the decree to all ranks, and employed
for execution means, so violent and cruel, that the inlubi-
tants, seized with consternation, sought safety in flight.  The
(P. 202) artisans suspended their work ;. the merchants closel
their shops ; most of the people left their homes; and the
kingdum showed the appearance of a desert.  The king could
not ignore such bharbarities; but, being himsell thirsty of
gold, he dissembled in the hope of gathering the fruits of these
plunderings; then, when he thought the moment favourable
to strike the blow, he understood that the minister had known
how to take measures and remove his treasures.  He took
vengeance on him by giving him up to the people's anger ;
this was the most equitable and severe punishment which he
could inflict on him ; for nothing is more terrible than the
anger of the weak when impunity is assured them.

The Pradhani of Madura, guilty of the same exactions,
deserved the same corporal punishment; (but) the Nuyak,
without removing him from his office, satisfied himself with
imposing on him a fine of three hundreed thousand Aws,  This
meant to punish his subjects for crimes whose victims they
had been ; for the minister redoubled his cruelty to extort the
sum which he had to pay to the king. Sec where the happy
beginnings of this reign have come to after making every one
hope for a golden age and a government full of wisdom and
equity | The passions, in corrupting the heart of the young
prince, have unnerved his courage and dulled his spirit. He
amuses himself with building a substantial palace at Trichino-
poly ; with this object, he has destroyed a part of the
magnificent palace which Tirumala Niyaka had constructed at
Madura, and has carried from it the most precious materials,
among which are cplumns of black stone of rare beauty.



La Mission Du Maduré 117 279

He is thus roining. the most majestic monument of these
countries to construct, at the cost of the tears and blood of his
stbjects, o building which can never compare with that which
he demolished.

Hut nothing can equal the cruelties which the (P, 203)
Muhamunadans employ in the government of Gingi; express-
ion fails me to reeount the atrocities which I have seen with
my cyes; and if I were to describe them, truth would be
ineredible. To the pregent horror are added the fears of
what is to happen ; for it is announced that Idal Khan sends
n strong army to raise the contributions, which the Niiyaks
had promised, by foree,

(5) Letler of André Freive fo Pawl Oliva, Coled, 1676,

(P,247) ... This account contains . . . the events which
have taken place since my last letter of 1673,

The Niyak of Madura, after the disastrous wars an account
uf which was given you in that letter, took possession
of the kingdom of Tanjore and cut off the head of the
king, his enemy. This barbarous action could not preserve
his conguest,  Idal Khan, informed of these events, sent an
army under the command of General Ekoiji to re-establish, on
the throne of Tanjore, the son of the defeated king, who had
gone to implore his help. The Niyak of Madura had entrust-
ed the command of the conguered kingdom to his elder
brother (foster-brother, Alagivi Nayaka), whose bravery at
first checked the impetuosity of Ekoji. The latter resolved to
contrive by stratagem a victory which he did not dare to hope
by force ; he remained, for one full year, on the frontiers of
the (P, 248) kingdom, convinced that follies and mutual jeal-
pusies between the two brothers would afford him a favourable
moment to accomplish his designs. He was not mistaken in
his expectation., The Niyak of Madura soon fell out with his
brother, and Ekoji, profiting by this division, marched at the
head of his troops, fell on the town of Tanjore, and, in the first
attack, eaptured it and all its dependencies, and appeared
before the gates of Trichinopoly where the king of Madura was,
The citadel and all the kingdom were about to be his conguest
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if his boldness had equalled his good fortune. He feared to
compromise his suceess by delivering the assault immediately ;
and this hesitation gave the Niyak time to recover from the
panic which had demoralised him. He could defend himself
and save his eapital, but he was deprived of a large part of
his dominions and of all the strong places in his provinees,

Such was the just punishment of a tyrant whose only law
was his cupidity. His spoliations and cruelties had made the
people forget the despotism of all his predecessors, and excited
agalnst him the execration of his subjects ; he deserved to be
treated as he himself had treated, not his enemies, but his own
vassals,

This long series of wars has been followed by a general
famine which ravages especially the environs of Madura and
Marava. Everywhere only devastation and solitude of death
are seen ; a part of the inhebitants have suceumbed to starva-
tion; others have left their country to seek relief elsewhere.
Day by day Ekoji, on the one hand, and the king of Mysore,
on the other, will absorb the last dfbris of this kingdom, once
so flourishing. The conquest of it will be very casy, for
(P. 249) the people will regard the enemy, whoever he may be,
as their true saviour.

This is what has just happened at Tanjore, General Ekoji,
instead of placing the son of the late Niyak on the throne,
according to the orders of Idal Khan, has preferred to usurp
the title and authority of an independent king. Thus becom-
ing absolute master of the kingdom, he seeks to make himself
loved by the inhabitants, and has alveady succeeded in it.
The justice and wisdom of his government begin to heal the
wounds of the preceding reign and develop the natural
resources of this country, one of the most remarkable in all
India by the fertility of its lands and the wealth of its produe-
tion. By repairing the canals and tanks, he has fertilised
extensive felds, uncultivated for many years, and the last
harvest has surpassed all that one had ever seen. Unhappily
this prosperity will not be of long daration, for, on the one
hand, Idal Khan sends an army to punish the revolt of his
genetal ; on the other, the Nayak of Madura, so sluggish
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when it would have been ensy for him to joln his brother to
crush Ekoji, is ot last waking himself up from his apathy, He
is raising a formidable army, in agreement with all his
vagsals, who have [orgotten thelr own cquarrels to unite their
forces against the common enemy. At the same time,
Mysore, which cannot see, without uneasiness, a bold set of
people establishing themselves on her own frontiers, [fortifies
the citadels taken from the northern provinces of Madura,
gathars fresh troops, and makes grand preparations for war.
On the pretext of strengthening herself against the Munham-
madans, she may have in view an attack on the kingdom of
Madara, when the Nayak will be involved in his war with
Tanjore. Everything (P. 250) indicates that we are not still
at the end of our troubles,

The kingdom of Gingi has not suffered less from the wars
which the usurpers make among themselves. A Brahman,
brother of the governor of Gingi, formed a conspiracy against
Tdal Khan or the swdali of the Dakhan, His intrigues were
discovered ; he himself fell into the snave he had got ready,
and was killed by the siedak at the moment when he meditated
Lo deliver the fatal conp. Some grave suspicions falling on
the brother of the conspirator, another general was sent at the
head of a detachment of soldiers with orders to depose the
present governot of Gingi and take his place. But he encoun-
tered such strong resistance that he was obliged to retire.
Accordingly, he left the capital and turned all his efforts to the
provinces. Thus resulted a series of bloody combats, which
ruined this unhappy country, already rednced to profounnd
misery by the tyranny of the three ministers who govern or
rather ravage this kingdom.

(6) Letter of André Freive lo Paul Oliva, Viranam,
e the kingdom of Gingi, 1678,

(P. 268) I begin this letter as usual by an exposition of the
political events whose influence our Mission has had to submit
to. As I have told you in my last letter, the Nayak of Madura
was preparing for a war with Ekoji, the old captain of Idal
Khan, (P. 269) now independent master of T'anjore and a part

36



282 History of the Ndayaks of Madura

of Gingi. Meanwhile it was reported that Sabagi (Sivaji), the
alder brother of Ekoji, in revolt against his sovereign for
some time, had seized several provinces of Bisnagar and
advanced at the head of a strong army.  This news appeared
incredible ; how to believe that Sabagi could traverse a distance
of several hundreds of leagues through (the country of) the
warlike people of the Dakhan and Golkonda to carry war into
ovr country ! While the probability of thix ramour was
argued about, Sabagi solved the question by falling, like a
thunder-bolt, on the citadel of Gingi, which he ok at the first
assault. He owed this easy success to the divisions which
prevailed, and to the numerous communications which he had
carefully conducted with the Muhammadans,

After subduing the kingdom of Gingi, the new congueror
pretends to respect the provinees possessed by his brother,
and advances as if to pay o friendly visit to him,  Ekoji,
full of confidence, comes jovially to mect him, and linds him
beyond the Coleroon, three leagues from ‘lanjore. But
natural sentiments are suppressed by preed wnd ambition;
the traitor seizes his brother and puts him in chains to extort
from him all the treasures (he had) gathered from the exploita-
tion of the kingdom of Tanjore. Ekoji, having managed Lo
escape, crosses the river swimming and hides himsell in the
woods ; Sabagi recompenses himself by taking possession of
all the provinces north of the Coleroon. Then he entrusts
most of his army to one of his brothers Santogi (Santaji), the
most (P, 270) valiant captain in all these countries, gives him
a Brahman as counsellor, whose sagacity and experience equal
his devotion, entrusts him with the defence of his conguests,
and flees to the north to help his son, (who is) severely
pressed by the troops of the Great Moghul.

Ekoji, profiting by this diversion to re-establish his aflairs,
gathers his soldiers, crosses the river, and enters the territory
of Gingi. Santogi comes to give him battle at the head of an
army, superior in number, and commanded by clever and
intrepid captains; but he atincks men whose wives he has
dishopoured and whose children he has massacred in the sack
of Gingi; the desire for vengeance increases their natural
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courage; actuated by fury, they fall on the enemy's army like
lions, break the ranks, spread carnage everywhere, and turn
the victory to their side. But, all on a sudden, art and
stratagem snatch away the victory from blind courage.
Santogi, obliged to fles, keeps enough composure to place a
big detachment in ambuscade ; the victors carried away by
the dash of suecess fall into the snare ; overtaken in the rear
by this detachment, they suddenly see the fugitives turn
against them with irresistible impetuosity. After a bloody
combat of several hours they are broken, and they leave the
battle-field and the honour of victory to Santogi, whose losses
are, nevertheless, much more mnsrdernble than those of the
conguered,

While the two armies were fighting, the Niyak of Madura
came with his troops against Ekoji. The occasion was
opportune to capture Tanjore ; he did not know how to take
advantage of it. The defeated re-crossed the Coleroon under
his eyves and returned in disorder to their fortress. Instead
of attacking themw, or entering the town along with (P. 271)
them, to impose his law there, he wasted his time in hesita-
tion ; then he joined Santogi, who promised to hand over to
him the citadel and all the kingdom of Tanjore in return for
a sum of money for the maintenance of his army. But Ekoji,
whose treasure was in a better condition to satisfy the cupidity
of Sabagi, made peace with him and retained possession of
his dominions. The cowardly and imprudent Nayak lost his
time and money, and went to the citadel of Trichinopoly to
hide himself in disgrace.

Making his conquests secure, Santogi rejoined his bratharf
{who was) occupied with the siege of Vellore, once the capital
of Bisnagar. After a vear of investment, Sabagi made him-
gelf master of it, and thereby became sovereign of a large
part of the kingdom, as he was already (master) of Gingi. He
could not hope to maintain peaceful possession of it for long ;
he had to defend himself against the Moghul power which.has
been irresistible till now. With this pre-vision, he applied all
the energy of his mind, and all the resources of his dominions,
to the fortification of the principal towns, He constructed

-
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new ramparts aronel Gingi, dug ditches, erected (owers,
ereated basing, and exeented all these works with a perfection
which Buropean art would nob have denied. He did oas
much for the other citadels, whose position promised reoal
wdvantages, destroyed all those which he consitered useless,
constructed a large number of new ones in the plains wnd hills,
and put all these fortresses in o state of preparedness for o
siege of several years.

Such works necessarily exhausted his trensures 3 he come
pensated himself by universal pillage in the country, whose
riches were hoarded in the citadels.  His orders were carried
out with such rigour and barbarity that most ol the inhahi-
tants sought safety (P. 272) in exile. Those who vould not
leave their homes are still groaning wnder this iron yoke,
which makes them Fforget all past evils, and sighing for the
arrival of the Moghuls, whom they are dispesed to join to
erush the new despot.  Such is the state of desolation that
prevails in the kingdoms of (zingi and Vellore ; [ do not enter
into details ; words fail me to tell the horrors that we are
witnessing.

For her part, Tanjore, pressed by Bkoji, had to contribute
the sum which this prince had paid to buy his dominions back.
T'o these internal troubles were added the Iwigandoges and
devastations of the Maravas who, without daring to attack
the Muhammadans in regular battle, did not cease to harass
them and surprise their detachments. Nevertheless, these
people found in the fertility of their soil and the abundant
harvest of this vear a relief to their misery,

Let me add a word on the state of the kingdom of Madura.
Whilst Sokkalinga Nayaka, egged on by his ambition, sought
to seize Tanjore, he lost his own dominions. The king of
Mysore entered them, without striking a blow, and took
possession of the only two fortresses which Madura had
preserved till then in the north. The -principal lords of the
kingdom, vexed at the conduct of the Nayak, conspired
against him, put him in prison, on the pretext of madness,
and raised to the throne Muttulinga Niyaka, his brother,
whose government is neither wiser nor less tyrvannical, All
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over the country only lamentations and imprecations are
heard against the authors of such cruelties. To make matters
worse, the whole country has been devastated by a kind of
deluge: in the provinees of Satyamangalam, Trichinopoly,
Tanjore, and Gingi, the inundations have carried away whole
villages (P, 273) with all their inhabitants. This scourge of
divine anger was soon followed by famine, pestilence, and, at
last, brigandage which infests all the kingdom. The capital,
vnce so flourishing, is no longer recognizable; its palaces,
onece $0 rich and majestic, are deserted and begin to fall into
ruing ; Madura resembles a town much less than a den of
robbers. The new MNayak is par exveellence o roi fainfani ;
he sleeps day and night, and his neighbours, who do not
sleep, dispossess him every moment of some shred of his
dominions. The people, who have only to gain by a change
of domination, do not care to resist the invaders; and every
vne forebodes that this kingdom, o powerful twenty years
ago, will soon be a prey to its enemies, or rather, the vietim
of the mad policy of its own government, Without dwelling
longer on the political evenls which wonld make up a volumin-
ous history, I pass on to the work of the Mission, which is
my principal object.

(7) Lelter of Awdré Freive o Pand Olive, Vadugarpaili, 1682,

(P.301) . ... The kings of these countries cannot under-
stand that ambition and unjust cruelty, which direct their
government, are the sole cause of all the misfortunes that
hefall them, and of the total ruin to which they are rushing
blindly. Ever since the fatal policy of Tirumala Nayaka who
invited the Moghul army to help the three Nayaks in revolt
against Bisnagar, this part of India has been incessantly
delivered to all the disorders of anarchy and to the ravages of
the most disastrons wars. Far from profiting by their reverses
and rectifying their faults, seeking their safety in union-and
in the wise administration of their kingdoms, these princes
(P, 302) have weakened themselves by their mutual treasons,
and drained the source of their wealth by a tyranny, of which
nothing can give you an idea. Already (the sovereign of}
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Bisnagar, the Niiyvak of Gingi, and that of Tanjore are despoiled
of their dominions. The Nivak of Madura is on the verge of
sucetimbing to the same fate: his provinees are invaded,
on the one side by Ekoji, and, on the other, by the king
of Mysore, who holds him in blockade in his fortress of
Trichinopoly.

It would be too long to recount to you the troubles which
have convulsed this kingdom during these last years. You
know, from the previous letters, that Sokkalingn Niyaka way
dethroned and imprisoned, on the pretext of madness, and
that Muttulinga Niiyaka, his brother, took his place, without
exhibiting either more wisdom or more humanity. The
change of masters, by stirring up new passions, only increased
the misfortunes of the subjects and disorders of the govern-
ment. This state of things lasted for a short time: a
Mohammadan general (Rustam Ehan), who was in the king's
service and commanded his cavalry, taking advantage of a
walk which the prince took beyond the fortress, rebelled
against him, closed the gates of the citadel, and seized the
government. To make a show of justice, he took Sokkalinga
out of the prison and declared him king; but, in reality, he
reserved to himself all authority and all the privileges of
royalty. Supported by his cavalry, he imposed his yoke on
the whole kingdom without anybody daring or wishing to
make opposition; the usurper, not content with seizing all
the treasures of the palace, appropriated the wives of the two
kings, two of whom committed suicide to avoid this dishonour.

(P. 303) This new tyranny weighed heavily on the king-
dom for nearly two years, and came to an end only through
a new disaster, Kumdra Riya (Dalaviy Kumdraiya), the
Mysore general, attacked Trichinopoly with a strong army ;
the commander of the place, enticed by the enemy, made an
imprudent sally, fell into an ambuscade, and lost neatly all his
cavalry in it. When he returned to the citadel, Sokkalinga,
helped by his devoted friends,’ fell on him and massacred
him with the Muhnmméﬂans who accompanied him, Delivered

! Chiefly the S8tupati, instructed by Gdvindappaiya,
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from this domestic enemy, the Nayak found himself sur-
rounded by four large armies, the first was that of Eumira
Raya who besieged him; the second, that of the Maravas,
who came on the pretext of defending their sovereign, but
whose sole object was to get their share of the pillage, in
which they knew how to distinguish themselves on that
oceasion ; the third was that of Arafumalai, general of
Sambogi (Sambaji), son and successor of Sabagi; the
fourth, that of Ekoji, The two latter pretended to help the
Navak who had called them ; but their real motive was to
repulse the anny of Mysore, whose proximity they feared, and
take possession of all the dominions of Madura, For his part,
Kumifira Raya, realizing that it was impossible for him to
resist such armies with troops so inferior in number, offered
peace to the Nayak, promising to preserve his kingdom for
him, and re-establish the successors of the ancient Navaks of
Tanjore and Gingi. These promises were as flattering as
they were short of being sincere. Undoubtedly the wisest
course would have been to make a leapue with the king of
Mysore to chase the Moghuls, A little energy, supported by
the confidence of the people, would have assured the execut-
ion of a project in which the two kings had an equal interest.
It would have been curious to see the Nayak of Madura jein
his enemy (P. 304) to fight and destroy the allies whom he
had called to his help, In the ways and manners of the
country, the conduct would not have astonished anybody ;
it would not, besides, have gone against justice except in
name, for every one perfectly knew what the Nayak could
expect from these allies, Moreover, it was not justice which
stood in his way in entering into the views, and accepting the
proposals, of Kumira Riya. On the one hand, he could
scarcely connt more on his word than on that of the
Mubammadans ; on the other, his heart was incapable of a
project, which required courage and noble determination.
Accordingly, he was pleased to remain idle spectator of a
struggle which must decide as to who, among these com-
petitors, would be his master and the possessor of his

dominions.
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At the same time, Kumiira Riiya made overtures to tieneral
Arasumalal and offered him large sums uf money to corrupt
his fidellty, and pledge him to rotire to Gingi. By these
negotiations he hoped to give time to the king of Mysore to
send him help which he had applied for ; but his letters fell
into the hands of his vivals who, sacrificing the interests and
glory of the prince and of their country to their personal
jealousy, had kept away these despatches to ruin the generil,
Receiving neither reinforcements nor reply Lo his lettors, the
latter was obliged to seck safety in honourable retreat. He
ordered the cavalry corps to feign a movement Lo attract the
attention of the enemies, to engage them as long s possible,
and then [flee with fall speed towards Mysore ; while he
himself would take advantage of this diversion to escape, with
his infantry, in an opposite direction and thus save his army.
But the Moghuls would not allow themselves to be puL on the
wrong scent ; for a long time past their self-concelt and
audacity (P. 305) had been increasing by the inaction of
Kumara Raya, which revealed to them his weakness and their
gtrenglh ; they kept close to his army and none of his actions
could escape them. Thus, when the cavalry cffected its
movement, they tollowed it very calimly without inviting o
combat, reserving all their strength to crush the body of the
army ; besides, this cavalry, demoralized by its sad position,
could properly execute only the last part of the prders it had
received ; it did that wonderfully well, and with all the more
facility, that the Moghuls did not wish to waste time in pursuit.
Then, they fell on the infantry, and the combat was only a
horrible butchery § they found rich booty, the result of several
years' pillage and made a large number of prisoners, among
whom was Kumara Riya himself. The defeat and capture of
this general, till then invinecible, completed the joy and pride
of Arasumalai.

Taking advantage of his glorious victory, he extended his
conquests by driving the Mysoreans from all the provinces
and from nearly all the citadels, which they had taken from
tlie Nayak of Madura. He had promised to re-establish the
jatter in his dominions as an inducement to get his help in
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troops and money ; but, as was to be expected of him, this
promise has never been fulfilled. Sambogi is now in posdes-
gion of all the places conguered by Arasumalai, who conti-
nues to chase the Mysoreans, The latter still possess some
fortresses, among others that of Madura, with the help of the
Maravas, to whom Mysore appears a neighbour less redoubt-
able than Sambogi. The Nayak, frustrated in all his hopes,
dispossessed of his dominions and all his treasures, abandoned
by his troops, deprived of all resources, and attacked by
Sambogi in his fortress of Trichinopoly, more vigorously
than he had been by (P. 306) the army of Mysore, fell into a
fit of melancholy which caused his death. "This event made
little impression on his subjects and wvassals, from whom he
had deserved neither love nor confidence, and whom the
presence of a foreign tyrant rendered insensible to the joy of
deliverance from a domestic tyrant. What lessons for these
princes and kings, if they were capable of understanding and
learning them | Sokkalinga Niyaka was succeeded by his
gson, Muttu Krishnpa (Ranga Krishpa Muttu Virappa)
Nayaka, aged fifteen., It can be imagined what kind of
government would exist under a prince so young and so weak.
All the country is plunged in complete anarchy and universal
pillage ; the enemies occupy the citadels; the Thieves are
masters of the fields, villages and towns, and carry on their
plunderings everywhere with complete impunity. _

1 shall -say little about Tanjore ; the tyranny of Ekoji
continues his work of destruction there. After plundering the
men, he has fallen on the pagodas of his own idols. One had
never seen so much temerity in a pagan, but he is a pagan
whe has no other god than his cupidity. To satisfy it he has
appropriated the treasures of the pagogas and their large
possessions. The Brahmans came in wvain to lament and
represent top him that their gods were abandoned without
offerings, because the rice-fields, whose produce was intended
for their worship, had been taken away from them. He
replied to them that the gods did not eat rice, and that offer-
ings of fragrant lowers would suffice. It can be judged from
this. how Ekoji treats his unhappy subjects. Te his tyranny

37
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are added other disasters. An inundation, less strong in the
interior of the country than that of 1677, has wrought horrible
ravages on the soa-const, heeause it has been accompanied by
a terrible gust of (P. 307) wind which, carrying the seu beyond
its limits, has turned back the waters of the rivers. In the
villages of the sea-coast alone, more than 6,000 persons have
been the victims of this disaster.

In the kingdom of Gingi, the death of Sabagi has not
caused any political change ; his son Sambogi already shows
himself a tyrant, more cruel and perfidions than his father,
It is impossible to enumerate the exactions, bhrigandages, and
murders which desolate this poor kingdom. New calamities
and fresh political changes are ralked about ; it is suaid that
the Moghul, at the request of Mysore, is sending a formidable
army against Sambogi. In the meantime, the latter pursues
his conguests against Mysore, not only in the kingdom of
Madura, but even in the northern provinces, where he has
taken several of its fortresses, all the province of Dhorma-
puri, and other neighbouring territories. [t seems that he
is helped by Iquerian (Ikkérian), or the king of Canara,
and by the king of Golkonda, both of whom are united
against (the king of) Mysore (who is) regarded as the
common enemy. [ am much afraid lest a sud experience
should teach them what the example of our threc Niyaks
ought to have done, viz. that their rcal enemies are Ekoji
and Sambogi with their savage hordes. In December, 1680,
appeared a comet, which covered an are of 90° in the
sky ; it was followed, a little after, by another, much
less extensive, in the same part of the sky. The Indians
who ascribe to these dreadful stars the same influences,
which the general opinion of Europe has always imputed
to them, make them invariably responsible for all the evils
which have afflicted these countries, and for all those which
they expect in the ensuing years.

(8) Ledter of Jean de Britto to Panl Oliva, 1683,

(P, 337) . ... I shall not dwell on the civil government
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of these countries, if, however, this name must still be given
to the hrigandages which desolate them. The ancient
kingdom of Madura is in shreds : the Niyak keeps a small
portion of it, another is occupied by the king of Mysore,
a third by the petty king of Marava, a fourth by Sambogi,
lastly, o fifth by Ekoji. You can infer from this the universal
disorder that prevails in all these provinces,

The power of the king of Mysore in Madura begins to grow
weak, because, violently attacked in his own dominions by
the troops of Sambogi, he cannot sustain and reinforce the
armies he had gent to (P. 338) these countries. The provinces
he had conguered there shake off his yoke gradually to claim
their independence, or become attached to some one of the
princes who have partitioned the shreds of this kingdom,
onece o flourishing, among themselves.

Tanjore, with the exception of some provinces captured by
the king of the Maravas, is under Ekeji. This is briefly
a picture of the administration of this country. Ekoji takps
oft four-fifths of all the produce. As if this were not enough,
he enforces payment in money, instead of accepting this
four-fifths in kind; and as he is careful to fix the price
himself, much above that which the owner can realize, it
happens that the sale of the whole harvest is never sufficient
to pay the contributions. Accordingly, the coltivators are
burdened with a crushing debt, and often they are obliged to
prove their inability, when they have to pay it, by (undergoing)
harharous tortures.

It will be difficult for you to conceive of such oppression,
and I must add, however, that, in the kingdom of Gingi,
tyranny is even more frightful and revolting. Further this is
all I shall say about it, for, expression fails me to tell you
how horrible it is.

(9) Letter of Lonis de Mello to Noyelle, 1685.

(p. 3}'3'5} The political condition of these ];:i_nédum's presents
the same intestine broils and confusion, as in the previous
years ; it is the labour of dissolution which continues its
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work till the great powers of the north (P. 377) come to
terminate it by o general invasion. In the south, the petty
ritfas, once vassals of Modurn, continue to shake off the yoke
of Mysore, too weak to preserve her conguests ; the Thieves
and the Maravas make a war of bripmndage against the
troops of Ekoji; Sambogi mercilessly conducts war against
the king of Mysore, whose dominions he is invading, and is
strongly helped by the revolts of the inhabitants against their
own soversign.

In the midst of all these commotions, the Mission has,
during these three years, experienced shocks and pecse-
cutions, more terrible than all those which had aftlicted it till
now. Proceeding in order, I shall first tell yon about the
persecutions at Satyamangalam, Tanjore, and Marava ; then, 1
shall put in a word about the progress of religion, fpriilised
with such tears and blood.

Attacked in the heart of his kingdom by the armies of
Sambogi, the king of Mysore, to provide for the expenses of
the war, resorted, in the eastern provinces of his dominions,
to exactions and eruelties so revelting that his subjects rosc
in a body against him and all his ministers. Stimulated by
the losses which weakened him on all sides, driven by the
impulse of the present sufferings without any thought of
what was to happen, destitute, moreover, of sentiments of
patriotism and national grandeur, like all enslaved people,
they chose as their generals two Brahmans, chiefs of the
sects of Vishnu and Siva, and formed two large armies. The
one composed of seventy thousand men marched straight
against the fortress of Mysore and besieged the king who
shut himself up there; the second composed of thirty
thousand men burst out on the province of Satyamangalam
and the adjoining countries. T shall not stop to describe the
horrors which (P. 378) these masses, excited by the spirit
of vengeance and blind fanaticism, perpetrated. After dis-
charging their first fury on the officers of the king and many
magistrates, the two generals took advantage of the occasion
to vent their hatred against our neophytes and destroy

Christianity.
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LA MISSION DU MADURE, II

(10)  Letler of Anloine Vico to Laerzio, Madura,
FOth Angust, 1611,

"\

Poriticar CoNDITION

(. 124) The king, or the great Niyak of Madura, has
but little domains which are directly dependent on him,
that is to say, which are his property (for, in this country, the
nobles are the sole owners of the land, and the people are
only their farmers). All the other lands are the property of
a crowd of petty princes or tributary lords ; the latter have,
each in his domain, the complete administration of the police
and justice, if ever justice there was, They raise contribu-
tions which are at least half the produce of the lands; they
divide them into three parts, the first of which is reserved as
tribute to the great Nayak ; the second part is employed for
the upkeep of the troops which the lord has to furnish him
with, in case of war: the third belongs to the lord. The
great Niyak of Madura and those of Tanjore and Gingi are
themselves tributaries of Bisnagar, to whom they pay or
have to pay each an annual tribute of six to ten million
francs, But they are not punctual in paying it; often they
postpone the payment; sometimes they even refuse it with
insolence. In that case, (the king of) Bisnagar comes or
sends one of his generals, at the head of hundred thousand
men, to make them pay all the arrears with interest. On
these occasions, which are frequent, it is again the poor
people who pay for the fanlt of their princes ; all the country
is devastated, and the people are plundered or massacred. . .

Hermécatti is tributary to the king. All the quarter of the
town (P. 125), a small corner of which we. occupy, belongs
to him. He has domains enough to be obliged to maintain
for the Niyak's service three thousand infanfry, two hundred.
horses, and fifty elephants. In his capacity as owner of the
guarter we inhabit, this lord, very influential at the court,
could render us all evil he would wish. . . . :
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(11} Letter of Martinz lo Carralfa, Salyamangalam, 1651,

(P. 394) The death of the Niyak of Satyamangalam and
the minority of his son have made us experience the fatal
consequences of bad government which exists in India in
goneral. The iden of o monarch who regards his people as a
large family, of which he is the father, never enters into the
mind or heart of the Indian kings. They rather consider
themselves great proprietors and their kingdom a vast farm
to exploit. TFull of energy and sagacity to extort from their
subjects the largest amount of money possible, they are
blind, negligent, and excessively weak in (P, 395) all that
concerns order and repression of crime and injustice. All
these duties are abandoned to subordinates, chiefs of castes
and governors of provinces and villages. The latter are
themselves so many petty despots, clever to make them-
selves independent, or maintain their despotism by intrigues,
or presents to satisfy the greed of those who would supervise
their work.

LA MISSION DU MADURE IV

(12) Letter of Martin lo Villelle, Marava, 1713

(P, 194) . . . In 1709 drought and extraordinary heat
produced a great scarcity. . .. When there is abundant
rain, rvice and other provisions are very cheap here. One
fanom will procure up to eight maraikkals or large measures,
of very fine husked rice, which is sufficient to feed a man for
more than fifteen days. But when (P. 195) there is lack
of rain, it becomes so dear that I have seen the price of one
of these measures of rice mount up to four fagems. . . .

(P. 200) Almost all the villages and lands of Marava are
possessed by the richest in the country in return for a certain
number of soldiers they have to furnish to the prince when-
ever he requires them. These lords keep their position at
the prince's pleasure; -their soldiers are .their relatives,
friends or slaves who cultivate the lands . . . and take
to arms when required. In this way the Marava prince can
collect even thirty or forty thousand men in less than eight
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days ; hence he is feared by the neighbouring princes. He
has even thrown off the voke of the king of Madura, whose
tributary he was. In vain did the kings of Tanjore and
Madura join together to subdue him, The famous Brahman
Narasappaiya, the great general of Madura, came into Marava
in 1702 at the head of a considerable army, was completely -
defeated, and he lost his life. The king of Tanjore was not
more fortunate in 1709 : taking advantage of the desclation
which prevailed then in Marava, he sent all his forces into it,
but his army was (P, 201) vigorously repulsed, and he had
to sue for peace. . . .

(P, 203) . . . Itwas in 1710 that the prince of Marava
died aged more than eighty., His wives numbering about
forty-seven were burned on his pyre. . . .

(P. 206) . . . The Queen of Trichinopoly, mother of the
reigning prince, who was pregnant when her husband died
about tiventy years ago, made the same resolution (to bum
herself to death) as soon as a son would be born to her, and
carried it ont with a firmness which astonished the whole
court. Her mother-in-law, Mangammal, could not accompany
King Chokkaniitha on his pyre for the same reason, but, after
her delivery, she hit upon an expedient to escape the flames,
the pretext being that there was none but herself to bring up
the young prince and govern the kingdom during his minority.
As she loved the Queen of Trichinopoly, her danghter-in-law,
she wished to persuade her to follow her example ; but this
young queen, regarding it with contempt, said to her, * Do
you believe that 1 am so devoid of feeling as to survive my
husband ? The desire to leave him a successor has made me
postpone my sacrifice ; but, at present, nothing can prevent it.
The young prince will lose nothing by my death, since he
has a grandmother who has great attachment for life. He
is as much to you as to me; rear him up and preserve
the kingdom which belongs to him." (P. 207) She added
many more cutting reproaches, but in a wveiled manner,
Mangammil dissembled like a sensible woman and abandoned
her daughter-in-law to her deplprable infatuation.
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Jorn LocemaN, Travels of lhe Jesudis!

Vorume 1

(1) Letter of Father Bonchel to Father Le Gobien,
Madura, December 1, 1700

(P, 9) Our Mission at Madura is in a more flourishing
state than ever. We have suffered four violent persecntions
this year. One of our missionaries had four of his tecth beat
put; and I am now at the Prince's court to solicit for the
liberty of Father Borghese, of the family of prince Borghese
in Rome ; that Father having been confined forty days in the
prison of Ticherapali (the city in which the king of Madura
resides), You have often heard that the missionaries of
Madura eat neither meat, fish, nor eggs; and that they never
drink wine or other strong liguors, but live in wretched huts
covered with straw, having not so much as a bed, a chair or
piece of furniture of any kind; and they are forced to take
their food without either table, napkin, knife, fork or spoon
(P. 10). But this is nothing to the sufferings they undergo.

(2) Letler of Father Peler Martin to Father Le Gobien,
Camicn-naken-patti, in the kingdom of Madura, Ist June, 1700

(P. 366) As soon as the Provincial had granted my
request, viz., of my engaging in the Mission of Madura, I
applied myself assiduously to the study of the Tamul or
Malabar language, that I might soon be enabled to enter upon
my Mission. The Fathers of that province having (have)

1 published in two volumes on the 20th of March, 1762, being transla-
tions from the Zellres ediffanles el curienses, forites des Missions
Flrangers, par les Missionaives de la Compapnie de Jesus, Some of
Eg:?“ :imlgm same as those contalped in Bertrand's La Mission du
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wisely ordered, that no person, except he be well skilled in
the language of the country, shall be permitted to teach the
Christinn religion in Madura. Was not this precoution
observed, we should soon be discovered, and all our designs
frustrated. I had not an opportunity, in Topo, of improving
in the language as expeditiously as I desired: and it is not
spoken with propriety enough on the sea consts, these heing
inhabited only by rude, ipnorant people. For this reason, the
Provincial was pleased to send me to Cotate (Kottaru?), where
I might have more leisure and a better opportunity of
learning the language, A circumstance that gave me the
greatest pleasure was my meeting there with Father Maynard
who has (P. 367) the care of that church. Being born in that
country, of French parents, he is perfectly well skilled in both
languages.

Cotate (K&ttaru ?) is a pretty large town, standing at the
foot of the mountains of Cape Comorin, whence it is distant
only about four leagues. This town, which is the boundary
of the kingdom of Travancor southward, is as much exposed,
as the rest of the country, to the incursions of the Badages,
wlo come almost every year from the kingdom of Maclura,
to plunder the territories of the king of Travancor, who is
one of the most inconsiderable princes in India, and tributacy

. to the king of Madura. DBut as he never pays this tribute

willingly, the Badages are sometimes forced to enter his
kingdom, sword in hand, in order to levy it. He yet might
easily secure himself from insults, and even render his
kingdom inaccessible on that side, as the Badages can scarce
come into it, except by a narrow pass between mountains.
Was this pass (P. 368) shut up by a strong wall, and a small
body of troops lodged there, it would be impossible for the
most powerful army to force it. This, would secure Cotate,
and the rest of the country, from being plundered almost
yearly ; otherwise it will be impossible for the king of
Travancor to make head agaihst so0 great a number of
enemies, whom he never overcame but once, and that by
their imprudence. This incident is singular encugh to merit
a place here.

38
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The Badages had wdvaneced as far s Covenlam, the capital
and chief fortress of Travancor ; and the king himself, Ly a
turn in polities, which perhaps is not to be parallelled, hwd
put the citadel of it into their hands, ‘This prince, being more
judicious and brave than the Indian prinees are commuonly
found, was grieved to see his kingdom (P. 364) possessed Ly
eipht ministers, who, from time immemorial, leaving the
prince the bare title of suvereipn, usurped the whele authority
and divided among themselves all the revenues of the crown,
To rid himself of these imperious subjects, who arc now
become his masters, he made a sccret treaty with the Budages,
by which he promised to deliver up to them pact of his
dominions, together with his fortress, upon condition, that
they should free him from his ministers, who kept him in a
dependent state. It would have been height of folly in him
thus to receive the enemy into the heart of his deminions,
and, by attempting to break cight small chains, to have loaded
his neck with one infinitely more weighty, had he not at the
same time so contrived matters, as to be able to drive the
Badages out of the kingdom, when they should have put him
in a condition to recover the regal power. The Badages made
their incursions as uvsuval, without meeting with almost the
least opposition, and advanced as far as his capital city;
where the monarch, with those forees which he had won over,
joined them, and gave them up the place. Immediately one
ot two of the usurping ministers were put to death, upon
which the rest either fled, or saved their lives by dint of
money. The prince also pretended to be seized with fear:
but, instead of hiding himself, he drew together his scattered
forces, and, on a sudden, besieged the fortress of Corenlam,
The Badages, who did not expect to be thus attacked, were
overpowered, on which oceasion a great number of them were
killed in the city ; and the rest fled in disorder towards their
own country. The monarch pursued them, when, the people
joining with him, a great slaughter was made of the barbarians
before they had time to recover themselves, so that very few
escaped to inform their countrymen of the news (P. 370).
The king of Travancor, after this victory, returned in
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triumph to his capital city, and took the reins of government
into his own hands. He was beginning to strike terror into
his enemies, when such of his former ministers, whose lives
he had spared, and left them wherewithal to live honourably,
engaged in a conspiracy, and cansed him to be assassinated
as he was one day coming out of his palace. However, this
valinnt prince made them pay dear for his life, he killing two
of the murderers, and wounding o third in a desperate manner ;
but at last he himself fell, his body being quite covered with
wounds, He was preatly regretted by all his subjects, and
especially by the Christians, whom he loved and favoured on
ail occasions. These ministers who had formed the conspiracy
against him, again seized on the government ; and‘to preserve
some image of the regal power, they placed a sister of the
king's on the throne, She is but the shadow of a Queen ; and,
to pive an idea of her authority, and the strength of the
kingdom, I shall present you with the following instance :(—
Some fishermen having taken a bufalo, which happened to
fall into the sea, resolved to sell it for their own profit; but
the Queen's officers seizing it, sent it to the Princess in ques-
tion as o considerable present. However, she did not keep it
long ; for, one of the governors having a faney for it, sent in
the most haughty manner to demand it. The Queen, being
greatly surprised at the minister’s incivility, was yet forced
to send him the buffalo, and to beg his pardon for presuming
to accept of it without his consent.

The tragedy described above was perpetrated about two
or three years before my arrival at Cotate (P. 371). This city,
one of the most considerable of this amall kingdom, is divided
among the ministers, so that the Queen has not the least
power there . . . I arrived at Cotate afew days before the festi-
val of St. Francis Xavier . . . soon after which I went back
to Topo (P. 372) ; I having promised to return to Cotate at
Christmas, in order to apply myself assiduously to the study
of the Malabar language. I made a great progress therein,
in a short time, by the assistance of Father Maynard, who
took surprising pains with me (P. 373). I now set out, by
order of the Provinecial, for Tala, on the Fishing-Coast. Inmy
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journey (P. 374) . . . I observed (at Comorin) a wvast stone
Pagod . . . (which) stands north and south, and directly
opposite to the mountaing, which separate the kingdoms of
Travancor and Madura, If a line were drawn through this
Pagod and those mountains which are but a league and a half
from it, there would be an exact division between these two
kingdoms. . . .

(P. 375) ... Formerly there were a great number of
towns on the Fishing-Coast (which) is famous all over the
world ; but ever since the power of the Portuguese huy been
weakened in India, and they have not been able to protect
this coast, the most considerable towns are abandoned.
There now remain but certain poor villages, the chief whercof
are Tala, Manapar, Alandaley, Pundicael, and some others,
But I must except Tutncurin, this being a city of above
fifty thouisand inhabitants, partly Christians, and the rest
idolaters,

When the Portuguese first came into India, the Paravas, or
inhabitants of the Fishing-Coast, groaned under the govern-
ment of the Moors, who had seized upon part of the kingdom
of Madura. In this extremity, their chief resolved to implore
the assistance of the Portuguese ; and to put himself, with his
whole caste, under their protection (P. 376). . . . The Paravas
promised to turn Christians. This treaty was no sooner
concluded, but the Portuguese drove the Moors out of the
whole country and settled themselves in varions places, It
was then the Christian religion flourished on the Fishing-
Coast, which was owing to the well-known labours of St
Francis Xavier. . . . DBy the liberty which the Paravas were
allowed under the Portuguese, to trade with their neighbours,
they became rich and powerful ; but ever since they failed of
the protection of the Portuguese (the Dutch drove the
Portuguese out of their settlements), they have been oppress-
ed and reduced to extreme poverty. Their greatest trade at
this time is in.the fish they catch, which they carry up into
the country, and exchange for rice and other necessary provi-
sions, of which that coast is wholly unprovided, it being
¢overed merely with a kind of brambles, with a dry burning
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sand. I see nothing else in the space of twelve leagues,
from Cape Comorin to Tala, except seven or eight vil-
lages, in ecach of which is a church subordinate to that of
Tala.,

. « » + These beasts (tigers) have made a surprising havoc
on the whole coast this year. Besides the (P. 377) cattle . . .
above seventy persons have disappeared . . . (P.378). After
having visited the several charches of my district, I returned,
in Easter-week, to Tala., . . ,

I now received a letter from the Provineinl, by which I was
ordered to prepare for the Mission of Madura, That moment
I set out for Topo where, [P. 379) after receiving the neces-
sary orders and instructions from my Superior, [ proceeded
in my jowrney to Madura, After crossing Cape Comorin
again, I came off Tutucurin. This city is very nearat an
equal distauce between Cape Comorin and the straits of
Ramanakoiel. . . .

(P. 380) Tutucurin appears a handsome town to those whe
arrive at it by sea. We observe several buildings which are
lofty enough, in the two islands that shelter it ; likewise a
small fortress built a few vears since by the Dutch, to secure
themselves from the insults of the idolaters, who come from
the inland countries ; and several spacious warehouses built
by the waterside, all of which look pretty enough. DBut the
instant the spectator is landed, all this beauty vanishes ; and
he perceives nothing but a large town, built mostly of hurdles
(Palhotes). The Dutch draw considerable revenues from
Tutucurin, though they are not absolute masters of it. The
whole Fishing-Coast belongs partly to the king of Madura,
and the rest to the prince of Marava, who, not long since,
shook off the yoke of the Maduran monarch, whose tributary
he was. The Dutch attempted, some years since, to purchase,
of the prince of Marava, his right to the Fishing-Coast, and
all the country dependent on it ; and, for this purpose, sent
him a splendid embassy with magnificent presents. The
prince thought fit to receive the presents, (P. 381) and
promised fine things, but has not yet been so good as his

word, ‘
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Though the Dutch are hot masters of the Coast, they yot
have often behaved in such a manmner as if it had been
entirely subject to them, Some years sinee they dispossessed
the poor Paravas of their churches, which they turned into
magarines, nnd lodped their factors in the houses of the
missionaries. The Pathers were then forced to withdraw into
the woods, and there build themselves huts, in order that they
might not abandon their flock, at a time when their presence
was SO necessary.

With respect to the trade carried on by the Dutch on this
coast, besides the linens brought to them from Madura, and
for which they barter the leather of Jupan, and the spicey
of the Moluceas, they pain considerable advantage hy two
fisheries carried on here, that of pearls agd that of the Xawvus
(chank or conch). The Xanxus is a vast shell, like to those
which the Tritons are represented sounding in scalpture and
painting. The Dutch are surprisingly jealous of this trade,
inzomuch that it would cost any Indian his life, who should
dare to sell one of them to any other persons but such as
belong to the Dutch East India Company. They purchase
them for a trifle, and send them to the kingdom of Bengnl,
where they are sold at a very high price. These shells are
sawed in proportion to their breadth. Being round and
hollow, they are wrought into bracelets, which have as bright
a polish as the finest ivory. Such of them as are fished, (and
that in prodigious quantities) on this coast, have their volutes
from right to left. If the idolaters were to take one whose
volutes are from left to right, they would consider it as o
treasure worth millions ; they imagining that one of their
Gods was forced to hide himself, when his enemies pursued
him furiously by sea, in a Xanxus of this latter kind.

(P. 382) The Dutch East India Company make a second
advantage by the pearl-fishery. They don't undertake the
fishing on their own account, but permit every inhabitant of
the country, whether Christinn, Heathen, or Muhammadan, to
keep as many fishing-boats us he pleases, upon condition that
every boat pay the Dutch sixty crowns, and sometimes more,
This duty rises to a considerable sum, six or seven hundred
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sometimes going upon this fishery. But all persons are not
allowed to go whithersoever they please ; but certain places
are allotted the sovernl boats. Formerly the Dutch used to
appoint, as early as the month of January, the time and place
where the fishing was to be carried on that year, without first
making any trial; but as it was often found, that either the
season of the year, or the place, was not favourable, and
consequently that few oysters were taken, whence great loss
acerued, as the several materials for carrving on the Ashing
cost considerable sums, that method was changed, and the
following is observed. . .. When the trial has been
successful, and the company bave given out that there
will be fishing that season, the whole coast iz crowded,
at the tme appointed, (P. 383) with a numberless multitude
of people and boats, in which goods of every kind are
brought. The Dutch Commissioners come from Colombo,
capital of the island of Ceylon, to preside over the fishing.
The day it is to begin, a large cannon is fired very early in the
morning, That instant all the boats set out, and make for the
sea, preceded by two Duteh vessels, which cast anchor on the
vight and Ieft, (P. 384) and then point out the limits allowed
for the fAshing.

(P. 386). . . . The Dutch reserve to themselves the right
of purchasing, if they think proper, the largest; but if the
owner will not sell them for the price they offer, he is
- permitted to vend them to whomsoever he pleases. All the
pearls which are fished the first day belong either to the king
of Madura, or the prince of Marava, according to the road
where the fishing is then carried on. The Dutch are not
allowed the profits of the second day's fishing . .. all
those who pay ready money buying everything here exceed-
ingly cheap.

. . . . Great many frands and thefts (are) committed in the
fishery in guestion. . . . This coast is very sickly during
the whnole time of the pearlfishery. . . .

(P. 387) The fishery carried on this year, at Tutucurin,
has been wvery unsuccessful. . . . As this happened but
two months before my arrival at Tutueurin, it was all the
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town-talk : and many persons are not yet recovered from
their surprise on account of so unexpected a disappointiment,

. .« . . Ag the whole country was then up in arms, shonld
any of our people sct out, they wvery possibly might he
robbed or mnrdered. . . . The natives hwd just before
seized upon Father Bernard de Saa, because of his having
converted a man belonging to one of their chiefl castes ; they
had dragged him (P. 388) before the magistrates ; beat out some
of his teeth, and grievously scourged his catechists. . . .
The people in general were animated against the Christinns.
.. .8t I set out immediately from Tutwcurin, ., , I
put off the habit usually worn by Jesuits, and assumed that
of the missionaries of Madura. . . . We unexpectedly found
ourselves almost at the foot of the fortress. . .. By a
stratagem (P. 389) we escaped this danger . . . and arrived
a little before day at Camien-naken-patti, where Father de San
waited the more impatiently for me, as news had been brouglht
the day before, that a considerable robbery had been com.
mitted upon that road through which I was to travel,

(3) Lelter of Father Peler Martin lo Falher Le Gobien,
Aoor, fr the Bingdom of Madura, December 11, 1700 *

(P. 452). . . . After residing near a month in Camien-
naken-patti, because of the commotions which at that time
infested the kingdom, whereby the roads were rendered
unpassable, 1 set out from thence for Aoor, the principal
house of the Mission of Madura.

Father Bouchet, who has the direction of that house, and to
whom I am partly obliged for the favour indulged me by the
Portuguese Jesuits, (I mean my being allowed to join their
Mission) hearing that I was arrived on the frontiers of Madura,
but at the same time was prevented from proceeding farther,
because the soldiers infested the roads, sent a zealous
Christian, who was perfectly well acquainted with the ways,
to meet me. Accordingly I set out with this guide, who
immediately led me out of the high road, into the country of
the Caste of Thieves, so called, because the several individuals
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of it were formerly professed robbers. Though most of the
people in question are turned Christians, and detest everything
that has the least tendency to theft, they yet retain their former
appellation ; and travellers are afraid of passing through
their forests. The first missionaries of Madura were so happy
as to gain the esteem of that caste ; so that, at this time, there
is scarce any place (P, 453) in the kingdom, where we are
better received, or live in greater security, than in their woods.
Should any one among them, even of such as have not
abandoned idolatry, be so rash as to pilfer even the least
trifie from a Doctor of the Law of the true God, he would be
punished for it in an exemplary manner. However, as
natural disposition and inveterate habits are not easily rooted
out, the Fathers oblige such as offer to become converts, to
undergo a strict probation ; but these, when once they are
turned Christians, so far from robbing, or doing the least
injury to any person, dissuade, to the utmost of their power,
their countrymen from that and every other kind of villainy.

This Caste of Thieves are become so powerful within these
few vears, that they have made themselves independent, in
some measure, of the king of Madura, and by that means
pay him what tribute they please. MNot above two years
since, the caste in question, joining with a prince who pretend-
ed a right to that crown, besieged the city of Madura,
formerly the capital of this kingdom, and taking it, kept it in
their possession ; however, they did not enjoy it long, they
being less able to defend a city in form, than to make sudden
attack., The moment the Talavai, by which name the prince,
who now governs the kingdom under the Queen, is called,
received news of the seizing of this important place, he
assembled his force ; set out upon his march ; arrived in the
night before the city ; broke open one of its gates by the
assistance of three or four elephants ; and entered it, with
part of his forces, before the enemy had time to fortify them-
selves, or even to draw together. Many of the Thietes were
killed in the onset, and a much greater number taken
' prisoners., However, the. rebellious prince had the good
fortune to escape, and to retire into the woods (P. 454)

39
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belonging to his castle, which, since that time, has been much
more obedient to the government.

It was through the milst of these woods that | passed
without the least danger, and travelled to Ariepaty, one of
their chief towns. We formerly had a chareh in it but the
edifice hag been since ruined, together with the fortress, which
the prinee of Mmwlura demolished, after moking himself
master of it, . . . ’

(P. 455) I now set out again, and arrived . . . at « little
village, situated between two mountains, and famous for the
robberies committed in it. . . . A worthy man led me to the
finest and largest Pagod (P. 456) I ever saw in this kingdom,
It is almost fourscore foot long, and forty-eight broad ; but
its ceiling (P. 457) is not high enough, a fault we see in all the

Jtemples of India. It is supported by various pillars, carved

in a good taste enoogh, and all of one stone. The portico,
or entrance into the temple, which extends the whole breadth
of it, i3 supported in like manner by eight stone columns,
carved, The bases and capitals of these columns are in a dif-
ferent taste from ours, but it is no ways barbarous, and would
please in Europe. There is not one window in this temple,
which is built of fine free-stone. . . .

.+ . the war which infested the country had obliged all
the inhabitants to fly from it .. . . (P. 458) I, having been
assured that the army would march in a few days through
this city. . . .

(P. 459) 1 arrived in two days journey from thence, at
Serrhine, the usnal residence of one of our missionaries, but did
not find him there. . . . I had the consolation to meet Father
Bouchet. . . . Though I had seen this illustrious missionary
before in Pondicherry, I now embraced him with fresh
testimonies of tenderness and respect, for his having been
go instrumental in getting me received into that Mission. As
he had been persecuted not above three months before, and
was not quite recovered of a fit of sickness, with which he was
afterwards afflicted, he looked very pale and weak. Here
follows the cceasion of his being persecuted,

.Three catechists, forgetting their duty and the sacred



John Loekman, Travels of the Jesuits 307

character of the ministry with which they were invested, were
guilty of such dissolute practices, that it was judged necessary
to divest them of their employments. These wretches,

instead of profiting by the sage admonitions which were given
them and reforming their lives, threw off the mask, turned
apostates, and resolved to roin both the missionaries and the

Mission. To succeed In their detestable design, they brought

three accusations apaingt the Gospel-preachers. First, that
they were Pranguis, or Boropeans, an infamouns set of
people, who consequently must be hated by the whole

nation. Secondly, that though they had been long settled in

the kingdom, and had the direction and government of a

great number of churches, they had never paid the least thing

to the king (P. 460). Thirdly, that our missionaries assassi-

nated a Friar of another order, which (they declared) had made

them so odious to the Pope, that he had refused to canonize
Father John de Brito, who fell a martyr to the faith in Marava.

Though this was a shocking and ridiculous calumny, (the

Friar whom they pretended had been assassinated being then

at Surat, in his return from Rome, where His Holiness had
made him a bishop) it nevertheless was greatly to be feared,

as the wretched apostates in question offered to give the

prince twenty thousand crowns, provided he would extirpate
the Christians, that they at least would prevail to get all the

Gospel labourers banished the kingdom, especially Father

Bouchet, against whom they had a particular spite. '

This zealous missionary had first recourse to God, to
implore His protection ; and then, in order to prevent these
pernicious designs from taking effect, he resolved to go and
salute the Prince-Regent, and implore his protection. This
was so bold a step, that no missionary had ever presumed to
take it, lest the colour of his face should betray and discover
him to be an European, the Prince above-mentioned detest-
ing the Pranguis to such a degree, that, notwithstanding his
being engaged in a dangerous war, he vet had dismissed
from his service, not long before, some very skilful gunners
(whose assistance, one would have concluded, he absolutely
wanted), the moment he heard they were Europeans,
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But Father Bouchet, putting his whole confidence in the
Almighty, prepared his presents, went to the city, amd
proceeded to the palace, where he desired an audience of the
prince, who, as was observed, governs under the Cucen.
(This princess’ name is Mangamal. She had, by King
Chocanada-naiken, her husband, a son, named Renga Muttu
Vira Krishnappanaiken, a very promising prince, who died of
the small-pox, leaving his Quecn wilh child of a son, who
is now king of Madura, under the guardinnship of his
grandmother.) This princess, (P. 461 ) Guardian of the Realn,
educates very carefully her grandson, o prince about
fourteen or fifteen years of age, to whom the kingdom
belongs, she, at the same time, entrusting the Talavad, or
Prince-Regent, entively with the administration, of which he
is absolute master. The Regent's conduct is so very sagaci-
ous and equitable, that he is thought to be the greatest
minister that ever governed Madura.

But how disinterested soever this prince might be, yet
Father Bouchet imagined it would be improper to appear
before him, without observing the ceremonial of the country,
that is, without making some presents. Those prepared by
the migsionary were of no great value, but then they were of
a new kind, and all he could bestow. He had brought with
him a terrestrial globe, about two-foot diameter, on which
the names of the several kingdoms, provinces, coasts, and
geas, were writ in the Tamul language ; another globe, of
glass, about nine inches diameter, cut within like looking-
glasses ; some multiplying and burning glasses; several
Chinese curiosities sent him from Coromandel; many
bracelets, of jet, adorned with silver; a cock made with
shells, very neatly and skilfully wrought: to conclude,
several common looking-glasses, and such curiosities which
they had either purchpsed or rec(eived as presents. The
Father also concluded, that it would be necessary to obtain
the favour of some courtiers, in order that they might speak
in his behalf, and procure him a favourable audience: it
being of the utmost importance (P, 462), both for the
honour of religion, and the good of the church of Madura,
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that the Doctors of the Holy Law should be received with
distinetion the first time they appeared at court; a circom-
stance which would enforce the authority of their ministry
in the minds of the common people, who obey implicitly the
will and inclinations of their sovereign,

The Father having thus taken all the prudent measures
he judped necessary, in order to succeed in his design,
reposed the ntmost confidence in God. . . . He was not
mistaken, the Talavai, or Prince-Regent, receiving him with
greater honour and distinetion than he could possibly have
expected. The prince not only rose up the moment the
Father appeared, but saluted him in the same manner as
disciples here salute their masters, and the common people
their lords ; which is performed, by joining both hands, and
then raising them to the forehead. Father Bouchet, to
maintain his character, and return this favourable reception,
saluted the prince ns masters do their disciples, by opening
his hands and stretching them towards the prince, by way of
receiving him., The Regent then caused the missionary to
sit down by him, on a kind of sofa, with this mark of
distinction, that the sofa being too narrow for two persons to
be seated conveniently upon it, the prince strained himself,
made the Father sit by him, and even laid his knees on those
of the Father,

(P. 463) A man must be as well acquainted, as we
are, with the customs of this country; and the natural
detestation which the natives of it, especially the Bramins,
bear to the BEuropeans, to have a perfect idea of the very
honourable reception which the Father met with on this
occasion. The Father himself was astonished at it, as
likewise the whole court, which was wvastly numerous, there
being, that day, upwards of five hundred persons, the greatest
part of whom were Sramins. The Father being thus seated,
made his compliments. He then declared that he was come
from the north, and from the mighty city of Rome, to
instruct the inhabitants of this kingdom in the Supreme Being
and in His Holy Law. That having been for several years
a witness of his heroic actions, and the many victories he
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had gained over his enemies, he therefore was extremely
desirous of seeing so great a prince, and imploring his
protection in favour of his ministry. That as one of the
principal Articles of the Law inculeated by him, obliged
subjects to pay the strictest obedience to their sovercign, and
to. be inviclably attached to them, be might be assured of his
fidelity, a duty which he did not fail to recommend carnestly
to all his disciples.

The prince replied that the God he worshipped must be
very powerful, and deserve the highest honours, (P, 464) since
it had prompted so worthy o person to undertake so long o
voyage, solely in the view of making him known Lo a people,
who had never heard of his name., That his (the missionary's)
thin pale cheeks plainly proved him to lead a very mortified
life ; and that the presents he brought with him plainly
showed that necessity had not forced him to quit his native
country. That he had already heard the most advantageous
particulars concerning his learning and good scnse.
That as (P. 465) the multiplicity of his affairs would not
give him leisure to understand, in the manner he could
wish, the explication of the figures drawn so artfully
on the globe he had brought; he therefore had sent for
the most famous astrologer in the kingdom to discourse
with him upon it, in order that he might learn the uses of this
wonderful machine. That perceiving, among his presents,
some things which could not fail of pleasing the Queen, he
therefore would leave him a moment, and go and present
them to Her Majesty with his own hand, The prince then
rose up, and ordered some of the courtiers to take the Father
into the garden, and keep him company till his return.

The Queen, being delighted with the novelty of the
presents, received them with great testimonies of joy, and
commended them highly. Above all she admired the glass
globe, the bracelets, and the cock wrought in shells, insomuch
that she could scarce take her eyes from them. She there-
fore desired the Regent to thank the foreign Doctor, in her
name ; to pay him every kind of honour, and to comply with
all his requests, .
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As Father Douchet had vanished from Court, as it were,
and been led into the gavden, a report prevailed, in the palace
and the vity, that he was seized and thrown into prison. This
news . . . threw the Christinns into the utmost conster-
nation. . . . However, their sorrow was soon chanped into
joy ; for, the prince, at his return from the Queen’s appartment,
received the Father, in preference of the whole Court, with
the like honours as are paid to ambassadors, that is, he put on
his head, in form of veil, a piece of gold brocade, about eight
foot long, and shed over him some sweet smelling waters ;
(P. 466) after which he declared, that he was expressly
ordered by the Queen to grant him everything he desired.

Hacd the Father then thought proper to insinunate a word or
two concerning the catechist apostates, who, for so many
months, had oceasioned such disturbances, and given so much
gseandal to his church, the prince would certainly have
punished them severely, and perhaps banished them the
kingdom ; but the missionary, animated with the spirit of his
Lord and Master, and calling to mind that he was a Father,
would not destroy lhis children, though they had been so
ungrateful and treacherous with regard to Christ and His
church. He therefore contented himself with preventing, by
his visitation, their doing any farther prejudice to the church,
or from imposing upon the people by calumnies and horrid
accusations. For this reason, after assuring the prince that
he retained the deepest sense of his favours, he again begged
his protection for himself and his disciples, assuring him,
that they, in return for all his goodness, would daily implore the
Lord of Heaven and Earth, whom they worshipped, to shower
down His choicest blessings upon him, and give him the
victory over his enemies. The prince promised not to forget
him ; when after saluting him in the same manner as at first,
he withdrew, commanding his officers to let the Father be
carried through every part of the city, in the finest court-
palanquin, to show the world that he honoured this foreign
Doctor, and indulged him his protection.

The modesty of Father Bouchet was puf to a great trial on
this ocoasion, He debited within himself .(P. 467) whether
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it was not incumbent on him to refuse the public honour now
offered him : but after pouring forth his heart before the Lord,
he imagined it was necessary for IHis glory, and the hononr of
the Cliristian relipion, that all the inhabitants of that capital
should plainly see, that the prince esteemed the religion he
taught; and that it would find o protector in him, when
wanted, He therefore got into the palanguin ; and permitted
the Indians to carry him through every part of the city, with
music playing before him. This pomp svon drew numberless
multitudes of people into the streets, thromgh which he
passed, they all saiuting him in the most respectful manner.
The Christians, who till now were afraid that their religion
would be despised and censured by the prince, crowded
after the missionary with acclamations and the highest
demonstrations of joy, publishing aloud that they (P. 468)
were Christians and disciples of the foreign Doctor. The
success of this kind of triumph strengthened the neophytes
in their faith, and prompted a great number of idolaters to
beg to be baptized. Not satislied with carrying Father
Bouchet through the whole city of Trichirapalli; they like-
wise conveyed him in this manner to the place of his abode,
which is about four leagues from the capital. . . .

« + » The three apostates still continued obstinate ;
insomuch that the Father was forced to read publicly the
sentence of excommunication. . ., . This was the frst instance
of such a kind of severity practised in those countries. . . .
(P. 469) . . . Unable to bear these taunts (of the people)
any longer, after continuing six months in a state of rebellion,
two of them came and threw themselves at the Father's feet
... and were again admitted into the number of the
Faithful. As for the third, he persevered in his apostacy . . .

Though this affair ended happily, yet the fatigues Father
Bouchet had undergone on this occasion threw him into a fit
of sickness, from which he was not well recovered, when I
found him in Serrhine. We stayed there but one day, and the
next went to Aoor, which is but a short day's journey from
thence. When Father Bouchet first came into the Mission of
Madura, about twelve years ago, the missionaries were under
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such fears, that they never entered the villages except at night ;
but . . . things are much altered for the better since that
time. IPor we not only went into Acor in open day : but the
Chiristions of the neighbouring towns assembling together,
received us with music and acclomations, a circumstance
which drew tears of joy from my eyes. . . .

(P. 470) . . . Avor iy certainly the! most considerable
Mission now in Madura, not only on account of its neighbour-
huod to the capital of the kingdom, but also because there are
twenty-nine churches dependent onit, in which are computed
upwards of thirty thousand Christians. . . . Now there are
four churches for the higher castes. . . . Though these . . .
are built only of earth, and covered with straw, they yet are
neat and fingly embellished, and adorned within, But we
earnestly wish to have one church (at least) of stone (P. 471)
which may be equal to, or if possible surpass, the idel temples ;
but this can never happen except it please God to prompt
some generous person in Burope to furnish us with monies
for that purpose. Such a building would contribute greatly
tu the advancement of our religion, if we may form a judg-
ment of this matter from the success we met with in Aoor,

At TPather Bouchet's arrival there, it was o poor little

village . . . it is now become one of the most considerable
towns in the kingdom. . . .
(P. 473) . . . We have frequent alarms, and are daily

exposed to new persecutions. Since the little time that I have
lived in Aocor, we were thrice going to fly, and live inthe
woods whither our most valuable things, that is, the church
ornaments and our books, had been carried before.

(P. 475) . . . Correspondence, by way of letter, this being
rare, and very difficult to be carried on, for fear we should
discover ourselves to the Europeans, or raise some suspicion
in the natives, were they to know that we have any concerns
with the Portuguese, and other Europeans of the Coast ; and,
by that means, cause us to be persecuted, as has happened
more than once.

Chirangam is an island formed by the river Caveri, opposite
to the city of Tricherapali, capital of the kingdom. It is one

40
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of the most famous places in all India. Init stands a temple
surrounded with seven walls, and it is considered as the most
holy temple in these parts. . . . It is but a few years since
the Christian religion begun L0 take root in this island, wnd
that Father Bouchet huilt o little chureh in it. . .« The
priests of the neighbouring temple have frequently endei-
voured to burn this little edifice. . . .

About a year and & half ugo, Father Simon Carvalho had
the grief to see a fine church, uilt by him & little before,
demolished. It stood between the city of Tanjavur, and a
famous idol temple . . . (P. 476). In pulling down the church
in question they were protected by a minister uf state, whom
they had bribed.

Some time after, Father Bouchet, who was in Tricherapali,
gent to invite me to go and spend some days with hin. A
few years since, it was extremely difficult for the Fathers to
get into that great city, and they were under perpetual
apprehensions all the time they continued therc ; but ever
gince the prince hag indulged Father Bouchet his protection,
as was before observed, we go thither publicly in the day-time ;
ever since which the guards who are posted ot the gates, so
far from molesting us, salute us very respectfully. I proceed-
ed forward towards Father Bouchet's, and by that means had
an opportunity of seeing & great part of the city, which
appeared vastly populous, but ill-built, most of the houses
being of earth, and covered with straw. It is not but there
are persons rich enough, to raise strong handsome houses ;
but either covetousness, or the fears they are under of being
thought rich, will not permit them to build these in a neater
or more commodious manner. 1 found Father Bouchet in
perfect health, and had the consclation to find a great number
of zealous and fervent Christians with him.

(P. 477.) At one of the extremities of Tricherapali, stands a
“church which Father Bouchet built on the ruins of a Pagod.
The spot on which it is raised had formerly been given to
the chief missionaries o. Madura ; but a war breaking out, as
frequently happens in these countries, the Fathers were
obliged to leave the city, and fly and conceal themselyes in
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the woods. During their absence, an idolater seized upon
the ground, and built a small temple upon it, which he filled
with Pagods of all sizes. Tt i% not many years since Father
Bouchet was restored to the possession of that spot, on which
oceasion he obliged the priest of the idols to guit i, It was
o spectacle very glorious to our religion, and the same time
worthy of compassion, to sce the needless pains, which the
poor idol-priest in question took, whilst he was removing his
gods. The Christinns were urgent with him to quit the
place ; and, to make the greater despatch, they themselves
took the idols, and set them upon the ground with no great
ceremony. By this means several were broken, on which
oceasion he himself would gather up the scattered fragments ;
weeping at the same time bitterly, hut not daring to complain,
since he only was foreed out of a place which did not belong
to, and had been usiirped by, him. The temple was pulled
down, and on its ruins a church was built (P. 478) with a little
house, which is the residence of the missionaries.

Vorume 1I

(4) Letter of Falker Martin to Father De Villette, Aoor, 1701

(P. 282). . . . The evening before Ash Wednesday, I set
out from Cormandel to go to my destined Mission. About
midnight my disciples and I got to the bank of a river which
we were to cross over ; the night being exceedingly dark, we
wandered into a part of the river, which was so very deep that
we were up to the chin in water. . . .

Such missionaries as travel from the coasts inhabited by
the Buropeans are obliged to set out in night to prevent their
being seen by the Heathens, who would reproach them with
being Prangais or BEuropeans; a circumstance which would
make us contemptible in their eyes, and raise in them an
insurmountable aversion to our religion.

After travelling some time, I spent the remainder of the
night in a ruined house, standing at the entrance of a village.
The cold which seized me, as I crossed the river, threw me
jnto a fever, which very much alarmed the Christians, my
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companions. 1 wanted a little fire to be lighted ; but we did
not dare to make any, for fear of drawing the Heathens to
our hut, as they thereby would have discovered me to he an
Buropean. For this reason, [ sel out again two hours before
day and travelled a considerable way, which fatigued me
prodigionsly.

(P. 283). . . . About evening four or five persons appeared
at our rvight and were advancing towards us as fast s
possible.  As this whole country is infested with thicves, we
thought of nothing but an attack; Dbut our fears were Soon
removed, the people being Christianns, who were making the
utmost haste, only to beseech me to prepare for death a
Christian woman who was expiring. . . . It would have been
dangerous to enter the village, as the greatest part of its
inhabitants were idolaters and enemies to the Christian
name. . . . Preparing her for death, I conlinued my junrney
towards Coottour,

I arrived thither about noon, and found a Tortuguese
Jesnit, Father Bertholdi, who Iaboors in that Mission with a
zeal much superior to his natural strength. . . . (P. 284).
This is a danger (cobras—Nulle Pambe) we were often
exposed to, in the Mission of Madura,

(P. 285) [ stayed but half a day in Cootlour, and set out
from thence next day. [ passed through the settlement,
where two months before, in my journey to Pondicheri, I had
baptized two children and a grown person who was dying.
Four or five of the most fervent converts in this settlement
accompanied me to another (colony) called Kokeri in its
neighbourhood.

As I was extremely desirous of arriving with all the
diligence possible at Coonampaty, the seat of my new
Mission, I left PFather Dias much sooner than I would
willingly have done. [ made such haste that I arrived
pretty early next day on the banks of the Coloran which, at
certain seasons of the year, is one of the largest and most
rapid rivers that can be seen ; but at others, sinks to almost a
brook. When I ecrossed it, the only discourse was on the
famous victory the Talavai (the Pringe or Governor-General
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of Trichinopoly) had gained just before over the king of
Tanjeour's forces, and which had like to have proved the
disgrace of that prince's first minister, one of the most cruel
persecutors of our holy rvelipion. The following particulars
were told me on that occasion. The expedients which this
minister employed, in order to save himself, will inform youn
of his character, and what we may justly fear from so artful
an enemy.

(P. 286) The Talavai was encamped on the north shore of
the river to secure his kingdom from the army of Tanjaour,
which made dreadful havoe in every part of the country; but
all his efforts could not check the incursions of an enemy
whose cavalry was much more numerous than his. He there-
fore imagined that the safest course would be to make a
diversion ; wherecupon he resolved to cross the river, whose
watery were very much fallen, and carried terror even to the
kingdom of Tanjanour, This he did so secretly that the enemies
did not know of his crossing till they saw his troops spread
on the other side of the river, and going to pierce into the
heart of the kingdom, which was defenceless., This
unexpected crossing guite disconcerted the army of Tanjaour,
whose only refuge was to cross the river also, to defend
their country. This they resolved, but unbappily made an
ill-choice of the ford; not to mention that the rains, which
were lately fallen on the mounntaing of Malabar, where the
source of that river lies, had swelled it to such a degree at
the time that the army of Tanjaocur was attempting to cross,
that several, both horse and foot, were carried away by the
stream. ‘The Talavai observing the disorder they were in,
fell upon them and easily broke them. This was not 8o much
a battle as a flight, and the whole army of Tanjacur was
routed. After this complete victory, the greatest part of the
kingdom of Tanjaour was laid waste.

The king, exasperated at his being overcome by a nation,
who were accustomed to submit, very mmuch sugpected his
Prime Minister Balogi, or as others term him Vagogi-
Pandiden, either of negligence or treachery. The grandees,
who hated him, had vowed his destruction; and declared
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that the ill-success of this war was entirely owing to him.
But Balogi, fearless of the machinations which were (P. 287)
carrying on against him, waited secretly upon the king. My
liege,' says he, with an undaunted tone of voice, * I will
voluntarily surrender myself in order to have my head
chopped off, if in a week I don’t conelude a peace with your
enemy.’ (Li#f.—'T mysell will bring my head upon a
seaffold'). The time he desired was very short and the king
indulged it.

Immediately this subtle minister sent his secretaries to
the principal traders of the city and places adjucent, com-
manding every one of them to lend him a considerable sum of
money, upon pain of forfeiting all their possessions, Ie
drew whatever sums he could from his relations and friends ;
and even took a large sum of money which ought to have
been put into the king's treasury. FPinally, in less than four
days, he amassed near 500,000 crowns, which he instantly
employed in order to win over the Queen of Ticherapaly ; to
bribe most of the members of her council ; and, above all,
to gain the Talavai's father, a man who loved money in-
ordinately, He managed matters so dexterously that, before
the week was expired, a peace was concluded (even without
the privity of the Talavai) in Ticherapaly with the king of
Tanjaour. Thus the vanquished prince gave law to the
victor, and the minister regained his monarch's favour, by
which means his power became more absolute than ever,
The only use he afterwards made of it was to ruin most of
the grandees, and make the Christians suffer a cruel
persecution,

«+ . 1 at last arrived, after a variety of {fatipues, at
Coonampaty, formerly one of the most flourishing churches
of the Mission, but now almost ruined by (P. 288) the
different contests and perpetual wars of the lords who
inhabit these forests. This church, for three years, has been
superintended by Father Carvalho, who, notwithstanding his
ill-health, reaps an extraordinary harvest,

The little rain which fell the year before, the violent heat
felt in March, and the multitude of Christians who come to
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Coonampaty had drained o great part of the pond which is
the only place where these people can be furnished with
waler.  IPor this reason I resolved to go to Blacoorrichy, but
was prevented by a persceution then raised ogainst the
Christians of Cottoor, . . .

The persecution which hroke out against the Christinns of
Cottoor detained me in Coonampaty, . . .

(I 289). . . But now the reservoir of Coonampaty being
entirely drained, I resolved to retire to Elacoorrichy ; but
thought to travel first to Acur in order to (P. 200) confer
with the missionaries, on certain particulars which gave me
gome uneasiness, . .

(P. 293) I set out [rom thence for Elacoorrichy. In this
journey the first settlement I came to in this country is
Nandavanapaty, where formerly was a very beautiful church,
and a flourishing colony of Christinns, The church was
destroyed during the war, but not all the Christians, ., . .

After travelling some days in the forests, I arrived at the
banks of the Coloran which I crossed with no great difficulty.
I afterwards travelled by the riverside and came to n smal]
wood . . . (P. 294). I travelled forward still along the
banks of the Coloran, and amrrived about noon at Elacoorrichy,

The very evening of my arrival, a messenger brought
word from Coottoor (in French Couttour) that Father
Bertholdi was very ill there of a violent detluxion which was
fallen on his eyes and ears, occasioned by the hardships he
had suffered during a month's imprisonment. I set out
instantly to give him all the assistance in my power. It was
a very beautiful moonlight night; but we were obliged to
travel continually through woods; and my gnides mistook
the way so often that I did not reach Coottoor before
morning. . . . (P. 295). . . . I came very seasonably to his
aid, . . . In three days’ time he was quite freed from
all his pains. As he no longer wanted my assistance, [
resolved to return to Elacoorrichy where my presence wag
NeCessary. « « «

1 passed through several villages, of which these forests
are full, but had the grief to find that the name of the Lord
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was quite unknown in them, for want of catechists. . . .
(P. 206) there are fourteen in my district, whereas Lifty would
not be sufficient.

(P. 287) There was scarce one Christian Chootre (Shontre)
or honourable family in Blacoorrichy, nor in any of the
adjacent (P. 208) scttlements, which consisted almost wholly of
Parvias. . . . No ecircomstance contributes more to defeat
our endeavours with regard to the higgher castes than the idens
of Parianism annexed by them to our holy religion. The
harvest was abundant in another settlement about a league
westward from Elacoorrichy.

The Nababe (The General and Governor of a Provinee) of
Carnata, which had been conguered by the Great Mogul,
resolved to extort, by vicolent methocds, the tribute which the
Chilianelean refused to pay. Immediately a rumour prevailed
that the Mogul’s forces were already entered into the terri-
tories of the prince of Arieloor, brother to the prinee of
Elacoorrichy., Our Christians were seized with a panic and
dispersed in an instant. . . . {P. 299) . . . . Some even with-
out saying a word to me were taking down the chureh orna-
ments and carrying them to the most solitary pact of the
forest . . ., all fiying from the settlement with the utmost
speed, . . . The very next day I sentto inform all those
Christians who had fled across the Coloran that there was no
manner of danger, upon which they all focked to my church.

I was still in Elacoorrichy, about the middle of May, the
season when the winds begin to blow exceedingly hard,
They then are violent and raise such thick clouds of dust as
‘darken the sun, and sometimes hide it from us four or five
days. . . . At this time it is scarce possible for any one to
go westward (P. 300) whence the storm comes. . . .

These high winds are the forerunners of the abundant
rains which [all on the Western Coast of India, and on the
mountaing of Malabar; and they give rise to the Coloran
which flows throughout the kingdoms of Maissoor, Madura,
Tanjaour and Choren-Mandalam, and gives them fertility.
The Indians expect these rains as impatiently as the
Egyptians did the inundation of the Nile,
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It was thought the river would rise that year hefore
the ordinary season, because the winds had begun to
blow much earlier than the preceding years. My design
was o set out from Elacvorrichy the instunt the waters
should appear in the river, in order to travel southward
inte o provinee where neither missionary nor eatechist were
ever seen. Huot it was to no purpose the winds blew, the
viver continuing still dry so that the inhabitants dreaded a
greneral famine.

Nevertheless, the rains had fallen in the usual season :
and the waters which rush from the mountains would have
entered the Coloran sooner than ordinary, had not the king
of Maissoor stopped their course by a prodigious mole he
raised and which extended the whole breadth of the canal.
His design was to turn off the waters by the bank in order
that these flowing into the canals dug by him might refresh
his dowinions, But while he thus resolved to make his own
lands Eruitful and thereby increase his revenues, he was going
to ruin the two neighbouring kingdoms, those of Madura and
Tanjaour. The waters would not have begun to rise there
before the end of July, and the canal would have been dry by
the middle of September.

(P. 301} The two princes, zealous for the welfare of their
respective kingdoms, were exasperated at this attempt ; upon
which they united against the common enemy in order to
oblige him, by force of arms, to desttoy a mole which did
them such vasi prejudice. They were making great prepara-
tions for this purpose when the river Coloran revenged (as
-was the phrase here) the affront which had been put upon its
waters, by captivating them in the manner the prince in
question had done. During the time the rains descended but
amoderately on the mountains, the mole stood, and the waters
flowed gently into the canals dug for that purpose; but the
instant they fell abundantly, the river swelled to such a degree
that it broke the mole and dragged it impetnously along. In
this manner the prince of Maissoor, after putting himself to a
great expense, was frustrated, in an instant, of the immense
riches which he had hoped to gain,

41
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It was not long before the channel was full, which gave the
inhabitants the greater joy as they expected an absolute
famine. . . .

The Coloran being still fordable, I crossed it with
all the diligence possible to get to Counampaly il
there wait for a favourable opportunity of travelling Lo
Tanjour. The Christian faith is crinelly persceuted in this
kingdom. . . .

(5) Letter of Falher Martin to Father [ Vitlette,
Marava, in the Mission of Madura, 8th November 1709,

(P. 408) It is now going of ten years that I have been
endeavouring to plant the Christian religion in Madura. The
harvest has been exceedingly abundant this year, and my
sufferings greater ; and indeed, the sipil is very fruitiul in
such. Marava is a great kingdom, tributary to that of Madura,
However, the monarch who governs it is only nominally so
his troops being sufficient to make head against those of the
king of Madura, should the latter pretend to ¢laim the tribute
by force of arms. The king of Marava reigns with absolute
sway, and several princes are subject to him, all whom he
dispossesses of their dominions at pleasure.

The king of Marava is the only prince among all those
reigning in the wide-extended Mission of Madurn, who has

"ghed the blood of the missionaries. Famine and diseases
have made dreadful havoc in this country, a circumstance
which very much increased my toils; the number of the sick
and dying being so great that I had scarce a moment's rest.

Nothing is more common than robberies and murders
especially in the distriet . . . .

(P. 409) I set out next day for another place where my
presence was Mmore necessary. Immediately after my arrival,
my hut and the little church were surrounded by fifteen
thieves . . . .

I conld stay with them but two days, being wanted in a

. conntry at a considerable distance from that in question, a
great number of whose inhabitants were sick, . . ,
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(P. 410) T therefore set out with the design of advancing
still farther into the Country of the Robbers; for so the
guarter is called which I am now visiting, . . . .

« + o It 14 certain these Indians observe the law of retalia-
tion very strictly. If there happens to Le a quarrel, and one
of the parties pulls his own eye out, or is guilty of suicide,
the other party must inflict the like punishment upon himself,
or on some of his relations . . . .

(P. 411) This cruelty extends to their own children.

(P. 413) . . . These robbers are absolute masters of this
whole country, and pay no kind of tribute or tax to the prince.
They come out of their forests every night, being about five
or six hundred in number, and then go and plunder the
habitations or villages subject to him, His endeavours to
check them have hitherto proved ineffectual. About five
or six vears since, he marched out all his troops to oppose
them, and advanced as far as their forests: when making a
great havoc of these rebels he built a fortress, in which he
left a strong gartison to curb them. However, they soon
shook off his yoke; for, assembling together about a year
after the expedition in question, they took the fortress by
surprise, razed it, put all the garrison to the sword, and
possessed themselves of the whole country.

From that time they have been the terror of the whole
district. (P. 414) It is said that these wretches have laid
waste upwards of five hundred considerable zettlements this
year.

Though it is searce possible for the Christian faith to spread
very much in a country where such detestable customs pre-
vail, I yet have converted a considerable number of the
natives, particularly in Pelleoor, signifying in the Indian
language, the White Settlement . . . . Within these {ew years,
war, famine, and sickness have made dreadful havoe in every

part of this country . . . .
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John Niewhoff, Vopages and Travels into Hrasil and
fewesd fwidfes

VorLoae 11

(P. 265} To the east, it (the kingdom of Travankoor)
borders upon the kingdom of Madura. . . . Kalkolang is a
very large city . .. upon the confines of the Nayk! of
Madure. (It) is the chief residence of the king who con-
stantly keeps a garrison of ten thousand Negros (Nayars)
here, to secure it against the Nayk of Madure, whose power
is much dreaded here.

.+ .. The king (of Travankoor) i¥ by some styled the
Great King, because he possesses larger territories than any
other of the Malabar kings. He is served in great state
and maintains gbundance of commanders whom they eall
Mandigals and many councillors called Pullas [Fiffuziffi!
Piffamar), Some ascribe to him a superiority over neigh-
bouring princes, but of this I am convinced to the contrary
by my own experience ; it i3 true they reverence him as a
potent king, but pay him no obedience, Others will have
him to be a vassal of the king of Narasingha.

The Seven Sea-ports of Madwre

1. Toutekoriin (Tuticorin), the chief among the sea-ports
of the coast of Madure ; others are—2. Mannapara, 3. Alen-
dale, 4 Wiranypatnam, 5. Pommekiel, 6. Baypaer or
Vaypaer, and 7. Bempaer. All these villages are adorned
with stately churches, built by the Portuguese, especially
those of Mannapara and Bempaer ; but are now in a decaying
eondition since the Portuguese have been chased thence.

* The word Niyak iy spelt sometimes Nayk and frequently Neyk :
the former form, however, s retpined here throughout.
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Some of the Romish priests now and then come to say Mass
in the neighbouring wvillages, whither the people flock in
great numbers, though, to speak truth, they are more
Heathens than Christians, Toutekoriin consumes vearly
abundance of foreipn commodities, by reason of the great
numbers of inhabitants living along this coast, who must be
provided from abroad with most things they stand in need
of, Toutekoriin is an open place but beautified with stately
stone buildings. It has three large churches bnilt by the
Portuguese, which are to be seen at a preat distance at sea,
the conntry round about being fiat and low. In one of these
the Reformed exercise their religions worship, besides which
the convent of the Franciscans is lately fitted up for the
sAme use,

(P. 294) The Dutch Fast India Company have a factory
here, managed by a merchant as Chief Governor ; by a factor
as his Deputy ; two or three Assistants and a Military Officer
under whose command are some soldiers, but the Nayk
of Madure will not allow them to erect any fortifications.
During my stay heve, I began to erect a brick-wall round the
garden, but finding the Jentyves to look with a jealous eye
upon it, I desisted ; yet I took care to repair the house of
the Company and set their flag on the top of it which might
be seen a good way at sea, .

This place was taken by the Dutch from the Portuguese
{in 1658) without much resistance. I[n the road of Toute-
koriin is good anchorage at five fathom water in a sandy
bottom.

Three small leagues from Toutekoriin near the rocks of
Remanakor, not far from the kingdom of Narasingha, lies
the village of Punikael, where the Portuguese formerly had a
" fort and a garrison of forty men. Two leagues from thence
there was a Pagan temple of the Bramens called Trichanduri,
against which and the priests thereof the Portuguese would
frequently utter very injurious words, which so exasperated
the inhabitants that they entered into a league with their
neighbours, viz., the Badagas of Narasingha, in order to
drive the Christians thepce. Accordingly, having with a
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great deal of secrecy, got together a body of 6,000 men and
received certain intelligence that the Portuguese in the fort
were but ill provided with gun-powder (the chief terror of
these barbarians) they marched divectly to Punikael. The
Portuguese, being not a little surprised at so unexpected a
fight, were put to the greatest nonplus, that could be, being
in want of ammunition, and no great account being to be
made upon the Parvas (the Christian inhabitants) as being
not trained up to military affairs, but living upon fishing and
swimming. These being sensible of their inability to resist
the enemy, no sooner heard of his approach, but they began
to betake themselves with their movables to their boats,
which lay near the shore, which the Badagas endeavouring
to prevent, some retired to unpassable places, others to the
sea-side, whilst others were exposed to the mercy of the
enemy, and, with most dreadful outeries, implored the
assistance of the Portuguese in the fort, (Anthony Krimi-
nalis showed much bravery in rescuing the Parvas, but
he was murdered by the Badagas, among whom there were
Muhammadans also.)

Not far from Punikael or Pommekael lies a great village
called Putanam and so further up the coast Bembar or
Bempaer, Kalekure, Beadal, Nianankor or rather Remana-
koris, and Eanbamsira. Next you sec Negapatam, the first
frontier of the coast of Coromandel, but one of the chicfest
towns of this coast is Periapatan, situated near the rocks of
Romanankoris, being the capital city of the Maravas (P. 205)
who inhabit the mountains, a barbarous generation living
only upon robbing. The Jesuits that formerly belonged to
the church of Periapatan did endeavour to reclaim them in
some measure from their barbarity, but most of them soon
returned to their old way of living. There is another village
seated on the other side of the rocks of Romanankoris,
directly opposite to Negapatam, the inhabitants of which are
all Christians. All along the sea-coast are about thirty
villages, among which, besides the before mentioned, are
the chiefest; Trichandar or Trekandar, Katlegrande and

* Cherakalle,
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ManNwERS AND Customs

The inhabitants of those places are very black and strong.
They are deceitful and cunning, make bot little account of
their wives, but generally keep two or three harlots, by whom
they have sometimes sixteen or eighteen children. The men
wear nothing but o single piece of calico, wrapt about their
middle, and another picce about their head which they call
Romare. The ordinary women commonly wear painted
calico, those of fashion are adorned with pold rings and
bracelets when they are abroad, but are very nasty at home.
They tie their hair up in a truss behind like those of Malabar,
for the rest they have good features. They live upon meat
and rice, but drink nothing but water, which they are fain to
fetch half o league from the sea-shore, They live by pearl
fshing and calching of fish, by weaving and shipping, there
being some who drive a considerable trade with the painted
valicos, tu Kalpentien, Kolamba, and the Malabar coast. They
have abundance of calico and linen weavers here, and great
numbers of people are employed in painting of calicos, which
they do wvery artificially. This trade was in great request
whilst I was here, because I used to give all imaginable
encouragement to them,

GOVERNMENT

The inhabitants are governed by judges of their own, who
are chosen every year by the Chief Director of the Duich
Company there, whom they style the Captain of the Seven
Sea-poris. Each village has the privilege to propose four,
put of which the Captain chooses two, who swear fealty to
the Company ; all civil canses are transacted in their respec-
tive villages, but criminal matters are decided at Toutekoriin
in the Council of Nine, whereof the Captain is President.
The remaining Portuguese pay no taxes to the Dutch Com-
pany, but to the Nayk of Madure ; however, this tax is paid
with the approbation of the Chief Director, who allots
everyone his share according to his substance. Those who
are backward in their payment must expect speedy exe-
cution, which is done by the soldiers of the Nayk and
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causes frequent guarrels betwixt the inhabitants and the
soldiers as it happened in my time. Then, the Nayk peremp-
torily demanding the tax from the Parvas, which they were
not able 1o pay, T sent to him a sergeant with sume saldiers,
to. desire that he would send n commissioner, with whom they
might treat, and obtain some time for the payment thereof,
upon which the Nayvk having sent onc of his great officers
* with a body of horse, [ remonstrated to him the impossibility
of the matter, telling him that the seven sea-porls were
willing to make a present of two silver dishes hlled with
ducats to his master, which was well accounted of, and the
Nayk as a token of his satisfaction, sent me a scarf richly
embroidered with gold. These seven sea-ports were formerly
(before the Portuguese fieets appeared in these parts) under
the government of the King of Marten, a vassal of the Queen
of Tengausy, unto whom they were forced to pay many
taxes ; at which time the Parvas lived deeper in the country,
and used to serve in the wars to such princes as would pay
them best. -
One time a certain Parvas happening to fall out with some
Moors, these cul off his nose and ears, which so exasperated
the Parvas that they resclved lo take up arms and to revenge
the quarrel of their countrymen. To begin the fray they
took one of the Moorish merchants prisoners ; whose nose
and ears they likewise cut off and so sent him home.
Hereupon the Moors having assembled a body of 30,000 men,
they marched to and pitched their tents near Toutekoriin.
On the other hand, the Parvas were not above 5,000 men and
well armed, and trusting more to their bravery than number,
fell upon the Moors so courageously, that they made them
quit the feld, with the slaughter of 7,000 of their men, &
great number of them being forced to the sea-shore, saved
themselves in boats, but were scarce got to sea when, by a
strong tempest from the South-West, they were so dispersed
that no news was ever heard of them since. After this
(P. 296, victory the Parvas, having made themselves masters
of these sea-ports, came to a composition with the Queen,
promising to pay her the same taxes as the Moors had done,



John Nieuwhoff, Voyages and Travels 329

which being impossible for them to perform, this proved the
oceasion of unspeakable miseries ; some of them being im-
prigsoned, for want of payment, others sold for slaves to that
degree that allast they resolved to shake off the voke, cost it
what it would, The Portuguese who (in) 1490 appeared first
thereabouts with theie ships from Cochin, having at that time
traded there for [orty years before and consequently their
strength at sea Dbeing not unkpown to the Parvas, they sent
their deputies to Cochin to implore their protection and to pro-
mise their obedience. and that they were ready to‘embrace
the Christian faith. The Portuguese willing to improve this
upportunity came with their fleet (in) 1533 on that coast, and
having made themselves masters of the sea-port towns, the
Parvas received baptism all on one day. However, they met
with great opposilion afterwards from those on the coasts of
Coromandel and Malabar, encouraged underhand by the
Parvas, till at last matters were adjusted thus, that the
Portuguese should remain masters of the coast, that the
Parvas should pay them a certain annual tribute, according
to their ability, and that all the chief men of that coast should
have their share in the pearl-fishing, which was lo be per-
formed on a certain day. After all, the Nayk of Madure,
having found means to get into the possession of this
country, left the Portuguese in the full possession of their
jurisdiction over the Parvas, and of the free exercise of their
religion in which state it continued till the year 1630, when'
the King of Portogal haviag sent thither a governor to elip
the wings of the Romish clergy, who were grown too powerful
there, this occasioned new troubles, For the Parvas being a
zealous kind of people and for the most part at' the devotion
of the priests, they were divided into two factions, during
which intestine commotions the clergy did not forget to
improve their authority and to enrich themselves at the
expense of their flock, but the Jentyves or Pagans also began
to increase {o such a degree, that being become formidable
to the Parvas they often forced them to shelter themselves
against their forces in the neighbouring islands. Since
that time the Parvas acknowledged the jurisdiction of the
42
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Portuguese governor. Bach village has two judges who are
changed every year : they keep courts twice a week, and in
conjunction with the Pefangiing (who are hereditary officers)
decide all controversies of less moment. They raise the
taxes and are accountable once a year to the people for all
their transactions, Whilst the Portuguese were masters here,
the Jentyves durst not exact more taxes from the Parvas than
was agreed for, unless they would see them go with wile anmd
children to the neighbouring islands, from whence they did
not return til) they had obtained some considerable abatement,
But of late years the Parvas having left off that custom, the
Jentyves improve it to their advantage, and force them to
pay three times as much as they used to do formerly,

The kingdom of the Nayk of Madure, under whose juris-
diction the seven before-mentioned sea-ports are, borders
to the west upon the kingdom of Travankoor, to the east vpon
the sea, and to the north-west upon the country of the Nayk
of Tanjaor or Tanjauwer, betwixt the coast of Malabar near
the Cape Comorin and Coromandel; its whole extent being
along the whole eastern gulf or coast opposite to Ceylen
from the Cape Comorin (where the coast of Malabar ends) to
the town of Bempaer or the river Ulton, a tract of seventy-five
leagues in length and thirty in breadth. The sea-shore,
commonly called the Pearl-Coast from the many pearl banks
that are hereabouts, extends from south to north in length,
and in some places about half a league deep into the country.
The capital city and ordinary residence of the Nayk is
Madure, five days’ journey to the north of Koylang ; being
adorned with many most magnificent pagedes or pagan
temples, which have very high turrets gilt on the top. Along
the coast of Madure neither grass or herb or plant is to be
seen except thistles and house-leek ; it having been found by
experierice that the coco trees would not thrive here no maore
than several other Indian trees. Notwithstanding which,
they are sufficiently provided with all manner of necessaries
from the circumjacent country, as well as from abroad by
way of Toutekoriin. The sea-shore abounds in hares and
partridges, the first of which resemble our rabbits, their fesh



John Nieuhoff, Voyages and Travels 331

being tough, vet in taste (P. 297) like our hares. The Aesh
of the partridges, which have red legs and round bills here, is
of an agreeable taste. They have here mice as big as
cats . . . which fight and bite like dogs . . ... They will
dig underneath the doors and do considerable mischief to the”
merchandise in the warehouses. This country also produces
serpents and civery other sorts of -venomous creatures. In
October, November and December, the western winds blow
with such violence the sand from the adjacent mountains to
the shore, that you are not able to open your eyes, Much
rain falls deeper in the country, and near the Cape Comorin,
but never at Toutekoriin, instead of which a thaw [falls every
night, which is very cold .. .. The winds sometimes (blow)
us if out of a fiery furance.

The Nayk of the kingdom of Madure is master of several
considerable countries, each of which are governed by a
peculiar Governor, besides which there is one Governor-
General, who has the chief management of the whole
kingdom ; who ruled all cur time the country was called
foomalapalles. Besides the Governors, cach village has two
judges, who are much respected by the inhabitants. The
Naylk, to secture himself of the fidelity of his Governors,
detains always their wives and children in a certain castle
called Zwela Baddy, about seven leagues from Madure, under
the guard of 300 eunuchs ; neither are the husbands permitted
to see them without peculiar licence from the Nayk, and are .
obliged to depart again in two or three days. Some to avoid
this inconvenienca content themselves with harlots. Most of
the inhabitants of the country of Madure are Jentyves (by
some they are called Badagas) though some of them have
heen converted to the Romish faith by the Portuguese.
The Jentyves are accounted good soldiers, yet are much
inferior to the Malabars: witness, the wars the Nayk of
Tanigos, though much inferior in power, wages against
them. '

There are three Nayks in this part of the Indies, viz.,
the Nayk of Madure, the Nayk of Tanjaor, by the Dutch
called Tanjouwer and sometimes Teaver, aund the Nayk
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of Gingi, otherwise called Chengier, The word Navk,
MNeyk or Najcku signifies as much as a governor, vassal or
viceroy, their predecessors having in ancient Llimes been
Jonly governors of those countries they are now possessed
of, under the jurisdiction of the kings of Vidia Najar,
Bisnagar or Narasingha; but having revolted against their
liege-lord, each of them assimed the royel power and title
The Nayk of Madure had been for o considerable time in war
with the Nayk of Tanjaor and taken many places from him
at my time the war was renewed with more vigour tum ever ;
and the Nayk of Tanjaor having gathered a great army
attacked the Nayk of Madure so briskly that he took from
him in a few days all the places he had conquercd from him
before. The army of the Nayk of Madure being much
disheartened by the victories of their enemies, the Madore
gent to me to Koylang his chief governor desiving nssist-
ance from the Company ; but, a5 it was not our interest to
engage on any side, 1 exeused it as handsomely as 1 couldd,



APPENDIX D
InsertrrioNs CHRONOLOGICALLY ARRANGED.

N, f—The equated A, D, dates, on which this chronologi-
el arrangement is based, ave those of the Madras Department
ol Bpigraphy and of the other publications referreﬂ to, unless
vtherwise indicated.

1. 1475.—Tamil ; Manmatha, Dhanus; Chfﬂambaram; gift
by purchase of some godowns by a certain
Nigama Niyaka. (331 of 1913.)

2, 1d82.—Tamil ; Subhakrit ; Tittagudi {Vriddhachalam,
South Arvcot) ; a dispute between two factions
in the village which lasted for several years and
was settled by the agent of Nigama Nayaka,
(6 of 1903.)

4, 1483.—Grantha and Tamil ; 5.5, 1404 expired, Subhakrit
current; Virinchipuram (Vellore, North Arcot);
Saluva Narasimhadeva ; gift to the deity by
Nagama Niyaka. (48 of 1887 ; Southk Indian
Iuseriptions, I, p. 132, No. 119.)

4. 1484,—Tamil$.8. 1406, Saumya (1489); Tirukkachchfir
(Chingleput); Na(ra)singarfiya; foundationof a
village by a private individual for the merit of
the king, and Niagama Niayaka, the foremost of
his servants (Mudarppavadaif) ; tax on Kaik-
kojars and other weavers, and on other profes-
sional classes in the village (quarter panam
per month on each loom). (318 of 1909;
M. E. R., 1910, p. 113.)

5 1518.—Tamil ; 8.8, 1440, Iévara ; Tirupullapi—Darbha-
dayanam—(Ramnad) ; a damaged record of
Mahibali Vinadariya Nayakkar. (113 of 1903.)

6. 1519.—Grantha; $.8. 1441, Pramathin; Anaimalai
(Madura) ; Krishna Raya; mentions a certain
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10.

11,

12.

13.
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Madhura-Ramaniitha as  his  agent, and
Timmabhipa as his deor-keeper. (455 of 1906.)

" 1528, —Tamil ; S, 8. 14(56), (Vija)ya (1533), Tirapullani ;

a damagod record  of Sundaratteludaiyir
Mahavali-Vagadarayar, (109 of 1904.)

1530, —Tamil ;: S, 8. 1452, Manmatha (1535) ; Kalaiyar-
kovil (Sivagunga, Ramnad) : gift of land by
Sundarattoludaiviie Mavali-Vagadardyar, (585
of 1902.)

1532, —Tamil ; S, 8. 1454, Hévilambi (1537); Kalaiyar-
kivil ; gift of land by Mavali-Vighdariyar,
(587 of 1002.)

1552, —K. A. 707 : Tirukalur {!-':'-rh'uikm'll.lmm, Tinne-
velly) ; Mirttiinda Varman; his grant to the
temple. (Sewell, T, pp. 313-4.)

1533.—Tamil ; S. S. 145 (5), ‘Manmatha (1535); D@vi-
pattanam (Ramnad) ; an incomplete record
of Sundarattoludaiva Mahabali-Vapadarayar,
(121 of 1903.)

1533, —Tamil; S. 8. 1455, Sobhakrit, Makara, New
Moon Day (1543); Madura; a private docu-
ment drawn up between two brothers after a
dispute as to who was the elder, The younger,
Sinna Vadivida Tummidi Nayakkar, having
been declared in an assembly consisting of 18
Kodangi Niavaklkars and® Polegars that he was
junior, the elder Ramariya Tummisi Nayak-
kar granted him some lands, He calls him-
self the head of Sillavirs, and assumes great
titles as the king of Vanga, ete. (S. C. A2,
No. 27 ; Burgess, pp. 107-8, No. 20.)

1535 —Tamil; $.8. 1457 expired, Pariibhava (1546) ;
Kalakkidu (Nanguneri, Tinnevelly) : (Sa)da-
divadéva-Mahfriya ; mentions  Rimappa
Nayaka, the agent of Vitthaladéva. The king
i5 said to have cvonquered the Musalmans,
subdued all countries, and levied tribute [rom
Ceylon. (129 of 1905 ; A K. R., 1905, p. 60.)
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14, 1535, Tamil; 8.8. 1457, Jaya ; Tiruppattir (Ramnad);
Virapratiipa A{chyun)tadéva-Mahfiriiya ; his gift
of the village of Varagupaputtiir for the
merit of Vidvanitha Niyakkar, the son of
Nigama Nayakkar, and an officer of the king.
(113 of 1008, ML R, 1909, p, 119,)

15. 1535 —Grantha and Tamil; $.8. 1457, Manmatha :
Tenkadi (Sankarandyinirkavil, Tinnevelly) ;
Pindya Jatilavarman alins Pernmil Kula-
§ekharadéva Irandakilamedutta, who ‘revived.
the old time’, with the usual birudas of the
later Phindyas ; his damaged record of gift of
land. (525 of 1909.)

16. 1537—Tamil ; S.8. 1459 expired, K. A. 71 (3), H&ma-
lamba ; Tirukkurongodi (Nangunéri, Tinne.
velly); Virapratipa Sadisiva Maharija; gift of
the village of Puliytirkkurichchi in  Nattattup-
pokku, a district of the Tirovadi-désam, by
the son of Anppan Basavanna Navakkar who
was an officer of the Malamandaletvarg
Rajndhirija Vittilaraja, (6 of Appendix A
1806.) ; . z

17. 1537.—8anskrit and Kanarese ; 5.5. 1459, Heémalambhi,

(15th Oct.) Kiirttika 12. Monday; Lépakshi (Hindupur,
Anantapur); Virapratipa (A)chyutadeva-Mahi-
riiya; his grant of two villages to the temple .
of Virésvara in the presence of Vitthalédvara
on the Tungabhadra river. {572 of 1912.)

18. 1538, —Tamil ; S.8. (14)60 expired, Vilambi; Tiruppat-
tir (Ramnad); Virapratapa Achyutad&va.
Mahéraya ; gift of land for his merit by Periya
Riamappa Nayakkar to the Bhairava shrine,
{121 of 1908.) . -

19. 1538.—8.8. 1460, Nandana (1532) ; Avanasi (Coimba-
tore) ; Achyuta Raya; Singapa Ufaiyar's
grant to Avanffi-lingam treasury of half a
w&lf of land, and the digging of a tank called
Sellanga Samudram, (LMP., 1, p. 523,)
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1542, —Tamil ; 5.8, 1464, Plava, Puragjadi 10; Tiruk-

kalakkadi  (Tiruppattur, Ramnad); gift of
lnnd to the temple for the merit of & certadn
Periva Rimappa Niyaka, (05 of 19116,

1543, —Tamil; 5.5, 1465, Sobhakrit, Karkajuka,

Rihini, Thursday ; Kugaivur (Kallakurichehi,
South Arcot) ; remission of certain taxes fur
worship (Mabapije) in the temple for the
prosperity  of Vidvanatha-Niyaka Dby his
officers. (29 of 1018.)

1545, —Tamil : 5.8, 1466 expired, Kridhin ; Tiruvidai-

maradir (Kumbhakonam, Tanjore) ; Sadigiva-
déva-Mahiiriya ; gift of two villages by Rima-
riijaVitthaladéva-Mahdraja. (140 of 1895.)

1546, —Tamil ; 4.8, 1467 expired, Vigviivasu, Dhanus,

-

Thuesday ;  Konsagai {Kunlipum}—l{ﬁi?u—
gangu, Ramnad); Sadiafivariyars in the
presence  of  Vidvaniitha Nayakkor, the
lLest skilled in putting down disputes, Tim-
mappa Nayakkar, the King's agent, settled
some disputes Detween the two sections of
the inhabitants of Kondagai. (Burgess,
pp. 108-9, No., 21.)

1546, —Grantha and Sanskrit; 8.5, 1468, Pariibhava,

K.Y, 4447 (for 4647) ; Madura ; the genealogy
of the MWakamandaltsvara Rimarija-Tirumala-
riya-Mahdarija. (510 of 1907.)

1546. Tamil; §.8. 1468, Parabhava, VriSchika, Tiru-

vonam, Friday ; Deévikapuram (Arni, North
Arcot) ; Sadddivadeva-Mahdriya ; gilt of ghee
to the temple by Sﬁmppa-biﬁyak& for the
merit of Krishna(ppa)-Nayaka. (391 of 1912,)

1547.—Tamil; K.A. 722; Suchindram -(Travancore) ;

Bhiitalavira-Ramavarman ; his gift of land
for offerings on the birth-day of Vitthalégvara-
mahdrdija, (64 of 1896,)

. 27. 1547.—Grantha and Tamil; 8.5. 1469, Plavanga;

i s

Karivalamvandanalliir {Sanknmnasrmarkovﬂ
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Tinnevelly) ; Perumi] Pariikrama Pindya-
déva; an unfinished record in his 4th year.
(274 of 1908,

1547.~Grantha and Tamil; S.8. 146(9), Plavanga ;
Karivalamvandanall@ir ; Alagan-Pernma] Pardi-
kramad@va ; a record in his fifth year, mention-
ing his son, Jatilavarman alffas Ko(n8rmai)-
konglan Tirunelveli-Peruma]. (277 of 1908.)

1549, —Kanarese ; $.5. 1471, Kilaka, Bhadrapada ;
Lépakshi ; Virapratapa Sadasdiva ; gift for the
merit of the Mahdmandaléivara Ramardja-
Vitthaladeva., (583 of 1912.)

1550,—Tamil; K, A. 725, Saumya; Alvirkurichchi
[Ambisamudram, Tinnevelly); gift of the
village of Settikulam by Ramappa Nayakka-
raiyan, Mention of a gift by Vidvanitha
Niyaka in K, A. 736 (7). (119 of 1907.)

1550.—Grantha and Tamil ; S. 8. 1472, Pingala (1557) ;
Karivalamvandanalliir ; Jatilavarman, Perumi)
Kuladékharadeéva; gilt of land: mentions
Ativirariman and Karivaranallir in Ari-nidu.
(276 of 1908.)

1550.—Tamil ; §. 8, 1472, Sadharapa; Gudimallir
(Walajapet, North Arcot); Sadagivadeva
Mahdriyar; mentions Kuméra-Krishnappa
Nayaka and Chinna Bommu Nayaka, (417 of
1905.)

1550.—Tamil; 8. S, 1472, Sadharana, Kanya;
Mg&lachchevval (Virakérala-Chaturvédimanga-
lam in Mulli-nddu) (Ambisamudram, Tinne-
velly) ; Virapratipa Saddsivadéva Mahfriya ;
gift of a défvedana hold of land (pajfayam) by
Vigvanatha, the agent of the Mah&8manda-
18dvara Rimardja Vitthalayyadéva-Mahirdja,
for the merit of the latter, (599 of 1916.)

1550.—Tamil: S. §. 147 (2), Sadhirapa, Kanya;
Melachchevval ; Virapratipa Sadasivadéva-
Mahiriya ; Uddandar, an agent of Vigvanatha

43
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Mayaka ; remission of certain taxes due to the
King for offering cakes daily to the God by
the former for the merit of the latter. (GOY
of 1916.}

35. 1551.—Tamil: S§.8. (147)3, Virodhikrit; Madura;
Virapra-(tipa Sadasiva)déva-Mahiiviiya ; gift of
three villages for offerings and festivals to the
temple by Timmappa-Niyakkar, the son of
Vagavana Nayakkar, for the merit of Rimarfja-
Vitthaladéva-Mahiraja. (559 of 1911.)

38, 1551.—Tamil: S.S. 1473, Virddhikrit; Tenkiisi;
Pardkrama Pandya, the son of Jatilavarman ;
gift in his 8th year to a servant of the temple,
(532 of 1909.)

37, 1551.—Tamil; (K.A.) 726, Avagi 30; Viravanallir
(Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly); the drvadana
and drakmadeya lands in a number of villages
surrounding Séravanmidévi, having heen
abandoned by the dispersing Augd and the
padai, Vidvanitha Nayakkar, the agent of
Ramardjayya Vifthaladéva Mahfiriija, remitted
all taxes (including ufavuw and pandaravagai)
on these lands, charging only one Laui per ma
of land. (721 of 1916.)

38, 1552.—8.8. 1474, Virgdhikrit ; the Srivilliputtir Plates
of Abhirima Pangdya (Varatunga), the son
and ‘grandson of Par@krama Pandya and
Abhirima Pandya; gift of the village of
Kshir&rjunapura in Mulli-nadu to a number of
Brahmanas during a solar eclipse. (7.4.5., I,
pp. 106-14.)

39. 1552.—Tamil; K.A. 727, Paridh@ivin, AqQi 31, Anu-
ridha, Friday ; Attalanalltr, (Ambasamudram,
Tinnevelly) ; gift of land by Rfmappa-
Niyaka, the agent of Vitthaladéva-Maharija,
under the orders of the king, for conducting
the Chitra festival each month in the temple,
(428 of 1916.)
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1553, —Crantha and Tamil; $.S. 1475, Pramidhin;
Sankaraniyiniivkovil; Pandya Jatilavarman
alies Kulnd8kharvadeva; a record in  his
third year, mentioning Ari-nfidu, (281 of
1908,

1553.—5.8. li‘?ﬁ: Sankaraniyinirkovil, Kuladgkhara
Diindya ; grant of the village of Kottir to the
Goddess in his third year. (LMP, III, p.
1475.)

1553.—Tamil; $.8. 1475, K.A. 720; Idakal (Ambi-
samudram, Tinnevelly); gift of land by
Krishnappa-Nayaka, the son of Vidvandtha
Niyaka, for worship and repairs in the
Tyigardjasviimin temple. (497 of 1918.)

1555.—Tamil ; $.8. 1477, K.A. 7 {...); Vadakku-
Kirakkurichehi  (Ambisamodram, Tinne-
velly) ; gift of land by Ekimbara-Mudaliyir,
the apent of Krishnappa-Nayaka, for a flower-
garden to the temple. (530 of 1916.)

1557.—§.8. 1479; Sankaranfyindrkovil; Parikrama
Piindya ; the grant of village in his 16th year,
(Z.M.P., 111, p. 1476.)

1557.—85.8. 1479, (S.8. 1679 1) I§vara (1577) ; Karamagai
(Avanadi, Coimbatore) ; Krishpa Raja Udai-
yar ; Déva Rajardsa, his Dalaviy, granted
the village of Bhiisarapallam to Brahmans,
(Zbid., I, p. 523.)

1558, —Tamil ; $.8. 1480 expired, K. A. 73 (5);
Kalladakurichchi (Ambasamudram, Tinne-
velly) ; Virappa-Nayakkar Ayyan's gift in
favour of blacksmiths and carpenters. (113
of 1507.)

1558.—Grantha and Tamil; . S. 1480, Kalayukta ;
Karivalamvandanalliir ; Jatilavarman ; men-
tHions Vidvandthan and AtivirarBman. (273
of 1908.)

15358, —Tamil ; S. S. 1480, K.A. 734, Kalayukti;
Margali 5, Mannarkovil (Ambasamudram,
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Tinnevelly) ; Visvanatho-Nayakar, the agent
of Ramarajadéva-Maharaja. (485 of 1016.)

1560.—&, §. 1482, Raudri; Tinnevelly ; grant of 12
villages by Vidvanatha, the * pious son of
Kotyam Nagama Nayugu ' and * Mandara-
puttangri Aryanayaka Mudaliviic '.  (S.CA,
No. 10.)

1560.—8. S. 1482, Anpiyir (Villupuram, South Arcot) ;
Visvandatha Niyaka; his grant uf lands to the
diva temple during the reign of Sadasiva
Raya. (Sewell, L, p. 20%.)

1560.—Tamil ; §. 8. 1482 Annpiyir; Virapratipa
Qadadivadeva-Mahiriya ;  gift of taxes on
looms by Viévandtha Nayakkar, the son uf
Nagama Nayakkar, for the merit of Aliya
Ramarijayyan, the son uf Makdmandaltspara
&irangarajayyaddva-Mahiiraja. (622 of 1915.)

1561,—8. §. 1483, Durmati; Solapuram (Sivaganga,
Ramnad) ; Kulag8kharadéva Ativirardma ;
grant of one ma of land and the appointment
of a superintendent of the temple Ly the King
in his 13th year, (LML, 1L, p. 1178.)

1562.—Tamil ; . S. 1483 expired, K.A. 737, Durmati ;
Tinnevelly ; Rimappadeva-Mahfrija ; gift of
land by Krishpappa-Niyaka, the son of

- Viévanatha-Nayaka. (121 of 1894.)

1562.—-3. 5, 1484 ; Sankarandyin@rkavil ; Kulasekharu ;
a grant in his 13th year. (Laf.P., 11, p.
1475.)

1562, —Tamil ; §. S. (1484), Durmati, Vaigasi 5;
Idakal; Achyutad@va-Mahdrdya Sadasiva
déva-Mahardya ; gift of land by Krishnappa-
Nayaka, the son ‘of Vigvanitha-Nayaka, to
the temple for worship and repairs. (494 of
1916.)

1563, —Tamil ; §. S. 1485, Krodhana (1565) ; Krishna-
puram, (Tinnevelly) ; Viradri-Sadiddivadéva-
Mahzriya ; gift of the villages of Ariyakulam,
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Puttangri afias TiraveEngadanallar, Pottaik-
kulam, Kadikkulam, Kuttuklkal, Siramankulam
und some land in Alikudi to the temple of
TiruvEngadanitha by Krishnappa-Nivaka, [or
the merit of his father, Vidvanitha-Niyaka of
the Kadyapa-gitea, It is stuted that the latter
had acquired the Tiruvadi-éfe, in which
these villages were situated, as amarandyabam
from Ramardjar Ayyan. (17 of 1912 ;
M.E.R., 1912, p. 76.)

1564, —Tamil ; 4. S. 1486, Raktakshin ; Tiruttani
{Chlttuor} : an incomplete record of Virapra-
tipa Sadasivadéva-Mahfriiya ; he boasts of
having looted Ceylon. (451 of 1905.)

1564, —T'amil verse ; S. 8. 1486, Raktikshin ; Tenkadi
Alagan Swnlave.l (AtivirarAima Pindya) ; his
crowning in this year., (509 of 1909.)

1564, —Tamil : K. A, 739, Raktikshi, Margali, Uttard-
shadha, Sunday ; Idakal ; gift of land to
the Tyagardjasvamin temple by Sinna Vada-
vappa-Niyaka for the merit of Vasappa
Niyaka, the son of Vidvanatha Nayaka. (495
of 1916.)

1566, —Tamil ; S, 8. 1488, (K. A) 726 (1550), Si-
dhirana (1550), Arpasi 20, Giriyambpuram
(Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly) ; mentions Da-
laviy Ramappa-Nayaka and his son Perrappa-
Niyaka. (473 of 1916.)

1567.—Sanskrit in Nagari; §. 8. 1489, Prabhava ;
Krishpdpuram ; Sadasiva ; his Krishnapuram
Plates, granted at the request of Krish-
nappa Nayaka, recording the gift of a number
of villages to the Tiruvéngadanftha temple,
(E. L, 1X, pp. 328-42.)

1568, —Tamil ; S, S. 14 (90, Vibhava ; Tenkasi :
Jatilavarman ; sale of land by the Bhattas of
Puliyiir in Tenndri-nddu to the temple in hiy
Bth year. (533 of 1909.)



342 History of the Niyaks of Madura

63, 1568,—Tamil ; Vibha (va); Valuvir {Wandiwash,
North Arcot) ; Sadidivadéva-Maharaya ; a
damaged  record  mentioning Krishnappi
Niyakkarayyan, (G4 of 1H008.)

64, 1560.—I A 745; Vijayapati (Nungunéri, Tinne-
velly) ;  Krishpappa Mayaka's grant ol
lands to the Ayyunar shrine, (Sewell,
I, p. 316.)

65. 1569, —Kannrese; &4, 8, 1491, Sukla ; Kollggul (Coimba-
tore); Virapratipa Sadidiva-Mahirayn; his gift
of a village belonging to Sivanasamudrada-
sthala in Haginddu-$img. (15 of 1910,)

1570.—Tamil ; §, 8. 1492, K. A. 745, Ani 30 ; Pippa-
kndi (Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly) ; Ariya-
nayindr-Mudaliyir, Virarigh ava-Mudaliyir and
Grikiryam Riamappa-Nayakas, the agents of
Vigvanatha-Nayaka, Krishnappa-Nayaka, and
Virappa-Niiyaka, who were themselves the
agents of the Mahiimandalédvarn Ramarija-
Tirumalarija, appointed a certain Karumugilon
KéraliidityadBva as the herveditary accountant
in the temple at Pappikudli alias Adittavanma-
chaturvédimangalam, (478 of 1916.)

67. 1571,—Tamil; §.5.-1493, Kshaya (1566); Devikipuram
gadagivadeva-Mahiriiya; @ damaged and
unfinished record of a gift for the merit of
Krishnappa Niyaka and others. (403 of
1912.)

68, 1572.—Tamil; K.¥. 4416 (1315), Angirasa (1572),
Mirgali 9; Dhirapuram (Coimbatore) ; Virap-
pa-Niyaka; Tambigu .. .. lar Pillai, the
agent of the king. (147 of 1920.)

69. 1574.—Tamil; §.5. 1495 expired, Bhava ; Goripalaiyam
(Madura), on a pillar set up within the
Muhammadan masjid ; records the confirm-
ation, by Krishpappa Niyaka—Virappa
Niyaka, of a considerable area of land present-
ed by Kiin (Sundara) Pindya to the Muham-

i'I'\
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madans, (Sewell, i, p. 292; Nelson, p. 67
77 of 1905.)

1577.—Tamil ; §.8, 1499, Iévara; Krishnipuram ;
Srirangadéva-Mahiirya; gift by Virappa-
Niyaka for the merit of his father Krishnappa-
Niyakn of the Kisyapa-gStra, to the temple
of TiruvEngpadanithadéva at Krishndpuram
on the bank of the THimraparni;: mentions the
Tirnvadi-desam. (16 of 1912; Sewell, i, p.
310.) Sewell’s date for this inseription is 1578.

1578, —Tamil ; §.8. 1500, Vikrama (1580); Rames-
varam ; a mutilated record mentioning Vidva-
niitha Niyaka-Virappa-Nayakkar Ayyvan, (98
of 1903.)

1578.—Tamil ; 8.8, 1500, K.A. 75(3. Bahudfnya,
Vaighsi 19; Seérmadevi; Srirangadéva-Maha-
viiya ; gift of land by Virappa-Navaka-
Vidvanithn-Niyaka, the son of Viivanitha-
Nayaka-Krishnappe-Nayaka, who was an agent
of the king, to a temple for conducting certain
festivals, (663 of 1916.)

1581, —Tamil ; .8, 1503, Vikrama, Adi 2; Madura ;
Virappa-Niyaka, the son of Viivanitha-
Nayaka ; taxes received in the treasuries of
the Nayaka and Sokkaniitha on account of the
Rimédvaram temple ; gift of 700 pon to this
temple. (340 of 1918.)

1582, —Tamil : Chitrabhiinu ; RamEévaram ; gift of land
for the merit of Vi§vanitha-Nayaka-Virappa-
Niayakkar Ayyan. (97 of 1903.)

1582.—Telugu; $.5. 1505, Svabhdnu, Magha; Sri-
mishnam  (Chidambaram, South Arcot);
Virapratapa Viradrirangarfyadéva-Mahariya,
ruling from Penukonda ; Kondamaniyanigaru,
the son of KErishpappanfiyanigaru of the
Kafyapa-potra, remitted the jadi and virdda on
thirty-eight villages of the temple in Bhénagiri-
patnam-éima. (266 of 1916.)
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7H, 1583, —Sanskrit in CGrantha; S.5, 1305, Subhanu ; the

77.

78.

79,

8u.

Pudukkottai (Srivilliputtar, Ramnud) Plates
uf Sri Vallabha and Varatunga Rama Pandya.
This copper plate grant gives a short aceount
uf the later Pingyas, and recordds the gift of the
village of Pudukkoftai by a certain Tirumala
Niyaka with the approval of Virappa (Nuyaka
of Madurn). S.8. 1505 is said to be the Lwenty-
first vear of the coronation of S1 Vallabha
and Ativiraviima Pindya. (7 of Appendix A,
1906 ; M.ER., 1906, pp. 71=2: 745, i,
pp. 61-88.)

1584, —Telugu ; 8.8, 1505 expired, Subhinu ; Madura ;
construction of the Aamdallads mandapa, in
the Sundargdvara temple, with n number
of sculptured pillars representing Purinic
scenes, in the reign of Virappa-MNiyaka, the
son of Vigvanitha-Wiyaka-Krishnappa-Nayaka.
(35 of 1908 ; Sewell, i, p. 254.)

1584, —Tamil ; 4.8, 1505 expired, Chiteabhiinu; Tirut-
tarakddamangal (Ramnad); Sevvappa-Nayaka-
Achyutappa-Niyaka ; his gift at Rimn-s€tu of
a village in the Chola country to the local
temple in Sridéfam, a sub-division of Sembi-
nAdu. (84 of 1905.)

1586.—Tamil ; Vwaya; Perambalar (Trichinopoly)
remission of 7ad¢ on the village of Nochchiyam
by an agent of Krishpappa-Niyaka, A small
amount of this tax was collected from this
village in the time of Eﬁmppn-Nﬁyakn. (10
of 1913.) '

1586, —Sanskrit in Nagari; 8.5. 1508, Vyaya ; Madura ;
the Dalavdy Agrahdaram Plates of Venkatapati
I; gift of the village of Gangavirappatti or
Virabhiipasamudram te a number of Brahmans
at the request of Virappa Niayaka, the son of
Krishnappa-Niyaka and grandson of Vidva.
nitha, (&.7, xii, pp, 159-87.)
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1588,—5.5. 1510; Pirfinmalai (Tiruppattiv, Ramnad) ;
Venkatapati Riiya (I) ; his record. (Sewell, i,
. 297

1588.—S.8. 1510, K.A. 765; Mannickdvil (Amba-
samudram, Tinnevelly); a gilt of Udaya
Mirttinda. (7.M.P,, iii, p. 1455.) :

1588.—8.8. 1510, Sarvajit; Sankaranfyindrkavil;
Vallabhad€va ; a grant in his twenty-sixth year,
(fbid., p. 1475.) '

1588, —Tamil ; 8.8, 1501 (a mistake for 1510) expired,
Sarvadhiirin ; Erode ; Vira Venkatapati Raya
(I) ; & grant by Virappa Nayaka. (13 of 1881;
MER., 1892, p 9)

. 1590,—8.58. 1512, Vikriti; Tinnevelly ;: Venkatapati:

grant from Knmbhakonam of villages in the
Tinnevelly district, to a Vaishpava shrine .
under the management of one Krishna Dis,
(S.C.P., No. 12)

1590.—Tamil; §.8. 151(1) expired, Virddhin (1589) ;
Pernmukkal (Tindivanam, South Arcot);
Venkatapatideva-Mahariiya; mentions Bommu-
Niyaka, the son of Nagama-Nayaka; Kondama-
Niyaka, the son of Krishnappa-Nayaka., (36
of 1905.) i

1594, —Grantha and Tamil; $.S. 151( . ) expired,
K.A. 769 ; Sermadévi (Ambasamudram, Tinne-
velly); Srirangadéva-Mah@riya; mentions
Vidvanitha-Krishnappa-Virappa Nayaka as a
fendatory. (187 of 1895.)

1594, —Tamil ; (Ja)ya; Periyakottai (Palni, Madura) ;
building of the temple of Kadiriniga-(natha)
Perumil], and of a tank by an agent of Virappa-
‘Nayakkar Aivan, ‘who levied tribute from
every country ", - (470 of 1907.)

1595, —Tamil ; (8.8.) -15(17), Manmatha; Karivalam-
vandanalliir (Sankarandyindrkavil, Tinnevelly);
Jatilavarman,- Vira Pingyadéva; a much
damaged record in his tenth year, (275 of 1908.)

41
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90. 1505, —Tamil; §.8. 15 (17), Manmatha, Vaigisi 11;

Piraippatti (Otapidiram, Tinnevelly) ; franda-
Mafamedtle  Ativivarimon ;o sareaedinya
grant of land to three private individuals
during the reign of Venkatapatiraya, whose
ancestors, Dévariiya, Krishnariya, Sadagiva-
rdya, Vira NMarasimhariya, Dharmariyn and
Srirangariya, are mentioned with a string of
Vijayanagar and Saluva dirwdes. (15 of
18915.)

91. 1596.—Grantha ; [5:. 5.) 1518, Manmatha ; Perungarunai

82.

(Mudukulattiir, Ramnad); a [ragment uf o
record mentioning Krishnabhiipa, the sSon of
Virabhiipa. (404 of 1907.)

1596, —Sanskrit in Grantha; (S.8.) 1518; Madura; Riima

Krishnappa, 'sitting en the lon-throne of
Vallabha Naréndra after thirty-three years have
passed, and after 8.8, 1517," granted the village
of Nadikkudi or Ativiraramapuram to anumber
of Brahmans. The fipure of a boar wilh a
dagger standing on its nose is engraved at
the end. This is the same as the third
Dalavay Agrahiram Plates, (5.C.8., No. 211;
A5, 1, pp. 133-46.)

93, 1596.—Tamil verse; .9, 1518, Durmukhi; Tenkisi;

Ativirarima Pindya ; taxes collected by mis-
take at Vidvandthanalliir in his thirty-ninth
year were returned to the temple, and the
village was confirmed as a sarvamdnya to it.
(315 of 1909.) -

94, 1597.—Sanskrit in Nagari; §. 8. 1519, Heévilambi;

Madura - grant issued by Venkatapati (I) at
the request of Krishnappa Nayaka, who is
styled *Péndya Parthiva Krishna MNppatih',
of the two villages of Marudangudi and Kiru-
puram, otherwise called MadanagSpalapuram
to several Vaishnava Brahmans. The follow-
ing genealogy of the Niyaks is given:
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Niganrpati-Vi§vantha - Krishna-Virabhlipati-
Krishpa, (S.C.7., No. 136,)

95.  1597.—Tumil; Hevilambi, Arpasi; Panaiytivaran (Villu-
puram, South Arcot) ; Venkatapatid@va-Mahd-
rija 3 mentions  Muttukrishnappa-Niyaka,
(329 of 1917.)

O6. 1598, —Sanskrit in Nagari ; 4.s. 1520, Vilambi;
Kalladakurichchi{ Ambisamudram, Tinnevelly);
Vira Venkatapatidévariiya; the Vellangudi
Plates ; gift of the village of Vellangolli,
surnamed Virabhiipasamudram in Mulli-nfdu
in Tiravadi-@2¢z, to a number of Brihmanas.
It was in 261 shares, and at the instance of
Vira Krishna Nayaka. It is said that Vidva-
nitha, the first Niyak ruler, conguered many
kings, including the Pandyas, on the battle-
field in the Tiruvadi country, and acquired by
force the sovereignty over Madhura-rajva.
The genealogy of the Niyaks is given : Naga-
Vidvanatha-Krishna married Lakshmyimbika-
Virpbhfipati  married Tiromalimbikd-Vira
Krishna. (9 of Appendix A, 1912; M. E. R,
1912, p. 76.)

97, 1598.—Sanskrit in Nagari; 8. 8. 1520, Vilambin;
Padmangri (Nangunéri, Tinnevelly) ; grant of
this village in the Tiruvadi-rafve by Venkata-
patidévariiya to Brihmanas at the request of
Krishpappa Nayaka, who acknowledges him as
the paramount sovereign and original donor, he
himself being only secondary donor. I'tcontains
the information that Vidvanitha, the founder
of the Nayak dynasty, conquered in battle the
Tiruvadi, the Pandya King, Vinadaraya and
other kings, and annexed their dominions.
(14 of Appendix A, 1906; S.C.A., No. 111;
M. . R., 1906, p. 86 ; and 19(}*1 p. 119.)

98. lhﬂﬂ —Tamil ; §.8. 1522, K.A, 77 (4), Vikirin, Vaigasi
(2) 6; $armﬂdsw, the appointment of an
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accountant at the instance of Murti-!:‘nultiyur,
an agent of Visvaniatha-Nayaka Krishoappa-
Niyaka. (717 of 1916,

1602.—T'amil ; 4.8, 1523 expired, Subhakrit ; Madura ;
Tta-venkam -Mahiiraya ; mentions the temple
of Madanagopiila at Madura and Bhashyakara,
i.e. Sri-Raminujichiirya. (36 of 1908.)

1604, —Tamil ;: §.8, 1525 expired, Siobhakrit; Tingiva-

un ; Venkatapatiriiya ; tax on weavers given
to the temple by Bommu-Niyaka, the agent
of Nagama-Nayaka. (31 of 1905.)
1604.—XKanuarese ;: $.8. 1526, Krodhin; Sivasamudrum
(Kollégdl, Coimbatore}; Venkatapuativya;
gift of land by Tirumalardja-Nayakoa. (3506
of 1901.)

1606.—I.A. 782 ; Cape Comorin ; Muttun Virappa; his
pift of lands at Kikkavai and other places in
Tinnevelly to the Bhagavati temple. (V.
Nagam Alya, Dhe Dravancore Stale Manual,
i, . 302,

1606.—~Tamili Parfibhava ; Tayaniir (Tirukkéyilor, Seuth
Arcot) ; mentions Vanddariyar, the agent of
Virappa-Niyakkarayyan. (366 of 1909.)

1606, —~"Tamil ; (Pira) ba (Parabhava), Panguni 3;
Panaiyfivaram (Villupuram, South Arcot);
gift of a garden for the merit of Mutin
Krishpappa Niyaka. (326 of 1917.)

1607.—Tamil ; 8.8. 1527, Pariibhava; Ramédvaram ;
Dalavay Seétupati Kattatévar; gift of five
villages to the temple of Rimandthasvami and
Parvatavardhani-Amman for worship and
offerings. (11 of Appendix A, 1911; MER.,
1911, pp. 88-9.)

1608.—Ta il and Grantha ; §.8. 1529 expired, Plavanga,
fourth lunar day of thebright fortnight in Adi ;
Rimeévaram; T'irumalai Udalyan-Satupati, the
lord of the city of T8vai; the responsible agent
for the prolection of the S&tu embankment ;
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the responsible agent for the charities of
Rimanithasviimi ; who is actively engaged
in worshipping Siva; the chief of all other
kings; the destroyer of the army of Ariyardya;
who euts into o thousand picces and three
thousand picces those failing in the correct-
ness of their language ; who conguers all the
country that he sees and never gives back a
country once conguered; the punisher of
Mivardiya ; the lord of the valorous and the
fertile country ; the protector of the Brabhmans
studying the Veédas; who has put down the
pride and prosperity of the valorous and
inimical Yavana kings ; living in Karattir of
the Tokavar division ; his gift of lands on the
oceasion of his pilgrimage, to the people of
the ' ive countries' who served as priests,
worshippers and cooks in the temple. (Bur-
gess, Setupati Grant, No. 2.)

1608.—%.8. 1530 ; Rame§varam ; in the days of Vidu-
hhiipati, the temple was repaired by Sage
Ramanatha, (Burgess, p. 59, No. 10.)

1608, —Tamil: $.5. 1530 ; Rame&svaram ; the building of
the Raimalingéévara temple during the time
of Virabhiipati, (102 of 1903.)

1608.—Tamil; S. 8. 1530; Plavanga, Raméévaram ;
Dalaviiy Sétupati Kattatévar; gift of eight vil-
lages to the temple. (12 of Appendix A, 1911.)

1609.—Tamil; §.8. 1530 expired, Kilaka ; Tiruttara-
kbgamangai; gift of money to celebrate
certain festivals for the merit of Muttuvirappa
Mayaka. (87 of 1905.)

1609, —Sanskrit in Nagari; $.8. 15 (3) 1, Saumya;
Madura ;: Venkatapatid@variya; his gift of the
village of Nagénalliru, surnamed Mudduvi-
ramahipilasamudra, to Brihmanas at the
request of Mudduvirappa Nayaka. - (9 of
Appendix A, 1306.)
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1610.—Tamil ; $.8. 15 (3) 2 expired, K, A. 787 ; Alvir-
kurichehi (Ambisamudram, Tinnevelly) ; gift
of land to the temple on the bank of
Vannitirtha for the merit of Vigvanatha-
Niayakkar - Virappit - Nuyakkar Muttuvirappa
Niyakkar Ayyan, (122 of 1107.,)

1610.—Grantha ; &.8. 1582, Idvara (1637); Palaiywi-
kottai (Tinnevelly) ; Tirumala Nuyaka and
Vigvanitha Niyaka ; grant of four mas of land
in Rajavallipuram  to Teppakulam  Rama-
bhadrasvimi in the reign of Sadasivaraya.
(LM.P., ili, p. 1493.) )

1610.—Tamil; §.8. 1532, Baumya, Ani, Pusa asterism ;
Madura;  Visvaniitha Nayakkar—Virappa
Niyakkar cxempted the Mudaliviir servants
of the Sokkunithasvami temple, living in
Annikudi and other villages, from the levy-
ing of brokerage. (Burgess, pp. 10410,
No. 23.)

1612.—Tamil ; §.5. 15 (34) expired; K.A. 788, Puri-
dhavin, Alvirkurichehi; gift for the merit of
Vigvanatha-Nayakkar-Muttu Virappn Nayak-
kar (123 of 1907.)

1613.—8S.8. 1535 ; Madura; Muttu Virappa Nayaka,
(Sewell, i, p. 293.)

1613.—Telugu ; 8.8, 1535, K.A. 789, Pramadbicha, Tai
13, Wednesday, Vellangudi; Vira-Venkatu-
patiriya ‘ ruling at Vijayanagara'; registers
that & certain Venkatddri Bhattar, the sonm of
Timmarasa, set up at Vellangudi alias
Virabhtipalasamudra the images of Krishnpa and
Kamesvari, and granted land for their worship.
The country was directly under the rule of
Visvanatha-Virappa, and the land granted had
been obtained as a grant from Vidvanitha-
Krishnappa Niyaka. (452 of 1016.)

1617.—Tamil ; §.5. 1539, K.A, 792, Nala; Adaichchani
(Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly); gift of certain
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privileges, in respect of tanks and ponds, to
the residents by Sinna Tippariihultaraiyan for
the merit of Muttu-Virappa-Niayakkar. (556
of 10113

1617.—Tamil; $.8. 1539 expived, Pingala ; Trichino-
poly ; Venkatad@va Mahiirdiya; damaged
recort]l of a gift for the merit of Virappa-
Nayaka, (134 of 1905.)

1620, —Tamil and Grantha ; 5.8. 1542, Kilayukti (1618) ;
Coimbatorg ; grant by Raghunithadéva Mahi-
riija, the son of 8ri Venkatad&va Mahiraja of
Uraiyar, the apent of Vidvanitha Niyaka-
Virappa Nayaka and [feudatory of Vi
Ramadéva, then ruling at Penukonda. (5.C.A,
No. 187.)

1623.—8.8. 1545, Srimukha (1633); Kilakkulattir
(Udaiyarpilaiyam, Trichinopoly), REmayya, the
minister of Vidvaniitha Nayaka, granted 1,000
Aufis of land in the village to the God.
(7.0, i, p. 1614.)

1623, —Tamil ; S.8. 1545, Rudhirddgiri, Masi 21
(about the 3rd of March, 1624), Wednesday ;
Rimedvaram ; the nadamalika mandapam and
the Ariidha mandapam in the ficst grgdara of
the Ramanfthasvimi itemple were built by
Kattan Setupati Katta Tevar, the son of
Udaiyaniyan Setupati Katta Tavar.

(Burgess,_p. 60, No. 15.)

1623—8.8. 1545; Madura; Muttu Virappa Niyaka.
(Sewell, i, p. 282.)

1623, —Tamil; §.8. 1545, K. A. 799, Rudhirddgari,
Kartka (1) 6, Sunday; AmbAsamudram ;
orders of the priest that the five subdivisions
of Kanpilar (Kammilar) be prohibited from
communal fellowship, in accordance with the
general orders of Vidvanitha Niyaka-Virappa
Miyaka-Muttu Virappa Nayaka. (309 of
1916.)



126.

127.

128.

129,

History of the Nayaks of Madura

1625, —Tamil ; 8.8, 1547, KLA. 798 (1622), Rudhirid.
giiri, Vaikagi 15 (about the 27th of May, 1623);
Brahmadédam ;  registers  the royal  writ
granted by Vidvanatha Nayaka-Virappa Nuya-
ka that the members of the five sub-livigions
of artisans (Kanmalar) should not intermingle
with each other (Clifankffamecudam). (3748
of 1916.)

1630.—Tamil; §.8. 1(5) 53), K. A. 805, P'ramida;
Terkukirigeri (Srivaikuntham, Tinnevelly) ;
mentions Kiriserl in  Amudagunavala-niin,
and records a gift for the merit of Teriya-
niyakkarayyan. (23 of 1912.)

1630.—Tamil ; §.8. 155 (2), Sukla, Tai 21, Monday ;
Devikapuram (Arni, North Arcot) ; Venkaga-
déva-Mahariya, the son of Tirumalaidéva-
Mahfiriiya ; Niyinappa-Niyaka, the son of
Krishnappa-Niyaka, improved a certain land
by constructing a tank near it and by digging
wells, He made it cultivable and presented
it to the temple. (388 of 1912.)

1634, —Sanskrit in Nigari : 5.8, 1556, Bhava, Vaikisi ;
Kiniyiir (Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly): the
Kiiniyiir Plates of Venkata I1; Vira Venkata-
pati Mahf@iviya granted to a number of
Brohmans the village of Kiniyfir or Muttu-
krishpapuram in the Viravanallir saghawa

« (makdni) in Mulli-nfdu in Tiruvadi-raiva. The
vedigree of the last Vijayanagar dynasty and
of the Niyaks of Madura is given. The grant
was issued at the request of Tiromala Niyaka.
(E.1., iii, pp. 236-58; M.E.R., 1891, p. 6.)

1635.—K.A. 810, Kumbham (Miii) 22; an edict of the
king of Travancore to the ryots of Nanjiniig,
regarding remission of some taxes on land,
owing to the advent of Tirnmala Nayakar's
forces., (V. Nagam Aiya, The Travancore
State Manual, pp. 302-3.)
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1635, —K.A. 811; Aladiyfir (AmbAsamudram, Tinne-
velly) ; Tirumala Niyaka ; his gift of lands to
the local Siva temple. His name appears on
the side of the sluice of the tank. (Sewell,
i, p. 3090.)

1637.—K.Y. 4738, I$vara; Kapilamalai (Namakkal,
Salem) ; Tirumala Niyaka; his gift of lands
to the temple. (fbdd., p. 203.)

1638.—Tamil : .8, 1560, K.A. 813, Bahudinya, Vaikadi
15 (27th May); MEeElambir (Pingurichchi);
taxes levied on tenants residing at the eastern
corner of Pudukkulam and granted to the
temple for the merit of Nigaiyya-Vidvanitha
Niyaka-Tiramalai Niyaka, and of Vaidy-
appayyar, Rimappayyar and Krishnappayyar,
(519 of 1916.) _

1640,—Tamil; $.8. 1562, Vishu (1641); Vémbangugi
(Sivaganga, Ramnad) ; a gift for the merit of
Tirumalai-Nayakkarayyan, (120 of 1910.)

1642, —Tamil ; §.8. 1564, Chitrabhinu ; Tiruppaldturai
{Trichinopoly); Vigvanitha Nayakkar-Tirumalai
Niyakkarayyan ; his gift of land ; reference is
made to 289 of 1903, (290 of 1903.)

1642, =225 (1), Chitrabhiinu ;  Tirumuroganpiingdi
(Pallaglam, Coimbatore); Tiromala Nayaka;
his graurn Raghunatha Pundit and the people of
the neighbouring villages granted to Subrah-
manya Pundit, the priest of the temple, a
piece of land and the contribution of one
panane per house every year, and two pagams
for a marriage. (LM.P., i, p. 560.)

1643.—Tamil; S.8. 1565, Pramadi (1639), Ani 16;
Pudir (Tirumangalam, Madura); gift of the
village of Tirumalasamudram to the temple
of Sokkandthasviimin for conducting certain
festivals in the month of Tai, Vaiyasi and Ani
for the merit of Tiromalal Niayakkar, the son
of Vigvanatha Nayakkar, (395 of 1814.)

45
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1644, —Tamil; K, A. s1%,  Svabhiinu, Adi 15
Aladiyur; gift of this village through the
agency of Pivanatha Pandaram for refuirs in
the big gopwra, and (the temple) of Sokka-
miithasvimi by Vidvanatha  Nuyakkar-Tirn-
malai Nayakkar, (203 of 19160)

1647, —Tamil : 8.8, 1569, KA. H24, Sarvadharin,
Avanl 3, Thuesday ¢ Vairivikulam  (Ambie-
sumndram, Tinnevelly) ; gilt of this village,
west of Kalladaikurichehi in Mulli-valanagdu,
to the Tirvpfiana-sambandha-Pandaram ol
Madura for the merit of Vigvanitha Nayakkar-
Tirumalai Niyakkar and of Emberumin Pillai.
(285 of 1914.)

1648.—85.58, 1570, K.A, 824; Vairfivikulam ; Tirumaln
Niyaka: his gift of lands to n Sudra priest.
{Sewell, i, p. 310.)

1648, —Tamil ; K.A. 823, Karttigai 22: Sivadailam ;
food to paradedis was regularly distributed in
the time of Ramappayyan; in the time of
Sokkalinganiiyakkarayyan, it continued with
a break of five or six days. This defect wus
rectiied and the twelve padis of cooked rice
were received. (521 of 1816.)

1650.—Tamil ; Vikrita; Pallimadam (Aruppukkitiai,
Ramnad) ; Tiromala Naiyaka, the king and
Mutturimalinga Pindudaiyiintorai met at
Pallimagam, when they gave a copper plate
charter to an amdbalafaran. Another in the
same vear. (5 and 6 of Appendix A, 1911;
M.E.R., 1911, p. 89.)

1651.—Khara ; Madura ; Tirnmala Nayaka ; his grant to
a private individual. (S.C.2., No. 199.)

1652.—8.S. 1574; Yerumaippatti (Namakkal); Tiru-
mala Nayaka ; gift of some lands by a private
party during his reign, (Sewell, i, p. 204.)

1653. —Ananda ; Madura; Tirumala Niyaka; his tour
round the kingdom; grant of lands to o
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Kaupdan of Nallamiram for hospitable recep-
tion and loyalty. (S.C.2, No. 42.)
Note.—The date given by Sewell for this
ingeription is 1656, But Ananda must be
1614 or 1674, I the cyclie year is a mistake
Fur Nandana, the date would be 1652-3,

1654, —Jaya ; Madura ; Ticumala Niyaka; his grant to
Svi Ranga Niiyakka, the lordof WVellikurick-
chi (Vellikurichehi Stmaiklu karier) as reward
fur his services in slaying tigers. (5.C.A,

No, 197.)
16855,—~Kanarese; Ma (nma) tha; Erode; Kanthirava
Narasarfijo-Vadérn ; mentions Dalavayi

Hampai(ya) and Madbura, (170 of 1910;
Mysore Gazetleer, 1, p. 364.)

1655.—Telugu; S. 8. 1577, Manmatha ; Kannpadipittir
(Udumalpet, Coimbature) ; Titumala Nayaka ;
his prant of lands to a Brahman in the reign
of Sri-Ranga Raya. (S.C.2., No. 190.)

1656, —Tamil ; 8.8, 1579, Vilambi; Rame$varam ;
Tirumalai Raghuniitha SEtupati Kattatgvar
who performed the Airanyagarbia ceremony ;
gift of land and a copper plate charter to
AhGbalayya of the Kaundinya-gotra, (10 of
Appendix A, 1911))

1657.—Telugu; S.5. 1579, Hevilambi; Tinnevelly ;
grant of land in the wvillages of Tirumala-
samudram and Pudukkulam to a Brabman by

» 511 Ranga Krishpa Muttu Virappa Nayakka,
the son of Chokkanitha Nayakka and grand-
~ son of Tirumala Nayakka. (5.C.F., No. 52.)
1658.—8.8. 1580, Viévavasu (1545); Srirangam;
- Madora Réman gave half a 287 of land to the
God in the reign of VidvanAtha WNayakar.

(LM.P., iii, p. 1571.)

1659, Tamil ; §.8. 1581, Vilamba ; Tiruchchengddu ;
gift of the village of Kdlangandlai in Parittip-

palli-nddu - by Visvanatha-Tirumala-Nayaka
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for the merit of Komarn Mutte Tirumala
Niiyaka, (650 of 1905,)

1659..—8.8, 1581 ; Tiruchehengdgu 3 gift of a0 village
to the temple by Kumara bMultn Tiromala
Niyakka, the son of Visvanatha-Tirumala
Nayakka, during his futher's reign, (Sewell, i,
p. 2030

1659.—Tamil; $.5. 1581, Havilambi; Riumésvaram ;
grant of land to Sankara Gurukkal und others
of the Marfitha Gurukka] Assembly, to provide
for the comforts of Maritha and other pilgrims,
by Raghunfithe S8tupati, the sun of Hirayya-
rarblapa/f Raoghunitha Sétupat], who has o
long list of titles very similur o those given
in No. 106.  (Burgess, Setupati Grant, Nu. 5.)

1659.—Tamil ; §.8. 1580 expived, Hévilambi (1657) ;
Ramésvaram ; grant to Sankara Gurukkal and
uthers fur conducling the Navarafri lestival,
by Raghupatha Tirumalai SElupati  Khla
Tevar, the son of Tirumalai SEtupati Khatta
I'&var, with the same titles as above. (/bid,,
No. 6.)

1659.—Kanarese; S. 8. 1581, Vikirl; Singanallur
Kollggil, Coimbatore); Srira (ngn) rdya;
mentions a certain Deévaraju-Vogéya., (20 of
1910.)

1661.—85.5. 1583 ; Nenménij {SE!H‘H‘, Ramnad) ; grant of
a tank to the temple in honour of Chokkalingu
Niyaka and others. (Sewell, i; p. 305.)

1662.,— Telugu; S.8. 1584, K.Y. 4763, Sobhakrit;
Srirangam ; grant of land to the temple priest
by Chokkandtha, the son of Muttu Virappa
and grandson of Tirumala Nayaka, when
Sriranga was reigning at Ghanagirl, (S.C.A2,
No. 51.)

1663.—Tamil (prose and verse) ; 8.5, 1585, Sobhana :
Tiruchchengddu ; the building of the gopura
and of the temple of KZ&i-Vidvadvara on the
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hill by Visvandtha-Chokkalinga Niyaka, (654
of 1905 ; Sewell, i, p. 203,)

1663, —~Tamil ; 5.8, 1585, Subhinu ; Rameégvaram;
grants to the hereditary priesthood by Muttu
Rimalinga Vijaya Raghunftha Setapati.
(Burgess, Setupati Grant, No. 16.)

1663.—Telugu ; S.S. 1585, S$bhakrit ; Bellary ; gift of
the village of Bairéhalli to a Brahman of
Srigallam by Sriranga (III), then at Velapuri
on his ‘jewelled lion throne’. (5 C 2,
No. 128.)

1663, —~D&va Rija, the grandson of Chéima Rija; one
of his titles being, ‘skilful in cutting down
the strong-armed Pandya'. (£.C, Mysore, I,
T.N., No. 23.)

1663, —Doddadéva Rija Odéyar ; his Nanjang%d Plates ;
one of his titles being, the * destroyver of the
Pandva King . (Mysore Archeological Report,
1917, p. 538.)

16ti4,—8.8. 1586, Parabhava (/666) ; Srirangam ; gift of
a village to Gods Ranganatha and Tiruvén-
gadandtha by Vi§vanitha Niayaka Chokka-
piitha Nayaka, (LM P., iii, p. 1572.)

1665.—8.8, 1587; Menmeni; a grant in honour of
Chokkalinga and others. (Sewell, i, p. 305.)

1665.—8.8. 1587, Visvivasu: Kanpadiputtir; Vigva-
nitha Niyaka-Chokkandtha Nayaka; one
Vira Nayaka granted fifteen wds of land in the
Kapiyfir village to the local temple in the
reign of Srirangadéva. (LM.P., i, p. 562.)

1665.—Tamil and Grantha; $.S. 1587, Viévavasu;
Kaniytir (Udumalpet, Coimbatore) ; Visvana-
tha-Tirumala-Virappa-Chokkaniitha Nayaka ;
his grant of lands to the Brahmans of the
neighbouring village of Kolumam in the reign
of Srirangadéva Mahirdya. (S.C.P., No. 186.)

1666,—Tamil ; §.8. 1588, Kilaka (1668); Tiruchchen-
gidu ; grant of land by Chokkanfitha-Nayaka,
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the son "of Vi(Sva)nitha Noyaka Tiromuly
Niyaka-Muttuvirappa Nayaka, o089 of 1905,
1667.—Telugu and Grantha; 5.5, 1589, Plavanmea ;
Fumaralingam  (Udhumalpet,  Coimbatore) ¢
Visvanitha-Tiramala - Virappa - Chokkanatha
Nuyaka ; his grant of Tands in the villige to o
Brahman in the reign of Srirangadeva Ry,
(S.C.2., No. 188.)

Tamil ; 5.5, 1589 expired, Plavanga, Vaikasi,
Thursday ; RamEdvaram ; grant of the two
villages of Anandiir and Pappukucdi w the
temple by a Perumil Sérvaikaran of Panliyur
for the merit of Tirumualai Hirappagarblayajs
Raghunitha Tevar, the son of Dajavay
Setupati Kitta Tévar.  (Burgess, Setupati
Grant, No. 7.)

1669,—5.8. 1591, Saumya; Sricangam: gift of Lwo
vélis and four was of land in Umayapuram and
elsewhere to God Ranganatha by Alugiri
Niyakan, the son of Chinnama Nayakun,
(L2, il p. 1572.)

1669.—8.5. 1591, Saumya; Satyamangalam (Gopi-
chettipilaivam, Coimbatore) ; grant of land
by Devardja Udaiyiir in the villuge of
‘Comaree '. (fbid., i, p. 551.)

1669.—Kanarese : 8.8, 1581, Saumya (1669-71))
Seugalarai (near Satyamangalam); Virapratipa
Devarija-Vodéya ; mentions Satyamangala in
Uduvanka-nddu, and registers a gift to the
temple of Kumiirasvimin on the Dhavalagiri
hill in Durvasa-kshétra at the confluence of the
rivers Chintdmani and Bhavéni, (181 of 15910.)

1670.—Tamil ; S.8. 1591 expired, Saumyn : Tirumey-
yam (Pudukotta State); gift for the merit of
Tirumalai Setupati Kiitta Dalaviy Raghuni-
thanar@ndra. (394 and 398 of 19086.)

1671.—Kanarese ; S.8. 1593, Virodhikrit ; Vinnappal|i
(Gopichettipalaiyam, Coimbatore) ; Dévarija

1668,
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Udaiyiir divided the village into sixty-four
shares and granted it to sixty-four Brahmans.
(LML, 4, p. 552.)

1673.—Tamil ; §.8. 1595 ; Hanumantagui (Trirnvidi-
nai, Ramnad); Tiromalai Sétupati itk
T@var ; gift of lands to a Musalman. (Sewell,
i, p. 298.)

1673.—5.8. 1595; Dogda Belar (Hostr, Salem);
Chikkad&va Rija; on a local anicut ; constroe-
tion of the same by Kumirarfiya Dalavay in
his reign.  (Sewell, 1, p. 194.)

1674.—4.8. 1596, Ananda ; Stirangam : Chinna Bomma-
Miyaka granted a village for Gods Gapala-
krishna and Rangandtha in the reign of
Vigvaniitha WNiyakan-Chokkanitha Niavakan,
(LM, ifi, p. 1572.)

1674.—8.8. 1596 ; Ananda; Srirangam ; Chinna
Bommanfyaka granted the village of * Voha-
coode' to Gods Gipidlakrishna and Ranga-
niitha in the reign of Vidvanftha Niyakar-
Chokkaniitha Nayakar. (fdid.)

1674.—85.5. 1596, Ananda ; Srirangam ; Riyasam
Basava-RAja gave the village of ‘Munga-
looroo ' to Gods Ranganatha and Varadar&ja
and Ramdnuja &#fam in the reign of Visva-
ndtha Nayakat-Chokkanitha Nayakkar, (féd.)

1674.—Chikkadévarija ; one of his titles—' Karpataka
Chakravarti . (Mysore Archeological Repori,
1912, p. 57.)

1676—%4.5. 1598, Nala ; Kumirapédlaivam ; one Ranga-
ndtha Setti and another erected two manda-
pams, and granted one selagai of paddy land in
the reign of Chikka-Déva. (L.M.F., i, p. 527

1676.—Tamil; S.S. 1598, Nala; Satyamangalam;
Virapratipa Chikadévarija, ruling at Maisar;
the building of a temple for Komarasvami
on the Dhavalagiti hill at the conflnence
of the rivers Chintimani and Bhavini at
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Satyamangalam in Oduvanga-nidu. (2090 of
1909 : MR, 1910, p. 118.)

1678, —Telugu ; $.8. 1600, Kiilayukti; Madura ; grant
of the village of Krishpapuram to o Bruhman
by Muddu Alagiri Nayughy, the grandson of
Vidvaniitha Niyani—Tirumala Miiyuclu,and the
son of Muddu Virappa Nayudn, in the reign of
Sri Virapratipa Srirangn Rilya Mabidévarija.
(5.C P., No, 20.)

1679.—&.S. 1601 ; Tirukkoshtiyir  (Tiruppattur,
Ramnad) ; gift of land by Raghuniitha Tiru-
malai Setupati, (LMD, i, D 1189.)

1679.—&.8. 1601 ; Tiravidanai; gift of lands to the
&iva temple by Hiranyagarbha SEtupati; two
copper plate grants. (Sewell, i, p. 302.)

1579, —Seringapatam ; Chiklcadeva Rija; * In the east,
having conquered the Pindya King Chokka in
battle, he captured the great Trpura and then
the wealthy Anantapuri'. (/£.C, Mysore,
1, 5.R., No. 151)

1679, —Telugu ; S.8. 1602, Siddharti, Friday, the
third lunar day which was Akshayatrtivi of
the bright fortnight of Vaigika @ in the
presence of God Ranganitha, on the bank of
the Chandrapushkarani, Muddalagadri Niyaka,
the son of Viévanitha Niyaka, granted, for
the merit of his ancestors, with all the usual
rites, the village Ardmbanna of the revenue
value of 600 malluku, situated on the bank of
the Tamraparni in the southern s@sk{ra; and
the stone mafha situated to the west of the
southern gopnra of the Chitra street of Rangak-
shétra (Srirangam) to the Raghupati treasury
of Yopindra-tirtha-§ripada-Ocleyar, the son of
Rag-;havé‘ndra-Ertha%ripﬁda-ﬂdéyar. Thisisa
copper plate record from the Raghavendra-
syami matha of Nanjangad. (Mysore Archeeo-
logrical Report, 1917, p. 57.)
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1680, —~Tamil ; 8.8, 160] expired, Siddhiirti Makara,
Thursday ; Riam@$varam ; Raghunitha Setu-
pati Kaita Tévar, the son ot Mirayyagarblia-
paji Roghuniitha Setupati Kiitta TSvar: gront
of villages For festivals and offerings to Rima-
-nathasvimi, which were placed under the
mirds of Raghunitha Gurukkal, the son of
Sankara Gurnkka], whose functions, privileges
and honours are enumerated. (Burgess, Setu-
pati Grant, No. 8.)

1682.—Tamil ; Dundubhi ; Aruppukkéttai (Ramnad) ;

: Tirumalai S&tupatikiitta Raphunithatévar ;
gift of land in the village of Bommalkkottai
for daily worship by his agent for his merit.
{416 of 1914.)

1683, —Tamil ; K. A. 858, Durmukhi (1656-7) ; Tinne-
velly ; a sale<deed by the chief of Vannikdam
to the temple at Tinnevelly, in order to
increase the merit of (Prandyatinbidla) Ranga
Krishna Muttn Virappa Niyaka and Tiravengi-
nithayyar, (5.C.2., No, 167.)

1684.—Tamil; 8.5. 1606, K. Y. 4785, Raktikshi,
Vaiyasi, fulllmoon, Monday; RiméSvaram ;
Hirauyagarbhayaif Roghunitha Setupati Kitta
Tevar; grant to God Eluvipurifvarar and
Goddess Akhilandédvari in IK&laiyarkovil-
éimai, in Tennalai-nddu, of the three wvillages
of Pudukkoitai, Kallikkudi and Edayanvayal.
(Burgess, Sétupati Grant, No. 8.)

1686.—85.8. 1608; Arumbdvar (Perambalir, Trichino-
poly) ; (Ranga Krishna) Muttu Virappa
Niyaka; repairs to a sluice during his reign.
(Sewell, i, p. 263.)

1686.—Pattukkdttai  (Tanjore), in the ruined fort;
Shahii * conguered all the Pattukkottal country
inhabited by Kaffans extending to the south
as far as the Pambanir'. (Yawjore Gazectleer,

i, p. 253.)
46
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1686, —Seringapatam ; Chikkadgvarajn Udaiyar defeated

the army of the Lord of Madhura in the Irogu
country and took Tppurn and Anantapuri;
slew Dimaralayyapéndra and put Anantoji
to flight, captured the elephant Kulas&kharn,
and took by assault Simballi (Bhavini,
Coimbatore), Omaldr (near Salem), and Dhira-
puram. (%.C., Mysore, L, S.R., No. 14.)

1687, —Tamil; S.8. 1608 expired ; Uyyakkongdin Channel

1687.

near Vettuviyttalai (Trichinopely) ; o record
of Mangammi] on a pillar at the head-sluice
of the channel. (71 of 1890: M.AA., 1891,
pp. 4 and 8.)

Prabhava; Srirangam;: Annamuttammil, the

mother of Sri Ranga Krishne Muttuvirappa
Nayakar, gave two villages for God Ranga-
ndtha (Z.M.2., iii, p. 1571.)

1691, —Telugu; §.5. 1613, K. Y. 4792, Prajotpatti:

Trichinopoly ; grant of land to a Brahman by

Mangammai], the widow of Chokkanftha,
(S.C.P., No. 47.)

1692, —Telugu ; S.5. 1614, Angirasa; Tinnevelly:

grant to a Musalman for the maintenance
of a mosque, during the reign of the so-
vereign Sriranga Riiya at Kanakagiri, by
Vijaya Ranga Chokkanatha, the son of Ranga
Krishna Muttn Virappa, ' who was the son of
Chokkanatha, and grandson of Muttu Virappa,
of the family of Vidvandtha Nayaka® who was
then ‘ in the Kingdom of Madura ' (Madhura-
samstanamanduvandi). (S.C.P., No. 53))

199, 1692,—Telugu ; §.8. 1614, Srimukha; Srirangam ; gift

ofland by Mangamma], the Queen of Vidva-
nitha Nayaka-Chokkandtha Nayaka. (12 of
Appendix I, 1888 ; 25 of Appendix A, 1906.)

200, 1693.—Tamil; $.8. 1(6)15, Srimukha, K. Y. 4794;

Uttamapajaiyam (Periyakulam, Madura) ; gift

of land by Mangamma]. (733 of 1905.)
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201. 1695.—8.5. 1617; Tinnevelly ; u grant to the
Tirnppudaimarndiic temple by the agents of
Vijayaranga Chokkaniitha Nayaka. (S.C.P.,
No. 202.)

202, 1695—85.8. 1617, Yuva; Avanadi; Chikkadéva Riya
Udaiyir; Gurun Karimallayya, his Prime
Minister, granted to the local God and
Goddess the fees of fourteen pdagawmes, ete.
(LM.P., i, p. 523.)

203, 1695.—(July 11) Tamil; S.8., 1617, K. A, 871, Adi
11, Thursday ; Ambasamudram ; Vijayaranga
Chokkanatha Nayaka, the son of Ranga-
Krishna-Muttuvirappa Nayvaka and grandson
of Chokkaniitha Niyaka ; records servamanya
grants made by a Pandya King in 8. S. 1408,
K. A, 661, Purattadi 20, Thursday, for daily
worship, monthly and annual festivals, offer-
ings and other requirements to the temple at
Dakshinakddi in Mulli-nddu. (1 of Appendix
A, 1919.)

204. 1697, —K. A. 873, Kartikai 4; Vadaéeri (Apgastis-
varam, Travancore); records remisgion of .
taxes to the people of Nanjindgd for thirteen
vears, on account of the Nayak invasion.
(V. Nagam Aiva, e Dravancore State Manval,
i, pp. 197-8 and 317-8.)

205. 1698.—Telugu; $.8. 1619, I§vara, Magha, Friday;
Mangammagary, the Queen of Visvanatha
Niayaka-Chokkanftha Niyaka, granted, with
all the usual rights, the village of Ayirdharma,
together with its hamlets, of the revenue
value of 400 maljuku, situated in the Srivalli-
putigrn-Simai of her Tiruchingpalli-vashiva
and a matha with a mandapa, a temple and g
Purana-ghaife in Srivalliputtiir to the Raghu-
pati  treasury of Sumatindratirtha-$ripada-
odéyar, . . . (Mysore Aveheological Repori,
1917, p, 57.)
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1700.—Telugu ; 5.8, 1622, Vikeama, Tinnevelly; a
grant to the Siva temple at Tinnevelly by
Ranga Krishna Muttu Virappa Nayaka in the
reign of Rijudhirajn Narasimhadisva at Ghuna-
girl, (5.0, N, 168.)

1700, —Telugu ; S.5. 1622, Vesha; Madura ;. grant of
the village of Bilakrishno Mahadanapurim to
certain Brahmans by Sr1 Mangumma, wife of
Chokkanatha Nayule, who was son of Mutto
Virappa Nayudu, and grandson of Vigvanatha
Miyani-Tiromala Nayudu.' (5.0, No. 190

1700.—8.8. 1622; Tirumogior (Madura) ;  Dalaviy
SEtupati ; repairs in the Siva temple.  (Sewell,
i, p. 295.)

1701, —Telugn; 5.5, 1623, Vishu (Viysha) ; Madura;
Mangammal, the Queen of  Vidvanatha
MNiyakn-Chokkanathan Noayako; gift of land
for n feeding institute (annad@na) to a certain
Subbayya Bhagavata, when * Virapratapa
Vira-Venkatadeva-Maharaya was ruling  at
Ghinagiri® (Penukonda) with the imperial
titley, Maharijidhiraje and Paramédvara., (ol
Appendix A, 1911 ; AR, 1911, pp. 81-400,)

1701, —Telugn ; {S.S.} 1623, Vishu ; Mangammal, the
(Jueen of Chokkanatha Nayaka; gift of some
villages near Trichinopoly to the deraga of
Bibfnatta. (19 of Appendix A, 1911 ; MLER,,
1911, pp. 89-90.)

1704, —Telugu; S.8. 1626 current, Tarana; Maruttu-
vakkudi (Papan@Sam, Tanjore), on a stone
get up on the bank of the Uyyakkondin
Channel near the surplus sluice ; Mangamma-
garu, the Queen of Vidvanidthanivini-
Chokkanfiyiniviiru : the construction of the
sluice (Aalinguln) by a Brihmana, (394 of
18907.)

1706.—Telugu ; §.8. 1628, Vyaya ; Tinnevelly ; a grant
by Mangammail, the widow of Chokkanatha
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Nayaka, during the reign of VenkatadEva
Riya it Ghinagivi,  (5.0.7%, No. 1M0.)

214, 1707 —"Tamil ; & copper plate inscription from the
Vyusarayi-aafle  of Sosule; registers the
prant  of  eertein  toxes on the imports,
oxports, ete, of the kingdom by Vijaya
[Laghunitha Setupati Kiittatévar of Ramnad,
on behalf of the mafha Lo its agont at
Ramégvaram. The king has the following
titles :—=Lord of Tévanagpara, Establisher of
‘the  Pangi-mandala, Lord of Sembi-nfdu,
Creator of Raghuniithasamudra by damming
the Vaipai, Lord of the Southern Ocean,
Chamnpion over three kings, etc.  He i4 said to
have his residence in Kittiir afias Kulottunga-
Solanallie in Tingavir kiwpam, He and his
father, Raghunitha S€tupati Kattatevar, have
the epithet Hirapyagarbhayaji added to their
names. (Mysore sreheological Report, 1912,
1. 85

214, 1708, —Telugu ; 8.8, 1630, Vikriti (1710), Kirttika 15,
Monday ; Virapratipa Venkatadéva-Mahariya,
ruling at Ghanagiri; grant of lands by
Vijayaranga-Chokkaniitha for the maintenance
of worship, feeding of Brihmanas, etc., in the
Sankarichirya-matha at Gajiranyakshstra
(Jambuk&ivaram)., (4 of Appendix A, 1915.)

215, 1708, —Telugu; a copper plate from Vyasar@va-mafha
of Sosile ; records the grant of certain dues
to the mafha by the Lord of the Piandya
throne, Vijaya Ranga Chokkandtha Nayaka of
the Kasyapa-gotra, the son of Rangakrishna-
Mudduvirappa Niyaka, and grandson of
Vidvanfitha Nayaka-Chokkanitha Nayaka.
Whatever dues were being paid in the Madura
kingdom to the temple at Chokkanathapura
were to be paid to the mafha also. (Mysore
Archaological Report, 1912, p. 55.)
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1710, —Tamil ; 8.8, 1632, Khara, Panguni 20, Saturday ;
Madura ; Vijaya Ranga Chokkanatha, the son
of Muttu Virappa Nayakkar; refers to u
temple servant falling down from the top of
the temple gopura s o protest against undne
collection of tax from four tax-free villages,
and the yielding of the Stute oflicials.  "This is
an interesting docoment which gives the nomes
of the Dalavay, Pradhani, the Commander
of the Madura fort, the Samprati (aecountant),
the temple manager, and the members of the
temple panchayal, (Burgess, pp. 1101,
No. 24.)

1710.—85.8. 1632 ; Madura; Vijaya Ranga Chokka-
natha Nayaka. (Sewell, i, p. 2452.)

1712.—(8th March)—Tamil ; §.8. 1632, Khara, Panguni
10, Saturday ; Madura ; records remission of
taxes on four villages granted to the bearers
of the (image) of Sokkanithasvamin in the
reign of Vijaya Ranga Chokkaniitha Nayaka,
the son of Muttu Virappa Nayaks ; mentions
the Commander-in-Chief, Kumiara Dalavay
Eat(s)tivi Rangayyan, and the DProdhdni,
Venkatakrishnayyvan, (6 of 1915; MAEK.,
1915, p. 116.)

1712.—S5ame as No. 213,

1713, —Tamil ; §.8. 1635, Vijaya; Raméfvaram ; Muttu
Vijaya—Raghunitha Sgtupati Kittatévar, who
performed the Hiranyapardha ceremony ; gift
of lands and houses at Attiyiittu to fourteen
Brihmana families. (9 of Appendix A, 1911,)

1714.—8.S. 1636, Etappir (Attir, Salem) ; a sale deed
in the reign of Dodda Krishpa Udaiyar.
(Sewell, i, p. 201,)

1715.—5.8. 1637, K.A. 887 ; Tinnevelly ; private grant
of land for the support of the temple in a
village of the Tinnevelly district during the
reign of Vijaya Chokkanitha. (S.C.A., No.11,)
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1715.—5.8. 1636 expired, Jaya, Chitrai 12, Monday ;
Rimesvaram ;  Hiranpagarbhayaji  Vijaya
Raghuniitha S8tupati Kitta Tevar, the son
ul  Hiranyeparihapaj; Raghunitha SEtupati
Katta T8var ; u grant for the maintenance of
n charity. (Burgess, S8tupati Grant, No. 10.)

1716, —Telugu ; 8.8, 1648; Srirangam ; grant of land
for a charity by Vijaya Ranga Chokkanitha,
the son of Ranga Krishga Muttu Virappa, and
grandson of Chokkaniitha, when S Vira
Ranga Riya was reigning at Ghinagiri.
(5.C.F°, No, 50.)

1717.—8.5. 1639, Kartikai 21 ; Madura; a copper plate
grant of Vijaya Ranga Chokkantha, record-
ing the gift of a mafha at Tirukkalukkuipam
(Chingleput). (The Madras Museum.)

1718.—8.8. 1640 ; Tali (Hosir, Salem); the Gopala
temple was built by Krishna Riya Udaiydr of
Maishir. (Sewell, i, p. 195.)

1714, —Tamil ; 4.5, 1641 expired, Vikiri; Tai 13,
Wednesday ; Madura; an agreement drawn
up by eight merchants of the village of
Vattilaikkiingdu, belonging to eight castes (ten
classes of people) as the Kaundans, Komittis,
Muhammadang, ete, promising to give a
gshare of their gains annually to support the
ritual of their village temple. The grant was
executed with the consent of the palace
authorities, the Palace Agent, XKilappa
Nayaka, Kiaval Ettilappa Nayaka, ete., when
Vijaya Ranga Chokkandtha was in power
at Madura. (S.C.P., No. 65-A; Burgess,
pp. 89-90, No. 12.)

1721, —Telugu ; S.S. 1643, Subhakrit (1722) ; Trichino-
poly; a gift of rent-free land to a certain
Narasa Pantuln ¢ to offer prayers to Dhanvan-
tari' in the reign of Vijayaranga Chokka-
nitha WNiyaka, the son of Rangakrishna
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Muttovirappn  Nayaka, and  grandson  of
Chokkaniitha Nayakn, (1 of Appendiz A,
1911 ; ALAR, 191D, 1. B

1722, —Seringapatam ; Chikkadeéva Raja * emulated  the
gports of Krishna in conguering the Jord of
Madura'. (/.C., Mysore, /., S.A., No. Gh)

1724, —Telugu ; Sa 1646, Keodhis Tinnevelly s prant
of a village in charity by Vijaya Ramga
Chokkanathe during the rvelgn of Mahad@éva
Riya at Ghiinagiri. (S.C\./., No, 10.)

1727.—Tamil ; §.8. 1649, K.Y. 4828, Parabhava;
Trichinopoly ; - grant by * Vijaya Chokka
Ranganiitha Niyakan', the son of Muttu
Virappa MNiyaka, and grandson of Chokka-
nitha, to a Panfiram (Sudra priest) for
worship at o fwped-fafi temple at  the
southern gate of the Trichinopoly fort, when
Venkata Vema Mabariya was reigning
Kannakama. (S.C/7, No. 44))

1728.—Tamil ; S.8. 1650, K.¥V. 4829, Kilaka: ‘Tiru-
nedungalam (Trichinopoly) ; gift of land for
worship in the local temple by Vijayaranga
Chokkaniitha Nayaka, (697 of 1904.)

1729,—85.8. 1651, K.Y, 4830, Saumya ; Madura; grant
by Sinna Kadirappa Nayakka, a chicf residing
near Dindigul, of a wvillage called Bhiopiila-
samudra to a number of Pundits in Saundara-
riijapuram, otherwise called Anaipatti during
the reign of WVijaya Ranga Chokkaniitha,
who was governing the country as Viceroy
for the Vijayanagar sovereign Srirangsa
Raya. (S.C.P., No. 33; Burgess, pp. 117-21,
Na. 27.)

1731.—8.8. 1653, K.A. 907, Virddhikrit; Tinnevelly ;
grant of a house by certain persons to o
female Dbelonging to the Siva temple in
‘'innevelly for the maintenance of worship in
the reign of Vijaya Ranga Chokkanditha. The
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deed is ornamented with Vaishnava figures.
(8.C.L, No. 56.)

1733, —Tamil ; 5.5, 1655 ; Samayavaram (Trichinopoly);
nogrant by ' Mindikshi Rini Ammi] ', the wife
of Vijuya Ranga Chokkanfitha, doring the
reign of Sri Vira Venkatad@va Mahfirdya at
Ghanagirinagara. (Sewell, 1, p. 267)

1738, —Telugn; 8.8, 1654, K.V, 4833, Pramadicha ;
Trichinopoly ; grant of land for a charitable
object at the Trichinopoly fort-gate by
Miniikshi, the widow of Vijaya Ranga Chokka-
niitha, the son of Ranga Krishpa Muttu
Virappa and grandson of Chokkanftha, when
Venkatad&va was sovereign at Ghanagirz
(S.C.P., No. 49.)

1733.—&.8, 1655; Trichinopoly ; grant of lands to a
mosque by Mindkshi, (Sewell, i, p. 268.)

1734.—85.8. 1656; Tiruchchengddu ; gifts of lands to
the temple by Krishna Rija Udaiyar of
Maistir, (Sewell, i, p. 203.)

1735.—Tamil; $.S. 1656 expired, Ananda (1734),
Kartikai, Aparapaksha-Trayodaéi, Svati, Mon-
day ; Ramédvaram :  Firvapyagarbheyajt
Kumira Muttu Raghunitha SEtupati, the son
of Hirauyagarbhayaji Raghuniitha S&tupati ;
grant of villages to Velayudhasvami of Palni.
{Burgess, S&tupati Grant, No. 14.)

1736.—Tamil; 5.5. 1658, Naja; Madura; Muttu
Kumira Vijaya Raghundtha SEtupati, the son
of Kumdra Muttu Vijaya Raghunitha, and
son-in-law of Hiranyagarbhayaj? Faghunitha
Setupati Katiar; his grant of lands to a
Brahman. (5.C.~., No. 23.)

1739.—Tamil ; 8.8, 1661, K.Y, 4841, Prabhava (1747);
Trichinopoly ; grant of lands to a Musalman
priest for the maintenance of a pafffvadel by
one Kimakshi Niyvaka, when Raima Kiya was
¢ rnling over the world'. (S.C.~°., No. 43.)

47
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1744.—8.8. 1666 ; Hanumantagudi; Muttn Kumiira
Vijaya Raghunitha Sttupati s grant of lands
to & Musalman, (Sewell, i, p. 204.)

1750.—3.8, 1672 ¢+ Dindigul ; Dalaviy Narayanappayya
re-established cortpin temple villages in the
reign of Vijaya Ranga Chokkunatha,  (LJ4.70%,
il, p. 992.))

1756, —Kanarese; 9.5, 1678, Dawd, K.Y, 4H57;
Avaniidi ; Krishparija Vadéya of Malusaru
ruling at Sriranguputiann ; repairs in the
temple. (201 of 190%4.)

1760.—8.8. 1682, Vikrama ; Sutyamangalam ; Krishna
Rija Udaiyir ; the villages of Guididaniiyakan-
phlaiyam, Tirumalai-Setfipilaiyam, ete., were
sold for 7,920 pegadus to Ramdavadhini and two
other Brahmans, (AL, i, p. 551.)

1760.—8.8. 1682 ; Kol|égal; Krishna Raja Udaiyiir of
Maistir ; gift of Innd Lo the karnam’s ancestors,
({bid., p. 553.)

1760.—5.8. 1682, Vikrama:; Coimbatore; Chikka
Krishpa Rija; grant of lands in Puttic and
Kaniyr villages. (5.C.~, No. 184,)

1762.—95.5. 1684 : Satyamangalam ; Krishparija Udai-

_ yir ; a sale-deed. (L0, i, p. 551.)

1763.—5.5. 1685, K.Y. 4864, Subhinu; Anaimalai
(Pollachi, Coimbatore) ; Krishna Rija Udaiyir
at Stirangapattanam ; grant of land by
Midayya, the * Agent of the Mais@ir Riijas ', to
certain Brihmanas, (5.C.F., No. 171)

1765.—Tamil ; §.8. 1687, K.Y. 4866, Pirthiva, Tai 4;
Madura ; Riya Vijaya-Raghunatha Tonglai-
méndr, ruling over the Madural-niido ; grant
of land at K&raippatti for certain services
and charities to be conducted at the time of
the festivals of the God Bila Subrahmanya on
the Palni hill. (22 of Appendix A, 1918.)

1771.—8.8, 1693; Tinnevelly; grant of land to the
Siva temple at Karivalamvandanallic by
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Ramalinga Niyaka, acting under orders of
Waviih Asiid Siyval, who assumes royal titles,
(M., No, 201.)

252, 1797, —Tumil ; §.8. 1719, Pingala, K.V, 4898 ; Nirana-
puram  (Palliglam, Coimbatore) ; Pallada-
gramam in Varikka-nddu, a sub-division of
Kongumandlalam ; a grant hy the Qottis,
referring to the rule of the Vijayanagar kings,
the Niyaks of Madura—Vivanitha, Tirumala,
cte, (1 and 2 of Appendix A, 1910; M.E.A.,
1910, p. 10.)

Miscellaneons and Undaled fuscriptions

253, —Iiyatthir (Kovilpatti, Tinnevelly) ; grant of lands in the
| Kaittiir ' provinee to Irunkd] Pillai, the chief of
Korlkai, on account of his having settled a boundary
dispute, by Vijaya Ranga Cholkalinga Nayaka.
(S.C.4%, No. 57.)

Note.—The date given in the inscription, i.e. 5,8, 1549,
K.A. 803 (1627), does not agree with the accepted
reign-period of Vijaya Runga Chokkanitha, the
Niyak of Madura,

254, —Mukkaninkurichehi {Kariir, Trichinopoly) ; vrecords that
Earemakavundan and others fixed an allowance of
one paldia of grain and two papams to the God for
each marriage in the reign of Vigvanitha Niayakar.
(LM.P., iii, p. 1510.)

255.—Tamil ; Kilakkarai (Ramnad) ; mentions Achyu(tajraya
and Tummusi Nayakkar. (398 of 1907 ; LM.P., ii,
p, 1167.)

Note.—The date given, viz. $.S, 146(.), would be be-
tween 1538 and 1547,

256,—Grantha ; S.8. 1515, Vijaya; Kilakkarai; Jatilavarman
& WVallabha; grant in his thirtieth year of the
renamed Peddappa Nayakasamudram to sixty-nine
Brihmanas at the request of the chief, Ayyankarappa,
the son of Peddappa and grandson of Nagama
Niyaka, who bears the titles of Mokalipattavardhana
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and Kanchimahfipwddhisa, (1 of Appendix A,
1912 ; Af. AR, 1912, p. BG.)

257, —Srivilliputtiic (Ramnad) ; Vidvanutha Nayaka, Virappa
Miiyaka, and Krishnappa Nivaka built the temple
of Krishnasvimi, set up the idols of Rukmini,
Satyabhfimd, and Krishoa, and granted a porlion of
land. (f.ALP,, i, p. 1183.)

Note,~The evclic year given, viz. Bhava, may be 1574,

258.—Kiranfir (Palni, Madura); Kilahastivappa Mudaliyir,

the Prime Minister of Visvanitha Niyaka, and the

Fanpdans of twenty-four ndds granted the village as a

free gift to Bralmans in the reign of Vidvaniitha
Nayakar, (LMP., i, p. 1023.)

259.—Rameévaram ; the ruined prakare was first repaired by
Ramanitha, the prince of sages, well versed in all
the rites and agamas of the Saiva system. {Burgess,
p. 58, No. 7.)

Note.~The cyclic year mentioned in the inscription,
viz. Kalayukti, may be 1618,

260, —Ramesvaram ; the silver swinging cot in the Pallivarai
was the gift of Vijaya Roghuniitha S@tuputi Kiitta
Tévar, the son of Hirayyagarblayaji Raghunatha
Setupati Katta Tevar. [Jbid, p. 60, No. 13.)

261,—Tamil ; Brahmadééam (Ambasamudram, Tinnevelly);
the building of the gogusa for the merit of Virappa
Nayaka, the son of Visvanitha Nayaka-Krishpappa
Navaka. (377 of 1916.)
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' MADURAITTALA-VARALARU '

(Aecownt of the Sacred cily of Madura)

After Siva and his son Ugra, Kulagekhara obtained the
throne on the expiry of forty lakhs, sixty-five thousand, and
gix-hundred and fifty years. Thus from the days of Kula-
§ekhara-Pindya to the days Parikramapindya * who sleeps,
with the wakeful sword'! the place enjoyed Pandyan rule.-
During the Kaliyuga, Saliviihana Saka 1246, five-hundred
and one years after the destruction of Kollam in the
month of Ani of the year Rudhirddgiri® the Adisultan
Malukkunémiyiin came from Delhi, and having captured and
sent Parfikramapiingdya to Delhi took possession of the place.
For a period of three’ years from Rudhirddgiri Avani to
Erddhana the region from the Himulayas to B&tu was under
Muslim sway, (tulukkiipivam), and after a state of hostility
without anyone's gaining a clear ascendency, Uldpatikhan
came in the year Akshaya, and rnled for a period of six years
till Prajotpatti (A. 0. 1326-31). Then Ulipatikhan roled the
place for a period of three years from Angirasa to the year
Bhava (A.nD. 1332-34)., Then his nephew Kudipatik ruled
from the year Yuva to Pramiticha. (a.p, 1335-39.)7

t The expression s queer, and may be an erroneous transeript of a
well-known title of Jifavarman Sundara Pandya * Fafal- Palitirandin *
he that opened the way with the sword. South Jndia and her Mubans-
madan Invaders, p. 53 Note i,

® This corresponds to the year a.p. 1323-24, the month Ani would
make it the year 1323 A.p., June—July. This would correspond to
#.K. 408 whereas the date given is 501 expired,

® The dates are in error being earlier than the actual years by about
five years. The name of the second ruler Kudipatik leaves litle
doubt that the dynasty under reference is that founded by Sharif-
Jalalu-d-din Ahsan-Shah. He ruled for five years a.D. -40 and
was followed for o year by Alau-d-din Udauaji, Then Quitubu-d-din
for forty days In A, 740 (1339-40). The two Uldpatikhans of the
Tamil accounts seem to stand for the first two. The length of the
reign of the three s wrong separately, The diffevence is made up with
the third.
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After this one Nagalatik ruled from the month of Adi in
the year Vikrama to the year Vijaya (A LHO-53;,  Then
Savandmalukkon and Attumorugean raled from e year Sarvagit
to the year Vilambi (A.p. 1347-58)  After this Pungatik
Malukkan ruled the kingdom from the year Vikarl to the
year Sadharuna (A 1350-T0p For a period of [urty-cight
years from Saka 1246-893 the place had heen under Musal-
man sway ; ? the god of the phee wenl to Nanjilnaglu aned
the Panjaksharatirumadil, the enclosing wall named after the
five letters, the five mystic lellers composing the name of
Siva, namely Om Namadivaye, and the fourteen gopuras,
(gateways) as well as the streets were pulled down.  The
sanctum of the Niyagar (Lord) temple, the ardbameandapam
(the inner hall), und the makdmandafam (the outer hall)
alone escaped destruection. )

Thus when the land was under the Muslim domination in
the year 1293 current, Viradhikrt, A.n. 1371 Kampana Uelaivar,
commander of the guards of the Mysore roler, * having
defeated and driven off the Muasalmans, took possession of
the kingdom and opened all the temples of Siva and Vishou,
When he opened the door of the sanetum of Tiruvila-
vayudaiyandvanir, however, he noticed with surprise that
the lamp lighted (befure the temples were clused) and the

x THE SULTANS OF MALDURA

I. Sharif Jalalu-d-din Ahsan Shah
coin. Jalalu-d-dunya Wa-d-din dated A.12, 738 also 739 and 40,
II. Alag-d-din Udaujl or Udunji
Alau-d-dunya Wa-d-din, Udauji Shah, date 4.1, 740
111, Qutbu-d-din Firoz Shah, A2 740
Qutbu-d-dunya Wa-d-din
1V. Ghiyathu-d-din Muhammad Dama-ghan Shah, date .00, 741
V. Nasiro-d-din, Mahmud Ghazi Damaghan Shah, Ao 745
Break, 745-757
VI. Adil Shah, a1, 757
VIL. Fakbru-d-din Mubarak Shobh., Muohammad Mustafn legend
Masifu-n-nabi, doke A1, 761=770
VIII, Alau-d-din Sikandar Shalh, s.1r. 774-4

JAH&AS,, 109, pp, 657-U8I,

2 Mysore, as o state, wis not then in existence, but the wrlter is
apparently referring to his time, Koampana's office must have reference
to the Hoygala ruler of the time,
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garland (placed on the images) were exactly like those that
they pluced on the Geod only the provious night,  As soon as
Kampuypn Udaivie saw this miraele he slapped himself on the
check a4 an expiation for the offence; and after muoch deve-
tional worship to the Goild pranted several  2rwviladyadal
villages (villages granted to the temple), several jewels, and
srrants for the daily offerings.  Thus he and his son Empana
Udladyiic (Heunanna) and his nephew (or son-in-law) Porkas-
uclaiyiir ruled for a period of thirty-three years from the
year Virddhikrt to the year Chitrabhiinu (A.n. 1371-1402),
During their days they made many a provision for all the
Siva and Vishnu temples for jewellery and daily offerings for
the (zods.

Then from the year of Subhiinu of Saka 1327 current to
the year Vibhava (A 1403-48) Lakkananiyakkar and
Madana Niyakkar ruled for a period of forty-seven years.

Then in the year Sukla 1374 Saka current Lakkana
Niyakkar brought out of retivement the son of the concubine
of the Pandyan king Abhirami of Kalaiyarkovil-Sundaratts]-
Mavalivinddirayar, Kiliyiir Somaniir, Anjidaperumi] Mutta-
radar, and, crowning him in the days of Tirumalaimavali-
Vanadiriiyar as the son born of the Pindyan king with the
deference due to the ancient royal family, grave him possersion
of the kingdom for [orty-eight years.!

Then in the year Pingala # (A.n. 1497) Vaikisdi of Saka 1422
current Narasayvaniiyakkar came, olfered worship at Rames-
varam and alse captured the fort. Tennand@yakkar ruled for
fifteen years from the month of Avani of this year to Angirasa,
A.D. 1512, Then from Srimukha (A.p. 1513) of the year
Saka 1437 current to Dhiitu (A.p. 1517) for a period of
four years one Nichiapillal ruled the kingdom. Afterwards

1 This prassage is obscure in the original ; the first name is that of the
illegitimate son of the Pindyn ; the next name and the next which I

refer to toke ns one name Anfddaperumidl Mudlaoraiar, these three
n suceession vuled for forty-cight yenrs apparently. Lakkann's
coronation refurs only to his installation of the first,

* There is o discrepancy in the date.  The year Pingala is a.n, 14497
and Saka 1422 is a.n. 1500. The Cyelic year is likely, it seems to me,
to be correct and the Saka year wrong,
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Kurukuru Timmappandyakkar ruled from [dvara to Vishu
for five years (A.n. 1517-21). Then from Saka 1446
carrent from Chitrabhilnu to Subbiinu, for two years A
1521-23 Kaitivam Kimaiyaniyakka roled. From  Tirana
to Sarvajit (A.n. 1524-27) Chinnappanayakka ruled fora
period of four years. Iyakkarai Vaiyappaniiyakkar ruled fora
period of five years from the year Sarvadbari to the yeor
Nandana. (1527-32). From the year Vijuya to the year
Vibhava ! a.p. 1533-42 for o period of nine veary
Vi$vandthanfivakaraiyan ruled the kingdom. Varada ruled in
the year Subakrt (A.n. 1542-43).  Tumbichchiniyakkar
ruled from the year Subakrt to the year Krodhi (a.n. 1543-
44), Kartigai, for a period of a year. Vidvanathaniiyaka-
raiyan ruled from EKrodhi Mirgali to the year Visvivasu
(A.D. 1544-45) for a period of a year amd seven months.
One Vittalarfija ruled from Prabava to the year lingala
(a.p. 1546-57). The three kings Timmappanayakkar,
Chellappanivakkar and Pattukditai-Vicappanilyakkar, ruled
from Kalayukti to Raudri Kiirtigai (a.n. 1558-00). From
Saka 1246 to Saka 1485 (A.n. 1324-63) twenty-seven persons
ruled in Madura,

During the Saka 1481 (A.D. 1559) current Raudri (A
1560), Margali, Vidvanathaniyakkar, son of Kottiyam Niigama-
nayakkar came under the orders of the Rayar to Madura
and died after a rule of twelve years extending from
Raudri Margali to Angirasa WVaikiiéi, A.p. 1559-72. From
the month of Aniof the above year to Vaikidi of Vishn,
{a.D. 1572-81), a period of nine years, Krislnappaniyaka,
son of Visvanithani@yaka, ruled and died. From Ani of
the above year to the wyear Manmatha Vaikd$i, a.p. 1581
to 1595, Virappanfiyaka, the son of Krishnappanfiyaka, mled
the kingdom for a period of fourteen years, For seven years
from the above year to Subhakft Ani (A.n. 1595-02)
Kumirakrishnappanayakka, son of Virappanfyakka, ruled and
died. From Puraftasi of the year to Plavanga a.u. 1602-07
Masdi for a period of five years Vi§vanithaniiyaka, the

1 This ought to be $abhakrit,
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brother of Kumirakrishnappaniyakka, ruled and died. His
brother Kastirirangappaniiyakka died just eight days after’
he came to the throne in the prayer hall (Sendliyamandapam)
on the other side of the river, Muttukrishnappaniyakkar,
son of the above, ruled from Panguni of the above
year till Dundubhi Kirtigai (A.n. 1608-22), for a period
of fifteen and three-fourth vears and died. On the seventh
of Mirgali of the year Dundubhi Muttutiromalanfyakka-
raivan, brother of Muttuvirappaniyakkar, became very
deserving of the grace of Minakshisundar@dvara and made
several gifts of jewellery, built ‘the New Mandapa’
and a tank for the annual floating festival, constructed
a gold-plated throne, an ivory worked car, a great stone
seat and a throne set with rubies. He ordered several
structures to be made to the seven great temples, gifted land
with an income of 44,000 pon for the daily worship, and tax-
free villages for the maintenance of servants and managers.
He further made his individnal daily gift of food and
conducted the festivals on a grand scale. He constructed- a
new car for the Alagar for his Chaitra festival and made the
temple celebrated. Whenever he personally came for pur-
poses of worship he used to give a votive offering of
1,000 pon as padabapitfed for worship and offerings.
If the god be taken in procession in M#agividi he used to
offer 1,000 pon. In this manner having ruled for a period
of thirty-six years from the year Dundubi Masi Tth to the
year Vilambi Masi 4th A.p. 1623-1659 he died on the night
of the Tuesday of the year Vilambi Masi 4th. From the
month of Panguni of the year Vilambi a.p. 1659 to
Vaikasi of Vikari for a period of three months Muttuvirappa
Niyaka ruled the place. For twenty-four years from Ani of
Vikari (a.n. 1659) Chokkanithandyakkar, son of Muttu-
virappanayakka, ruled. He died on the 4th of Ani.

His son Rangakrishpamuttuvirappanfyakkar then ruled
from Rudhirddgiri (A.p. 1683) 17th ArpiSi to the year
Pramddiita (A.p. 1690) for a period of seven years. Then
his son Vijaya Rangamuttuchokkandthanfiyakkaraivan being
a child, his grand-mothzr ruled the kingdom for some time,

48
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with him in her lap. At this period, in the foundation of the
Brahman settlements (agraharapratishia’) and the founding
and patronage of the choultries, divine and Brahmin gifts, he
conducted the administration as in the days of Tirumala-
nilyakka. After the death of Mangammal, Vijuyarangamuttu
Chokkanatha during his rule managed the affairs of the
kingdom exactly as in the days of Tirumalaindyakia. As
things were going on in this mannecr, once in the cnurse
of his round of visits in the city /ecoguife he noticed that the
temple worship, offerings, and services were not being
properly conducted, and went back to the palace. The next
day he sent for all the temple management and establishment
(sthalatiar and parijanatiar) and others, and enquired why the
temple should have become so miserably poor in spite of his
gifts of lands yielding 44,000 pon. He prew very angry as
no satisfactory explanation was given and confiscated the
lands under the control of the temple-management (stkalallar)
to the government, sent for the mortgage deeds of the
temple-management, and settled and gave out of the royal
treasury 44,000 pon for the seven temples for purposes of
daily worship (£#ja), annual festival, monthly and other
festivals, and also ordered the provision of a processional car
for the Chaitra festival, He also made grants of tax-free
villages as in the days of Tirumalaniyakka for management,
for worship, for offerings of food, and arranged for the
proper'management of the temple affairs.

After having ruled for forty years he died on the night of
Sivaratri in the month of Maéi of the year Virddhikrt
{a.p. 1731). From Virddhikrt Madito Siddharti Vaikasi (a.p.
1731-39) for the period of nine years Mindikshi Ammail, the
wife of Vijayarangachokkanithaniyakar, crowned herself and
ruled along with her brother Venkataperumi] Navakkar.

On the night of Tuesday, 30th of Vaikasi, Saka 1668 (..
1739) of Siddhact, Vijayakumiramuttutiramalainiyakkar, son
of Bangaru-Tirumalainiyvakkar, and ?e]laiyan—ﬁirv&ikkﬁmn
of the Sétupati's guard moved out on news reaching that
Chandekhan-Badékhan had captured Dindigal. Immediately
after the temple-management with all the attendants, removed
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the gods Mindkshi-Sundargdvara and Kadal-Alagar (Fishun)
to Vanaraviramadura (Manamadirad) and remained there for
two vears. The S&tupati provided for the gz and the daily
offering of the pod and also supplied the whole establish-
ment with food and drink, and kept them under his protection
for a period of two vears from Ani of Siddharti to Ani of
Durmukhi., Meanwhile Dg4ing-Réjn reached Trichinopoly
fort with G0,000 horse, surrounded it, killed Bad&khan
removed all the Muslims and appointed Mur@riras with
instructions to restore the grants as usual, without any
disturbance to the divine services, to all the Siva and Vishnou
temples. He then retired towards the north. Afterwards
MurfritByar who was charitably disposed despatched
Appiji Rayar with 2,000 horse, and as he did not like to stay
in a city without its God, he started for Vinaraviramadura.
Having worshipped the God there and obtaining the consent
of the S&tupati he returned to Madura with the God an hour
after nightfall on Saturday, the 17th of Ani of Durmukhi
year (A.D. 1741).

As usual in the Karndtaka days of Hindu rule he provided
for the purificatory ceremonies of the temple (§8nti and
samprokshana), and amply provided for the daily worship
and gervices of the god in due form,

In the year of Rudhirbdgari, Saka 1664 current (A.D. 1743),
the Musalman Nizam (Nizamu-l-mulk) came from the north,
captured the forts of Trichinopoly and Madura, and went
back to the north having placed them in charge of two persons
Mafus Khan and Muhammad-Ali Khan as Nawabs., They ruled
the country for a period of ten years and six months, from
Rudhirddgari to the 31st of Kartigai of Angirasa (4.D.
1743-53) as a Muhamadan possession (tulokkinivam). During
this period in the days of Abdul-Kumukhan (Abdul-Rahim
Khan ?) of Madura fort, Mayana’s brother-in-law, Alam-Khan,
came with 2,000 horse through the land of Tondaiman, and
took possession of the Madura fort, He ruled for a year as
far as the frontiers of Tiruvadi (Travancore), and placed
Mayana in charge of Madura when he proceeded to Trichino-
poly to join the forces of Chandekhan (Chanda Sahib),
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Almukhiin (Alamkhan) himself died in the disturbance that
followed. Muhammadali (Muhammad Al) put to flight
Chondé Ehan's forees and beheaded ChamlE Khan himself,

Meanwhile Mayana, having sold possession of Madora fort
to the Mysorcans so as to round off Mysore territory, retived
to Tiruméhur,  After this Kubu (or Kuky) Sahib of Mysore !
entered the fort on the 30th of Purattadi of the Angirasa year
A.D, 1752, Hearing that the Mysorcans had taken posses-
sion of Madura, Vellaivan S&rvaikkaran, commander of the
Betupati's guard, and Tandavaraya DPillad, pradbans of the
Udayad&var's (Zamindar of Sivaganga) guard, surrounded the
Madura fort in great force. Having stood a siege from the
30th of Puorattisi to the 26th of Wirtigai of the year (A.n.
1752) Kuhu-Sahib, as a result of arbitration, left the fort in
charge of the Setupati and retired in the direction of Dindigal.

As matters were in a state of confusion from the year
Rudhirddgari to the year Angirasa (a.n. 1743-52), in Kali
4853 Sal.Saka 1673 current, 16th of Kartigai (a.v. 1651) of
the Angirasa year, both Vellaiyan-Sérvaikiran, the com-
mandant of the S&tupati’s guard and Tapgdavaraya Pillal of
Udaya-Dévar's guard entered the Madura fort, threw open the
temples, conducted the services, and arranged for worship as
usual ; and as Kuhu Sahib had slaughtered several cows
and done other unworthy acts during the siege they ordered
the necessary purificatory ceremonies to be performed to the
several temples. Being unwilling to gee a state without its
King, they sent for Vijaya Kumaramuttutirumalainiyakka son
of Bangiru-Tirumalal Nayakkaraivan from WVellikurichchi
and crowned him king on Monday, 14th of Margali of the year
Angirasa in the sanctum of the goddess (ndehchiyar Sanna-
ki), invested him with the sceptre and took him to the
palace.

Then, when he had ruled the kingdom for sixteen months,
from the 14th of Masi of Angirasa to the 30th of Vaikasi

! 'Khub Sahel Jamedar of the Mysoreans' aecording to the Nawab
Muhamimad Al of Trichinopoly. Country Correspondence No. 422 of
1754, Seepage 31 N. 1. 5.C, Hill's Fusuf-&Klan.,
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of the year Srimukha, Mayana, Mahadimiya, and Nabikhan, 1
these three, sent the ruler out of the fort to Vellikurichchi,
took possession of the Madura fort and the country around.
As usnal they confiseated the temple lands, destroved the
trade of the merchants of the city, the gardens and the wells.
While this was going on Kuhusahib of Mysore returned with
Vellaiyun Sarvaikitran, surrounded the fort, and closely
besieged the place for six months, with their headquarters
camp under the banyan close to Panaiytr. The forees of
Mayana however, drove off Vé[laivan Sérvaikiiran and Kuhu-
sahib, killing them in the uffray, and took possession of the
fort of Madura, and maintained themselves in it from Ani of
Srimukha to the 21st of Magi of the year Bhava (a.p, 1753-55).
Meanwhile in Kali 4855 Saka 1675 current, Bhava 22nd of Masi
Mafus Khan Sahib started with 1,000 Europeans and twenty
guns from Dévanimpatianam, and, coming through the pass
of Nattam, took possession of the Madura fort. As the Tiru-
mohiir temple in which Mayana stayed was used as a fort, the
Buropeans entered it and took possession of the jewellery of
the god and the idols, and returned to Madura,

Then they sdvanced as far as Tinnevelly and returned to
Madura., Finally returning to Trichinopoly they carried the
idols of Tirumdhiir on the backs of camels, On their march
to Alagarkdvil the native Kallars fell upon them, took posses-
sion of the idols, and restored them to the temple., Some time
after when Barakadulla otherwise Danishmund Khan (vide
page 40 of N. 2 8.C. Hill Yusuf-Khan) was exercising power
at Madura in behalf of Mafuskhan, a Muhammadan fakir came
and erected his tent (mifan) in front of the Pondumandapa of
Tirumalai Nivakka ; and as he was making preparations to
build a double brick wall with a view to hoist a flag on the
platform of the gopura of the temple, the whole body of the
temple officials, the local merchants, and other inhabitants, all
met together and made every effort to make him desist. In
spite of their protest he refused to get down from the gdpura,

! Mahamad Burkey (Minnah of Orme), Mahamad Mainach (Moode-
miah), Nabikhan Cattack,
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as it wos # time of anarchy without authority to compel
obedience, The temple munaggrement then closed the four
gates of the gipurn, and, entering the temple, remained inside.
In this state of affairs the eye of the Image of Vididum
Bhadraki]i Amman, in the South-custern corner of the golden
pillar of the Assembly Hall (asthama mandapam) opened
on the 3rd of Tai, about an hour after daybreak and remained
open till about daybreak on the 5th of the same month. This
occurrence of the miracle soon circulated in all directions,
and people flocked to the place as on festival days, and
marvelled at the oceurrence.  Then in the month of Chittirai of
the year Iévara (A.n. 1757), Khan Sahib Commandant who had
gone to Tinnevelly surrounded Madura with 1,000 Europeans
of Dévandmpattanam and the fort was besieged in the month
of Chittirai to Avani, People were put to much trouble and
Barakdulla, who remained in the fort, deseended the walls of
the fort and reached Tribhuvanam.! Both Kanusahib (Khan-
Sahib) and Muttalagu Pillai son of Mindkshinfiitha Pillai of
Tiriirapuram (Trichinopoly) fort went round the city and the
temple gates. He sought the presence of Khansahib and
impressed him that the temples of the city being very ancient
deserved to be treated in customary Karnatic Hindu fashion.
Then the lands of the temple were restored to *the Seven-
temples', the necessary purificatory ceremonies were performed
to the gods and the temple of Tirvdlavai (the great Siva
temple). The tent (nifan) of the fakir at the Rayagdpuram
was pulled down and the fakir himself driven, after sound
beating, beyond the mound outside the town. To the daily
service of the gods, the processional car, festivals, ste., 12,000
pon.was given at the rate of 1,000 pon for a month in addition
to the grant of villages for the temple service and food offer-
ings. As it was going on in this manner the Europeans of
Pondicheri (the French) and those of Déviinampattanam (Fort

* This ebviously refers to the attack and capture of Madura by
Caillaud and Yusufkhan in A.p, 1787, But the Mindankhao or
héia!uda; Kthmdsm; th{:‘: Piuq}rag chronlele is Khumandan Khan Sahib of
this, and stauds for Commandant Khan Sahib which stan
Yusuf Ehan, See Ch. VI of Fusni Khan, gl for
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St. David) got into a state of hostility, and as the Puduchgri
Europeans (the French) were in possession of the Fort St.David
territory as far as Trichinopoly, Khan Sahib and Muttalagu
Fillal proceeded from here to Trichinopoly and destroyed the
French, and took possession of the country in their occupation.
On reaching Fort St. David, the captain conferred on them all
honours and gave them rewards. They then returned to
Madras in the month of Vailkisi of the Pramadi year {(A.p. 1759).

From the year Chitrabhfinu 1712 the temple managers took
charge of the lands and provided 1,000 pon a year for the
temple worship. From Sublhinu Purattisi, to Purattasi of
Tarana, A.p. 1763-64, Colonel Preston of Madras with many
Europeans along with Nawabs Mohammad Ali Khan Sahib
and Mafus Khan Sahib, Setupati, Udaya-Dévar (Sivaganga), the
Tondaiman, and other Polegars laid siege to Madura, In the
3rd of Aippa#i, Tarana of Saka 1684 current, A.D. 1764, Muha-
mmad All Khan Sahib entered the fort having captured and
hanged Muhammad Yusuf Khan. Then the temple management
and all the principal residents went in a body to meet him.
The revenue officer (Amil) Abdul Ehan of Madura received
orders to provide the seven temples with 7,000 pon a year,
and lands and villages were granted likewise, and a sum of
Rs, 500 was given for the purificatory ceremony of the temple,
In this manner the government of Abdul Khan Sahib lasted
for seven years from Tarana to Vikrti (A.p, 1764-70). From
Kara to Hevilambi (A.n. 1770-77), Mohidin-Sahib's govern-
ment lasted. The government of Mallari Rayar (Malhari
Rao) lasted for—(?) Then Dubash Venkatedvara Mudaliyar
undertook to provide for the temple worship and conducted
the temple services with 6,000 pon,

The government of Kadar Sahib lasted for a year in
Vilambi (a.p. 1778). Kayala-Behu-Khan Sahib’s government
lasted for a year in Vikiri (a.n. 1779). From Sarvari to
Plava (A.p, 1779-81), Mallari Réyar's government lasted for
two vears, For three years from Subhakrt to Kradhi (a.D,
1781-84) in the days of Master Dorien, the temple worship
was conducted under the control of Venkata Rayar with 6,000
pon as determined before, and all necessary temple grants and
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Mn.ngnmmﬂ.]’s refations with,

04
Aurpaliam. See Udayirpilaivam

B

,‘:f“- the, Xavier's com-

laints ngainst, 14, 91x ; 208-9,
297-8, 32

Babhau-d-Dio, cousin of Muham-
mad Tughlak, hiz rebellion

follu'iteﬂ y others, 3
:}liiaa;
Gji Pupdit, Tanjore minister,

210-11, 317-8

Bina Caunt:jr chiefs of, 78-9n.
Sea Vaphda

Baramahils of Salem, included
in the Chanuoapaftana viceroy-
alty, 21, 106r, 128n ; 207

Barradas, quoted or referred to,
38, 45, 94, 101, 105, 246-8
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Bednore, chiefs of, 132, 172, 1% ;
Mysore conquest of, 207, Sec
Lkkéri .

Bellarming, Cardinal, 107

Berthold!, Father, 316, 3149

Bertrand, Futher J., editor ol
La Mission du Maduré, 35, 37,
107, 115

Besse, Father Léon, quoled or
referred to, 103, 1040, 148, 250

Bhagavalam, 180n

Bhagoagar (Hyderabad. Dk
han), J.'."é _

Bhaviinl Sankara Téva, Sttupnti,
225-0, 2208

Bhdja Sri, Y0s

Bijapur, aggressive  southern

campaigns of, ele., H, 12, 16,

1{!-2?, 117, 1ls-Om, 124, 134,
152-3; intervention in Tanjure
affoirs, 167-9; in the battle of
Frode, 172 ; 174, 178 ; Aurany-
zib's efforts to redoee, 197,
265-7, 268-73, 276, 279-81

B&mballl, 106 & ;

Borghese, Pather, 206

Bouchet, Father, his laboura for
the progress of Christianity and
hig interview with Lajaviiy Nara-
sappalys, 217-8, 306-15; 304 ; his
letter of 1700, 206 o

Britto, Father John de, his life
" and work, 199-201; left for
Portugnal, 201; his retorn to
India, hislast days, and martyr-
dom, 212-6, 307 ; his letter of
1683, 200-1

Bryce,. Viscount, on historieal
consideratlons in the choice of
a capltal, 113

Bullal Cawn, 175 —

Burgess and Natesa Sastri, Taml
and Sanskril Inseriptions, 30

Burnell Dr., 102, 104

Bury, Prof,, 238

o

Caldwell, Bishop, his sweeping
condemnation of Mackenzie
records, 33 ; quoted or referred
to, 42-3, G0-1, 82, 06, 104, 252,
261

Canaecan, Bijnpur genernd, 131
See Kanakan

INDEX

Carnatie, the, British occupation
af, 1: Sivaji’s invasion of, 5,
27, 174-4: Nuwale of, 252, 320

Carvalho, Father Simon, 414, 318

Cifedinrne Kadcompe of (L, 11LM55,,
ot “Tavlor, 3-8

Central Giovernmment, 235-K; s
eharneter, 238 05 ils ongmiz
tiun, 241-2

Ceylon, relotions of the Cholas
aned Windyas with, 43 Ramn-
riija Vigthala's invasion of, 14
Krishpappa Niyaka's invision
of, 7u-2; embassy to Mudura,
250, 256 ; [ Now,, 14, 57

Chiimarijn Udaiyiir of Mysore,
his nonexation of the Channa-
putlan vicerovalty and exten-
sica of the Mysore [routier, his
uqudlmnunt anel  nominal
alleginnee to Vijayvanagar, ¥2-3,
i-7n, 120, 128n, 1Mx

Chamla Sahils, his perlidy, 1; his
dealings  with Mindkshi  and
ugurpution, 232-4

Chandler, the Hey. J. 5., quoted,
84-5, 145

Chandragiri, viceregal  head-
quarters, 16 ; caplital of Yijnya-
nagar empire, 20, 23 aban.
doned, 1188

Chandrafékhara Piindya, U, 449, 52

Channapaftann  Viceroyolty, its
extent, 106n; Mysore annexn-
tion of, 21=%, 116, 118w, 128n,
1300

Chengamnla Dis, ‘T'anjore M iyak

rince, his viclssitudes, 167-70,
67m, 171n, 184, 108

Chevva, Chinna, See Sevvappa
Niayaka

Chidambaram, 81

Chikkadfvardjasdpara, 212 n

Chikkadséva Hiya of Mysore, 21,

26, 1334w, 162, 173w, 190m,
220-1, 22dnm; hia aggressive
oliey, 171-3, 205, ; his

rrigation scheme, 211-2, 212x,

321; 1, Nos., 176, 180-2, 186,
194, 202, 220

ChibbadPvardyavamidvali, 134n

Child, Mr., 175

Chinno Kaftira Nayaka of Kagpi-
viidi, 165, 182

Chinnatambl  Muodaliyir.

Seoe
Sinnatambi Mudaliyiir
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Chokkanfithn Nayakn, 40, 14D
change of his capital, 13,
160-1; date of his nccession,
154-5; early yenrs of lis reign,
155-60, 273-5; his relations with
Mysore, 161-3. 171-4, 182-3,
286~7 * his Tanjore wars, 158-0,
163-5, 275, 277, 279; his denl-
ings with the Malrattas, 166-71,
176, 178-80, 280-1, 283; his
g;;m!uan and restoration, 180-2,

t last yoars of his reign,
182-3, 283-4, 286-0; bis relations
with the SBtupatl, 159-60, 183-5,
277 ; his attitude  towards
ﬂhr!arian!;}l'. 185-8 ; his charnc-
ter and ndministration, 188-90 ;
his death, 130, 289: 207, 237,
273-81, 2R3-4, 286-9; I. Mos.,
156-8, 163-8, 177-4, 185

Chola  Country  (mandalam),
Chieftalngs  In  the FPandya
Country, 5, 16; separated from
Madura Viceroyalty, 52

Cholas, thelr politieal greatoess
and relations with the Piodyas,
4=5, 8:; thelr commercinl
enterprise and foreign polley,
80

"

Christianity, conversion of the
Paravas to, and its results, 2,
13-4, OIm, 123-4n, 300; De
MNobili's acheme of conversion to,
093-5; Muttakrishnappa's atti-
tude to, 86 progress of, under
Muttu Vicappa I, 106-8; under
Tirnmala Navaka, 138-42 ; under
Chokkanfitha Niyaka, 135-8;
upder Muttu Wrapg: Niyaka
111, 199-201 ; its vicissitades io
the time of Mangammi| and
her benevolent attitude to,
213-9, 306-15; in the Marava
Country, 226-7, 272, 202, 296;
318-9, 322-3

Coins, of the Sultans of Madvra,
10; of Sivajl on Vijayapagar
model, 27, 13a, 177u; of
Vidvanitha NEyaka, exbibiting
PAindyn emblems, 65 ; of Muttu-
krishuapgg._};lﬁyakm 95; of the
Niyaks,

Commerce and Industries, 254-5,

300, 302
Costa, B, Da, 141, 187
Cotate, town, 208, 207, 290
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D

Dalavily and his [unetions, 235-7

Dalaviy S&tupati, Se¢ Sadaika
Tova I and I

Dianniyak (Daonaik), 6, 15, D0

Danwvers, I, C., gquoted or referred
to, 30, 123, 124 and », 157

Dand Khan, 205-6

DB\‘F;:E;. Mvhammadan province
OF,;

Devarija Udniyfir of Mysore, 26,
13304, 162 and », 171-2; L
Nos, 155, 161-2, 171-2, 174

DEvariya I, Vijayanagar
emperor, prominence of the
Madura Viceroyalty under, 6,
15; difficulties of the empire
after hig death, 6-7 ; 79x

DEviktttn, 1Mde @ dislodgment of
the Portugucse from, 124x

Ding, Father, 316

Doddad@varija. See Daévariija of

Qe .
a Krishopa Udaiyir. Ses
r?shl;nrﬁfn Udaiyir of Mysore

Trateh, the, allinoce with Ramnad,
123, 124n; their stroggle with
the Portuguese, 137-8, 272, 325
their atrocities, 157 appealed
to for help, 159, 338; their
administration, 242-3, 387-8:

their trade, 244-5, 301-5; :54,

260

E

Education, 257

Ekfimbara Mudaliyfir, 75; L
Mo, 43

Ekoji (Venkaji), brother of Sivaji,
his Tanjore expedition, 167,
1684, 274-80; his wusurpation,
169-70, 17ls, 280-1; his ad-
ministration, 170-1, 173-4, 243,
280, 201 ; Sivaji's interview with,
176-8, 176-Tn, 282 ; his war with
Santaji, 178-80, 282-4; his
relations with Chokkandtha
Mayaka, 182, 189, 287 ; his
tyranny, 194, 284, 80, 291 ; his
sale of Bangalore, 203

Epigraphy, historical value of its
testimony. 38-0; Madras Depart,
of, reports, 39
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Frorde, battle of, abhout 1672,
Mysore suceess in, 26, 133, 172;
1. No, 14,

Effuvitiil Pilfamar, eight Travan:
core minlsters, 200, 2R, 324

i

Fargusson, 145

Perishta, 1372

Fernandez, Father (3., his mission-
ary worle, H2-3, 03-4: his
opposition to Mobili, 107

Finance, 30-1, 243-53

Fishing-Const, 300-3. See Paravas

Foreign evidence, its historical
value, §7-8

Fort St. George records, 38, 135

Frederick «Cmsar, guoted or re-
ferred to, G5, 954, 181

Freire, Father André, guoted or
referred to, 147, 161, 163, 169,
178, 181, 185, 187, 190, 199; his
letter of 166G, 277-9; of 1576,
279-81 ; of 1678, 281-5; of 1682,
285-80

G

Gajapatis of Kalloga, See Orissa

Gangddavi, wile of Kampaga, her
epic poem, 4, 10

Gingl, NAyak of, hostile to the
empire, 19, 23-5, 101; in the
battle of Topphr, 103x; 117,
127-8 ; Mohammadan siege and
eapture of, 128-30; 143, 155-6,
1 174 ; captured by Sivaii,
175-6; under Santsji, 178:
Moghul siege of, 205; 264-§,
274-5, 277, 274, 281-4, 260-1

Golkonda, invasions of, 16, 18-21,
24-7, 1024, 118-On, 128-9, 128x,
134, 1?-1-5; Aurangzib’s reduoc-
tion of, 197 ; 264-5, 290

Gopinath Hao, 104

Governors, 240

Gavinda Dikshita, Tanjore minis
ter, 124n

Gavindaiya, general, 234

Gﬁiﬁndnppalya. Dajoviy, 182, 237,
280G

Gregory XV, Pope, his Bull, 107
Grose, J, H., quoted, 135
Guerreo, his Kefalion, 103

INDEX

H

Hamir {lnu.}i?ﬂ |
Ham « Mysore Dinjavily, 135;
I Mo 1dg

Honafl, Mubhnmmad  Sharid,
¢uoted, 112

* Harnsurn Nandi Kija," Mysore
general, 120

flarem, 256

Elaribarn L of Vijayanagar, 26x

Harihara 11, Vijayanngar,
emperor, G

Hassan, buattle of, 26, 134x, 172-3

Henry 11 of Eogland, Kilshpa.
déva Riya compared to, 10

' Herméenttl," 59, 05, 100, 107, 203

Hill, 8.C., 234

Historieal Study, its requirements
and Lord Acton's dictum, 31-2

Klistory of the Carnafoce Gover-
wors, its defective chronolugy,
31; its historical wvolue, 34;
yuoted or referred to, 4G, G1, GG,
o3, 87, 110, 124, 136, 137, 144,
150, 181m, 221, 231

Holy Kowman Empive, yuoted,
11%n

Hough, J., M

Hoygalag, the, their last f(raut
ruler, 1, 3; thelr capital, 2:

their empire developed inte the
vija.}rnm}far emplire, 4
Hultzseh, Dr,, 65, 86

1
ldal Khan (Adll Shah). See Bija-

ur

Ik!’;Eri, 21 ; nsylum to Sriranga in,
26, 172 ; 127-8Bn, 177n, 2%}. See
Bednore Chiels and Sivappa
Niyaka

Tuseriptions of the Madras Presi-
deney, 154

Irrigation, 251, 262

J

Jaffna, RAja of. 124x

Jagaddva Riyal, Chapnepatiana
Viceroyalty of, 21, 106, 1

Jagga Rayn, Gobblirl Chief, tral-
tor, his massacre of .the royal
family, 18-8, 102n ; his trenson
l.iuﬂlt:e empire, 20, 34-101, 102-3u,
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.Iu.mnl-ml-l Hn, Governor of Shivaz,
f: 3

Jusnit  letters,  their  histories]
value, 35-7

Jesuits, their missionary netivi-
ties, 2, Uln

Justive, 242
I

Kuadfiram, rulers of, e

Kalur, Malik, his ocvcupation of
Madura, 5

Kalaiyirkovil, 74, 93, 150, 277

Kalinga. Sec Or]

Kalkolang, 200, 324

Naffans  (Thieves), 130, 152-3,
323

Kambam Country, 46-7, 55

Kampana, Kemiara, his overthrow
of vhammadan  rule in
Modura, 3-4; first Vijayanagar
Viceroy of Madura, 5; his
administration, 10

Kanakan, Bljapur gencral, 267

Kapabkan [Avcountont), 238

Kundl, king of, 70-1, See Ceylon

Koppamb@gl dam, 2120

Kappandir, IHoyfala capital, u
lEuhnmmnﬂan Cantonment, 2

Konniviigi, Polegar of, 105-6. See
Hanganpa NAyaka and.Chinoa
Kattirl Niayaka

Kanthirava Narasa of Mysore,
24-5, 106w, 117w, 130m, 132,
133n ; his war with Madura,
135-G, 136-7a ; I, No. 146

Kastitri Rangniya, Dalaviy, 243,
257

Kastiiri Rangappa, son of Virappa
Nayakn, Bﬁ; his usurpation and
murder, 89, 260-1

Kittaya Teva, 228-9

Kaver], river, jungles cleared, 52;
dam destroyed, 101; Mysore
aunient across, 211, 212, 521

Kityal, 50m

Kaye, J.W., 84

Kefavappa Niyaka, (1) Pedda,
general, 52, 69, (2) Chinna, son
of (1), 69-70 )

lﬂgwml Setupati  (Raghuniitha

Gva), 184-5, 198-9 ; attitude to

Madura, 212-3; his policy to-
wards Christians, 214-G; his
administration and death, 224-5;

a0
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256, 205; I, Moz, 184-5, 1H8-1,
191, 213

King aopd his Counell of Ministers.
235-H ; limilations on hi= ahsn-
Iutism, 238-40

Kadandoriimn, nephew of &ri
ranga LT, 27, 134w, 173

Kongu Country, 22, 26, 1334

! Korkulom, ' 200 and s, 25

Krishpa, river, termination of
Achyata Riiya's march at, 12

Krishpnd@va Riyn, Vijayanagar
emperor; coondition of the
empire at his accession, 7 ; his
vigorous internal and foreign
policy, 7-8; his imperinl re-
organization, §; disobedience
of his vieeroys, 9; his rage
ngningt Nigama ‘N’Eynkm 10,
51; Niyakship of Vigvanftha
ecommeneed in his Iast years,
11, 43-4, 51; his sons-in-law,
brothers and queens, 12; his
campaigns against Orissn and
the Muhammadans, 45-G; 43 ;
his interference in tf‘le affairs of
the South, 49-50 ; his death, 52 ;
his relatlons withh the Portu-

uese, 7, O1a ; I, Mo, §

Kr :.'hr_l:pép}gn Miyaka I, 14, 41, 54,
63, 65-0; his internal trouhbles,
G8=-f1 ; his invasion of Ceylon,
70-2; his attitude to the
cmpire, 72-4 ; his benefactions,
choracter and work, 74-5; his
death, 75-6; 95x, lt'lﬁn; 1. MNos.
25, 32, 42-3, 53, 55-6, 61, 63-4, 67

Krishnappa MNayaka II, his short
reipgn  and death, Bd-B; B9 :
I. Nos. U1-2, 54, 95-8

Krliggl,mppa Niyaka of Gingi,

"

Krigshpapuram, town, (1) built by
Krishnappa Mayaka I, 74, 95z,
ﬁ% built by Muttukrishnappa

yaka, 96

Krishpariija Udaiyir of Mysore,
224y : 1. Nos, 45, 221, 226, 238,
24-6

Krishoa Sastri, H., 40, 42, 101,
257

Krishnaswami Aiyvangar, 8., his
Sonrces of Fijayanagar History,
11, 39

KulaSekharn last great Plindya,
S0
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Kuldttunga 111, last groat Chaola
Bmfmur. reduced the Pindyas
to impotenve and homilintion,
4; 7Bn

Kumiiraiya, Mysore Lajavily, 27,
173, 182-3, 207, 280-8; 1. No,
176

Kumira Muttn, ' younger brother
of Tiromala Niyaka,' 97, 136,
232 ; probably his illegitimate
son, 151

Kuméara Muttu Tirumala, son of
Tirumala Niyoka, Y7, 137;
I. Nos, 151-2 _

Kumira Pillal, Ramnoad Dalaviy,
185 ; his rebellion, 185 ; put to
death, 188; his attitude to
Christianity, 200

Kiin Pindya, 82; I. No. 69

Kiittan SEtupati, 93, 122; [ No.
122

L.

Lakkana, Vieeroy of Madurn,
enl-:;gluerl by Abdur Razzak. G ;
15, Tdw, 90-1n

La Mission du Madur, its histori-
cal value, 35-7; translated ex-
tracts from, 263-895

Laéng'loia and Selgnobos, quoted,

1

Lingamn Nayaka, Dalaviy, 151,
1 , 187, 162, 236, 273-5

Linga Reddi, 199-200

Lists of Awtiguities, of Sewell, 39

Local Government, 241

Lockman, J., on Jesuit testimony,
36-7 ; his Fravels of the JSesuils,
extracts from, 206-323

Louis X1V, 146

Luiz, Fra., 91n

M

Ma'bar, province, Mahammad
Tughlak's, constituted, 2; its
isolation and struggle for exis-
tence, 3 ; subverted, 4

Mackenzie, Col,, 33

Mackenzie MES,, their historical
value, 33-4 ; quoted or referred
to, 36, B2-3, 47, 118, 124, 148,
151, 181w, 182, 221, 246

Midana, Governor of the Tanjore
Counntry, §

INDEX

Madonnn,  Golkendn Ilindo
minister, 171

Madhnrduifopan, wpic poem of
Giangriidiévi, 4, 10

Madura, town, Muhammmdan
‘(Hﬂlik Kafur's) ovenpution of,
n 1310, 23, 5, W eapitad
removed from, 108 ; removed to,
113-4 :  agenin  vemoved  Trom,
160 ; Chanda Sahib's caplore
al, 234 3 André Fredre's deserip-
tion of, 285

Mudura, Vieeroyalty, importonce
of the history of, 1-2; retine-
ment of the Pindyas from, 2, 5;
ity acguisitivn by the Toyfalas
and the foundation of the
Vijayanogar empire, 4; il
foundativn cosval with that of
the Vijuynnngor empire, 5, 10
its Arat Vicernys, 5-6 ; its promi-
menee under Dovardya LI, 6
looseness of the imporial hold
on, 73 MNirama commissioned
to organize, ¥ discordant ele-
ments in, 11-2; reconstituted
after  Achyutn's  Travancore
campaign, 13-5; [ts  extent
under Vigvanitha, 55-7

Maduraitialavaraliye, quoted o
referred to, 34, 46, 89, 110, 148,
150, 190, 203, 231, 246, 373-B4

Mahrattas, in the South, 25, 27
thelr conquest and occupation
of Tanjore, 166-71, 188; 234,
Hee LEkoji, &ivajl, Santaji,
Sambafji, cte.

Majslisu-5-Saldiin, 112

Minabhiisha Paindya, defeated hy
Narasa Nivaka, 7

Man&madura, 5, 79, 158, 277

Mangammil, Queen-Regent, 147 ;
time of her marriage with
Clhokkanitha discussed, 191-2 ;
203; her relations with the
Moghuls, 204-6; with Mysore,
207; with Travancore, 207-9;
with Tanjore, 210-2; with
Ramnad, 212-3; Christianity
under, 213-8; her administra-
tion, religlous policy, charities,
ete., 219-20; her death, 220-2 ;
236-7 : her social legisia-
tion, 256; 258-0, 295; 1. Nos.
195, 187, 199-200, 205, 207,
209-12
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Manndir Dis, son of Vij
righava of *t‘nujum, 167n ol

Mupoueel, guoted or reforred to,
A1, 3K, MG6Ge, 107, 205-G, 218-0

Muarava Country  (Ramond
E:uuujarsy_], it organlzation, 59-
H3; UG, 160; fudervegnmm in,
184 ; its power developed by
Kilavan Sttapatl, 185; 198-0;
Christianity 1o, 199-201, 214-7 ;
212-3 ; condition after the death
of Kilaven SStupati, 224-9;
quﬂitiun of, 220 ; #4-5, 301, 303,
J22-3. See SEtupatis

Maravas, 124, 268, 277, 287, 289,
201-2, 326

Mnrtin, Father, quoted or referred
to, 102, 212, 216, 218, 225-6, 240-
50, 254 ; Wis letber of 1713, 2045 ;
his lettors of 1700, 206-315; his
letter of 1701, 315-22 ; of 1708,
322-3

Marting, Father, 139-40, 185 ; hix
letter of 1651, 2094

MarttEndovarman of Trovancore,
1. Noa. 10, B2

Mivali Chieftnins.
riyars

Miivall VApAdanrfyar, his rebellion,
7H-0 nnd &

Maynard, Father, 207, 208

Mello, Tather, 217 ; his letter of
1GB6, 201-2

Minikshi, last Nayak Queen, 1,

1; her short reign and trogic
end, 232-4 ; I, Mos, 235-7
Mir Jumla, 23
Moghuls, the, 16, 23, 25, 27 ; their
akhan polley, 118#; 204-6;
their suhju%ﬁiun of Bijapur ang
Golkonda,

Mriyunjaye M5S., their historical
value, 3 ; guoted or referred
to, 40, 46, 55, 66, 68, 73, 76, B3,
867, 89, 97, 110, 114, 148, 150,
154, 180, 1493, 203, 221, 230

Muhammadans, the, their inva-
sion of South India in the 13th
and 14th centuries, character
and resmlts, 1-5; their hostility
to the WVijayanagar empire,
7-8; 106, 13-2%, gg, 25, 2%—4.
Hee Rijapur, (Folkonda, and
Moghuls,

Muhammad Toghlak, his empire,
2 ; its break-up, 3

See Vinida-
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* Mukilan ', Mysore general, 105
Mula {Mu;_t;], Bijapur general,

Murtimimbil, wife of Sevvappr
Wiayaka and sister-in-lnw  of
Achyuta Riye, 43

Murogappe Pljiai, 215-6

Muttammi], wife of Muttu Virappa

111, 204, 205

Mutin Alakitdri, See Mattulinga

Niynka

Muttn Klri.th;rnppn MNiayaka, son

of Visvappa, hils neeession, 80 ;
his organisation of the Marava
Country, 89-83; Christianity
under, 93-5; his attitnde to
Vijayanagar empire, §5-6; his
administration, 9% ; his death
and =zons, 97, 105, 112 I. Nos.

45, 104
Muttvlingn Nivakn, 181 and
notes, 28d-6 ; 1. Nos. 183,
157

Muttu Vieappa Nayaka [, 189-20,
7 ; his attitude to the empire,
98-103, 108; change of his
enpitnl, 103, 108-4x; his rela-
tions with the Pindyas, 104-5;
his relations with Mysore,
105-6G ; C‘nristlnni:ay under, 106-
8 ; survey of his administration,
108-9 ; hig denth, 111-2: 110,
116-7, 1178, 120, 226n; 1. Nos.
102-3, 108, 110-2, 114-20, 123-5

Muttu Virappa Niyaka II, 149 ;
his neeession, 150-1: his short
En}lp;n and denth, 151-3, 260-70,
7s

Muttu Virappan Niiyaka I1I, 27,

147; his parnnta§¢ and age,
191-3 ; condition of the kingdom
at and after his accession, 193~
5; hisdealingswith the Moghuls,
195-8 ; his relations with the
SEtupati, 198-9; Christianity
under, 1%9-201; his character
and ability, 201-3; his death,
208 : 208, 212, 221x, 289, 308 ;
I. Nos, 180, 192, 196
Mysore, attitnde to Vijayanogar
empire, 19-21 ; independent, 22,
X ; hostile to Modura, 25;
aggressive, 26; sarvival to the
K{usaut day, 27-8; invasion of
adurn and {ts repulse, 105-G ;
aggression, 110-20; eapital of,
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besieged, 120: war with ‘Liru-
mala Nayaka, 135-7, 136-7x,
267-8; Chokkan&tha's war with,
1612, 171-3: 173n, 180 ; sicpe
of Trichinopoly, 181; 182-3,
193-5, 198x, 207, 224, 261, 263;
help to Seiranga 100, 2068, 267 ;
zﬁlr 286-92 ; elvil wur in, 292,
See Rijon Udalyfir, Chfimariija
Udaiyfir, Kanthiravae Nuroso,
Dévarijn Udnlyir, and Chikka-
déva Riya

N

Nir"fa.rmg Niyaka, officer of SRjuvu
arasinga  and  Krishpad@va
Riya. commissioned to orponise
Madura, 8; his thorouph-going
administration and its couse-
quences, f, 41-3; his disobye
dience probably connected with
Vira Narasimba's rebellion, 11,
44; 15 39, 46; his position
under krishpndéva Riyn, 48;
his pilgrimage to Benares, 48-U;
his Southern expedition and its
results, 50; his character and
last days, 50-1: [, Nos. 1-4, 14,
"49, 51
Nanjinfd (part of Travancore),
invasion of, 121, 208: I. Nos.
128, 204
Mapoleon, 31, 33 i
Narasa Navalka, Fﬂmral of Sijuva
Narasinga and Father of Krishna-
déva Raya, 7, 8, 8lx
Narasappaiya, DalavRy, his Tra-
vancore campaign, 208; his
Tanjore campaign, 210, 316-7;
his A comprign  and
death, 213 ; his attitude towards
Christinnity, enlogised by Father
Bouchet, 217-8, 307-11; 218,
237, 253, 295
MNarasimha, Vira, (n Vijayanagar
emperor, rovipcial — revolts
under, 7. (2) Viceroy of the
Chola country, 8 ; his rebellion
and flight to Travancore, 9, 11;
13, 44
Narasinga, Silova, Vijayanapgar
emperor, 7-8, 42, 44, 2638 ; L.
Nog. 3-4
Naravappaiya, minister, 230, 237
Wiynks of Ikk&rl. See Ikkari

INDEX

Mavuks of Maduorn, their history,
range ol eharocter, 1, 2
comevted with that of Vijuyva-
maggar, 2, 35 3 date ol vommengees
ment of their rule, 1025, 047 5
their ehorge extended n spliene
anel exaltell in privileges, 15
their attempt at independence,
202, 20, 293 sourees of Lheir
Tistory, 33=0 ; extinetion of their
pule amd ibs coeses, 27, 434,
o8] thedr  administroation,
23543 1 their finaneinl system,
243-53 ¢ socind life nneder, 2534 ;
their services and shorteimings,
25862 )

Miyuks %i Tanjure, See Tanjore

fi

wnil swvappa,  Achyntapps,
Ragrhunitha, Vijayarfiphnvo
Mayakas

Negnpatam, Portiuguese dislidged
l‘ji:]:nurlnjuqit 124n ; merchant of, 167
el 4 ; protector and  Dalaviy
of Chengamnla 13s, 170

Melson, J. 0., his history of the
Waynks of Madury, it eharneter
and merits, 29-30 7 guoted  or
referred to, 30-1, 33, 30, 40, 58,
G1, G5, GR, 72-3, 774, Bd, =00,
o7, 112G, 110-20, 122, 120-6,
130, 147, 140-50, 152, 154-5, 1060,
163, 167x, 169, 171w, 17u, 184,
191-2, 147, 200s, 210, 2106, 220-1,
Ui]-5, 231, 234, 236, 23, 241,
243-50, 261

Mieuhoff, Joha, quoted or t'l:ful'r!.kl.
to, 38, 47, 121-2, 158-00, 143,
2095, 235, 240-3, 256 ; cxtrocts
from hiz Voyages and Travels,
324-32

Mobili, Robert Deg, his ' greal ex-
periment ', 83-5 ; his misslonary
activitles and  desth, 106-8,
138-40, 185: on Niyak educa-
tional orpanisation, 257

Moses, War the,
Madura and Mysore,
136-Tx, 268-9

Nunls,qPortugnesn ehronicler, 3%,

£l

betwern
135-7,

8]

Opiantal  Historical MSES., of
Taylor, -5

Orissa  (Kalinga) kingdom, its
(ajupatl rulers and Southern
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raids, 6-7 ; Krishpad@va Riya's
campnipn agninst, 8, 406, 49

Orme, Robert, historian, ouoted
ur referred to, 30, 131-5, 175

Palniyimn (Volegar) System, 54
it organisaton, 58-62; 68-0,
79, 235 ; its_decay, 260

Fralambang {Erl HhGja), S90u

Pallava Rityan Tondamin, 184

Pangvan Chronsele, the, its histo-
vleal walue, 3, quoted or re-
ferred to, 40, 46, 76-7, 87, RO,
a7, 110, 148, 150-1, 154, 190, 203,
221, 231

Piindyas, (1) Ancient, thelr retive-
ment from Madura and war of
succession, 2, 5; Chola conguest
of and extinction of their inde-
pendence, 45 their  political
:!c}gmtlntlun under KuolGttung:
IIl, 4-5; their offorts ¢ inde-
pendence and glorious imperial
eareor, 5; thelr overseas trans-
actinns and foreign policy, 6,
{0n ; their petty descendants, 8,
13. (2} Later, hostile to Vijoya-
nagar empire, 7, 18, 53-4;
feudatory to Madurn, G5, B0, 87
103n 3 their disappenrance, 104-
§5; L. Nos. 15, 27-8, 31, 36, 34,
40-1, 44, 47, 54, 62, 83, 49, H6-7,

256

Parfkrama Bibu, Ceylon ruler,
hlz help to the Phindyas agninst
the Cholas, defeatec, 4

Paramalkudi, GY

FParangis., Seec Portuguese

Paravas, the, inheabitants of the
Fishing«Coast, 1; their whole-
sale conversion to Christianity
and its political results, 13-4,
#2, Olm, 92, 123x; [REma-
rija Vitthala commissioned to
briog them back te Vijayanagar
vontrol, 14, 13a; 89G, 138, 300,
302, 326, 328-30

Paul, St., M

Peace and Order, how far pro-
served by the Niyaks of Madura,
253-4 )

Pennkondn, capital of Viiaya-
nagar empire changed to, 15
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Hlm, 99¢ ; Mubsmmadan siege
of, 16-7, 102x, 115-a

["olybius, historian, 1606

Portuguese, the, commoereial, roli-
grlons, and politleal nseucln of
their policy in India, 2, 13-4,
00-2, 92y ; their relations with
Krishnadéva Rityn, 7; in tho
hattle of Tnppi‘ir. 10, 103 5 70,
82 and &, W dislodged from
Megapatam, 104x, 1174 help to
Tirumaln MNiyakn, 123, 1M
their wuars with the Dutch,
137-8, 272 ; 242-3, 254, 2060, 300,
324-8; their povernment of the
Paravas, 329-30

Fradhiai, his functions and statos,
Egﬂ‘. of Tanjore and Madura,

Proenza, Father, quoted or re-
forred to, 98, 111-2, 116, 118,
13, 141-2, 147-4, 160, 185-7,
#37, 242 ; his letter of 1659, 263-
74 of 1662, 272-5 1 of 1665, 275-

7

Provincial Government, 240-1

Puodukaottn, state, founded, 184-5 ;
Efija of, 227-4

Parchas, fis Pilprimes, 38

Puttalam, batile of, 70

Quilon, 200

K
Rnl:;é]smnﬁthn_ ruler of Pndukotto

Raphundihtblyndapam, 101, 102-
3

I

Raghunitha Mahfraia, 48 ; [. No.
120

Raghunfitha Niyaka of Tanjore,
hiz loyalty to the Vijayanaga.r
wmpire, 18-9, 994, 101, 102-3x,
104n, 124n

Raghunitha S&tupati, (1) (Tiru-
malai SBtupati), his l_aﬁ;{a.'ll;y,
ower and prestige, 125-6; his
devotion to Tirumala Niyala,
135-6, 144; his title of [iro-
malal S&tupati, 136-7 ; Chokka-
nfitha's war with, 150-60, 277 ;
his death, 184; I. Mos. 148,
1534, 159, 169, 173, 175. (&)
See Kilavan SEtupati
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Raghunithpant, Sivaji's lieuten-
ant, 174, 176, 178-9

Rajchur, battle of, 43, 40; cam-
g‘?jgn of Krishnadéva Riya, 8,

Rija Udaiyfr of Mysore, 17 ; his
acquisition of rtmng'ni:u fn-
nam, 18 ; 102-3n, 104w, =i
106m, 116-Tw

Rajendrn, theGangaikondnChola,
put an end to Pindyn independ-
coce, 4

Rima, son of Tiramala T and

. brother of Venkata I, 16-7, 81w,
100w

Riima (Vira Rimadéva), son and
successor of Sriranga (Chikka-
riya) 1T, 19, 98, 99, 102n, 1udu;
1. No. 120

Rimabhadra MNaEyaka (probably
Rimappa Niiyaka), suhordinate
of Magama aund Vifvanithn
Nayakas, 46, 48, 50, 55, ﬁé-&

RAamachandra Niayakn of S@ndon
mangnlam, 139

Ramaiya, 111; I. No. 121. Seo
Rimappaiya

Rimapn, 123, See Jbid.

Riamappaiya, Dn&nv&y. his Mysore
campalgn, 120; his Ramunad
campaign, 122-3; his death,
124-5; 142, 236, 259; 1. Nos, 132,
140

Aadmappaivan AwnEnad, ballad,
]%-I:iim historical walue, 122;

1

Ramappa N&ayakn (probably
Ramabhadra Nayaka), I. Nos,
13, 18, 20, 30, 9

RAmarfija of Talikota, 27, 124;
I. No. 51

Rimarija Alyan, 45. See Rima-
riija Virthala

Ramardja ?it%!aln,
Ramarfja of Talikota, Viceroy
of the South, his invasion of
Travancore, Cevlon, ete. and
its results, 14-5, 41, 43, 64, 75,
81s, 1174, 120, 124n: 1, Nos, 13,
16, 22, 26, 29, 33, 35, 37, 39

REmardiivamn, 27, 134

R,Ei?n Riiya Tummisi, 69; 1. Nu,

Rima Virman, Bhdtalavire, King
of Travancore, 54 ; I. No. 26

Hdwmdvapa, the, 188

cousin  of

INDEX

Kimegvaram, way Lo, ansafe and
rendere| safe, 023

Ramnnl, Independent of Madura,
213 ; sivge of, 224, See Marava
Country, SEtupatis, cle.

R'..tjlllkllhl'lllil. Khan, Bijapur general,

Rangn, futher of Sligiva Ky,
12

Kangacharl, V., his  history of
the Miyoks of Madurn, its
merits and defects, -2 R,
Sewell's opinion on, 32 ; quot-
ed or referred to, 40-2, 47, 5i=7,
63, GG-4, 72-3, 706-4, R4-7, K10,
02, 06-9, 105-6, 113-4, 11G6-7,
119-20, 122, 127, 136w, 14A-H,
154, 161, 1G2e, 165-Ga, 171n, 191,
103x, 147, 202, 222x, 22, 226k,
231, 234 and », 236, 245, 247

Rangn Krishpn Muttu Vieapp,
See Mutiu Virappa LI1

Rangapnpa Niyaka of Kapuoiviid,
120, 122, 136, 151

Rivanaiva, general, 234
Ravivarma, King of Travancore
208-0, 208~

Eavivarman Kulnsfkharn, King of
Teavancore, §
Ndyasams, 237-8
Kozzak, Abdur,
traveller, 6
Hea, A., 123

Muhnmmadan

" Religious Life, 255

Rosebery, gquated, 13-4

Rubmapiparipayam, its historical |
value,

Ruskin, 259

Rustam Khan, his vsurpation and
tyranny, 180-2, 181m, 185, 10,
255, 286

5

HSaa, Father Bernard, 216, 304
Sadaika Téva I (Dalavily S@tu-
pati), 93; I, Nos. 105-6, 109
Sadaika Tava II (Dalaviy Satu-
ﬁatﬂ, his war with Tirumala
dyaka, defeated and imprison-
ed, 122-3; restored, murdered,
125
Sadagiva  Rayn, Vijayanagar
cmperor, 12, 14-fi, 73 ; his ' loot-
ing ' of Caylon, 71 ; his Krishni-
nran Plates, 41, 45, 54, 63, 72,
d-5, I, Nu, 61; [. Nos. 13, 16,
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22-9, 25, 29, 32-5, §0-1, §5-7. fi,

G5, 67
Safdar Ali, 232-3
Sagor, Bahaug+d-Din's

at, 3
" Bagosi ', Bijopur gonernl, 152,
155-6, 272, 274-5
Sthifyaralndbaram, s historienl
volue, 35; 82x, 101, 1020
ko date, urually preferved to
the eyelle year on inadequate
& ounds, 66, !.1'I:I-rII RS-
kar o, battle of, 206, 1
Snlaka:?ﬁ“mﬁmmnrﬁsu {Sola-
kam Tirumala). See Timma-
riizn. Salakardin
Bﬁlﬂgji.l Mavaka of Salem, 139
iy,

rebellion

Sam son of Sivajl, 182-3,
193-5 ; executed by Aurangzib,
107 ; 287, 2RU-02

Samballi, 106x, 172 ; L. No. 104

Santaji, brother of Bivaji, 176;
made governor of Gingi, 178;
his war with Elkoji, 178-80; his
denlings with Chokkanatha,
180 ; 2682-4

Sadi, 204 and n, 256-7, 269, 205

Satyamangalam, Mysore invasion
of, and its repnlse, 135-7, 267-9;
Mysore occupation of, 173
free from war nnd famine, 185 :
Wiyak of, his death and its
consequences, 2594

SEtupatis, 89-93, 122-6, 15860,
1B4-5, 198-9, 212-3, 224-9; IL.
Mes, 220, 223, 230-40, 242, 250,
260. See Marnva Counntry

En‘wnppn NAyaka, Viceroy of
Tanjore, 13, 43, 52, 163

Se\gu, R, 32m, 39, 40, 112, 155,
1

Shah Jahan, Moghul emperor,
Sriranga I1I's appeal to, 24 ; his
eforts in the Dakhan, 127

Shabji, father of Sivaji, his con-
quests and Feghir, 23-4, 1184,
174, 176, 177x, 179

Shahjl of Tanjore, 189 ; his sub-
mission to the Great Moghul,
205; his war and allinnce with
Mangammal], 210-1, 213; I. Nao.

193

Stnghaladeipa Cathe, its histori-
eal value, 35; its account of
Krishnappa Niyaka 1's invasion
of Ceylon, 70-1
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Sinna Chinnn) tambl Mudallyir,
165, SH-? ¥

ﬁi\mgn.n n, Rijn of, 2249, 234

Slvaji, his invasion of the Carnatle,
25, 174-8, 282 ; his return home,
178-4 ; object of his expedition,
probably to rovive the Vijayo-
nagar emplre, 27, 1M, 176-7n ;
his grant to Sriranga 111's sons,
173, 177n

Sivappa Mivaks of Ikk@ri, 24;
his  uvsurpation, advance ‘on
Mysore, and defeat, 26, 172-3;
hiis helgg_dto Sriranga 101, 26,
128m, 1 n

fs'vr:ln!mmmﬁrrmm, 133-du

Smith, Dr. V. A., 146, 250

Soelal Life and Institutions, 253-7

Sokkalinga, See Chokkandtha
MNiynlkn

Solaga Chieftain, 104x

Soorves of Madura
History, 33-9

Souwrces of Vijavanagar Fistory,

(Nayak)

11,

Houth India, history of, synony-
mous with that of the Nivaks
of Madura, 1, 258 ; the Dakhan
Sultanates ceased to be a power
in the politics of, 25-6 ; charac-
ter of the history of, after the
cessation of the Vijayapagar
empire, 27 ; light thrown on the
history of, by the Jesuit letters,
3G ; political eondition of, about
the middle of Tirpmala
Mayakn's reign, 127-8n ;
character of the politics of, 128

Srinivasa Rnﬁhavalmgur, Dewan
Bahadur, 250

Sriranga 1, Vijayanagar emperor,
son of Tirumala I, bis imprison-
ment, release and death, 16-7 ;
80, 81 and =, 100m, 1082, 117% ;
I. Mos. 70, 72, 75

Sriranga I (Chikkardys), Vijaya-
Ragar emperor, nephew of
Venkata 1, murdered, 18-9,

102n

gr]ringn II1, last Vijayapnagar
emperor, his imperinl eforts,
21-2, 118m; condition of the
empire at his accession, 23-4;
his appeal to Shah Johan, 24 ;
his war with Tirumala Niyaka
and vicissitudes, 26, 127-3 and
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nutes, 264-5, 267 ; his last days

and denth, 27, 172-1; 171, 179

L. Nes, 147, 155, 157, 160, 165-0,

164

:-iritn.nglam, islonel, Achyuta
Riya's march os for as, 11
temple repaired, 53; Father
Martin's deseription of, 313-4

Vieernynlly,

Sriran A
gopattay T05e 008,

16-8, 8lm, 1004,
117n
Sthandpati, 238 )
Stuart, A. J., on the Phlaiyam
System, 60; on Niayak land
pssessment, 252 ¢ on the servieess
of the Madura Niayaks, 261-2
Sundarn Pindya, 104
Supplementary MEN,, veferred Lo,
46, 110, 148, 150, 221, 231
Sfirya, Rija, Marava ruler, 184

P
T;Ejiya Téva, Marava prince, 214-

Talavarfiyan, Tanjore Vassal, 270
Talikota, epoch-makiug battle of,
results of, on the Vijayanagor
empire, 15, 57, 99-100x, 113;
Ariyanfitha’s part  in, 73
change of capital after, 15, 81n,
Hor ; a%grassi'.ra misgionary
activity alter, O1r ; G2, 118x, 18]
" Tambi,” illegitimate brother of
Sndaika T8vn 11, 122 ; hia death,

125
i’hargﬂ and Sanskrit fuscriplions,

Tanaklka T8va, 125

Tagda Téva, 227-8

Tanjaeari Andhra Rijula Chari-
#rir, its historieal value, 34-5;
44, 50, 168x

Tamjdeneri Fari Charitra, 3,
168n

Tanjore, § ; rearrangement of the
territory of, and appointment of
ngnppa NAyakn as viceroy of,
13, 43, 52; loyalty to the em-
pire, power and prestige alter
the battle of Toppfir, 100x, 102-
3n, 10Mn; Tirvmala WNivaka's
allinnee with, 127; Mubam-
madan attack on, 152 ; Madura
war with, 100, 158-9, 163-5,

INDEX

210-2 ; Mahrattn conguest wned
oceupition of, 166-70 3 defeutel
by FHomnud, 2195 intervention
In Rumuoned ailwirs, 2258-1; %7,
2673, 275, 277, ZHO, US1, 2HY
00, 205, 317-H, 321, 4312, Sce
Navaks of ‘Tanjore,  FKkoji,
Shalijl af Tanjore.

Tuylor, the Kev. W., 32; his
chefendal ffistoricad AESS., ole.,
their Mstovicn]l  valpe, 34-5¢
gquoted or referred to, 42, 55-G,
i’Z, 77-H, B4, BHG, 130, 197, 218,

2405

Teppabnfon, due by Vidvonditha
Miiyaka, 53

Thebes, anvient monuments of,
145, 269

Thevenot, quoted or referred to,
38, 120, 134

Timma, brother of Rimariia
WVittholu, 14, §1m, 1240

Timmariza, Salakariiju, brother-
in-law of Achyata Wive, his
Travancore expedition, 11, 43

Tinnevelly Country, troubles in
andd settlement of, 53-5

Tiramalal, ‘Uig':wmmgnr emperor,
15 ; his ndministrative mrunge-
ment, merits nnd defects of, 16,
flm, 100

Tiremala, grandson of Tirmmala
I nnd pephew of Venkatn [, his
hostility to the wnpire, 17-K.
Hlhee, L0, 1020

Tiromuln  Alyangar,
minister, 100

Tirnmula, Boangiiru, 2324

Tirumala, Salakam. See Timma-
rizy, Salakarijo

Tiramalimbi, wile of Achyuta
Riiyn, 52

Tirumala Nayaka, 23-5, 30-1, 35-
G, <10, 56, 07, 89, 103 ; date of his
necession, 110-3; change of
capital to Madura, 113-5; early
years of his reign, 115-9: his
first war with ysore, 119-20 ;
hig invesion of Travancors and
results, 120-2, 207 ; his relations
with the S&tupatis, 122-6; his
relations with the Vijayanagar
emperor and Bijnpur and Gol-
konda, 22, 116-7x, 118-Gx, 126~
35, 127-8x, 150-1n, 131-2u, 264-
71 his fnal wor with Mysore,

My
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135-7, 267-9 ; his relations with
the Pnrtufuoau and Duteh, 137-
#; Christlanity under, 133«42

his charncter ond grentness,
142-7, 260 ; his death, ote., 147-
O; 14 und w, 186, . e2Gn,
236, 236 ; his revenues, 246-50;
253, #56, 254-0, 261, 273-4, 278,

285 ; I, Mos. 128-3p, 141-5, 147,
151-2

Tlrumalai S&tupati,. See Raghu-
niithn SEtupati {1

Tiruppanimiiai, 34n, Bl

Tiruvadi, H!vnji’s halt at, 176

Tiruvadi (King of Trovancore),
defeated, 45; made tributary,
54 ; 80, E-?, 120: I, No. 87

Tiroviedi country (Tiruvadirijya).
Hee Travancore

Tiravaluvat@van, 227

Tlruvappamalal, Vira Balifila I[II's
strong position at, 3

Toppiir, battle of, 19, 82x, 50w,
103, 104s, 106m, 124x

Travancore, Vira Narasimba's
flight to, 9, 11 ; Achyuta Riya's
expedition tn, 11 ; reconstitution
of viceroyalties ntter, 13 ; RAmn-
rilja ?i;ﬁ;nln 's invasion of, 14;
16, 19 ; subordinate to Madura,
75, Ala, 1{13:11 105, 117# ; Tiru-
maln Niyak,a. s invasion of, 120
2; Mangamma]'s wor with, 207-
8; 224, 207-9, 324; L. Nus 128,
204, See Tiruvadi

Travancore Arvcheological Series,

30
Trichinopoly, death of Vira Balldla
and suicide of Min&kshiin, 1;
a missionary centre, ?; saved
from Mysore, 25; included in
Madura Viceroyalty, 52; im-
proved and strengthened, 52-3;
capital changed to, 103, 103-4dn,
63: removed from, 113 ; Bijapur
siege of, 153, 156, 273, 275;
H}rsure {Kuma.rm a 's) mea'e of,
181-2 alu'ﬂ.ttn
%nﬁumnlnl’s} siege of, 183,
; Chanda Sahib's capture
of, 27, 235-4
Tumbichehi Niyaka, his rebellion
ﬁi execution, 68-9 ; 74; 1, Mo,

Turnour and Wijesimba's Aakd-
varse, 72

51
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Tuticorin, town, Travancore
anthority in, 14 ; 137 ; captureck
:l:{_! _Elhu utch, 138, 325; 301,

u
Uﬂni:.rarpﬁlui}‘mn Aurpaliam),
e e (Aurpaliam)

Uda}r:tgﬁlr]' c.nptureﬂ by the Gaja-

[11s

Uddan ar, agent of Vifvanilha
Niyaka, 65; 1. MNo. 34

Umayammna Rinl, Queen of
Travancore, 2(dn
Unni  E@ralavarma, King of

ravancore, hostile to Madura,
hiz edict to the people of Nanji-
nid, 120-1
Urnlyﬁr Mahfirfjns of, 08, %0n
Uraiydr (Ramnad), hnttle of, 229
Uyyakkondin Channel, 220; I.
Nos. 185, 211

v

Vaduganhtha Téva, 217, 225-5
Vallkopdapuram, battle of, het-
ween Lkojl and Santaji, 179
Vallabha, Sr1 and Varatuoga
Pandya, Pudukottai Plates of,

17, 82, 1011 104 ; 1. No. 76

"u’uunm ﬁ;tai_l included in

Tanjore, Bijapur coapture

of, 152, 270, 2'.’2 Chokkanitha's
cunqumt of, 158-9, 165, 277

Vallamprakira (Vallam), battle
of, 17, 100, 101, 103x

Vinadarivars, Mavali, Chola
chieftains in the Pﬁud‘yn country,
5,11, 78, 78-8s; I. Mes. 5, 7-9,
11, 9? 1{}3

'Vanaminn,' Bijapur
158, 276

Vasco da Gama, 91n

Vellore, 21 ; Muhammadan smg'e
of, 23-4, 119#, 128n ; Siveppa
MNayaka's siege of, 1330 ; Sivaji’
march to, 177 ; Mahmttn siege
and [all of, 176, 178-80 and
notes

Vﬂnka]i Seu Ekoijl

Venkan ’ymﬂm king-maker,
hla couﬁ "d'éfat 166-8 ; his end,

general,
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Venkata (1) Achyate Hiya's son,

his: dnp‘la};itiun‘-’r:mﬂ death, 12,
brother of Sivappa Niyukn

of lkkari, 133u

Venkatn 1 (Venlutnpati l{iiyni\.
?ilj;.?nnngnr emperar, 16-7 ; hix
diffienlties, 18, 100w, 1028, 1045 ;
bis control over Madurs, 81 and
#, 85 ; his ather feudatories, 87;
8 conditlon of the empire
after his denath, I8-20, 102-3
and notes, I10ds, 108; 100x,
115-7x ; his Dalavily Agrahiiram
Plates, 40, 78, 50-2, 1. No, H0;
hiz Vellnngudi Plates, 44-5, 74,
#7, L. Mo, 95 ; I, MNos. El, Hl-6,
94-5, 97, 99-101, 111, 117

WVenkatn 11, Viiayanagar emperor,
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